Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1387 Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

# Kursad Turksen Editor

# Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 16

Stem Cells in Tissue Regeneration, Therapy and Drug Discovery



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

# Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Volume 1387

#### Series Editor

Kursad Turksen, (emeritus), Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada

#### **Editorial Board Members**

Pascal Pineau, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France Daisuke Sugiyama, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan Jeffrey M. Gimble, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA Pablo Menendez, Josep Carreras Leukaemia Research Institut, Barcelona, Spain Cesar V. Borlongan, University of South Florida Health, Tampa, FL, USA Essam M. Abdelalim, Diabetes Research Institute, Doha, Oatar Aaron W. James, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA Srikala Raghavan, Institute for Stem Cell Science and Regenerative Medicine, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India Tiziana A. L. Brevini, University of Milan, Milan, Italy Murat Y. Elcin, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey Mario Tiberi, Ottawa Hospital, Ottawa, ON, Canada Nagwa El-Badri, Zewail City of Science and Technology, Giza, Egypt Panos Kouklis, University of Ioannina, Mpizani, Greece Benjamin Levi, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

**Cell Biology and Translational Medicine** aims to publish articles that integrate the current advances in Cell Biology research with the latest developments in Translational Medicine. It is the latest subseries in the highly successful Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology book series and provides a publication vehicle for articles focusing on new developments, methods and research, as well as opinions and principles. The Series will cover both basic and applied research of the cell and its organelles' structural and functional roles, physiology, signalling, cell stress, cell-cell communications, and its applications to the diagnosis and therapy of disease.

Individual volumes may include topics covering any aspect of life sciences and biomedicine e.g. cell biology, translational medicine, stem cell research, biochemistry, biophysics, regenerative medicine, immunology, molecular biology, and genetics. However, manuscripts will be selected on the basis of their contribution and advancement of our understanding of cell biology and its advancement in translational medicine. Each volume will focus on a specific topic as selected by the Editor. All submitted manuscripts shall be reviewed by the Editor provided they are related to the theme of the volume. Accepted articles will be published online no later than two months following acceptance.

The Cell Biology and Translational Medicine series is indexed in SCOPUS, Medline (PubMed), Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Science Citation Index Expanded (SciSearch, Web of Science), EMBASE, BIOSIS, Reaxys, EMBiology, the Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS), and Pathway Studio.

Kursad Turksen Editor

# Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 16

Stem Cells in Tissue Regeneration, Therapy and Drug Discovery



*Editor* Kursad Turksen (emeritus) Ottawa Hospital Research Institute Ottawa, ON, Canada

ISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISSN 2522-090XISSN 2522-0918(electronic)Cell Biology and Translational MedicineISBN 978-3-031-10637-8ISBN 978-3-031-10638-5(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-10638-5(eBook)(eBook)

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

Chapter "Epithelial Stem Cells: Making, Shaping and Breaking the Niche" is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). For further details see license information in the chapter.

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

In this next volume in the Cell Biology and Translational Medicine series, we continue to explore fundamentals of stem cell biology as well as their potential utility in regenerative medicine applications. Amongst topics explored in this volume are recent advances in understanding of the epithelial stem cell niche, identifying small molecules for stem cell expansion in vitro, and recent developments in cell therapy, in particular islet cell transplant for treatment of diabetes. A major objective of the series continues to be to highlight timely, often emerging topics and novel approaches that can accelerate realizing the utility of stem cells in regenerative medicine. Amongst the latter is the use of zebrafish as a platform to screen drugs that regulate stem cell function.

I remain very grateful to Gonzalo Cordova, the associate editor of the series, and wish to acknowledge his continued support.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank Mariska van der Stigchel, Assistant Editor, for her outstanding efforts in helping to bring this volume to the production stages.

A special thank you goes to Shanthi Ramamoorthy and Rathika Ramkumar for their outstanding efforts in the production of this volume.

The rapid and rigorous sharing of knowledge remains key to achieving the potential of stem cell-mediated therapeutic options. To this end, my sincere thanks to the contributors not only for their support of the series but also for their willingness to share their insights and all their efforts to capture both the advances and the remaining obstacles in their areas of research. I trust readers will find their contributions as interesting and helpful as I have.

Ottawa, ON, Canada

Kursad Turksen

# Contents

Epithelial Stem Cells: Making, Shaping and Breaking the Niche	1
Paula Ferraces-Riegas, Anona C. Galbraith, and David P. Doupé	1
Parathyroid Cell Differentiation from ProgenitorCells and Stem Cells: Development, MolecularMechanism, Function, and Tissue EngineeringSelinay Şenkal and Ayşegül Doğan	13
Regenerative Medicine Application of MesenchymalStem CellsFigen Abatay Sel and Fatma Savran Oguz	25
Identification of Small Molecules That Enhancethe Expansion of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Originatingfrom Bone MarrowLamia Yazgi Alyazici and Fatih Kocabas	43
Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell–Based Modelsfor Studying Sex-Specific Differences in NeurodegenerativeDiseasesDiseasesErkan Kiris	57
Current Status, Barriers, and Future Directions for Humanized Mouse Models to Evaluate Stem Cell–Based Islet Cell Transplant Kevin Verhoeff, Braulio A. Marfil-Garza, Nerea Cuesta-Gomez, Ila Jasra, Nidheesh Dadheech, and A. M. James Shapiro	89
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Osteoarthritis: Practice and Possible Promises	107
<b>The Historical Relationship Between Meis1 and Leukemia</b> Neslihan Meriç and Fatih Kocabaş	127

An Overview of Zebrafish Modeling Methods	
in Drug Discovery and Development	145
Bagher Larijani, Shayesteh Kokabi Hamidpour,	
Akram Tayanloo-Beik, Ainaz Shahbazbadr, Hanieh Yavari,	
Nazli Namazi, Mahmood Biglar, and Babak Arjmand	
Cellular Stress Responses in Oocytes: Molecular Changes	
and Clinical Implications	171
Waleed F. A. Marei and Jo L. M. R. Leroy	
Index	191



## Epithelial Stem Cells: Making, Shaping and Breaking the Niche

Paula Ferraces-Riegas, Anona C. Galbraith, and David P. Doupé

#### Abstract

Epithelial stem cells maintain tissues throughout adult life and are tightly regulated by their microenvironmental niche to balance cell production and loss. These stem cells have been studied extensively as signal-receiving cells, responding to cues from other cell types and mechanical stimuli that comprise the niche. However, studies from a wide range of systems have identified epithelial stem cells as major contributors to their own microenvironment either through producing niche cells, acting directly as niche cells or regulating niche cells. The importance of stem cell contributions to the niche is particularly clear in cancer, where tumour cells extensively remodel their microenvironment to promote their survival and proliferation.

#### Keywords

Cancer · Epithelia · Extracellular matrix · Homeostasis · Niche · Signalling · Stem cells

e-mail: david.p.doupe@durham.ac.uk

#### Abbreviations

BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
CAF	Cancer-associated fibroblast
CSC	Cancer stem cell
DMBA	7,12-Dimethylbenz(a)anthracene
EC	Enterocyte
ECM	Extracellular matric
EE	Enteroendocrine
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
ISC	Intestinal stem cell
JAK/STAT	Janus kinase/signal transducer and
	activator of transcription
SOS	Son of Sevenless
ТА	Transit amplifying
TIC	Tumour-initiating cell
TPA	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-
	acetate
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### 1 Introduction

Adult tissue stem cells play critical roles throughout the body in maintaining normal tissue homeostasis and responding to challenges such as damage. The stem cells must generate sufficient cells to maintain the tissue without overproliferating, which is a hallmark of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg 2017). Stem cells are therefore

Authors Paula Ferraces-Riegas and Anona C. Galbraith have equally contributed to this chapter.

P. Ferraces-Riegas, A. C. Galbraith, and D. P. Doupé (⊠) Department of Biosciences, Durham University, Durham, UK

tightly regulated by their local microenvironment or niche. As misregulation of stem cells has major implications for both normal physiology and diseases such as cancer, a great deal of research has focused on understanding the stem cell niche. Classically, the niche has been thought of in terms of signalling from adjacent cells, but more recent work has led to an expanded definition that incorporates not only classical signalling pathways but also mechanical and metabolic inputs (Scadden 2014; Chacón-Martínez et al. 2018).

Even as understanding of what constitutes the niche has broadened, most studies have focused on the cells and tissues surrounding the stem cells and their role in creating the microenvironment. In this context, stem cells are viewed primarily as the recipients of chemical and mechanical cues. However, work in a range of systems has shown that stem cells themselves contribute substantially to the niche. In this review, we will take a stem cell-centric view of the niche and explore the roles of stem cells themselves in producing and regulating their niches. Taking examples of epithelial stem cells from a range of model organisms and tissues, we will discuss the roles of stem cell progeny, autocrine stem cell signals and stem cell regulation of the niche in tissue homeostasis and repair. We will also consider how these principles of stem cell niche regulation are subverted by cancer cells to enable overproliferation, invasion and metastasis with implications for therapeutics and prognostic biomarkers.

#### 2 Making the Niche: Stem Cell Progeny as Niche Components

While niche signals often originate from surrounding tissues, such as the underlying mesenchyme for many epithelial stem cells, an increasing number of examples have emerged of epithelial stem cell progeny playing a major role as sources of niche signals (Fig. 1a). In the mammalian intestine, for example, both mesenchymaland stem cell-derived epithelial cells supply signals to regulate the intestinal stem cells (ISCs) (Santos et al. 2018). The epithelium is maintained by multipotent Lgr5+ stem cells located in the spatially restricted crypts of Lieberkuhn at the base of the villi (Barker et al. 2007). ISCs generate both absorptive enterocyte (EC) cells and secretory cells, including enteroendocrine (EE) cells and Paneth cells. In the crypt base, stem cells are found intercalated between large Paneth cells with which they form extensive surface contacts (Sato et al. 2011). Expression profiling showed Paneth cells express many ligands for pathways involved in stem cell regulation in vivo, including EGF, Dll4 and Wnt3, and depletion of Paneth cells can result in reduced stem cell numbers (Sato et al. 2011). Further evidence for the niche role of Paneth cells comes from the growth of self-organizing intestinal organoid cultures in vitro. These organoids develop with the support of appropriate growth factors in the absence of mesenchymal cells, but the efficiency of their growth is enhanced by the addition of Paneth cells (Sato et al. 2009, 2011).

Other studies have shown that stem cell function can be retained in the absence of Paneth cells, suggesting a degree of redundancy in the sources of niche signals (Durand et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2012). Non-epithelial cell types, including telocytes and discrete subtypes of mesenchymal cells, are also sources of ligands such as Wnts (Aoki et al. 2016; Valenta et al. 2016; Degirmenci et al. 2018; Shoshkes-Carmel et al. 2018). While the relative importance of these sources of niche signals may be unclear, Paneth cells, produced by the ISCs, make a significant contribution to the stem cell niche. Indeed, increased mTORC1 activity in Paneth cells with age leads to elevated expression of the Wnt inhibitor Notum, reducing stem cell proliferation, which demonstrates that changes in stem cell progeny can impact the niche and hence stem cell fate (Pentinmikko et al. 2019).

The simpler intestinal model of the *Drosophila* midgut is also maintained by a population of ISCs that generate both absorptive EC and secretory EE cells (Micchelli and Perrimon 2006; Ohlstein and Spradling 2006). While a direct equivalent of the Paneth cells is absent, both progeny types



Fig. 1 Stem cell niche contributions from stem cells (a) Stem cells (blue) may generate progeny (yellow) that act as niche components regulating their own progenitor stem cells

(**b**) Stem cells may act as their own niche cells producing autocrine signals or ECM components (grey stars)

(c) Stem cells may regulate epithelial or non-epithelial

have been shown to express ligands critical for intestinal homeostasis. Slit-Robo signalling from EEs to ISCs acts as a negative feedback loop to regulate EE production (Biteau and Jasper 2014). EEs may also indirectly regulate ISCs via the secretion of tachykinin to regulate Dilp3 production by smooth muscle, which in turn promotes ISC maintenance (Amcheslavsky et al. 2014). Differentiated ECs are sources of BMP ligands that promote ISC maintenance and self-renewal (Tian and Jiang 2014), Hippo regulators (Karpowicz et al. 2010) and cytokine ligands that activate JAK/STAT signalling to promote tissue turnover (Jiang et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2013). Differentiating progeny also contribute to the niche in the form of Wingless signals from enteroblast (EB) progenitors, which are required for ISC proliferation in regenerating midguts (Cordero et al. 2012).

As in mammalian intestinal epithelium, EGFR signalling is a critical regulator of *Drosophila* ISC proliferation. While the underlying visceral muscle is one source of the EGF ligand Vein, multiple ligands including epithelial Spitz and Keren

(brown) niche cells or the ECM to influence their own environment

(d) Cancer cells (red) may subvert the niche, exploiting any and all of the approaches  $\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{c}$  to create a microenvironment that favours their growth at the expense of normal cells

expressed by differentiating EBs function redundantly to regulate the ISCs (Biteau and Jasper 2011; Jiang et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2011). Regulated secretion of EGF ligands from ECs is instrumental in driving turnover (Liang et al. 2017). These ligands are expressed in membrane-bound precursor forms that are unable to signal, but in response to EC apoptosis, the protease rhomboid is induced and cleaves the precursors to allow secretion of active EGF ligands. The resulting EGFR signalling in ISCs drives their proliferation (Liang et al. 2017), demonstrating the utility of feedback from progeny to the stem cells in coupling cell loss and replacement to maintain balance.

A similar coupling of differentiated progeny cell loss to stem cell proliferation has been demonstrated in the mouse epidermis. Live imaging studies were used to track thousands of nuclei in the basal layer of the epidermis over time (Mesa et al. 2018). It was found that driving cell differentiation caused a reduced local cell density in the basal layer, which in turn drove stem cell proliferation as contact inhibition was reduced. Whether this inhibition is through physical or chemical signalling, it is the differentiating progeny of the stem cells that feed back to suppress their proliferation. A recent study has suggested that the mechanism may be based on intra-tissue tension (Ning et al. 2021). Signals from stem cell progeny are also important in the activation of quiescent mammalian hair follicle stem cells. Transit-amplifying (TA) cells secrete the Hedgehog ligand Shh to activate the hair follicle stem cells (Hsu et al. 2014).

Given the importance of coupling cell loss to new cell production, both in normal homeostasis and in response to challenges, it is perhaps not surprising that progeny should feed back to the stem cells (Fig. 1a). This form of coupling would allow the status of the epithelium to be communicated continuously to the stem cells, enabling them in turn to tune the production of new cells according to demand. The importance of stem cell progeny in the niche shifts our understanding from that of a fixed, clearly defined anatomical niche to that of a niche in continuous flux, able to act as rheostat, dynamically adapting to challenges and maintaining balance (Hsu and Fuchs 2012).

#### 3 Being the Niche: Stem Cell-Derived Proteins as Niche Components

In addition to producing differentiated progeny that comprises part of the stem cell niche, there are an increasing number of examples of stem cells expressing their own niche components. In some cases, these act as autocrine signals; in others, they may contribute to the local environment, shaping the extracellular matrix (ECM) and modulating paracrine signals. In the mammalian interfollicular epidermis, stem cell self-renewal is driven by autocrine Wnt signalling (Lim et al. 2013). Wnt4 and Wnt10a are expressed by stem cells in both mouse epidermis in vivo and cultured human epidermal stem cells (Radoja et al. 2006; Lim et al. 2013). In the epidermal appendages, autocrine FGF18 and BMP6 act as niche factors to maintain quiescence of hair follicle bulge stem cells (Kimura-Ueki et al. 2012).

One population of stem cells may in some contexts provide critical niche signals for another, for example, apoptotic hair follicle stem cells were recently shown to promote the proliferation of their non-apoptotic neighbours through Wnt signalling (Ankawa et al. 2021).

Similar mechanisms are found in the Drosoph*ila* intestine with Pvf2 acting as an autocrine stem cell maintenance factor. Overexpression of Pvf2 results in hyperproliferation, while depletion results in epithelial hypoplasia (Bond and Foley 2012). Increased expression of Pvf2 in aged intestines has been associated with stem cell misregulation, and knockdown of Pvf2 blocks increased proliferation observed with age, illustrating the importance of stem cell niche contributions in maintaining homeostatic balance (Choi et al. 2008). Autocrine signalling is not limited to Pvf2; the cytokine JAK/STAT ligand Upd1 is required autonomously for stem/progenitor cell maintenance (Osman et al. 2012). As in mammalian epidermis, there is some evidence that autocrine Wg signalling may contribute to stem cell regulation in the Drosophila midgut, particularly in anterior regions that may be further from a source of paracrine Wingless signals (Fang et al. 2016).

The role of stem cells in secreting their own niche proteins is not limited to signalling pathway ligands but also includes the contribution of stem cells to ECM composition. ECM components have been described as possible stem cell markers in the epidermal hair follicle bulge (Watt and Fujiwara 2011), with a range of collagens showing increased expression in hair follicle stem cells (Morris et al. 2004) and epidermal label-retaining cells (Tumbar et al. 2004). Given that integrin expression and adhesive properties are well-established markers of epidermal stem cells and that Ilk signalling in epidermal progenitor cells has been linked to the composition of the ECM, this may in effect represent an autocrine signalling mechanism with stem cells secreting their own ECM substrate to promote their maintenance (Jones and Watt 1993; Jones et al. 1995; Morgner et al. 2015). This may be a conserved principle of epithelial stem cell niches as Drosophila midgut ISCs are also maintained by integrin signalling and express the ECM component laminin as an integrin ligand (Lin et al. 2013). In the mammalian intestine, both mesenchymal and epithelial cells contribute to the ECM components of the stem cell niche (Meran et al. 2017). Collagen VI is expressed in the basal epithe lial layer of adult human intestine in the crypt region and in cultured human intestinal epithelial cells, suggesting it is produced either by the ISCs or their immediate progeny (Groulx et al. 2011). A similar pattern has been described for fibronectin in rat intestinal tissue and cultured cells (Quaroni et al. 1978), and some laminin subunits, such as  $\alpha 2$ , are expressed by epithelial cells and enriched around the crypt region (Lefebvre et al. 1999; Teller et al. 2007). Either by acting directly as autocrine signalling molecules or by creating a permissive physical environment, stem cellderived ECM components contribute significantly to epithelial niches.

Autocrine signalling from stem cells (Fig. 1b) may be broadly associated with positive feedback mechanisms, serving to keep stem cells in a primed state where the removal of inhibitory factors could lead to rapid proliferation, for example, in the context of repairing tissue damage. However, such mechanisms pose risks for unregulated proliferation, and as discussed below, there are many examples of autocrine signalling within tumours.

#### 4 Regulating the Niche: Stem Cell Signals to the Microenvironment

In addition to autocrine signals, stem cells also express a range of paracrine signals that play important roles in the regulation of their environment. Stem cell progeny in many cases constitute a critical niche component regulating their parental stem cells; in turn, it is perhaps not surprising that stem cells also regulate their progeny. *Drosophila* ISCs express the Notch ligand Delta, which signals to differentiating EBs to promote enterocyte fate (Micchelli and Perrimon 2006; Ohlstein and Spradling 2006, 2007). Mammalian Delta-like 1 (DLL1) has been found to perform a similar function in mouse interfollicular epidermis, where it acts as a juxtacrine signal from stem cells in the basal layer to promote differentiation (Lowell et al. 2000). Recent work has identified an additional direct role for DLL1 in not only promoting differentiation of adjacent cells but actively inhibiting differentiation of the DLL1expressing stem cells. Cis-inhibition by DLL1 in the stem cells inhibits the Notch signalling pathway to block differentiation (Negri et al. 2019). In effect, DLL1 is acting as both an autocrine inhibitory signal to maintain stemness and a paracrine Notch-activating signal to promote progeny differentiation. This complexity of local signalling is also observed for the Wnt pathway: as discussed in the previous section, mouse interfollicular epidermal stem cells express Wnt ligands that act as autocrine signals to promote stem cell fate; but they also secrete paracrine Wnt inhibitors that promote differentiation of their progeny (Lim et al. 2013). In addition to regulating cellular niche components, stem cells may also impact ECM composition through expression of regulators such as Timp2 in epidermal stem cells (Morris et al. 2004).

Expression profiling has identified a number of secreted proteins expressed by Drosophila ISCs that may act to regulate the local microenvironment (Doupé et al. 2018). The insulin-like peptide Ilp6 is expressed in the ISCs and was found to repress stem cell turnover, suggesting а non-autocrine role since ISC insulin signalling has previously been shown to be necessary for homeostatic turnover and growth (Choi et al. 2011; O'Brien et al. 2011). This study also identified the TNF ligand Eiger as a stem cellexpressed protein that promotes stem cell proliferation, possibly through indirect effects on stem cell enterocyte progeny (Doupé et al. 2018). Another group has further demonstrated that Eiger may be involved in both autocrine and paracrine positive feedback to promote stem cell divisions (Tamamouna et al. 2020).

Stem cell signalling to the microenvironment also plays a significant role in homeostatic turnover of the lung and airway epithelia. As in the examples above, Notch signalling from stem cells to their progeny occurs in the lung epithelium, but it is required for the maintenance of secretory progeny rather than to promote differentiation (Pardo-Saganta et al. 2015). In co-culture assays, human airway stem/progenitor cells express VEGF-A and FGF ligands, which signal locally to endothelial cells to promote their function as sources of niche factors, such as MMP14 for the airway stem cell growth (Curradi et al. 2012; Ding et al. 2015).

Given the dynamic nature of epithelial turnover in homeostasis and the need to closely coordinate cell loss, differentiation and proliferation, it is perhaps not surprising that stem cells communicate their status to the niche, including their own progeny (Fig. 1c). In effect, this allows stem cells to answer back to the microenvironment, allowing a precise two-way feedback with the niche to offer a range of mechanisms that support balanced turnover.

#### 5 Subverting the Niche: Carcinogenesis and Metastasis

The ability of stem cells to form, regulate or act as niche cells can be a double-edged sword. The potency that enables precise coordinated regulation in homeostasis and repair can be subverted in diseases such as cancers. Mutations not only trigger autonomous effects in the tumour itself but also impact the ability of the cancer stem cells (CSCs) or tumour-initiating cells (TICs) to communicate to and regulate their surroundings. A great deal of research has focused on understanding how tumour cells remodel their local microenvironment to promote their growth, invasion and metastasis at the expense of normal stem cells (Prager et al. 2019; López de Andrés et al. 2020; Winkler et al. 2020; Oshimori et al. 2021). CSCs have been shown to produce niche factors that either directly promote their self-renewal and survival or help create a favourable environment for cancer progression and invasion (Plaks et al. 2015). This complex network of cross-talk and signalling involves many of the key components of the tumour microenvironment, including mesenchymal stem cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, immune cells and endothelial cells,

along with the extracellular matrix and a wide range of cytokines.

The importance of cancer cell progeny as components of the niche that drive proliferation has been explored in the Drosophila midgut epithelium. In a Drosophila intestinal tumour model driven by loss of Notch function, which blocks differentiation, both autocrine and paracrine signals are responsible for tumour growth (Patel et al. 2015). Autocrine EGF signalling supports initial growth, but as tumour expansion displaces differentiated epithelial cells, these cancer cell progeny express cytokine ligands to further drive tumour growth. An alternative tumour model, in which loss of the transcription factor Sox21a causes accumulation of undifferentiated stem cell progeny, shows similar principles, with stem cell progeny expressing cytokine ligands, EGF ligands and Pvf2 to drive proliferation and matrix metalloproteases to drive invasion (Zhai et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016). There is an extensive literature on tumour heterogeneity and the significance of communication between subclones within a tumour (Tabassum and Polyak 2015). In some cases, this is likely to include communication between cancer stem cells and their own progeny, for example, in a p53-null mouse model of breast cancer, mesenchymallike progeny signal to their tumour-initiating cell parents to promote CSC self-renewal (Brooks and Wicha 2015; Zhang et al. 2015).

Autocrine signalling also plays key roles in the maintenance and proliferation of cancer stem cells. In SOS-driven or DMBA/TPA-induced mouse skin tumours, autocrine VEGF signalling drives tumour cell proliferation, and loss of VEGF or its receptor in the epithelium is sufficient to block tumour growth (Lichtenberger et al. 2010; Beck et al. 2011). Autocrine VEGF has roles in cell survival, proliferation or migration in a range of tumours, including the lung (Chatterjee et al. 2013; Barr et al. 2015), breast (Perrot-Applanat and Di Benedetto 2012) and oesophagus (Zhang et al. 2014). Oesophageal cancer stem cells upregulate both the cytokine CXCL2 and its receptor CXCR4 to promote invasion and metastasis (Wang et al. 2017). Advanced skin squamous cell carcinomas express autocrine SDF-1 that signals through CXCR4 and CXCR7 to promote metastasis (Bernat-Peguera et al. 2019). Ovarian carcinomas express autocrine Interleukin-6 (IL-6), and inhibition of its receptor reduces metastasis (Mehner et al. 2020). Autocrine FGF signalling occurs in squamous cell carcinomas of the lung and head and neck (Gao et al. 2019; Li et al. 2020) and enables adaptive resistance to BRAF/MEK inhibition in BRAF tumours (Wang et al. 2019). Autocrine TGF $\beta$  signalling has been implicated in breast, colorectal and ovarian cancers (Matsumoto et al. 2018; Nakano et al. 2019; Woosley et al. 2019). IL-6 is also an important autocrine factor, in addition to its paracrine roles in regulating the stem cell niche (Yeh et al. 2006; Sansone et al. 2007; Sasser et al. 2007). The ECM protein periostin has been identified as another stem cell-secreted protein that promotes cancer stem cell fate in breast, colon and ovarian cancer through autocrine integrin signalling (Gillan et al. 2002; Bao et al. 2004; Lambert et al. 2016). Periostin is also expressed in mouse hair follicle stem cells, suggesting a role in normal stem cells that is subverted in cancer (Morris et al. 2004).

In addition to acting as a positive niche for their own maintenance through autocrine signalling, cancer stem cells can act as a restrictive niche to limit the proliferation and maintenance of normal stem cells. Three recent studies found that intestinal tumours alter the niche not only to promote their own growth but to drive the loss of adjacent wild-type stem cells. Mammalian ISCs mutant for Apc secrete Wnt antagonists such as Notum to inhibit Wnt signalling in wild-type ISCs, suppressing their proliferation and promoting their differentiation (Flanagan et al. 2021; van Neerven et al. 2021). The mutant ISCs are therefore acting as a repressive niche for normal ISC growth, but as the Apc mutant cells are no longer dependent on extrinsic Wnt signals, their own growth is not impeded. This remodelling was not specific to Apc cells or Wnt signalling, as clones of intestinal cells expressing KRAS/PI3K oncogenes have also been shown to suppress the growth of adjacent wild-type clones by secretion of BMP ligands (Yum et al. 2021). The Simons

group also showed that in addition to directly acting as a repressive niche, cancer stem cells can regulate other niche components, indirectly repressing Wnt signalling in wild-type stem cells by remodelling of the stroma. Collectively, these three papers demonstrate that cancer stem cells remodel the local microenvironment to enhance their own competitive advantage over wild-type stem cells.

CSC- or TIC-derived signals play critical roles in regulating their own niche through recruitment or induction of cells in the microenvironment to express niche signals that promote tumour properties. CSCs in breast cancer and skin tumours secrete VEGF-A, which acts on endothelial cells to promote angiogenesis and the formation of a perivascular niche (Beck et al. 2011; Jiang et al. 2020). In addition to its role in promoting tumour endothelial niche function, mouse colon carcinoma-derived VEGF-A has also been shown to regulate T-cell immune checkpoints, creating an immune-protective environment (Voron et al. 2015). Squamous cell carcinoma TICs express the cytokine IL-33, which induces differentiation of macrophages that express TGF<sub>β</sub> to promote cancer progression (Taniguchi et al. 2020). A similar loop is observed between breast CSCs and mesenchymal stem cells involving reciprocal IL-6 and CXCL7 signalling (Liu et al. 2011). Tumour-derived signals can also induce cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), including inflammatory CAFs IL-1α via and myofibroblastic CAFs via TGFB (Biffi et al. 2019). In the Drosophila midgut, Apc mutant cells subvert the normal EGF-driven feedback circuit that acts to couple cell loss to ISC proliferation by inducing rhomboid in adjacent cells to drive constitutive secretion of active EGF ligands (Ngo et al. 2020). Remodelling of the ECM elements of the niche is also critical in tumour development and progression, with contributions from both tumour cells themselves expressing ECM components or regulators such as MMPs and from tumour-associated cells, particularly CAFs (Winkler et al. 2020). In addition to its autocrine roles, the ECM component periostin is expressed by CAFs in the stroma of ovarian cancer in response to TGF $\beta$ 1 signalling from the tumour cells and promotes metastasis through integrin signalling (Yue et al. 2021).

In summary, cancer stem cells extensively remodel their niche in order to facilitate tumour progression and cancer cell survival through complex networks of interactions involving all of the contributions seen in the homeostatic niche (Fig. 1d). As a result, the cancer secretome is increasingly taking on therapeutic significance (López de Andrés et al. 2020). The multipotency and tight homeostatic regulation that characterizes stem cells and maintains tissue integrity is overturned in the CSC niche, promoting adverse effects of an otherwise beneficial characteristic of normal tissue stem cells.

#### 6 Conclusions

The importance of stem cell-derived secreted proteins and stem cell progeny in the niche is increasingly recognized in the context of cancer cells. However, the extent to which this represents the misregulation of signalling circuits used in normal stem cell regulation is unclear. Studies from a range of systems have shown the significance of these mechanisms in normal homeostasis and tissue repair. Further work is needed to explore the extent of stem cell signalling as critical to the niche and the logic of two-way interactions between stem cells and the surrounding microenvironment. Coupling both at the level of two-way signalling between stem cells and the niche and between cell production and loss through niche roles of stem cell progeny provides mechanisms to maintain balance. Given the highly dynamic nature of these links, the development and application of novel approaches to study homeostasis in real time will be critical to explore the mechanisms of homeostasis and how it is perturbed. Many of the known mechanisms appear to be conserved from the relatively simple invertebrate model of the Drosophila midgut to mammalian systems, suggesting that complementary studies in both basic model organisms and more complex mammalian systems will be key to elucidating the full logic of these complex interactions.

Acknowledgements We thank Pedro Saavedra for his comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by a Newcastle Liverpool Durham BBSRC-DTP [BB/M011186/1] PhD studentship and the Academy of Medical Sciences/Wellcome Trust/Government Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy/ British Heart Foundation/Diabetes UK Springboard Award [SBF005\1022].

#### References

- Amcheslavsky A et al (2014) Enteroendocrine cells support intestinal stem-cell-mediated homeostasis in Drosophila. Cell Rep 9(1):32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.celrep.2014.08.052
- Ankawa R et al (2021) Apoptotic cells represent a dynamic stem cell niche governing proliferation and tissue regeneration. Dev Cell 56(13):1900–1916.e5. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2021.06.008
- Aoki R et al (2016) Foxl1-expressing mesenchymal cells constitute the intestinal stem cell niche. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2(2):175–188. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2015.12.004
- Bao S et al (2004) Periostin potently promotes metastatic growth of colon cancer by augmenting cell survival via the Akt/PKB pathway. Cancer Cell 5(4):329–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(04)00081-9
- Barker N et al (2007) Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449(7165):1003–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature06196
- Barr MP et al (2015) Vascular endothelial growth factor is an autocrine growth factor, signaling through neuropilin-1 in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Cancer 14(1):45. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-015-0310-8
- Beck B et al (2011) A vascular niche and a VEGF–Nrp1 loop regulate the initiation and stemness of skin tumours. Nature 478(7369):399–403. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature10525
- Bernat-Peguera A et al (2019) PDGFR-induced autocrine SDF-1 signaling in cancer cells promotes metastasis in advanced skin carcinoma. Oncogene 38(25):5021–5037. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-019-0773-y
- Biffi G et al (2019) IL1-induced JAK/STAT signaling is antagonized by TGFβ to shape CAF heterogeneity in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Discov 9(2):282–301. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0710
- Biteau B, Jasper H (2011) EGF signaling regulates the proliferation of intestinal stem cells in Drosophila. Development 138(6):1045–1055. https://doi.org/10. 1242/dev.056671
- Biteau B, Jasper H (2014) Slit/Robo signaling regulates cell fate decisions in the intestinal stem cell lineage of Drosophila. Cell Rep 7(6):1867–1875. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.05.024

- Bond D, Foley E (2012) Autocrine platelet-derived growth factor-vascular endothelial growth factor receptorrelated (Pvr) pathway activity controls intestinal stem cell proliferation in the adult Drosophila midgut. J Biol Chem 287(33):27359–27370. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M112.378018
- Brooks MD, Wicha MS (2015) Tumor Twitter: cellular communication in the breast cancer stem cell niche. Cancer Discov 5(5):469–471. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 2159-8290.CD-15-0327
- Chacón-Martínez CA, Koester J, Wickström SA (2018) Signaling in the stem cell niche: regulating cell fate, function and plasticity. Development 145(15). https:// doi.org/10.1242/dev.165399
- Chatterjee S et al (2013) Tumor VEGF:VEGFR2 autocrine feed-forward loop triggers angiogenesis in lung cancer. J Clin Invest 123(4):1732–1740. https://doi.org/10. 1172/JCI65385
- Chen J et al. (2016) A feedback amplification loop between stem cells and their progeny promotes tissue regeneration and tumorigenesis. eLife. Edited by AC Spradling. eLife Sciences Publications, Ltd, 5:e14330. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.14330
- Choi N-H et al (2008) Age-related changes in Drosophila midgut are associated with PVF2, a PDGF/VEGF-like growth factor. Aging Cell 7(3):318–334. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00380.x
- Choi NH, Lucchetta E, Ohlstein B (2011) Nonautonomous regulation of Drosophila midgut stem cell proliferation by the insulin-signaling pathway. PNAS 108(46):18702–18707. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1109348108/-/DCSupplemental.www.pnas.org/cgi/ doi/10.1073/pnas.1109348108
- Cordero JB et al (2012) Inducible progenitor-derived Wingless regulates adult midgut regeneration in Drosophila. EMBO J 31(19):3901–3917. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/emboj.2012.248
- Curradi G et al (2012) Airway basal cell vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated cross-talk regulates endothelial cell-dependent growth support of human airway basal cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 69(13):2217–2231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-0922-8
- Degirmenci B et al (2018) GL11-expressing mesenchymal cells form the essential Wnt-secreting niche for colon stem cells. Nature 558(7710):449–453. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-018-0190-3
- Ding B-S et al (2015) Endothelial MMP14 is required for endothelial-dependent growth support of human airway basal cells. J Cell Sci 128(16):2983–2988. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.168179
- Doupé DP et al (2018) Drosophila intestinal stem and progenitor cells are major sources and regulators of homeostatic niche signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci 115(48):12218–12223. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1719169115
- Durand A et al (2012) Functional intestinal stem cells after Paneth cell ablation induced by the loss of transcription factor Math1 (Atoh1). Proc Natl Acad Sci

109(23):8965-8970. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1201652109

- Fang HY, Martinez-Arias A, de Navascués J (2016) Autocrine and paracrine wingless signalling in the drosophila midgut by both continuous gradient and asynchronous bursts of wingless expression [version 1; referees: 3 approved with reservations]. F1000Research 5(May):1–21. https://doi.org/10. 12688/F1000RESEARCH.8170.1
- Flanagan DJ et al (2021) NOTUM from Apc-mutant cells biases clonal competition to initiate cancer. Nature 594(7863):430–435. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03525-z
- Gao L et al (2019) FGF19 amplification reveals an oncogenic dependency upon autocrine FGF19/FGFR4 signaling in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncogene 38(13):2394–2404. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41388-018-0591-7
- Gillan L et al (2002) Periostin secreted by epithelial ovarian carcinoma is a ligand for  $\alpha_V\beta_3$  and  $\alpha_V\beta_5$  Integrins and promotes cell motility. Cancer Res 62(18):5358–5364. Available at: http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/62/18/5358.abstract
- Groulx J-F et al (2011) Collagen VI is a basement membrane component that regulates epithelial cell–fibronectin interactions. Matrix Biol 30(3):195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2011.03.002
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2017) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144(5):646–674. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hsu Y-C, Fuchs E (2012) A family business: stem cell progeny join the niche to regulate homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13(2):103–114. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrm3272
- Hsu YC, Li L, Fuchs E (2014) Transit-amplifying cells orchestrate stem cell activity and tissue regeneration. Cell 157(4):935–949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2014.02.057
- Jiang H et al (2009) Cytokine/Jak/Stat signaling mediates regeneration and homeostasis in the Drosophila midgut. Cell 137(7):1343–1355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2009.05.014
- Jiang H et al (2011) EGFR/Ras/MAPK signaling mediates adult midgut epithelial homeostasis and regeneration in Drosophila. Cell Stem Cell 8(1):84–95. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2010.11.026
- Jiang H et al (2020) Jagged1-Notch1-deployed tumor perivascular niche promotes breast cancer stem cell phenotype through Zeb1. Nat Commun 11(1):5129. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18860-4
- Jones PH, Watt FM (1993) Separation of human epidermal stem cells from transit amplifying cells on the basis of differences in integrin function and expression. Cell 73(4):713–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674 (93)90251-K
- Jones PH, Harper S, Watt FM (1995) Stem cell patterning and fate in human epidermis. Cell 80(1):83–93. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90453-0

- Karpowicz P, Perez J, Perrimon N (2010) The hippo tumor suppressor pathway regulates intestinal stem cell regeneration. Development 137(24):4135–4145. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.060483
- Kim T-H, Escudero S, Shivdasani RA (2012) Intact function of Lgr5 receptor-expressing intestinal stem cells in the absence of Paneth cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci:201113890. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1113890109
- Kimura-Ueki M et al (2012) Hair cycle resting phase is regulated by cyclic epithelial FGF18 signaling. J Investig Dermatol 132(5):1338–1345. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/jid.2011.490
- Lambert AW et al (2016) Tumor cell-derived periostin regulates cytokines that maintain breast cancer stem cells. Mol Cancer Res 14(1):103–113. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0079
- Lefebvre O et al (1999) Developmental expression and cellular origin of the laminin  $\alpha 2$ ,  $\alpha 4$ , and  $\alpha 5$  chains in the intestine. Dev Biol 210(1):135–150. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1999.9270
- Li F et al (2020) Enhanced autocrine FGF19/FGFR4 signaling drives the progression of lung squamous cell carcinoma, which responds to mTOR inhibitor AZD2104. Oncogene 39(17):3507–3521. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41388-020-1227-2
- Liang J et al (2017) Feedback regulation of steady-state epithelial turnover and organ size. Nature 548(7669):588–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature23678
- Lichtenberger BM et al (2010) Autocrine VEGF signaling synergizes with EGFR in tumor cells to promote epithelial cancer development. Cell 140(2):268–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.046
- Lim X et al (2013) Interfollicular epidermal stem cells selfrenew via autocrine Wnt signaling. Science (New York, NY) 342(6163):1226–1230. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1239730
- Lin G et al (2013) Integrin signaling is required for maintenance and proliferation of intestinal stem cells in Drosophila. Dev Biol 377(1):177–187. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ydbio.2013.01.032
- Liu S et al (2011) Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks. Cancer Res 71(2):614–624. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-0538
- López de Andrés J et al (2020) Cancer stem cell secretome in the tumor microenvironment: a key point for an effective personalized cancer treatment. J Hematol Oncol 13(1):136. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00966-3
- Lowell S et al (2000) Stimulation of human epidermal differentiation by Delta–Notch signalling at the boundaries of stem-cell clusters. Curr Biol 10(9):491–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822 (00)00451-6
- Matsumoto T et al (2018) TGF-β-mediated LEFTY/Akt/ GSK-3β/snail axis modulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell properties in ovarian

clear cell carcinomas. Mol Carcinog 57(8):957–967. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22816

- Mehner C et al (2020) Targeting an autocrine IL-6-SPINK1 signaling axis to suppress metastatic spread in ovarian clear cell carcinoma. Oncogene 39(42):6606–6618. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-020-01451-4
- Meran L, Baulies A, Li VSW (2017) Intestinal stem cell niche: the extracellular matrix and cellular components. Stem Cells International. Edited by K Liu Hindawi 2017:7970385. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2017/7970385
- Mesa KR et al (2018) Homeostatic epidermal stem cell self-renewal is driven by local differentiation. Cell Stem Cell 23(5):677–686.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stem.2018.09.005
- Micchelli CA, Perrimon N (2006) Evidence that stem cells reside in the adult Drosophila midgut epithelium. Nature 439(7075):475–479. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature04371
- Morgner J et al (2015) Integrin-linked kinase regulates the niche of quiescent epidermal stem cells. Nat Commun 6(1):8198. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9198
- Morris RJ et al (2004) Capturing and profiling adult hair follicle stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 22(4):411–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt950
- Nakano M et al (2019) Dedifferentiation process driven by TGF-beta signaling enhances stem cell properties in human colorectal cancer. Oncogene 38(6):780–793. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0480-0
- Negri VA et al (2019) Delta-like 1-mediated cis-inhibition of Jagged1/2 signalling inhibits differentiation of human epidermal cells in culture. Sci Rep 9(1):10825. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47232-2
- Ngo S et al (2020) Disruption of EGF feedback by intestinal tumors and neighboring cells in Drosophila. Curr Biol 30(8):1537–1546.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2020.01.082
- Ning W et al (2021) Differentiated daughter cells regulate stem cell proliferation and fate through intra-tissue tension. Cell Stem Cell 28(3):436–452.e5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2020.11.002
- O'Brien LE et al (2011) Altered modes of stem cell division drive adaptive intestinal growth. Cell 147(3):603–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011. 08.048
- Ohlstein B, Spradling A (2006) The adult Drosophila posterior midgut is maintained by pluripotent stem cells. Nature 439(7075):470–474. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature04333
- Ohlstein B, Spradling A (2007) Multipotent Drosophila intestinal stem cells specify daughter cell fates by differential notch signaling. Science (New York, NY) 315(5814):988–992. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1136606
- Oshimori N, Guo Y, Taniguchi S (2021) An emerging role for cellular crosstalk in the cancer stem cell niche. J Pathol 254(4):384–394. https://doi.org/10.1002/path. 5655

- Osman D et al (2012) Autocrine and paracrine unpaired signaling regulate intestinal stem cell maintenance and division. J Cell Sci 125(Pt 24):5944–5949. https://doi. org/10.1242/jcs.113100
- Pardo-Saganta A et al (2015) Parent stem cells can serve as niches for their daughter cells. Nature 523(7562): 597–601. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14553
- Patel PH, Dutta D, Edgar BA (2015) Niche appropriation by Drosophila intestinal stem cell tumours. Nat Cell Biol 17(9):1182–1192. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb3214
- Pentinmikko N et al (2019) Notum produced by Paneth cells attenuates regeneration of aged intestinal epithelium. Nature 571(7765):398–402. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1383-0
- Perrot-Applanat M, Di Benedetto M (2012) Autocrine functions of VEGF in breast tumor cells. Cell Adhes Migr 6(6):547–553. https://doi.org/10.4161/cam. 23332
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16(3):225–238. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Prager BC et al (2019) Cancer stem cells: the architects of the tumor ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.009
- Quaroni A, Isselbacher KJ, Ruoslahti E (1978) Fibronectin synthesis by epithelial crypt cells of rat small intestine. Proc Natl Acad Sci 75(11):5548–5552. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.75.11.5548
- Radoja N et al (2006) Transcriptional profiling of epidermal differentiation. Physiol Genomics 27(1):65–78. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00031.2006
- Sansone P et al (2007) IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. J Clin Invest 117(12):3988–4002. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI32533
- Santos AJM et al (2018) The intestinal stem cell niche: homeostasis and adaptations. Trends Cell Biol 28(12):1062–1078. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2018. 08.001
- Sasser AK et al (2007) Interleukin-6 is a potent growth factor for ER-α-positive human breast cancer. FASEB J 21(13):3763–3770. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-8832com
- Sato T et al (2009) Single Lgr5 stem cells build cryptvillus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature 459(7244):262–265. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature07935
- Sato T et al (2011) Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. Nature 469(7330):415–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature09637
- Scadden DT (2014) Nice Neighborhood: emerging concepts of the stem cell niche. Cell 157(1):41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.013
- Shoshkes-Carmel M et al (2018) Subepithelial telocytes are an important source of Wnts that supports intestinal

crypts. Nature 557(7704):242–246. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-018-0084-4

- Tabassum DP, Polyak K (2015) Tumorigenesis: it takes a village. Nat Rev Cancer 15(8):473–483. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc3971
- Tamamouna V et al (2020) Evidence of two types of balance between stem cell mitosis and enterocyte nucleus growth in the Drosophila midgut. Development 147(11). https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.189472
- Taniguchi S et al (2020) Tumor-initiating cells establish an IL-33–TGF-β niche signaling loop to promote cancer progression. Science 369(6501):eaay1813. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aay1813
- Teller IC et al (2007) Laminins in the developing and adult human small intestine: relation with the functional absorptive unit. Dev Dyn 236(7):1980–1990. https:// doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21186
- Tian A, Jiang J (2014) Intestinal epithelium-derived BMP controls stem cell self-renewal in Drosophila adult midgut. eLife. Edited by U Banerjee 3:e01857. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.01857
- Tumbar T et al (2004) Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science 303(5656):359–363. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1092436
- Valenta T et al (2016) Wnt ligands secreted by subepithelial mesenchymal cells are essential for the survival of intestinal stem cells and gut homeostasis. Cell Rep 15(5):911–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2016.03.088
- van Neerven SM et al (2021) Apc-mutant cells act as supercompetitors in intestinal tumour initiation. Nature 594(7863):436–441. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03558-4
- Voron T et al (2015) VEGF-A modulates expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. J Exp Med 212(2):139–148. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20140559
- Wang X et al (2017) Stem cell autocrine CXCL12/CXCR4 stimulates invasion and metastasis of esophageal cancer. Oncotarget 8(22) Available at: https://www. oncotarget.com/article/15254/text/
- Wang VE et al (2019) Adaptive resistance to dual BRAF/ MEK inhibition in BRAF-driven tumors through autocrine FGFR pathway activation. Clin Cancer Res 25(23):7202–7217. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-18-2779
- Watt FM, Fujiwara H (2011) Cell-extracellular matrix interactions in normal and diseased skin. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3(4):1–14. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a005124
- Winkler J et al (2020) Concepts of extracellular matrix remodelling in tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Commun 11(1):5120. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18794-x
- Woosley AN et al (2019) TGFβ promotes breast cancer stem cell self-renewal through an ILEI/LIFR signaling axis. Oncogene 38(20):3794–3811. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41388-019-0703-z

- Xu N et al (2011) EGFR, Wingless and JAK/STAT signaling cooperatively maintain drosophila intestinal stem cells. Dev Biol 354(1):31–43. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ydbio.2011.03.018
- Yeh H-H et al (2006) Autocrine IL-6-induced Stat3 activation contributes to the pathogenesis of lung adenocarcinoma and malignant pleural effusion. Oncogene 25(31):4300–4309. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc. 1209464
- Yue H et al (2021) Stromal POSTN induced by TGF-β1 facilitates the migration and invasion of ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 160(2):530–538. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ygyno.2020.11.026
- Yum MK et al (2021) Tracing oncogene-driven remodelling of the intestinal stem cell niche. Nature 594(7863):442–447. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03605-0

- Zhai Z et al (2015) Accumulation of differentiating intestinal stem cell progenies drives tumorigenesis. Nat Commun 6:10219. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10219
- Zhang Q et al (2014) Autocrine VEGF Signaling promotes proliferation of neoplastic Barrett's epithelial cells through a PLC-dependent pathway. Gastroenterology 146(2):461–472.e6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro. 2013.10.011
- Zhang M et al (2015) Intratumoral heterogeneity in a Trp53-null mouse model of human breast cancer. Cancer Discov 5(5):520–533. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 2159-8290.CD-14-1101
- Zhou F et al (2013) The UPD3 cytokine couples environmental challenge and intestinal stem cell division through modulation of JAK/STAT signaling in the stem cell microenvironment. Dev Biol 373(2):383–393. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.10.023

**Open Access** This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.





Parathyroid Cell Differentiation from Progenitor Cells and Stem Cells: Development, Molecular Mechanism, Function, and Tissue Engineering

Selinay Şenkal and Ayşegül Doğan

#### Abstract

Parathyroid glands are endocrine organs which are located posterior to thyroid glands and control secretion of parathyroid hormone (PTH) in order to regulate blood calcium level. PTH maintains calcium homeostasis by acting on the bone, kidney, and small intestine. PTH deficiency leads to chronic hypocalcemia, organ calcinosis, kidney and heart failure, painful muscle spasms, neuromuscular problems, and memory problems. Since parathyroid cells have inadequate proliferation potential in culture conditions, their utilization as a cellular therapy option is very limited. Although studies conducted so far include parathyroid cell differentiation from various cell types, problems related to successful cellular differentiation and transplantation still remain. Recently, parathyroid tissue engineering has attracted attention as a potential treatment for the parathyroid-related diseases caused by hypoparathyroidism. Although major progression is made in the construction of tissue engineering protocols using parathyroid cells and biomaterials, PTH secretion to mimic its spontaneous harmony in the body is

S. Şenkal and A. Doğan (🖂)

a challenge. This chapter comprehensively defines the derivation of parathyroid cells from various cell sources including pluripotent stem cells, molecular mechanisms, and tissue engineering applications.

#### Keywords

Differentiation · Hypoparathyroidism · Parathyroid gland · Parathyroid hormone · Pluripotent stem cells

#### Abbreviations

BMP4	Bone morphogenetic protein 4
CaSR	Calcium-sensitive receptor
CCL21	C-C motif chemokine ligand 21
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short
	palindromic repeats
dTMSC	Differentiated TMSC
EBs	Embryoid bodies
ECF	Extracellular fluid
EYA1	EYA transcriptional coactivator and
	phosphatase 1
FGF23	Fibroblast growth factor 23
FOXN1	Forkhead box N1
GATA3	GATA binding protein 3
GCM2	Glial cells missing transcription
	factor 2
GFP	Green fluorescent protein

Faculty of Engineering, Genetics and Bioengineering Department, Yeditepe University, İstanbul, Turkey e-mail: aysegul.dogan@yeditepe.edu.tr

GHH	Gelatin-hydroxyphenyl propionic
	acid (GH) hydrogels
hESC	Human embryonic stem cell
HOXA3	Homeobox A3
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
IWP-2	Inhibitor of Wnt productions-2
MAFB	MAF BZIP transcription factor B
MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
PAX1	Paired box 1
PAX9	Paired box 9
РКА	Protein kinase A
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
PTH1R	Type 1 parathyroid hormone receptor
PTH2R	Type 2 parathyroid hormone receptor
PTHrP	Parathyroid hormone-related protein
RA	Retinoic acid
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
TALEN	Transcription activator-like effector
	nucleases
TBX1	T-box transcription factor
TGFs	Transforming growth factors
TMSC	Tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem
	cells
Wnt3a	Wnt family member 3A

#### 1 Introduction

Parathyroid glands are small endocrine organs which are located at the posterior part of the thyroid gland. Parathyroid glands secrete parathyroid hormone (PTH) in response to low calcium levels to regulate calcium metabolism (Cipriani 2014). Two different cell types such as chief cells and oxyphil cells are present in the parathyroid glands (Taterra et al. 2019). Although the function of oxyphil cells is unknown, several investigations indicate that oxyphil cells contribute to PTH secretion in secondary hyperparathyroidism (Tanaka et al. 1996). Chief cells produce PTH in response to low calcium which triggers the calcium-sensitive receptor (CaSR) and initiates the G-protein messenger pathway. In contrast, the G-protein messenger pathway is blocked and PTH secretion is diminished when the blood calcium level is high which is related to the secretion of calcitonin from the thyroid gland (Brown and Limaiem 2020). Calcium is one of the most widely distributed inorganic elements which regulates bone development and maintenance in mammals by targeting kidney and intestine for reabsorption of calcium (Khan and Sharma 2018). Calcium homeostasis is driven by four important factors such as PTH, calcitonin, metabolic D3, and fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) (Shaker and Deftos 2013).

PTH is the hormone which raises the blood calcium concentration by three main mechanisms:

- PTH induces the generation of the active form of vitamin D, calcitriol, which plays role in the intestines to enhance calcium absorption.
- PTH simplifies the transportation of calcium from bone into the blood by stimulating osteoclasts when the blood calcium concentration is decreased.
- PTH increases the reabsorption of calcium directly in the kidney tubule. Therefore, the loss of calcium in the urine is decreased (Talmage and Mobley 2008).

Along with calcium homeostasis, PTH contributes to phosphate homeostasis. PTH inhibits phosphate reabsorption from the proximal tubule of the kidney, resulting in increased phosphate excretion through the urine. PTH, on the other hand, increases the absorption of phosphate from the stomach and bones into the blood. The final result of PTH release is a decrement in serum phosphate concentration (Jayakumar 2012). Parathyroid is a small endocrine organ that plays crucial roles in calcium and phosphate metabolism and regulates bone, kidney, and intestine tissue metabolism (Bro and Olgaard 1997). In the current chapter, we reviewed the differentiation of parathyroid cells from stem cells. We organized the current literature on development, molecular mechanism, differentiation, function, and tissue engineering of the parathyroid tissue.

#### 2 PTH Mechanism and Biosynthesis

PTH is the main hormone which regulates calcium and phosphate homeostasis by acting on bone and kidney cells in the body (Renkema et al. 2008). PTH is a 115-amino acid precursor peptide that is extended at the amino (NH2)terminus by a "pre" sequence that facilitates entry into the secretory system of cells. Propeptide PTH(1–84) is the main secreted and circulating form of the hormone, while the leader sequence is cleaved in the cell, giving rise to a straight peptide chain containing 84 amino acids, PTH(1–84). Ionized calcium, Ca+, in the extracellular fluid (ECF), appears to be the primary regulator of PTH generation and secretion.

1 parathyroid hormone receptor Type (PTH1R) and type 2 parathyroid hormone receptor (PTH2R) which belong to the G-protein-coupled receptors family have been identified for PTH and parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) binding. PTHrP is secreted by a diverse range of cells throughout the life, including fetal and postnatal developmental stages. Surface epithelium of developing organs, mesenchyme, vascular smooth muscle, and the central nervous system are among the tissues that have been shown to release this hormone (Strewler 2009). PTH1R is activated by both PTH and PTHrP. Binding to this receptor triggers N-terminal PTH-like domain of the receptor which stimulates the cyclic AMP/Protein kinase A (PKA) pathway or calcium-dependent pathway (Mannstadt et al. 1999). PTH1R mRNA is mostly expressed in bone and renal tubules (Clemens et al. 2001). On the other hand, PTH2R has a very low affinity for PTHrP while it binds to PTH. Similar to PTH1R, it activates adenylyl cyclase and this causes an increase in intracellular cyclic AMP concentration (Mannstadt et al. 1999). PTH2R mRNA is expressed predominantly by adipocytes and keratinocytes in the skin (Sato et al. 2016).

By acting on the bone, kidney, and small intestine (Khan and Sharma 2018), PTH maintains calcium homeostasis. PTH exerts its effects on all bone cell types including osteocytes, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts. PTH first induces osteocyte osteolysis, resulting in the disintegration of the bone surface (Bellido et al. 2013). Ca is transported from the bone canalicular fluid into the osteocytes and then into the extracellular fluid as a result of this process. Then, PTH stimulates osteoclasts to promote bone resorption, releasing calcium and phosphate into the extracellular fluid. PTH exerts both anabolic and catabolic effects on bone tissue. PTH's catabolic effect on bone is an increase in bone resorption (Silva et al. 2011) in response to hypocalcemic stimuli. Numerous in vivo and in vitro studies have shown that PTH indirectly increases bone resorption via osteoclast activation (Chambers et al. 1985; McSheehy and Chambers 1986). On the other hand, preclinical and clinical investigations have demonstrated PTH's anabolic effect on bone tissue. In these studies, it was discovered that the use of PTH stimulates bone development (Neer et al. 2001; Greenspan et al. 2007; Iwaniec et al. 2007). The anabolic effect of PTH treatment is inversely proportional to the osteoblastic lineage in terms of bone mass (Yang et al. 2007). The hormone PTH, as previously stated, promotes and improves the growth of osteoblasts in primary calvarial cells as well as bone marrow-derived cells. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that intermittent PTH promotes the production of ossicles in immunodeficient animals following the implantation of bone marrow-derived cells the dorsal surface of each mouse; on mid-longitudinal skin incisions of approximately 1 cm in length were created (Pettway et al. 2005).

Physiological calcium reabsorption in the nephron occurs in the proximal convoluted tubule as well as the ascending Henle loop in the kidneys. By targeting the distal convoluted tubule and collecting duct, circulating PTH directly increases calcium reabsorption. In the proximal convoluted tubule, PTH inhibits phosphate reabsorption. Phosphate ions in serum form insoluble salts with calcium, lowering plasma calcium. As a result, phosphate ion reduction results in more ionized calcium in the blood (Khan and Sharma 2018). PTH increases the formation of 1-alphahydroxylase in the proximal convoluted tubule of 16

the kidneys. This enzyme, 1-alpha-hydroxylase, is essential for the catalysis of the conversion of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol to active vitamin D-1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol. Vitamin D is active and participates in calcium reabsorption in the distal convoluted tubule. Vitamin D facilitates calcium absorption in the small intestine via an active transcellular pathway and a passive paracellular mechanism. The transcellular route demands energy, but the paracellular route allows calcium to pass past tight junctions (Khan and Sharma 2018).

#### 3 Development of Parathyroid Glands

The 4 parathyroid glands are divided into pairs – upper parathyroid glands and lower parathyroid glands - which are located in close proximity to thyroid glands in the adult body (Rosen and Bordoni 2020). The parathyroid glands are originated from the endoderm layer of the third and fourth pharyngeal pouches (Casale and Giwa 2019). The third pharyngeal pouch and the fourth pharyngeal pouch give rise to the lower parathyroid glands and the upper parathyroids respectively. The third pharyngeal pouch is split into dorsal and ventral parts. The dorsal part leads to the lower parathyroid gland, while the ventral part leads to the formation of the thymus. In the seventh week of gastrulation, the lower parathyroid glands separate from the posterior pharyngeal wall and follow the thymus tract to reach their final destination in the posterior thyroid (Rosen and Bordoni 2020). The fourth pharyngeal pouch is divided into dorsal and ventral parts. The dorsal part differentiates into the superior parathyroid gland and the ventral part differentiates into the ultimobranchial body. The parathyroid glands are separated from the pharyngeal wall and attached to the posterior surface of the thyroid when the seventh week of development is completed (Rosen and Bordoni 2020).

In the pharyngeal endoderm, 4 main transcription factors are responsible for the development of parathyroid precursor. These are Homeobox A3 (HOXA3), Paired box 1 (PAX1), EYA Transcriptional Coactivator And Phosphatase 1 (EYA1), and Paired box 9 (PAX9), all of which are involved in thymus development at the pharyngeal endoderm stage (Bingham et al. 2009). HOXA3 is expressed in both the third pouch endoderm and the neural crest mesenchyme, and its function has been demonstrated to be upstream of PAX1 and PAX9 (Su et al. 2001). PAX1 and PAX9 are members of the paired-box gene family, which is involved in the development of numerous organs (Neubueser et al. 1995). PAX9 deficiency results in an failure of thymus, parathyroid, and early ultimobranchial body development (Peters et al. 1998), whereas PAX1 deficiency results in hypoplastic parathyroid and thymus, as well as abnormal thymocyte maturation (Su et al. 2001). At E9.5-10.5, Eya1 is highly expressed in the pharyngeal arches, pouch endoderm, and surface ectoderm, including pharyngeal clefts. Following that, expression of Eya1 was detected in structures arising from the pharyngeal area, including the thymus and parathyroid. Without Eya1, the thymus and parathyroid fail to develop concurrently with the early activation of organogenesis (Xu et al. 2002).

Parathyroid glands are developed in the third pharyngeal pouches in mice at E11.5 (Cordier and Haumont 1980) whereas in both third and fourth pouches in humans starting at 5-6 weeks (Gilmour 1937; Liu et al. 2010). The cell fate decision starts in E11.5 for parathyroid and thymus. Primordium cells located at the third pharyngeal pouches differentiate into the parathyroid and the thymus in the presence of glial cell missing 2 (GCM2) and forkhead box N1 (FOXN1), respectively (Gordon et al. 2001). Additionally, FGF (Gardiner et al. 2012) and bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4) (Gordon et al. 2010) signaling pathways regulate the differentiation of the parathyroid-thymus complex from the pharynx. FOXN1 expression is seen in the ventral/posterial prospective third pharyngeal pouch, also known as the anterior thymus mass, at E10.5 through E12.5, with BMP4 expression found in the surrounding mesenchyme (Bleul and Boehm 2005). A recent study has shown that FGF feedback antagonists from the sprouty gene family are important regulators of parathyroid organogenesis (Mason et al. 2006). During thymus/parathyroid organogenesis, sprouty proteins block FGF signaling at the cellular level. A decrease in the induction of GCM2 expression is caused by increased FGF signaling in the absence of sprouty proteins, which leads to the creation of a small GCM2+ domain by E11.5. GCM2 deficiency may be the cause of sprouty protein mutants' hypoplasia of the parathyroid gland (Gardiner et al. 2012).

GCM is a transcription factor which was first identified in Drosophila which regulates the determination of neuronal or glial fate (Hosoya 1995). GCM1 and GCM2 et al. were characterized in mammalians as homologs of GCM in Drosophila (Kim et al. 1998). GCM2 is slightly expressed in second and third dorsal pouches at E9.5 and upregulated at E10.5 followed by limited expression in dorsal-anterior of the third pouch endoderm (Gordon et al. 2001). GCM2 is important for the survival and differentiation of parathyroid cells. When GCM2 is upregulated, PTH and CaSR which are downstream of parathyroid development pathways are activated. In the absence or reduced expression of the parathyroid GCM2 gene, as seen in GCM2 knockout mice (Günther et al. 2000) or cultured human parathyroid cells treated with GCM2 siRNA (Mizobuchi et al. 2009), CaSR expression is reduced too. CaSR is a marker for early parathyroid differentiation (Liu et al. 2007). GCM2 activates the CaSR gene by binding to GCM response elements in the CASR promoters P1 and P2, which are located in the CASR promoter (Canaff et al. 2008). Thus, GCM2 and CaSR are mechanistically linked to the evolutionarily related parathyroid glands (Okabe and Graham 2004).

Besides, C-C motif chemokine ligand 21 (CCL21) activates the parathyroid domain of the receptor which is expressed at E11.5, and it is responsible for appealing lymphoid progenitors into the thymus domain (Liu et al. 2006). The conservation of CaSR and CCL21 expression in the parathyroid domain is a GCM2-dependent process, whereas the expression of CaSR and CCL21 is GCM2-independent. In discrepancy,

PTH initiation and maintenance is a GCM2dependent process at E12 (Liu et al. 2007). Because PTH is the primary target of GCM2, PTH expression was never observed in GCM2 null mice and parathyroid cells apoptosis was detected in GCM2 null mice (Liu et al. 2007). As a result of the absence of parathyroid glands in GCM2 null mice, it is believed that GCM2 gene is required for parathyroid gland development and survival at the earliest stage following organ specification during embryogenesis (Günther et al. 2000). Additionally, it is predicted that GCM2 plays a critical role in parathyroid function during mineral homeostasis. A series of analyses indicated that GCM2, in conjunction with MAF BZIP transcription factor B (MAFB) and GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3), regulates serum calcium concentration via CaSR binding (Mizobuchi et al. 2009) and followed by promoting PTH secretion (Yamada et al. 2019).

#### 4 Derivation of Parathyroid Cells from Pluripotent Stem Cells

Elimination of parathyroid glands during thyroid surgery or radiotherapy of neck cancers results in parathyroid-related diseases such as hypoparathyroidism and hypocalcemia (Marx 2000). The lack of parathyroid glands and the resulting disorders lead to heart and kidney failure, painful muscle spasms, and neuromuscular problems (Khan and Sharma 2018). Development of parathyroid tissue engineering strategies, cellular therapy solutions, and successful treatment strategies is required to reduce or completely eliminate the hypoparathyroidism-related problems.

Therefore, derivation of parathyroid cells with parathyroid hormone production capacity in a laboratory might be a cell therapy-based solution. The recent studies on patient-specific therapies using human induced pluripotent stem cells are potential candidates for treatment (Fig. 1).

The molecular pathways that underlie parathyroid development were discovered using pluripotent stem cells by Bingham and colleagues in 2009. These molecular pathways can be used to mimic parathyroid development in vitro and



Fig. 1 The schematic representation of parathyroid cell differentiation from pluripotent stem cells

generation of cells for cellular replacement therapy. In vitro parathyroid regeneration was investigated using human embryonic stem cell (hESC) lines. BG01 cells were chosen as a model system because of their capacity to express several endoderm development markers during undirected differentiation into EBs, indicating that the cell line has not acquired abnormalities that would impair its ability to differentiate into endoderm. They optimized the expression of definitive markers of parathyroid development by modifying and extending existing techniques for the differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into definitive endoderm. The suitable technique was employing 100 ng/mL Activin A for 5 days with BG01 cells cultured on murine embryonic fibroblasts under circumstances of rising serum concentration. After 5 days in tissue culture, the cells were allowed to develop further without the addition of murine fibroblasts but with the presence of continuous Activin A. The differentiation protocol was known as Bingham protocol and cells were seeded onto mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) as feeder layer and treated with Activin A and SHH for a total of 26 days to obtain parathyroid-like cells (Fig. 1) (Bingham et al. 2009). Another study conducted by the same group found that another human embryonic stem cell line (H1) had comparable outcomes to their first findings with BG01 cells. According to the findings, differentiated cells exhibited parathyroid-related markers such as

CasR, GCM2, and PTH and produced PTH hormone (Fig. 1) (Woods Ignatoski et al. 2010).

In a thesis study published in 2016, induced cells (iPSCs) pluripotent stem were reprogrammed from patients' somatic cells and then differentiated into parathyroid progenitors for personalized cellular therapy. The advantages of the utilization of iPSCs were to diminish immune rejection in this study. Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALEN) gene-editing technologies were used to insert green fluorescent protein (GFP) reporter into GCM2, PTH, and CasR regulatory sequences to detect differentiation of iPSCs into parathyroid gland cells and progenitors. They hypothesized that iPSCs were directly differentiated through the endodermal lineage with main parathyroid cell characteristics such as PTH secretion in low calcium level, CaSR, and vitamin D receptor expression. Additionally, GATA3 (+/-) mouse model was used to observe the effect of treatment for hypoparathyroidism. The functional efficacy of hypoparathyroidism in the GATA3 (+/-) mouse is critical to aid the production of parathyroid progenitors for transplantation. This model holds promise as the basis for developing a patient-specific cell-based therapy for hypoparathyroidism (Fig. 1) (Sargent 2017).

Lawton and coworkers developed parathyroid hormone expressing cells from hES and hiPS cells in 2020. Definitive endoderm, anterior foregut endoderm, and pharyngeal endoderm differentiation were conducted at different time points of the protocol by using various differentiation medium cocktails. For definitive endoderm differentiation, Activin A, Wnt family member 3A (Wnt3a), PD0332991, and retinoic acid (RA) were added for 5 days. Between day 6 and 9, SB431542, Noggin, PD0332991, and inhibitor of Wnt productions-2 (IWP-2) were utilized for anterior foregut endoderm differentiation. Finally, in order to reach pharyngeal endoderm differentiation, RA, LY364947, FGF10, cyclopamine, BMP4, Noggin, and dexamethasone were used from day 10 to day 37. Each differentiation was confirmed with gene expression, immunofluorescence, flow cytometry, and PTH secretion analysis. This differentiation protocol allowed the proper treatment choices for

patients through recognition of biological determinants of secretion and expression of PTH (Fig. 1) (Lawton et al. 2020).

#### 5 Derivation of Parathyroid Cells from Various Cell Sources

In addition to pluripotent stem cells, various cell types including tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Park et al. 2015) and thymus epithelial cells (Ignatoski et al. 2011) have been used in the derivation of parathyroid-like cells, and these differentiation protocols were indicated in Table 1. Park et al. showed the differentiation of tonsilderived mesenchymal stem cells into parathyroidlike cells. The differentiation was performed with Bingham protocol as described above. Briefly, Activin A and SHH combination was applied

D:00			<b>F</b> · /	
Conditions	Cell source	Duration	Ex vivo/ in vivo/in vitro	References
Activin A Sonic Hedgehog	H1 cells	26 days	In vitro	Woods Ignatoski et al. (2010)
Activin A Sonic Hedgehog	Thymus epithelial cells	21 days	In vitro	Ignatoski et al. (2011)
Activin A Sonic Hedgehog	hiPSC	-	In vitro	Shandiz et al. (2013)
Activin A Sonic Hedgehog	Tonsil-derived MSC	21 days	In vivo	Park et al. (2015)
Activin A LY294002 BMP4 SB431542 Noggin FGF8 Wnt3a EGF Shh	hiPSC	32 days	Ex vivo	Sargent (2017)
Activin A Wnt3a PD0332991 ATRA SB431542 Noggin IVP2 LY364947 FGF10 Cyclopamine BMP4 Dexamethasone	WA09 (H9) human ES cells, Y6-iPSCs, and CHOPWT10.2 iPSC	37 days	In vivo	Lawton et al. (2020)

**Table 1** Parathyroid cell derivation from various sources

for 21 days (Bingham et al. 2009). Differentiated cells secreted PTH and also when these cells were injected into rats that were fed a calcium-free diet, PTH level was renovated, and the survival rate was increased. This study has shown that these differentiated cells were new cell sources for parathyroid cell function restoration and osteoporosis therapy in the future for the first time in the literature (Park et al. 2015).

Ignatoski and colleagues indicated the new cell source as thymus epithelial cells for the differentiation of parathyroid-like cells by Bingham protocol (Bingham et al. 2009). This differentiation process was established based on the thymus development process in which thymus and parathyroid glands are arised from the same primordium. The important points of this protocol were summarized as follows. Firstly, this study had used human tissue and had controlled calciumregulated PTH secretion. Finally, there is no genetic manipulation of cells. Taken together, this study had a potential candidate for the replacement of parathyroid function of patients by in vitro trans-differentiated cells (Table 1) (Ignatoski et al. 2011).

In 2016, Zhao and his coworker stated that adipose-derived stem cells can be used as a proper cell source for differentiation into parathyroidlike cells to treat hypoparathyroidism with autologous cell therapy. The reason for choosing the adipose tissue was their immunomodulatory effect and differentiation potential. The hypothesis of this study was the differentiated cells expressed PTH-related markers and composed blood calcium level (Table 1) (Zhao and Luo 2016).

#### 6 Preclinical and Clinical Applications of Parathyroid Tissue Engineering

In 2020, 200.000 patients suffered from hypoparathyroidism in the United States, Europe, Japan, and South Korea (New Survey on World Hypoparathyroidism 2021). Only in the United States at least 80.000 patients had hypoparathyroidism in 2020 (New Survey on World Hypoparathyroidism 2021). Pre-clinical and clinical studies about parathyroid tissue engineering were summarized in Table 2.

Gökyürek and her co-workers managed to isolate parathyroid cells from human parathyroid tissue and created hydrogel scaffolds via 3D bioprinter in 2020. Because of the spherical shape of the parathyroid gland and the polygonal shape of the chief cells, cylindrical architecture with honeycomb design was picked for the scaffold rather than cornered designs such as square. To further reduce cell leakage and promote cell adherence to the scaffold, a close-pored first layer of the scaffold was printed on the first layer of the scaffold and broader pores were printed on the remaining two layers. The parathyroid cells were grown on alginate scaffolds that were 3D printed and had structural and mechanical qualities that

Clinical application			
types of parathyroid			
glands	Cell source	Materials	References
Scaffold	Parathyroid cells	Hydrogel	Gökyürek (2020)
Allogenic	Allogeneic tissue particles	-	Agha et al. (2016)
transplantation	(1–2 mm)		
Allogenic	Autologous and allogeneic	Polytetrafluoroethylene membrane	Khryshchanovich
transplantation	parathyroid tissue fragments	and a nonwoven polyester mesh	and Ghoussein
			(2016)
Macroencapsulation	Cells derived from adenoma	1.3% (w/v) sodium alginate	Picariello et al.
			(2001)
Embedded	Human tonsil-derived	Gelatin-hydroxyphenyl propionic	Park et al. (2018)
	mesenchymal stem cells	acid hydrogels	

**Table 2** Tissue engineering models for parathyroid-related diseases

were similar to those of the natural tissue. The capabilities of these 3D printed tissues substitute to support cell survival and PTH secretion. As a result, it has been demonstrated that functional parathyroid gland substitutes can be produced using autologous cells and 3D printing to replace the natural parathyroid gland (Table 2) (Gökyürek 2020).

Allotransplantation of parathyroid was successfully done from a 32-year-old woman to a living donor. There were no complications for both donor and recipient. After allotransplantation, the calcium level in serum and PTH secretion increased progressively. This study is one of the examples for transplantation of the parathyroid gland from healthy donors properly (Table 2) (Agha et al. 2016).

In another study, for severe hypoparathyroidism, allotransplantation of macroencapsulated parathyroid is a better option than substitution drug therapy. A 27-year-old male with renal failure-induced parathyroid hyperplasia donated his parathyroid tissue for study. Macroencapsulation was designed with 157  $\mu$ M thick from polyvinylidene difluoride artificial membrane. This encapsulated graft was injected into the lumen of the deep femoral artery. After this allotransplantation, calcium level and PTH secretion turned to normal levels. Also, grafts still had functionality after 3 months (Table 2) (Khryshchanovich and Ghoussein 2016).

Picariello and co-workers conducted the microencapsulation of human parathyroid cells with alginate-polylysine-alginate membranes. 45 patients with primary and secondary hyperparathyroidism had surgery to collect pathological parathyroid tissues. Following the micro-encapsulation of cells, there was evidence of long-term survival, cell proliferation, and PTH secretion in vitro. This study is a potential candidate for patients suffering from hypoparathyroid-ism (Table 2) (Picariello et al. 2001).

In 2015, Park and colleagues showed that novel mesenchymal stem cells generated from human tonsillar tissues (tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells TMSC) were differentiated into PTH-secreting cells. As reported previously, differentiated TMSC (dTMSC) was only able to restore parathyroid function in vivo when placed on a Matrigel scaffold. In 2018, Park et al. improved gelatin-hydroxyphenyl propionic acid (GH) hydrogels (GHH) instead of Matrigel scaffolds in order to embed their PTH-producing TMSC for successful transplantation and therapeutic effects. Continuous PTH release from TMSC-embedded GHH sustained stable serum Ca2+ levels in transplanted mice. Taken together, their findings indicate that a GHH-based system is a more promising and superior stem cell scaffold than other hydrogels which is a requirement for successful clinical applications (Table 2) (Park et al. 2018).

In addition to cell therapy-based approaches, PTH itself is used in the treatment of many conditions. There is another approach for directly utilizing PTH in clinical trials for the treatment of bone and skeletal-related diseases (Arthur and Gronthos 2020). A previously submitted research showed the effect of PTH on bone fractures and mineralization capacity in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. PTH was injected in 1637 postmenopausal women subcutaneously at two different doses. According to results, PTH injection caused decrement in risk of bone fractures and increment in the bone mineral density of total body (Neer et al. 2001).

Another study had developed the cell-free scaffold model to regenerate bone defects. For the first time in the literature, local pulsatile PTH delivery system was developed for supporting bone regeneration by mimicking bone remodeling. The daily PTH delivery was realized in a cell-free biomimetic nanofibrous scaffold for 21 days. This study is a novel model for local bone defects based on the significant results of enhancing bone regeneration (Dang et al. 2017).

Additionally, Ishizuya et al. demonstrated that the PTH had affected the osteoblast differentiation in a dose and time-dependent manner. Isolated osteoblastic cells from newborn rat calvaria were treated with PTH at a different time interval for 48 h. According to results, 6 h administration of PTH caused the osteoblast differentiation mostly compared to other groups. To conclude, PTH treatment affects the osteoblast differentiation based on the exposure time (Ishizuya et al. 1997).

Generation of parathyroid cells from pluripotent stem cells and other cell types might be a source to produce PTH for clinical purposes. Production of the high amount of PTH in culture and further purification might be used in addition to cell therapy for therapeutic purposes.

#### 7 Conclusion

Cell therapy is an emerging field for regenerative medicine in recent years. Stem cells, tissuespecific progenitors, stem cell-derived products, organoid systems, and tissue engineering applications are of great importance for clinical applications. Development of organ systems in controlled culture systems might be a solution for future organ replacement therapies. Parathyroid glands are small organs which could be a suitable target for cell and organ transfer therapies. Derivation of functional parathyroid cells and organ-like structures from appropriate cell sources are required to establish clinically relevant protocols for therapeutic applications. Pluripotent stem cells including embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells, as remarkable cell sources with unlimited proliferation and differentiation potential might be used for parathyroid cell engineering. Derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells from adult cell sources enables the patient-specific cell therapy strategies. Even more crucially, because the donor cells and the tissues generated from iPSCs have identical genetic profiles, the immune system does not reject them (Taylor et al. 2011). ESCs, which are gold standard pluripotent stem cells, have limitless proliferation capacity and can transform into a variety of cell types (Zakrzewski et al. 2019). Understanding the molecular mechanisms of pluripotent stem cell fate decision might allow derivation of clinically relevant cell sources for regenerative medicine.

Investigation of culture and differentiation conditions might enable obtaining fully functional parathyroid cells, parathyroid organoids, and establishment of organ-like structures in scaffold systems. Because parathyroid is a small endocrine organ, transplantation of in vitro derived cells, organoids, and tissue engineering constructs might be a prospective solution. In this chapter, we summarized the current literature for parathyroid cell differentiation from various sources which might help researchers and clinicians in the near future.

Acknowledgments This study was supported by TÜBİTAK-ARDEB 1001 Program (Project no: 2198665). The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Agha A, Scherer MN, Moser C et al (2016) Living-donor parathyroid allotransplantation for therapy-refractory postsurgical persistent hypoparathyroidism in a nontransplant recipient – three year results: a case report. BMC Surg 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12893-016-0165-y
- Arthur A, Gronthos S (2020) Clinical application of bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells to repair skeletal tissue. Int J Mol Sci 21:1–27
- Bellido T, Saini V, Pajevic PD (2013) Effects of PTH on osteocyte function. Bone 54:250–257. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bone.2012.09.016
- Bingham EL, Cheng SP, Woods Ignatoski KM, Doherty GM (2009) Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to a parathyroid-like phenotype. Stem Cells Dev 18:1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2008.0337
- Bleul CC, Boehm T (2005) BMP signaling is required for normal thymus development. J Immunol 175:5213– 5221. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.175.8. 5213
- Bro S, Olgaard K (1997) Effects of excess PTH on nonclassical target organs. Am J Kidney Dis 30:606–620
- Brown MB, Limaiem F (2020) Histology. StatPearls Publishing, Parathyroid Gland
- Canaff L, Zhou X, Hendy GN (2008) The Proinflammatory cytokine, Interleukin-6, up-regulates calcium-sensing receptor gene transcription via Stat1/3 and Sp1/3 \*. J Biol Chem 283:13586–13600. https:// doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M708087200
- Casale J, Giwa AO (2019) Embryology, branchial arches. StatPearls Publishing
- Chambers TJ, Fuller K, McSheehy PMJ, Pringle JAS (1985) The effects of calcium regulating hormones on bone resorption by isolated human osteoclastoma cells. J Pathol 145:297–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/path. 1711450403
- Cipriani NA (2014) Parathyroid: pathophysiology and molecular mechanisms of disease. In: Pathobiology of human disease: a dynamic encyclopedia of disease mechanisms. Elsevier, pp 1234–1241
- Clemens TL, Cormier S, Eichinger A et al (2001) Parathyroid hormone-related protein and its receptors: nuclear functions and roles in the renal and cardiovascular systems, the placental trophoblasts and the pancreatic islets. Br J Pharmacol 134:1113–1136

- Cordier AC, Haumont SM (1980) Development of thymus, parathyroids, and ultimo-branchial bodies in NMRI and nude mice. Am J Anat 157:227–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1001570303
- Dang M, Koh AJ, Jin X et al (2017) Local pulsatile PTH delivery regenerates bone defects via enhanced bone remodeling in a cell-free scaffold. Biomaterials 114:1– 9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.10.049
- Gardiner JR, Jackson AL, Gordon J et al (2012) Localised inhibition of FGF signalling in the third pharyngeal pouch is required for normal thymus and parathyroid organogenesis. Development 139:3456–3466. https:// doi.org/10.1242/dev.079400
- Gilmour JR (1937) The embryology of the parathyroid glands, the thymus and certain associated rudiments. J Pathol Bacteriol 45:507–522. https://doi.org/10. 1002/path.1700450304
- Gökyürek M (2020) Ankara University graduate school of natural and applied sciences master of science thesis
  3D bioprinting of parathyroid tissue. Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi: Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü: Mühendislik Fakültesi: Biyomedikal Mühendisliği Ana Bilim Dalı
- Gordon J, Bennett AR, Blackburn CC, Manley NR (2001) Gcm2 and Foxn1 mark early parathyroid- and thymusspecific domains in the developing third pharyngeal pouch. Mech Dev 103:141–143. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0925-4773(01)00333-1
- Gordon J, Patel SR, Mishina Y, Manley NR (2010) Evidence for an early role for BMP4 signaling in thymus and parathyroid morphogenesis. Dev Biol 339:141– 154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.12.026
- Greenspan SL, Bone HG, Ettinger MP et al (2007) Effect of recombinant human parathyroid hormone (1-84) on vertebral fracture and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 146:326–339. https://doi.org/10.7326/ 0003-4819-146-5-200703060-00005
- Günther T, Chen Z-F, Kim J et al (2000) Genetic ablation of parathyroid glands reveals another source of parathyroid hormone. Nature 406:199–203. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/35018111
- Hosoya T, Takizawa K, Nitta K, Hotta Y (1995) Glial cells missing: a binary switch between neuronal and glial determination in drosophila. Cell 82:1025–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90281-3
- Ignatoski KMW, Bingham EL, Frome LK, Doherty GM (2011) Directed trans-differentiation of thymus cells into parathyroid-like cells without genetic manipulation. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 17:1051–1059. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tec.2011.0170
- Ishizuya T, Yokose S, Hori M et al (1997) Parathyroid hormone exerts disparate effects on osteoblast differentiation depending on exposure time in rat osteoblastic cells. J Clin Invest 99:2961–2970. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI119491
- Iwaniec UT, Moore K, Rivera MF et al (2007) A comparative study of the bone-restorative efficacy of anabolic agents in aged ovariectomized rats. Osteoporos Int 18: 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-006-0240-9
- Jayakumar A (2012) Greenspan's basic and clinical endocrinology. Yale J Biol Med 85:559

- Khan M, Sharma S (2018) Physiology, parathyroid hormone (PTH). StatPearls Publishing
- Khryshchanovich V, Ghoussein Y (2016) Allotransplantation of macroencapsulated parathyroid cells as a treatment of severe postsurgical hypoparathyroidism: case report. Ann Saudi Med 36:143–147. https://doi. org/10.5144/0256-4947.2016.21.3.1130
- Kim J, Jones BW, Zock C et al (1998) Isolation and characterization of mammalian homologs of the Drosophila gene glial cells missing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:12364–12369. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95. 21.12364
- Lawton BR, Martineau C, Sosa JA et al (2020) Differentiation of PTH-expressing cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Endocrinology 161. https://doi.org/10. 1210/endocr/bqaa141
- Liu C, Saito F, Liu Z et al (2006) Coordination between CCR7- and CCR9-mediated chemokine signals in prevascular fetal thymus colonization. Blood 108: 2531–2539. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-05-024190
- Liu Z, Yu S, Manley NR (2007) Gcm2 is required for the differentiation and survival of parathyroid precursor cells in the parathyroid/thymus primordia. Dev Biol 305:333–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007. 02.014
- Liu Z, Farley A, Chen L et al (2010) Thymus-associated parathyroid hormone has two cellular origins with distinct endocrine and immunological functions. PLoS Genet 6:e1001251. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pgen.1001251
- Mannstadt M, Jüppner H, Gardella TJ (1999) Receptors for PTH and PTHrP: their biological importance and functional properties. Am J Physiol – Ren Physiol 277: F665–F675
- Marx SJ (2000) Hyperparathyroid and hypoparathyroid disorders. N Engl J Med 343:1863–1875. https://doi. org/10.1056/nejm200012213432508
- Mason JM, Morrison DJ, Basson MA, Licht JD (2006) Sprouty proteins: multifaceted negative-feedback regulators of receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. Trends Cell Biol 16:45–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB. 2005.11.004
- McSheehy PMJ, Chambers TJ (1986) Osteoblastic cells mediate osteoclastic responsiveness to parathyroid hormone. Endocrinology 118:824–828. https://doi.org/10. 1210/endo-118-2-824
- Mizobuchi M, Ritter CS, Krits I et al (2009) Calciumsensing receptor expression is regulated by glial cells missing-2 in human parathyroid cells. J Bone Miner Res 24:1173–1179. https://doi.org/10.1359/JBMR. 090211
- Neer RM, Arnaud CD, Zanchetta JR et al (2001) Effect of parathyroid hormone (1-34) on fractures and Bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 344:1434–1441. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/nejm200105103441904
- Neubueser A, Koseki H, Balling R (1995) Characterization and developmental expression of Pax9, a pairedbox-containing gene related to Pax1. Dev Biol 170: 701–716. https://doi.org/10.1006/DBIO.1995.1248

- New Survey on World Hypoparathyroidism Day Highlights Need for Awareness of this Rare Endocrine Disorder and Patient Challenges to Receive Adequate Care. https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/ 2020/06/01/2041595/0/en/New-Survey-on-World-Hypoparathyroidism-Day-Highlights-Need-for-Aware ness-of-this-Rare-Endocrine-Disorder-and-Patient-Challenges-to-Receive-Adequate-Care.html. Accessed 25 Apr 2021
- Okabe M, Graham A (2004) The origin of the parathyroid gland. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:17716–17719. https:// doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0406116101
- Park YS, Kim HS, Jin YM et al (2015) Differentiated tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells embedded in Matrigel restore parathyroid cell functions in rats with parathyroidectomy. Biomaterials 65:140–152. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.06.044
- Park YS, Lee Y, Jin YM et al (2018) Sustained release of parathyroid hormone via in situ cross-linking gelatin hydrogels improves the therapeutic potential of tonsilderived mesenchymal stem cells for hypoparathyroidism. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12:e1747–e1756. https:// doi.org/10.1002/term.2430
- Peters H, Neubüser A, Kratochwil K, Balling R (1998) Pax9-deficient mice lack pharyngeal pouch derivatives and teeth and exhibit craniofacial and limb abnormalities. Genes Dev 12:2735–2747. https://doi. org/10.1101/GAD.12.17.2735
- Pettway GJ, Schneider A, Koh AJ et al (2005) Anabolic actions of PTH (1-34): use of a novel tissue engineering model to investigate temporal effects on bone. Bone 36: 959–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2005.02.015
- Picariello L, Benvenuti S, Recenti R et al (2001) Microencapsulation of human parathyroid cells: an "in vitro" study. J Surg Res 96:81–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jsre.2000.6054
- Renkema KY, Alexander RT, Bindels RJ, Hoenderop JG (2008) Calcium and phosphate homeostasis: concerted interplay of new regulators. Ann Med 40:82–91
- Rosen RD, Bordoni B (2020) Embryology, parathyroid. StatPearls Publishing
- Sargent RG (2017) Derivation of parathyroid gland cells and their progenitors from induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (iPSCs) for personalized therapy. Technical report 2017. University of California, San Francisco. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/AD1108198
- Sato E, Muto J, Zhang L-J et al (2016) The parathyroid hormone second receptor PTH2R and its ligand Tuberoinfundibular peptide of 39 residues TIP39 regulate intracellular calcium and influence keratinocyte differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 136:1449–1459. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JID.2016.02.814
- Shaker JL, Deftos L (2013) Calcium and phosphate homeostasis. In: Endocrine and reproductive physiology. Elsevier, pp 77–e1

- Shandiz AE, Lee A, Shingo Suzuki RG, Sargent MH, Yezzi LA, Orloff DCG (2013) 472. Directed differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem (hiPS) cells into functional parathyroid tissue for cell therapy. Mol Ther 21:S181–S182. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1525-0016(16)34807-9
- Silva BC, Costa AG, Cusano NE et al (2011) Catabolic and anabolic actions of parathyroid hormone on the skeleton. J Endocrinol Investig 34:801–810
- Strewler GJ (2009) The physiology of parathyroid hormone–related protein. N Engl J Med 342:177– 185. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200001203420306
- Su D -m, Ellis S, Napier A et al (2001) Hoxa3 and Pax1 regulate epithelial cell death and proliferation during thymus and parathyroid organogenesis. Dev Biol 236: 316–329. https://doi.org/10.1006/DBIO.2001.0342
- Talmage RV, Mobley HT (2008) Calcium homeostasis: reassessment of the actions of parathyroid hormone. Gen Comp Endocrinol 156:1–8
- Tanaka Y, Funahashi H, Imai T et al (1996) Oxyphil cell function in secondary parathyroid hyperplasia? Nephron 73:580–586. https://doi.org/10.1159/000189144
- Taterra D, Wong LM, Vikse J et al (2019) The prevalence and anatomy of parathyroid glands: a meta-analysis with implications for parathyroid surgery. Langenbeck's Arch Surg 404:63–70. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00423-019-01751-8
- Taylor CJ, Bolton EM, Bradley JA (2011) Immunological considerations for embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell banking. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 366: 2312. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2011.0030
- Woods Ignatoski KM, Bingham EL, Frome LK, Doherty GM (2010) Differentiation of precursors into parathyroid-like cells for treatment of hypoparathyroidism. Surgery 148:1186–1190. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.surg.2010.09.021
- Xu P-X, Zheng W, Laclef C et al (2002) Eya1 is required for the morphogenesis of mammalian thymus, parathyroid and thyroid. Development 129:3033–3044. https://doi.org/10.1242/DEV.129.13.3033
- Yamada T, Tatsumi N, Anraku A et al (2019) Gcm2 regulates the maintenance of parathyroid cells in adult mice. PLoS One 14:e0210662. https://doi.org/10.1371/ JOURNAL.PONE.0210662
- Yang D, Singh R, Divieti P et al (2007) Contributions of parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide receptor signaling pathways to the anabolic effect of PTH on bone. Bone 40:1453–1461. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bone.2007.02.001
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzyński M, Szymonowicz M, Rybak Z (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13287-019-1165-5
- Zhao Y, Luo B (2016) Adipose-derived stem cells: a novel source of parathyroid cells for treatment of hypoparathyroidism. Med Hypotheses 93:143–145. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mehy.2016.05.011



## **Regenerative Medicine Application** of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Figen Abatay Sel and Fatma Savran Oguz

#### Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) has recently generated interest in regenerative medicine. For the definition of MSC, three criteria have been proposed - plastic adherent property, specific surface antigens, and multipotent differentiation capacity. MSC exists in almost all tissues such as synovium, fat, liver, dental pulp, cord blood, Wharton's jelly, and also differentiates into osteoblast, chondrocyte, adipocyte, epithelial, and neuron cells originating from three germ layers. The use of different MSCs for regenerative therapies has been studied over the years as a promising option for treatment of tissue damages and various diseases. Here, the most frequently applied and newly developed stem cell-based techniques are designated, and recent MSC applications knowledge for regenerative medicine in the field are explained.

#### Keywords

Cell therapy · Mesenchymal stem cell · Regenerative medicine · TERM

#### Abbreviations

AAV	adeno-associated virus
AD-MSC	adipose tissue-derived
	mesenchymal stem cell
AKI	acute kidney injury
BM-MSC	bone marrow-derived
	mesenchymal stem cell
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CRISPR/	clustered regularly interspaced
Cas9	palindromic repeats/CRISPR-
	associated protein 9
CXCR4	CXC chemokine receptor 4
G-CSF	granulocyte colony-stimulating
	factor
GIS	gastrointestinal system
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease
IBS	irritable bowel syndrome
IFN-γ	interferon-γ
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cell
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MI	myocardial infarction
MMP-9	matrix metalloproteinase-9
MSC	mesenchymal stem cell
SDF-1	Stromal cell-derived factor-1
sgRNA	single-guide RNA
RM	regenerative medicine
TALEN	transcription activating like effector
	nuclease
TE	tissue engineering

F. A. Sel (🖂) and F. S. Oguz

Department of Medical Biology, Istanbul University, Istanbul Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: figen.abatay@gmail.com; oguzsf@gmail.com

TERM	tissue engineering and regenerative medicine
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
tracrRNA	trans-activating CRISPR-RNA
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor-related
	apoptosis-inducing ligand
UC-MSC	umbilical cord-derived
	mesenchymal stem cell
UCB-	umbilical cord blood-derived
MSC	mesenchymal stem cell
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
WJ-MSC	Wharton's jelly-derived

ZFN mesenchymal stem cell zinc finger nucleases

#### 1 Introduction

In recent years, besides pharmaceutical treatments, regenerative medicine (RM) has been an exciting research field by use of cellbased therapy and tissue engineering (TE). The emergence of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM) can be used for treatment of various diseases and tissue regeneration (Han et al. 2020; Pina et al. 2019).

The mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) was characterized for the first time in the 1970s (Friedenstein et al. 1974). Since then, it has been widely used in a large number of TERM studies. Not only has MSC been used for in vitro and in vivo experimental studies, but also for clinical trials.

The ability of MSC to differentiate has been important and valuable for tissue damages and several diseases. MSC has advantages, as it is easy to obtain compared to the other stem cells, such as induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) and embryonic stem cell (Ullah et al. 2015). It can be obtained without the need for an invasive procedure. In addition to these advantages, MSC has been obtained from different autologous and allogeneic sources, and isolated from various tissues, including synovium, fat, liver, dental pulp, adipose, bone marrow, cord blood, and Wharton's jelly (Kim and Park 2017). It can be distinguished with CD29+, CD44+, CD73+, CD90+, CD105+, and lack of CD14-, CD34-, CD45-, and HLA (human leukocyte antigen)-DR expression from other stem cells, and also the ability to adhere to plastic inherently (Dominici et al. 2006).

The extraction, culture, and transplantation of all MSC types have improved, with MSCs derived from different tissue sources. The ability to differentiate into osteocytes, chondrocytes, epithelial, and neuron from three germ layers– derived stem cells makes it a valuable tool for TERM (Futami et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2011) (Fig. 1). These features have gained MSC an effective tool for the different kinds of disease models (Li et al. 2019; Mathew et al. 2019; Zhao et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2018; Doeppner et al. 2015).

In addition to the capacity of differentiation, the variety of sources, and the easier-to-obtain factor, MSC has also immunomodulatory features. The MSC has the ability to secrete cytokines, anti-inflammatory molecules, and immune receptors that regulate the microenvironment of the host tissues and have low immunogenicity by lack of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules of T-cell recruitment, which makes MSC safe for allogeneic transplantation. Furthermore, MSC has been reported to ensure immunomodulation in many diseases (Willis et al. 2018; de Witte et al. 2018; Ha et al. 2020; Du et al. 2018). In this present work, we assess the newest development of regenerative medicine application of mesenchymal stem cells in both clinical and experimental studies.

#### 2 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell Sources

Mesenchymal stem cells are isolated from many different adult tissues such as bone marrow, liver, dental pulp, adipose tissue, and from 'the younger tissues' including placenta, amniotic fluids, amniotic membrane, umbilical cord blood, and Wharton's jelly (Kim and Park 2017). Although obtained from different sources, MSCs share the common features: cell surface markers, a



Fig. 1 The frequently used sources of MSC for TERM and their differentiation potentials

trilineage differentiation, plastic adherence, and spindle-shaped appearance (Naji et al. 2019).

Although MSC can be obtained from almost all tissues within the human tissues, the common sources of MSC have been accepted bone marrow and adipose tissue.

But there are some limitations such as invasiveness of obtaining procedure, hard to obtain, and adequate cell source. Bone marrow–derived MSC (BM-MSC) is harvested from the iliac crest of the healthy donors, so obtaining BM-MSC is painful and can cause nosocomial infections, whereas obtaining of MSC from younger birth– derived tissue does not cause any of them. BM-MSC is used mostly for clinical use (Barnhoorn et al. 2020; Wilson et al. 2015; Matthay et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2014).

Besides the invasiveness and possibility of infection of bone marrow-derived MSC, the use of anesthesia may also be necessary, and also the cell yield and potential for differentiation can vary from donor to donor and with donor age. BM-MSC represents 0.001–0.01% of BM mononuclear cells (Bhat et al. 2021). Because of its low abundance, in vitro culturing is required to obtain an adequate amount of MSC for clinical or research studies.

The other adult MSC source is adipose tissuederived MSC (AT-MSC), usually obtained from the biological materials during liposuction or lipectomy procedures. This AT-MSC isolation approach is easier and safer than BM-MSC and also a considerably larger amount of MSC can be than BM-MSC. Approximately obtained  $3.5 \times 10^5$  to  $1 \times 10^6$  MSC can be obtained from 1 g of adipose tissue and the amount is much greater than that obtained from bone marrow (Tsuji et al. 2014). Currently, AT-MSC has become the most widely used approach than BM-MSC for clinical use. It is ideal because of its abundance and less-invasive surgical intervention. There are some reports that exosomes from AT-MSC stimulate the cardioprotection factors after myocardial infarction (MI) (Xu et al. 2020; Lee et al. 2021).

The MSC can be also isolated from "the younger" neonatal tissues, including umbilical cord, umbilical cord blood, conjunctive tissues of umbilical cord, Wharton's jelly (Hass et al. 2011). These neonatal-derived MSCs are more easily accessible, noninvasive, and have larger amount than the adult-derived MSC. Umbilical cord-derived MSC (UC-MSC) and Wharton's jelly-derived MSC (WJ-MSC) are more superior than umbilical cord blood-derived MSC (UCB-MSC) in terms of its abundance (Naji et al. 2019; Hass et al. 2011; Laroye et al. 2019). WJ-MSC has been the focus for RM due to its abundance and easily accessible features. Although easily available, WJ-MSC can be isolated from Wharton's jelly after removal of blood vessels carefully which need to be performed by the experienced researchers.

#### 3 Genetically Modified Mesenchymal Stem Cells Therapy

Mesenchymal stem cells have become important for TERM due to their self-renewal and multilineage differentiation. Recently, several genetic engineering techniques have been used for modifying the MSC gene expression profile. These techniques can be classified as the nonviral methods, the viral vectors, and the new-generation nonviral genetic methods, as seen in Fig. 2.

Nonviral methods can be performed by physical- or chemical-based methods. The most important advantages of both physical and chemical methods are that they have low immunogenicity and cause cytotoxicity. Nonviral methods are also easy to produce and have lower cost than viral methods that make them attractive for using MSC therapies. The physical methods used for MSC include electroporation, nucleofection, and sonoporation techniques. Electroporation is a specific technique which applies transient electric to some parts of cells in suspension, allowing to open the cell pores and the entry of nucleic acids from cell membrane to cytoplasm. Electroporation is widely used for MSC (Wang et al. 2014), but it has a hurdle to overcome the cytotoxicity. The latter technique is nucleofection, which enables to ease permeability of cell membrane. The short high-voltage pulses are used to increase the permeability, and thus target deoxyribonucleic acid/ ribonucleic acid (DNA/RNA) transferred to the stem cell. The limitation is the technique is low cell viability (Aslan et al. 2006). The last and most interesting physical membrane disruption technique is sonoporation. Each tissue and organ of the human has different acoustics, all of which can generate specific echoes. This method aims to change the permeability of the cell membrane by acoustic microbubbles by using specific ultrasonic waves and allowing macromolecules, DNA, or RNA into the cell (Miller et al. 2002). Nonviral chemical methods are basically designated the same: A target molecule which is loaded by a carrier such as lipid, polymer, or nanoparticle, and these carriers with their cargo molecules enable cellular uptake (Ramamoorth and Narvekar 2015).

In genetically modified MSC therapy, viral vector methods are the most used tools due to their efficiency of transduction into the stem cells. This method preserves the transgene through several passages and provides the stable transgene expression during cell division and differentiation (Zare et al. 2016). So, compared to the nonviral methods, viral methods for genetic modification of MSC have greater transduction efficiency, as well as long-term and stable transgene expression. There are several types of vectors that include mainly retrovirus, lentivirus, adenovirus, and adeno-associated virus (AAV). Currently, AAV has been mostly used for gene therapy among these viral vectors.

Retroviruses are RNA viruses that have specific genetic organization including gag, pol, and env genes which encode the internal structural proteins, reverse transcriptase/integrase, and envelope glycoprotein, respectively. These genes are arranged in separate plasmids to avoid the recombination of the viral replication. Lentiviruses have similar genes to encode the related enzyme, protein, and envelope proteins,


Fig. 2 Genetically modifying techniques for MSC sources

but retrovirus vector remains unable for quiescent cells, whereas lentivirus is capable of being transferred to dividing and quiescent cells (Balvay et al. 2007; Vargas et al. 2016). Unfortunately, studies with retroviruses have yielded unsatisfactory results. A clinical trial for nine patients with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency, which used hematopoietic stem cells were genetically modified with retrovirus resulting in leukemia for four patients in follow-up period of 10 years (Hacein-Bay-Abina et al. 2010; Oggu et al. 2017, Hamann and Nguyen 2019). On the other hand, clinical stem cell trial with lentivirus vector for the patients with metachromatic leukodystrophy was applied and no adverse effects related to vector have been reported yet (Sessa et al. 2016).

Adenoviral vectors are not able to integrate into the host genome and can transfer into dividing and quiescent cells. This recombinant vector provides easy and high efficiency but high immunogenicity and transient expression of transgene are the limitations that must be overcome. In addition to these, adenovirus vector can activate both humoral and cellular immune responses which may increase the risk factors due to use of high-dose adenovirus vectors and finally autoimmunity and cytotoxicity responses may occur. AAV, which takes its place, versus these three frequently used vectors, has been accepted as the best solution for long-term and stable expression of transgene and inducing mild immune response (Colella et al. 2017). But there is a big limitation of AAV that neutralizing antibodies reduce their effectiveness in vivo. AAV vectors can also infect both dividing and quiescent cells and do not integrate into the genome of the host cell, like adenoviral vectors.

Recently, new-generation nonviral genetic modification methods arose for correction of mutation of a gene such as insertion, deletion, or translocation at a specific site of the genome. For several diseases, gene-modified MSC has been used as a tool for these new-generations methods (Torres-Ruiz et al. 2017; Hu et al. 2017; Lee et al. 2019b; Li et al. 2018; Cho et al. 2017; Benabdallah et al. 2010). The first generation of these methods was zinc-finger nucleases (ZFN). ZFN are the most common DNA-binding domain among eukaryotes. ZFN also has a heterodimer structure that is composed of a zinc-finger domain and Fok1 endonuclease domain and endonuclease domains must dimerize when it can create the double-strand breaks (Carroll 2011). Each zincfinger domain is capable of recognizing 3-6 nucleotide bases and they are composed of approximately 30 amino acids that interact with nucleotide triplets. After cleavage, MSC tries to repair the breaks by nonhomologous end joining or homology-directed repair mechanism to fix the double-strand break. Transcription activator like effector nuclease (TALEN) is a fusion protein that is similar to ZFN. TALEN utilizes DNA-binding motifs to cleave the genome at a specific site. Compared to ZFN, instead of recognizing the DNA triplets, each domain can recognize a single nucleotide. The interaction between DNA-binding domains and target nucleotides are less complex than ZFN, but the TALEN method is cheaper and can produce results faster than ZFN (Gaj et al. 2013). The latest new generation molecular-editing tool is clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat/CRISPR-associated protein 9 (CRISPR/ Cas9) which is derived from bacteria while both ZFN and TALEN are man-made. CRISPR/Cas9 system is based on an RNA-based bacterial defense mechanism designed to eliminate the foreign DNA from bacteriophage and plasmids. CRISPR/Cas9 system consists of two types of RNA (Trans-activating CRISPR-RNA(tracrRNA), also known as "tracer RNA," has the recognition sequence necessary for recognition by Cas9. The second RNA is the single-guide RNA (sgRNA) which is artificially programmed and can direct the target specific regions of DNA) and Cas9 endonuclease (Jiang and Doudna 2017). Briefly, the Cas9 enzyme can cleave the target sequences by sgRNAs. CRISPR/Cas9 system is cheaper and more efficient than other two methods and can be designed for many genomic targets and multiplexed by adding lots of numbers of sgRNAs. With the development of technology, it is estimated that the mechanisms of disease can be investigated

by using genetically modified MSC, especially in

disease model studies.

#### F. A. Sel and F. S. Oguz

# 4 Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Cardiovascular and Cerebrovascular Diseases

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death around the world. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), approximately 18 million people died from cardiovascular diseases in 2019 (WHO https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovasculardiseases-(cvds)). Cardiovascular diseases are a group of disorders which includes of heart, blood, muscle, and vessels. The cardiovascular diseases can be divided six groups:

- 1. Coronary heart disease
- 2. Cerebrovascular disease
- 3. Congenital heart disease
- 4. Peripheral arterial disease
- 5. Rheumatic heart disease
- 6. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism

Each of them affects different parts of the heart, tissues, and organs. Heart attacks and strokes are the most common events and caused by a blockage of vessels supplying heart and brain (Li et al. 2017). The most common reason for this blockage is lipid deposits on the inner walls of the vessels and also this dyslipidemia leads to a complicated disorder, called atherosclerosis, which causes chronic inflammation. Recently, there are promising MSC therapy studies on atherosclerosis (Frodermann et al. 2015). MSC has regenerative properties as well as immunomodulatory capacities (Mahdavi Gorabi et al. 2019). Especially experimental in vivo studies indicate that MSC therapy for atherosclerosis affects not only inflammatory responses but also reduces dyslipidemia, so MSC therapy has a multifactorial potential for inhibiting atherosclerosis (Frodermann et al. 2015).

On the other hand, there are other main goals for cardiac regeneration which are the production of the replacement myocardial mass, the formation of the functional vascular system, and the reformation of impaired vessels. Phenotypic differentiation of MSC plays an important role for reformation of impaired vessels. Angiogenesis is a highly complex process and difficult to maintain the adequate tissue perfusion. A new promising pro-angiogenic MSC therapy provides the use of angiogenic cell sources to develop new vascularate from the sources of umbilical cord blood (Iqbal et al. 2017). According to the protocol, the aortic ring assay provides accessory cells and extracellular matrix to exclude inflammatory components while reformation of the vessels takes place. In this process, MSC acts as pericytes and perivascular cells are essential to vascularization for regeneration of the vascular networks. Myocardial infarction which is caused by the blockage of one or more coronary arteries cannot provide the heart with oxygenated blood and leads to heart tissue damages and finally can cause a heart attack. There are a number of studies to repair the tissue damage caused by MI (Luo et al. 2017; Adamiak et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2004; Toma et al. 2002). The paracrine effect of MSC plays an important role to repair wound and tissue damages when MI occurs (Dittmer and Leyh 2014).

Ischemic stroke is a serious and aggressively evolving cerebrovascular disease with high morbidity and disability. It is similar to heart attack but it occurs with blood clots in the vessels of the brain, and these clots block the blood flow to the brain's cells. The in vitro and in vivo MSC therapies have been a novel approach to cure ischemic stroke and the studies indicated that early administration of MSC within 7 days after ischemic stroke may be the best treatment approach (Guo et al. 2021). In the MSC-based treatment of ischemic stroke, there is more than one mechanism to establish and monitor. Immunoregulation, neuroprotection, angiogenesis, and neuronal circuit reconstructions have to be monitored for MSC therapy. Immunoregulation plays an important role in the stroke due to it releasing proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines from damaged brain tissue bv disrupted blood-brain barrier. The continuous infiltration of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines through the brain's cells can cause neuronal necrosis and even secondary brain injury (Shichita et al. 2014). Particularly, inflammatory cytokines affect the neuronal cells by causing invasion of chemokines and chemoattractants through

the disrupted blood–brain barrier. MSC has also an important role for neuroprotection. Cheng et al. have found that MSC reduces the leakage of proinflammatory cytokines through the blood– brain barrier and also allows release of neutrophil matrix metalloproteinase-9, which plays a role in the recruitment of neutrophil to the inflammatory sites (Cheng et al. 2018). Furthermore, decreased neuronal apoptosis was indicated in the ischemic area after application of MSC (Zhu et al. 2014).

The other important issue after ischemic stroke is regeneration of the capillary vessels. The capillary vessels can be destroyed after stroke. The neovascularization helps to restore the blood and oxygen supply of the affected stroke area. After stroke, MSC administration can secrete angiogenic factors and differentiates into endothelial cells for inducing angiogenesis to promote tissue regeneration (Yong et al. 2018). The last and the most important issue is neuronal circuit reconstruction after ischemic stroke due to myelin destruction. It is believed that MSC can increase the oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in the ischemic area (Shen et al. 2006; Tobin et al. 2020).

For cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, AD-MSC and BM-MSCs are the most commonly used sources. The abundance of MSC derived from adipose tissue and ease of acquiring adipose with the liposuction operation makes adipose tissue source feasible for experimental studies and clinical trials. There is a number of completed clinical trials as seen in Table 1.

# 5 Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Lung Diseases

Pulmonary disease is a general term for several disorders that include lung tissue diseases, lung circulation diseases, and also respiratory failure. Especially, pulmonary pathologies are commonly due to exposure of tobacco, smoke, and polluted air, which may lead to develop acute or chronic lung disorders. There is no cure for lung diseases but the inhalers and stopping smoking may relieve symptoms. Modified MSC can be used for lung diseases and there are a number of studies using MSC from different kinds of sources for

Category         Inall location         Condition/Conservation         Sources         Sources         Instruction           CV-CV         NCT10137886         Ischemic cardiomyopathy         Autologous BM-MSC         125 participants           CV-CV         NCT02509156         Al cardiomyopathy         UC-MSC         30 participants           CV-CV         NCT01739777         Dilated cardiomyopathy         UC-MSC         50 participants           CV-CV         NCT00768066         Cluv17         Autologous BM-MSC         65 participants           CV-CV         NCT00768066         Cluv17         Autologous and allogeneic         37 participants           CV-CV         NCT012467387         Nonischemic dilated         Autologous and allogeneic         37 participants           CV-CV         NCT012467387         Nonischemic fullure         Allogeneic AT-MSC         115 participants           CV-CV         NCT01484574         Critical limb ischenia Buerger's         Ex vico Cultured Adult         00 participants           CV-CV         NCT01484574         Clical infraction         Autologous BM-MSC         10 participants           CV-CV         NCT01484574         Clical infraction         Autologous BM-MSC         10 participants           CV-CV         NCT010424174         Clicat anionyopathy <th>Application</th> <th>Trialitantican</th> <th></th> <th>C</th> <th>Engelland</th>	Application	Trialitantican		C	Engelland
CV-CV       NCT0201811 Ischemic cardiomyopathy       Autologous BM-MSC       12 participants         CV-CV       NCT02050156       AI cardiomyopathy       Allogeneic UCMSC       46 participants         CV-CV       NCT02050156       AI cardiomyopathy       Allogeneic UCMSC       50 participants         CV-CV       NCT0263546       Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy       Allogeneic UCMSC       50 participants         CV-CV       NCT00768066       CLVD       Autologous BM-MSC       65 participants         CV-CV       NCT001302015       Buerger's disease       Autologous and allogeneic       37 participants         CV-CV       NCT0132622       Nonischemic dialated       Autologous and allogeneic       37 participants         CV-CV       NCT014452       Myocardial infarction       Adul       MSC       115 participants         CV-CV       NCT02467387       Nonischemic heart failure       Allogeneic AT-MSC       10 participants         CV-CV       NCT01484574       Critical limb ischemia Buerger's       Ex vivo Cutured Adult       50 participants         CV-CV       NCT00629018       Dilated cardiomyopathy       Autologous BM-MSC       10 participants         CV-CV       NCT001484574       Clitical limb ischemia atroin       Autologous BM-MSC       10 participants <t< td=""><td>category</td><td>I rial identifier</td><td>Condition/disease</td><td>Sources of treatment</td><td>Enrollment</td></t<>	category	I rial identifier	Condition/disease	Sources of treatment	Enrollment
CV-CV     NCT02501511     Ischemic cardiomyopathy     Autologous BM-MSC     12 participants       CV-CV     NCT0250156     Al cardiomyopathy     UC-MSC     30 participants       CV-CV     NCT0139777     Dilated cardiomyopathy     Allogeneic MSC     45 participants       CV-CV     NCT00768066     CIL/D     Autologous BM-MSC     65 participants       CV-CV     NCT001302015     Buerger's disease     Autologous AT-MSC     15 participants       CV-CV     NCT01302015     Buerger's disease     Autologous and allogeneic     37 participants       CV-CV     NCT0134252     Nonischemic dilated     Autologous and allogeneic     37 participants       CV-CV     NCT02467378     Nonischemic dilated     Autologous and allogeneic     37 participants       CV-CV     NCT024767387     Heart failure     WJ-MSC     119 participants       CV-CV     NCT0347737     Heart failure     Mologous BM-MSC     110 participants       CV-CV     NCT0464410     Congestive heart failure     BM-MSC     59 participants       CV-CV     NCT03371329     Heart failure     BM-MSC     50 participants       CV-CV     NCT03371329     Hearn failure     BM-MSC     80 participants       CV-CV     NCT0371329     Hearn failure     Autologous BM-MSC     10 participants	CV-CV	NCT01913886	Ischemic cardiomyopathy	Autologous BM-MSC	10 participants
CV-CV     NCT02509156     Al cardiomyopathy     Allogeneic MSC     49 participants       CV-CV     NCT0235464     Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy     Allogeneic UC-MSC     50 participants       CV-CV     NCT01030715     Buerger's disease     Autologous BM-MSC     65 participants       CV-CV     NCT01030205     Buerger's disease     Autologous AT-MSC     15 participants       CV-CV     NCT010132625     Nonischemic dilated     Autologous and allogenei     37 participants       CV-CV     NCT0347387     Nonischemic dilated     Autologous and allogenei     37 participants       CV-CV     NCT0348737     Heart failure     WJ-MSC     15 participants       CV-CV     NCT0447387     Nonischemic heart failure     Allogeneic AT-MSC     10 participants       CV-CV     NCT0448577     Critical limb ischemia Buerger's     Ex vivo Cultured Adult     90 participants       CV-CV     NCT0448477     Critical limb ischemia Buerger's     BM-MSC     30 participants       CV-CV     NCT0044410     Congestive heart failure     BM-MSC     30 participants       CV-CV     NCT0044410     Congestive heart failure     BM-MSC     30 participants       CV-CV     NCT00642018     Dilated cardiomyopathy     Autologous BM-MSC     10 participants       CV-CV     NCT001932105 <t< td=""><td>CV-CV</td><td>NCT02501811</td><td>Ischemic cardiomyopathy</td><td>Autologous BM-MSC</td><td>125 participants</td></t<>	CV-CV	NCT02501811	Ischemic cardiomyopathy	Autologous BM-MSC	125 participants
CV-CVNCT01739777Dilated cardiomyopathyUC-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT02635446Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathyAllogeneic UC-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01302015Buerger's diseaseAutologous BM-MSC65 participantsCV-CVNCT01302015Buerger's diseaseAutologous AT-MSC15 participantsCV-CVNCT01392625Monischemic dilatedAutologous and allogeneic37 participantsCV-CVNCT013418233Heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC23 participantsCV-CVNCT02467387Nonischemic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT02487723Heart failureHart MarceParticipantsCV-CVNCT00469187Critical limb ischemia Buerger'sEx vivo Cultured Adult90 participantsCV-CVNCT00469118Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT004691186Cluby MillBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT0031329Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebralAllogeneic BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT0197120Acute myocardial infractionAutologous BM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01421274MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT00267388Myocardial ischemia, coronary heartAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00267384Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC10 participa	CV-CV	NCT02509156	AI cardiomyopathy	Allogeneic MSC	46 participants
CV-CVNCT0263546Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathyAllogeneic UC-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT001302015Buerger's diseaseAutologous BM-MSC65 participantsCV-CVNCT00114452Myocardial infarctionAdult MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01392625Nonischemic dilatedAutologous and allogeneic37 participantsCV-CVNCT02467387Nonischemic dilatedAutologous and allogeneic37 participantsCV-CVNCT02467387Nonischemic dilatedAutologous and allogeneic37 participantsCV-CVNCT02487723Heart failureWJ-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger'sEx vivo Cultured Adult90 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC59 participantsCV-CVNCT0003674CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01031674CILVD, MIBM-MSC40 participantsCV-CVNCT01031674CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT0106920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT0067620CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT0076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT0045554Ischemic strokeAlutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0057654Ischemic strokeAlutologous BM-MSC31 particip	CV–CV	NCT01739777	Dilated cardiomyopathy	UC-MSC	30 participants
$ \begin{array}{c c} \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT001768066} & [\mathrm{CLVD} & \mathrm{Autologous BM-MSC} & 65 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00114452} & \mathrm{Myocardial infarction} & \mathrm{Adult} \mathrm{MSC} & 60 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00114452} & \mathrm{Myocardial infarction} & \mathrm{Adult} \mathrm{MSC} & 60 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT02467387} & \mathrm{Nonischemic fallated} & \mathrm{Autologous and allogeneic} \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT02467387} & \mathrm{Nonischemic fallaref} & \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 13 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT02467387} & \mathrm{Nonischemic fallaref} & \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{AT-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT03418233} & \mathrm{Heart} failure & \mathrm{WJ-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT03418233} & \mathrm{Heart} failure & \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{AT-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT0444574} & \mathrm{Critical limb ischemia Buerger's} \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00424010} & \mathrm{Diatecl cardiomyopathy} & \mathrm{Autologous} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT000520010} & \mathrm{Diatecl} cardiomyopathy & \mathrm{Autologous} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00371329} & \mathrm{Hemorrhagic} stroke, intracerberal \\ \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 80 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00371329} & \mathrm{Hemorrhagic} stroke, intracerberal \\ \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 10 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT001769554} & \mathrm{Ischemic} stroke & \mathrm{Autologous} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT001769554} & \mathrm{Ischemic} stroke & \mathrm{Autologous} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00273038} & \mathrm{Myocardial} ischemia, coronary heart \\ \mathrm{Autologous} \mathrm{BM-MSC} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00260338} & \mathrm{Myocardial} ischemia, coronary heart \\ \mathrm{Allogeneic} \mathrm{MMSC} & 30 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT0027793} & \mathrm{Acute} \mathrm{MI} & \mathrm{Ex} \ vivo cultured adult \\ allogeneic} \mathrm{MSC} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00273797} & \mathrm{Acute} \mathrm{MI} & \mathrm{Bachmisc} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00273797} & \mathrm{Acute} \mathrm{MI} & \mathrm{Ex} \ vivo cultured adult \\ allogeneic} \mathrm{MSC} & 31 participants \\ \mathrm{CV-CV} & \mathrm{NCT00273797} & \mathrm{Acute} \mathrm{MI} & \mathrm{Ex} \ vivo cultured adult \\ allogeneic} \mathrm{MSC} & 31 partici$	CV–CV	NCT02635464	Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy	Allogeneic UC-MSC	50 participants
CV-CVNCT01302015Buerger's diseaseAutologous AT-MSC15 participantsCV-CVNCT00114452Myocardial infarctionAdult MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT0124625Nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathyBM-MSC23 participantsCV-CVNCT02487387Nonischemic heart failureAllogeneic AT-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT02481233Heart failureMJ-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger's diseaseEx vivo Cultured Adult90 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT003674CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT00176920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0087363Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT0087373Muetaritischemia, coronary heart allogeneic MSC31 participantsCV-CV	CV–CV	NCT00768066	CILVD	Autologous BM-MSC	65 participants
CV-CV         NCT00114452         Myocardial infarction         Adult MSC         60 participants           CV-CV         NCT01392625         Nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy         Alutologous and allogeneic         37 participants           CV-CV         NCT02467387         Nonischemic heart failure         Allogeneic BM-MSC         23 participants           CV-CV         NCT03418233         Heart failure         WJ-MSC         115 participants           CV-CV         NCT01484574         Critical limb ischemia Buerger's disease         Ex vivo Cultured Adult         90 participants           CV-CV         NCT00629018         Dilated cardiomyopathy         Autologous BM-MSC         110 participants           CV-CV         NCT006290125         Acute myocardial infarction         Autologous BM-MSC         80 participants           CV-CV         NCT003371329         Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage         Aluologous BM-MSC         10 participants           CV-CV         NCT0044110         CuLVD, MI         BM-MSC         10 participants           CV-CV         NCT0045541         Ischemic stroke         Autologous BM-MSC         10 participants           CV-CV         NCT0045541         Ischemic stroke         Autologous BM-MSC         11 participants           CV-CV         NCT0057554	CV–CV	NCT01302015	Buerger's disease	Autologous AT-MSC	15 participants
CV-CVNCT01392625Nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous and allogeneic BM-MSC37 participantsCV-CVNCT02467387Nonischemic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC23 participantsCV-CVNCT03418233Heart failureMJ-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger's diseaseEx vivo Cultured Adult BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT00136141COmcord lineBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT010629016CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00176920CILVD, MIBM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0047554Ischemic strokeAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0087564Ischemic strokeAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHumanIdogeneic MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT0026038Myocardial ischemia, coronary heartAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0026038Myocardial ischemia, coronary heartAutologous CD3+MSC50 participantsCV-CV	CV–CV	NCT00114452	Myocardial infarction	Adult MSC	60 participants
CV-CVNCT02467387Nonischemic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC23 participantsCV-CVNCT03418233Heart failureWJ-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger's diseaseEx vivo Cultured Adult BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT0064410Congestive heart failureBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT00105474CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT0176920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT0176920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0107554Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0087564Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0026038Myocardial ischemia, coronary heartAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00875793Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT0087793Acute MIAllogeneic MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICM	CV–CV	NCT01392625	Nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy	Autologous and allogeneic BM-MSC	37 participants
CV-CVNCT02418233Heart failureWJ-MSC115 participantsCV-CVNCT02387723Heart failureAllogencic AT-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger'sEx vivo Cultured Adult BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT0062018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC59 participantsCV-CVNCT0013674CIL/D, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT0132105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT01371329Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT0421274MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT0421274MIBM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00421554Ischemic strokeAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT0175340Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT0260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart 	CV–CV	NCT02467387	Nonischemic heart failure	Allogeneic BM-MSC	23 participants
CV-CVNCT02387723Heart failureAllogeneic AT-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger's diseaseEx vivo Cultured Adult BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT00649018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT0064410Congestive heart failureBM-MSC59 participantsCV-CVNCT012013674CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01302105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT000911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01087564Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT0260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heartAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC21 participantsCV-CVNCT0148032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseArtologous CD34-MSC25 participants<	CV–CV	NCT03418233	Heart failure	WJ-MSC	115 participants
CV-CVNCT01484574Critical limb ischemia Buerger's diseaseEx vivo Cultured Adult BM-MSC90 participantsCV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT0064410Congestive heart failureBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT0137129Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT0101355Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT0087564Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01076834Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01078344Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT0087877MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT0135440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01354710PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT0135440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic he	CV–CV	NCT02387723	Heart failure	Allogeneic AT-MSC	10 participants
CV-CVNCT00629018Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC110 participantsCV-CVNCT003474CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01320165Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT0132105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT004421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT004554Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT0167854Ischemic strokeAllogencic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAL IMEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarctionHuman allogeneic adult allogeneic adult allogeneit20 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarctionHuman cells27 participantsCV-CVNC	CV–CV	NCT01484574	Critical limb ischemia Buerger's Ex vivo Cultured Adult disease BM-MSC		90 participants
CV-CVNCT00644410Congestive heart failureBM-MSC59 participantsCV-CVNCT02013674CIL/D, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT0137129Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CIL/D, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT004421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor 	CV–CV	NCT00629018	Dilated cardiomyopathy	Autologous BM-MSC	110 participants
CV-CVNCT02013674CILVD, MIBM-MSC30 participantsCV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT03371329Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT004421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC21 participantsCV-CVNCT010875654Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman disease160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICM CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral artryAutologous BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral artryAutologous BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral artryAutologous BM-MSC20 participants <td>CV–CV</td> <td>NCT00644410</td> <td>Congestive heart failure</td> <td>BM-MSC</td> <td>59 participants</td>	CV–CV	NCT00644410	Congestive heart failure	BM-MSC	59 participants
CV-CVNCT01392105Acute myocardial infarctionAutologous BM-MSC80 participantsCV-CVNCT03371329Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT004421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT00975654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarctionHuman UC-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC adl allogeneic adult BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CV	CV–CV	NCT02013674	CILVD, MI	BM-MSC	30 participants
CV-CVNCT03371329Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhageAllogeneic BM-MSC9 participantsCV-CVNCT01076920CIL/D, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT00421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01021329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT0145349Crebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CV <t< td=""><td>CV–CV</td><td>NCT01392105</td><td>Acute myocardial infarction</td><td>Autologous BM-MSC</td><td>80 participants</td></t<>	CV–CV	NCT01392105	Acute myocardial infarction	Autologous BM-MSC	80 participants
CV-CVNCT01076920CILVD, MIBM-MSC10 participantsCV-CVNCT04421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT0153440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT0153540CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participa	CV–CV	NCT03371329	Hemorrhagic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage	Allogeneic BM-MSC	9 participants
CV-CVNCT04421274MIBM-MSC43 participantsCV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAltologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogenic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0135806Kroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413 <td>CV–CV</td> <td>NCT01076920</td> <td>CILVD, MI</td> <td>BM-MSC</td> <td>10 participants</td>	CV–CV	NCT01076920	CILVD, MI	BM-MSC	10 participants
CV-CVNCT00911365Multiple system atrophyAutologous MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAutologous BM-MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participants<	CV–CV	NCT04421274	MI	BM-MSC	43 participants
CV-CVNCT00875654Ischemic strokeAutologous BM-MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman disease160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAltologenic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0128500Ischemic strokeAltologenic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic heart diseaseAltologenic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsCV-CVNCT01297434Ischemic heart diseaseAltologenic adult BM-MSC38 participants	CV–CV	NCT00911365	Multiple system atrophy	Autologous MSC	27 participants
CV-CVNCT01678534Ischemic strokeAllogeneic AT-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman WJ-MSC160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01489032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral atreyAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT0123550Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic theart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT00875654	Ischemic stroke	Autologous BM-MSC	31 participants
CV-CVNCT01291329MIHuman WJ-MSC160 participantsCV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01489032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT01232004Chronic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01678534	Ischemic stroke	Allogeneic AT-MSC	19 participants
CV-CVNCT00260338Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart diseaseAutologous MSC31 participantsCV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT016629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT0135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01291329	MI	Human WJ-MSC	160 participants
CV-CVNCT00883727MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC20 participantsCV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral 	CV–CV	NCT00260338	Myocardial ischemia, coronary heart disease	Autologous MSC	31 participants
CV-CVNCT00877903Acute MIEx vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC220 participantsCV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT00883727	MI	Ex vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC	20 participants
CV-CVNCT02672267MIAllogeneic BM-MSC50 participantsCV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor 	CV–CV	NCT00877903	Acute MI	Ex vivo cultured adult allogeneic MSC	220 participants
CV-CVNCT01753440CAD, ICMMesenchymal Precursor cells11 participantsCV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor 	CV–CV	NCT02672267	MI	Allogeneic BM-MSC	50 participants
CV-CVNCT01351610PAD, critical limb ischemiaAutologous CD34-MSC25 participantsCV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01753440	CAD, ICM	Mesenchymal Precursor cells	11 participants
CV-CVNCT02378974Cerebral infarctionHuman UC-MSC19 participantsCV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01351610	PAD, critical limb ischemia	Autologous CD34-MSC	25 participants
CV-CVNCT01449032Chronic ischemic heart diseaseAT-MSC60 participantsCV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT02378974	Cerebral infarction	Human UC-MSC	19 participants
CV-CVNCT00629096Dilated cardiomyopathyAutologous BM-MSC27 participantsCV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01449032	Chronic ischemic heart disease	AT-MSC	60 participants
CV-CVNCT01468064Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral arteryAutologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells20 participantsCV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT00629096	Dilated cardiomyopathy	Autologous BM-MSC	27 participants
CV-CVNCT01297413Ischemic strokeAllogeneic adult BM-MSC38 participantsCV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01468064	Stroke, infarction, middle cerebral artery	Autologous BM-MSC and Endothelial progenitor cells	20 participants
CV-CVNCT02032004Chronic heart failureAllogeneic BM-MSC566 participantsCV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT01297413	Ischemic stroke	Allogeneic adult BM-MSC	38 participants
CV-CVNCT00135850Ischemic heart diseaseHSC and MSC48 participantsLUNGNCT02594839Interstitial lung diseaseBM-MSC20 participants	CV–CV	NCT02032004	Chronic heart failure	Allogeneic BM-MSC	566 participants
LUNG NCT02594839 Interstitial lung disease BM-MSC 20 participants	CV–CV	NCT00135850	Ischemic heart disease	HSC and MSC	48 participants
	LUNG	NCT02594839	Interstitial lung disease	BM-MSC	20 participants

 Table 1
 Completed clinical trials related to several diseases

(continued)

Application				
category	Trial identifier	Condition/disease	Sources of treatment	Enrollment
LUNG	NCT04382547	COVID-19-associated pneumonia	Allogenic pooled olfactory mucosa MSC	32 participants
LUNG	NCT01919827	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	Autologous BM-MSC	17 participants
LUNG	NCT01385644	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	Placental MSC	8 participants
LUNG	NCT02625246	Bronchiectasis	Allogeneic BM-MSC	6 participants
LUNG	NCT02181712	Lung transplant rejection– bronchiolitis obliterans	Allogeneic BM-MSC	19 participants
LUNG	NCT02804945	ARDS	BM-MSC	20 participants
LUNG	NCT04898088	COVID-19 pneumonia	MSC	30 participants
LUNG	NCT04288102	Severe COVID-19	UC-MSC	100 participants
LUNG	NCT04349631	COVID-19	Autologous AT-MSC	56 participants
LUNG	NCT04522986	Severe pneumonia caused by SARS- CoV-2 infection	AT-MSC	6 participants
LUNG	NCT04355728	COVID-19	UC-MSC	24 participants
LUNG	NCT04573270	COVID-19	UC-MSC	40 participants
LUNG	NCT05019287	COVID-19	Menstrual blood MSC	29 participants
LUNG	NCT04400032	COVID-19, ARDS	UC-MSC	15 participants
KIDNEY	NCT02166489	Chronic renal failure due to polycystic kidney disease	Autologous BM-MSC	6 participants
KIDNEY	NCT02195323	Chronic kidney disease	Autologous BM-MSC	7 participants
GIS	NCT01157650	Fistulous Crohn's disease	Autologous AT-MSC	15 participants
GIS	NCT01342250	Liver cirrhosis	UC-MSC	20 participants
GIS	NCT04243681	Cirrhosis	Autologous HSC and MSC	5 participants
GIS	NCT02445547	Crohn's disease	UC-MSC	82 participants
GIS	NCT01220492	Liver cirrhosis	UC-MSC	266 participants
GIS	NCT01062750	Liver cirrhosis	Autologous AT-MSC	4 participants
GIS	NCT01591200	Liver cirrhosis	Allogeneic BM-MSC	40 participants
CANCER	NCT01089387	Prostate cancer	BM-MSC	18 participants
CANCER	NCT01207193	Bone cyst	BM-MSC	6 participants
CANCER	NCT00498316	Myelodysplastic syndrome	CB-MSC	98 participants
CANCER	NCT02530047	Ovarian cancer	Human Interferon-beta Induced MSC	5 participants
CANCER	NCT03106662	Hematological malignancies, GVHD, Haploidentical HSCT transplantation	BM-MSC	6 participants
CANCER	NCT01844661	Solid tumors with metastasis in pediatric patients	Autologous BM-MSC	20 participants
CANCER	NCT02509156	Cardiomyopathy due to anthracyclines	Allogeneic MSC	46 participants

Table 1 (continued)

CV–CV cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, GIS gastrointestinal diseases, AI cardiomyopathy anthracyclineinduced cardiomyopathy, CILVD chronic ischemic left ventricular dysfunction, MI myocardial infarction, CAD coronary artery disease, ICM ischemic cardiomyopathy, PAD peripheral artery disease,COVID-19 Corona virus disease 2019, ARDS acute respiratory distress syndrome, SARS-CoV-2 severe acute respiratory syndrome coronovirus-2, GVHD graftversus-host disease, BM-MSC bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cell, UC-MSC umbilical cord–derived mesenchymal stem cell, AT-MSC adipose tissue–derived mesenchymal stem cell, WJ-MSC Wharton's jelly–derived mesenchymal stem cell, HSC hematopoietic stem cell, CB-MSC Cord blood–derived MSC the treatment of lung diseases (Guo et al. 2013; Varshney et al. 2016).

Pulmonary arterial hypertension is one of the life-threatening conditions which leads to high blood pressure in the lungs. It has four stages, and the fourth stage is the worst among them. The blood vessels that carry blood from heart to lungs become narrow and harder and it affects any type of physical activities. Although there is no cure for pulmonary arterial hypertension, there are medications and procedures that can slow the progression. In an experimental treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension, they found that in human HGF-expressing mouse bone marrowderived MSCs reduced pulmonary arterial pressure (Guo et al. 2013). In the study, they have established five groups to determine the pulmonary arterial hypertension healing. To elucidate molecular mechanism of pulmonary arterial hypertension, they have evaluated the gene and protein levels of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), endothelin-1, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9). They have observed that vessel muscularization of thickening, collagen deposition, TGF-B, and endothelin-1 concentrations in the pulmonary hypertensive rats were decreased. When they have compared the five groups, they have concluded that HGF + MSC and HGF + MSC + granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) groups exhibited significantly reduced right ventricular hypertrophy and pulmonary arterial pressure. For another and similar study based on monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension rat, Zhang et al. have observed that pulmonary arterioles endothelial mesenchymal transition was suppressed and human umbilical cord-derived MSC exosomes upregulated the hypoxic pulmonary vascular cells (Zhang et al. 2020). An interesting antiaging gene, Klotho, slows the aging when overexpressed and when it is disrupted, it causes premature aging process (Xu and Sun 2015; Buchanan et al. 2020). In addition to this antiaging process, Klotho gene mutation causes systemic inflammation in the

lungs. Varshney et al. have established five groups of monocrotaline-induced pulmonary arterial hypertension rats and also have used genetically modified MSC with lentiviral vectors expressing secreted Klotho protein for treatment of pulmonary (Varshney et al. 2016). In conclusion, they have suggested that genetically modified MSC treatment was an effective therapy option for pulmonary arterial hypertension, vascular endothelial dysfunction, and decreasing macrophage infiltration in the lungs.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is a serious detrimental lung disease which leads to airflow blockage and breathing difficulty. People who suffer from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease are at increased risk of lung cancer, heart diseases, chronic bronchitis, and several other conditions. Experimental and clinical MSC therapy holds great promise for the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease at early stages (Weiss et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2016). A recent pilot clinical umbilical cord-derived MSC study has indicated that safe therapy options for the patients with moderate or severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Le Thi et al. 2020). They have suggested that this option may improve the quality of patients' life as well. On the contrary, Khedoe et al. have established a lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation experimental model in mice which leads to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obtained bone marrow-derived MSC from female mice 8-10 weeks of age. They have observed that MSC treatment results showed no effect on inflammation or emphysema.

In conclusion, MSC therapy shows promise for the treatment of lung diseases, especially when administered at early stages in clinical trials (Cruz and Rocco 2020). Moreover, clinical MSC administration has been reported as safe but associated with limited effects on clinical outcomes. Further studies are required to understand the best source option and optimal dose of MSC and standardization of MSC application for lung diseases.

# 6 Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Kidney Diseases

There are two main types of kidney diseases: acute kidney injury (AKI) and chronic kidney disease (CKD). Both of them have different mechanisms in kidney damage formation. AKI is temporary kidney function loss whereas patients with CKD have irreversible and lifelong damage in kidney. Many patients fully recover from AKI and continue to live fully healthy. However, if significant damages have occurred, there is a high risk of developing CKD after AKI. So, after AKI, it is highly recommended to monitor the health of the kidney.

Also known as acute renal failure, AKI is a public health problem. Despite supportive therapy administrations, the morbidity and mortality among patients still remain high. Although renal transplantation has been used to support life of patients with AKI, there are no specific therapies approved for kidney regeneration. Recently, lots of experimental stem cell-based studies have been reported for the treatment of kidney regeneration. An important research related to MSC therapy to porcine renal ischemia-reperfusion model has indicated that MSCs are capable of delivering to glomeruli and can survive for 8 h after intravenous administration (Sierra-Parraga et al. 2019). In this study, MSCs were obtained from male pig adipose tissue and fluorescently labeled. Then, they injected MSCs to female pigs to trace the MSCs by Y chromosomes. In conclusion, they have reported that a low percentage of MSCs were shown in the kidney 14 days after the injection, and the MSCs can allow them to ameliorate the injured kidney and cause a regenerative effect.

The researchers also monitor several chemotactic signals or protection factors as a sign of MSC to detect the treatment efficacy. The mobilization of MSC is associated with the CD44 and stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1)/CXC chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) interactions (Sun et al. 2019). MSC can migrate with CD44/SDF-1 axis. Liu et al. have reported that CXCR4 expression in BM-MSC increases migration in mice and compared to the control group, increased numbers of CXCR4 expression were determined in kidneys at 7 days after transplantation (Liu et al. 2013). Roudkenar et al. have generated a modified MSC that Lipocalin-2 was upregulated and they injected it to female rats. Finally, their study has indicated that Lipocalin-2mediated MSC ameliorates kidney functions (Roudkenar et al. 2018).

The number of individuals with CKD has become a worldwide public health problem and affects approximately 10% of the world population (Bochon et al. 2019; Peired et al. 2016). CKD is characterized by reduced renal regeneration and is more progressive than AKI. The patients diagnosed with CKD generally develop end-stage renal disease, which leads to administration of renal transplantation in time. However, the increase in the organ transplantation waiting list due to the increasing number of CKD cases inversely proportional to the insufficient organ donation volunteers has pushed the researchers to apply MSC for experimental treatment of CKD. Recently, pioglitazone treatment of CKD-MSC has been reported. Yoon et al. have isolated MSC from CKD patients and they used pioglitazone to protect from endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and oxidative stress (Yoon et al. 2019). In this study, they have used immunofluorescence staining to measure the mitochondrial dynamics of CKD-MSC, and overall results have indicated that the pioglitazone can be used as a protector agent for the mitochondrial function of CKD-MSC against ER stress. Similar experimental treatments of tauroursodeoxycholic acidtreated MSC have been used for in vivo CKD-MSC in murine CKD model (Lee et al. 2019b). In this murine model study, they have isolated AD-MSC from CKD patients and treated it with tauroursodeoxycholic acid for 24 h. They have found that treated CKD-MSC prevented ER stress in the hippocampus of CKD mice and concluded that this treatment could be a powerful strategy to ameliorate CKD as well as neuronal dysfunction related to ER stress.

To summarize, although experimental and clinical data on the safety of the MSC

administration are encouraging, further studies are needed with prudence (Makhlough et al. 2018).

# 7 Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Gastrointestinal Diseases

The gastrointestinal system (GIS) consists of more than one organ, such as mouth, pharynx, stomach, small and large intestines, rectum, liver, and pancreas. The principal functions of the GIS are to digest the nutrients and to excrete the waste products of digested nutrients, and their mechanisms are extremely complex. The conditions and GIS-related diseases can affect GIS and the balance of its mechanisms.

Intestinal diseases can affect the several organs from the duodenum to the rectum. Constipation, diverticular diseases, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) are very frequent among the population. IBS is described as abdominal discomfort including altered bowel habits (Ford et al. 2020). It can take years to diagnose IBS, because symptoms are very similar to other conditions, such as giardia and food allergies. Some of them are more likely constipation, others diarrhea, and a few of them both constipation and diarrhea. These altered stool conditions cause the damage in the bowel. The health of patients with IBS is affected as well as their social lives. The dietary changes or medication are recommended for patients with IBS and also the treatment depends on what type of IBS one has and how many years passed when they get diagnosed. On the other hand, IBD can be defined as the destruction of bowel wallrelated inflammation which can lead to narrowing of the intestine and MRI and CT are used to determine how much of the bowel is affected for IBD diagnosis. IBD can cause destructive inflammation and permanent harm to the bowel wall which can lead to colon cancer. There are a number of experimental studies for bowel and mucosal tissue related to IBS and IBD to solve the problem related to healing damaged tissue. One of them has been conducted by Yang et al. in which they have developed human iPSC-derived MSC and injected intraperitoneally into IBD mice model. In conclusion, they have reported that iPSC-MSC provided epithelial cell proliferation and healed the mucosal colitis via tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ -stimulated gene 6 (Yang et al. 2019).

A malign type of IBD, Crohn's disease causes GIS to become inflamed and irritated. In many people, Crohn's disease is monitored as a chronic condition, while others may have remission status. There is no currently accepted cure for Crohn's disease, but the steroids are used for the relief of inflammation pain. Recently, the clinicians have conducted clinical trials as there are no approved drugs for Crohn's disease. A controlled randomized clinical trial based on UCB-MSC for Crohn's disease has showed great success (Zhang et al. 2018). They have used UCB-MSC on 24 male and 17 female patients and in the control group, 26 male and 15 female patients were added to the study. For the control group, they continued to give background treatment while in the trial group, the patients received UC-MSC infusion, once a week, four times in total, and they have been followed 3, 6, 9, and 12 months after the infusion doses were completed. Finally, they have reported that only four patients had fever after the infusion, which was relieved after symptomatic treatment and no adverse effects. Further, they have compared the two groups in the aspect of blood count and liver and renal function and reported that there were no significant differences. Furthermore, they have stated that six patients with concomitant anal fistula showed great improvement. In another double-blind, 49-center participated study, it was reported that allogeneic, expanded AD-MSC can be promising for the treatment of patients with Crohn's disease (Panés et al. 2016). They have used AD-MSC to the patients' perianal fistula area and reported that 53 of 107 patients achieved remission.

The late stage of scarring of the liver is known as cirrhosis and caused by long-term liver damage. Common causes of liver cirrhosis are excessive alcohol consumption, hepatitis, and nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases, and there is no approved therapy for liver cirrhosis (Basaranoglu et al. 2015; Roehlen et al. 2020). However, liver transplantation is an option for the end-stage liver cirrhosis when the liver is failing. In clinical trials on cirrhosis, the therapeutic potential of MSC based on differentiation capacity to hepatocytes has been investigated, and so far the results are satisfactory for liver regeneration. MSCs increase liver regeneration, reduce liver apoptosis, thereby improving liver functions (Yang et al. 2021). For MSC-related liver regeneration, it is believed that MMPs play a great role in the damaged area of the liver (Fukushima et al. 2021). In this study, the liver fibrosis murine model was established by the administration of carbon tetrachloride, and then BM-MSC was examined as a therapeutic option. They have reported that MMP-14, which is secreted by BM-MSC into the targeted area of the liver, improved survival rates and reduced the fibrosis. It is believed that liver regeneration of MSC is related to its immunomodulatory features (Sharma et al. 2014). Besides its tendency to migrate to the damaged area, it also secretes some soluble factors such as nitric oxide, HLA-G, IL-6, and IL-10. It is suggested that these factors regulate the proliferation and functions of immune cells in liver regeneration. Further studies, even multicenter clinical trials, should be developed to better understand this issue and investigate the basis of liver regeneration.

# 8 Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Cancer

One of the causes of more than 10 million deaths per year worldwide is cancer (Sung et al. 2021). Metastasis can be defined as the uncontrolled growth of a cell and its infiltration to other tissues and organs. It is one of the major factors influencing the malignancy of cancer and was first suggested by the British surgeon Stephen Paget with the phenomenon of metastasis, the "seed and soil" theory (Paget 1989; Ribatti et al. 2006). Metastasis and tumor microenvironment in cancer formation are affected by mechanisms such as unlimited angiogenesis, inhibition of tumor suppressor genes, activation of cancerinitiating oncogenes, suppression of apoptosis known as programmed cell death, and thus unlimited growth (Quail and Joyce 2013).

Chemotherapy and radiotherapy frequently have been used for cancer patients so far, but these conventional therapies have shown poor efficacy especially for the cancer of end/advanced stages. In recent years, the researchers have been attracted stem cell applications in the field of cancer. Among these cell therapies, MSC therapy has been used as "Trojan horses" due to its potential feature related to chemical agent secretion to the tumor microenvironment (Hmadcha et al. 2020). The changes in the tumor microenvironment during tumor growth are important for MSC tropism against tumor. The MSCs express the CXCR4 receptors for antitumor effect in the tumor microenvironment (Zheng et al. 2019). Especially for leukemia, the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis is believed to be protective when chemotherapeutic drugs are used (Cancilla et al. 2020).

In many hematologic cancer types, T-cell activation is important for immune response and interferon- $\gamma$  expression is the first cytokine secreting after T-cell activation. IFN- $\gamma$  secreting is booster signal for T-cell activation to promote the TRAIL pathway. Yenilmez et al. have reported that MSC combined with IFN- $\gamma$  induced apoptosis in breast cancer cell lines by tumor necrosis factor–related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) pathway (Yenilmez et al. 2020). MSC combined with IFN- $\gamma$  have been also suggested that they may ameliorate the graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Kim et al. 2018).

MSC application on solid tumor is controversial, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition feature of MSC is held responsible for tumor growth. On solid tumors, the MSC-based therapies are dependent on the migration feature of MSC into the tumor sites. MSCs are attracted toward tumor sites as a result of various molecules secreted by the tumor changing the tumor microenvironment. A subgroup of naïve MSCs arriving in the tumor microenvironment are able to transform into cancer-associated fibroblast (CAF). The CAFs are believed to contribute to the development of cancer, angiogenesis, metastasis, and the suppression of apoptosis (Hass 2020). On the other hand, some studies have shown that MSC can change its cell fate. In an in vitro study by Hogan et al., it was indicated that human BM-MSC changed their cell fate differently for HT-29 and HCT-116 colorectal cell lines (Hogan et al. 2013). BM-MSCs have been observed to have increased tumor proliferation for HT-29, while BM-MSC have been indicated for decreased HCT-116 tumor growth. This doubleedged sword of MSC feature has not been clarified yet. However, the researchers have noted that these different results might depend on many criteria, such as in vitro/in vivo studies, the type of MSC source used, the choice of MSC isolation, especially the medium in the culture stage (pH change, hypoxia conditions, etc.), and the selection and content of the medium used in the culture stage of MSC (Hass 2020).

On the other hand, there are also groups that report satisfactory results related to MSC as a strong tool for cancer treatment. Kostadinova et al. have reported that the long-term cultivation of BM-MSC and AD-MSC decreased the prostate carcinoma cell growth (Kostadinova et al. 2020). In the study, they have obtained MSCs from human adipose tissue and human bone marrow. Then, they have incubated MSC and PC-3 cell lines for 5 or 9 days and finally reported that increased apoptosis rate of prostatic cancer cells can be considered as an antitumor effect of MSCs. Similar to the antitumorigenic effect of MSC, there are also studies showing that UCB-MSC induces apoptosis in glioblastoma (Fan et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2010).

In conclusion, it has been suggested that the further studies are needed to understand mechanisms by which MSC is effective in cell fate, and also integrative technologies and MSC has to be generated for cancer treatment such as drug carrier MSC, genetically modified MSC, etc. (Ho et al. 2020; Srifa et al. 2020).

#### 9 Conclusion

Regenerative medicine is a promising multidisciplinary field for tissue damage and several diseases. The continuous studies on MSC and the development of technology have increased the potential use of MSC in regenerative medicine. In years, many MSC studies have described the features and potential use of MSC. Then, many stem cell sources have been used in this field, experimental or clinical for the treatment options.

In the near future, it is estimated that MSCs combined with gene therapy, particularly, can be a great tool for several diseases. In addition to this, with the technology development, it is reported that MSC also can be used as a tool in disease models and shed light on solving the causes and mechanisms of the diseases. Therefore, as regenerative medicine continues to discover the different uses of MSC and the mechanisms that play on differentiation, plasticity, and double-edged sword features of MSC, as well as developments to evaluate and control these factors, the potential MSC use of regenerative medicine will grow.

Conflict of interest Authors declared no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Adamiak M et al (2018) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived extracellular vesicles are safer and more effective for cardiac repair than iPSCs. Circ Res 122(2):296–309. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.311769
- Aslan H et al (2006) Nucleofection-based ex vivo nonviral gene delivery to human stem cells as a platform for tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng 12(4):877–889. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.12.877
- Balvay L, Lopez Lastra M, Sargueil B, Darlix JL, Ohlmann T (2007) Translational control of retroviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 5(2):128–140. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1599
- Barnhoorn MC et al (2020) Long-term evaluation of allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for Crohn's Disease perianal fistulas. J Crohn's Colitis 14(1):64–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ecco-jcc/jjz116
- Basaranoglu M, Basaranoglu G, Bugianesi E (2015) Carbohydrate intake and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: fructose as a weapon of mass destruction. HBSN 4(2): 109–116. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881. 2014.11.05

- Benabdallah BF et al (2010) Targeted gene addition to human mesenchymal stromal cells as a cell-based plasma-soluble protein delivery platform. Cytotherapy 12(3):394–399. https://doi.org/10.3109/ 14653240903583803
- Bhat S, Viswanathan P, Chandanala S, Prasanna SJ, Seetharam RN (2021) Expansion and characterization of bone marrow derived human mesenchymal stromal cells in serum-free conditions. Sci Rep 11(1):3403. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83088-1
- Bochon B, Kozubska M, Surygała G, Witkowska A, Kuźniewicz R, Grzeszczak W, Wystrychowski G (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells-potential applications in kidney diseases. Int J Mol Sci 20(10):2462. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms20102462
- Buchanan S, Combet E, Stenvinkel P, Shiels PG (2020) Klotho, aging, and the failing kidney. Front Endocrinol 11:560. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00560
- Cancilla D, Rettig MP, DiPersio JF (2020) Targeting CXCR4 in AML and ALL. Front Oncol 10:1672. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.01672
- Carroll D (2011) Genome engineering with zinc-finger nucleases. Genetics 188(4):773–782. https://doi.org/ 10.1534/genetics.111.131433
- Cheng Z et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells attenuate blood-brain barrier leakage after cerebral ischemia in mice. J Neuroinflammation 15(1):135. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12974-018-1153-1
- Cho HM et al (2017) Targeted genome engineering to control VEGF expression in human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells: potential implications for the treatment of myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(3):1040–1051. https://doi. org/10.1002/sctm.16-0114
- Colella P, Ronzitti G, Mingozzi F (2017) Emerging issues in AAV-mediated in vivo gene therapy. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 8:87–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.omtm.2017.11.007
- Cruz FF, Rocco PRM (2020) The potential of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for chronic lung disease. Expert Rev Respir Med 14(1):31–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17476348.2020.1679628
- de Witte S et al (2018) Immunomodulation by therapeutic mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) is triggered through phagocytosis of MSC by monocytic cells. Stem Cells 36(4):602–615. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2779
- Dittmer J, Leyh B (2014) Paracrine effects of stem cells in wound healing and cancer progression. Int J Oncol 44(6):1789–1798. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2014. 2385
- Doeppner TR et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles improve Post-Stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(10):1131–1143. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm. 2015-0078
- Dominici M et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement.

Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905

- Du YM et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes promote immunosuppression of regulatory T cells in asthma. Exp Cell Res 363(1):114–120. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.12.021
- Fan S et al (2020) Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal/stem cells expressing IL-24 induce apoptosis in gliomas. J Cell Physiol 235(2):1769–1779. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29095
- Ford AC, Sperber AD, Corsetti M, Camilleri M (2020) Irritable bowel syndrome. Lancet 396(10263): 1675–1688. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 31548-8
- Friedenstein AJ et al (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17(4):331–340. https://doi.org/10. 1097/00007890-197404000-00001
- Frodermann V, van Duijn J, van Pel M, van Santbrink PJ, Bot I, Kuiper J, de Jager SCA (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells reduce murine atherosclerosis development. Sci Rep 5:15559. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15559
- Fukushima K et al (2021) Secreted matrix metalloproteinase-14 is a predictor for antifibrotic effect of IC-2-engineered mesenchymal stem cell sheets on liver fibrosis in mice. Regen Ther 18:292– 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2021.08.004
- Futami I et al (2012) Isolation and characterization of multipotential mesenchymal cells from the mouse synovium. PLoS One 7(9):e45517. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0045517
- Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas CF 3rd (2013) ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends Biotechnol 31(7):397–405. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.04.004
- Guo Y et al (2013) The synergistic therapeutic effect of hepatocyte growth factor and granulocyte colonystimulating factor on pulmonary hypertension in rats. Heart Vessel 29:520–531. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00380-013-0395-391
- Guo Y, Peng Y, Zeng H, Chen G (2021) Progress in mesenchymal stem cell therapy for ischemic stroke. Stem Cells Int 2021:9923566. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2021/9923566
- Ha DH et al (2020) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cellderived exosomes for immunomodulatory therapeutics and skin regeneration. Cells 9(5):1157. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells9051157
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Hauer J, Lim A, Picard C, Wang GP, Berry CC, Martinache C et al (2010) Efficacy of gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. New Engl J Med 363(4):355–364. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1000164
- Hamann A, Nguyen A (2019) Pannier AK Nucleic acid delivery to mesenchymal stem cells: a review of nonviral methods and applications. J Biol Eng 13:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13036-019-0140-0

- Han F et al (2020) Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: achievements, future, and sustainability in Asia. Front Bioeng Biotech 8:83. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fbioe.2020.00083
- Hass R (2020) Role of MSC in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer 12(8):2107. https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers12082107
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R (2011) Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissuederived MSC. Cell Commun Signal 9:12. https://doi. org/10.1186/1478-811X-9-12
- Hmadcha A, Martin-Montalvo A, Gauthier BR, Soria B, Capilla-Gonzalez V (2020) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for cancer therapy. Front Bioeng Biotech 8:43. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe. 2020.00043
- Ho YK, Woo JY, Tu G, Deng LW, Too HP (2020) A highly efficient non-viral process for programming mesenchymal stem cells for gene directed enzyme prodrug cancer therapy. Sci Rep 10(1):14257. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-71224-2
- Hogan NM, Joyce MR, Murphy JM, Barry FP, O'Brien T, Kerin MJ, Dwyer RM (2013) Impact of mesenchymal stem cell secreted PAI-1 on colon cancer cell migration and proliferation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 435(4):574–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013. 05.013
- Hu X et al (2017) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated reversibly immortalized mouse bone marrow stromal stem cells (BMSCs) retain multipotent features of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Oncotarget 8(67):111847–111865. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.22915
- Iqbal F, Gratch YS, Szaraz P, Librach CL (2017) The aortic ring co-culture assay: a convenient tool to assess the angiogenic potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in vitro. J Vis Exp 127:56083. https://doi.org/10.3791/ 56083
- Jiang F, Doudna JA (2017) CRISPR-Cas9 structures and mechanisms. Annu Rev Biophys 46:505–529. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biophys-062215-010822
- Kim H, Park JS (2017) Usage of human mesenchymal stem cells in cell-based therapy: advantages and disadvantages. Dev Reprod 21(1):1–10. https://doi. org/10.12717/DR.2017.21.1.001
- Kim SM et al (2010) Irradiation enhances the tumor tropism and therapeutic potential of tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand-secreting human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells in glioma therapy. Stem Cells 28(12):2217–2228. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.543
- Kim MJ et al (2011) Human chorionic-plate-derived mesenchymal stem cells and Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a comparative analysis of their potential as placenta-derived stem cells. Cell Tissue Res 346(1): 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-011-1249-8
- Kim DS et al (2018) Enhanced immunosuppressive properties of human mesenchymal stem cells primed

by interferon-γ. EBioMedicine 28:261–273. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.01.002

- Kostadinova M, Antonov B, Kinov P, Oreshkova T, Mourdjeva M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the growth of prostate carcinoma cells in a long term cultivation. Biotechnol Equip 34(1):354–360. https:// doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2020.1751710
- Laroye C et al (2019) Bone marrow vs Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells in experimental sepsis: a comparative study. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):192. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1295-9
- Le Thi BP et al (2020) Allogeneic umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation for treating chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a pilot clinical study. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):60. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13287-020-1583-4
- Lee JH, Yoon YM, Lee SH (2019a) TUDCA-treated mesenchymal stem cells protect against ER stress in the hippocampus of a murine chronic kidney disease model. Int J Mol Sci 20(3):613. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms20030613
- Lee J et al (2019b) CRISPR/Cas9 Edited sRAGE-MSCs protect neuronal death in Parkinson's Disease model. Int J Stem Cells 12(1):114–124. https://doi.org/10. 15283/ijsc18110
- Lee TL et al (2021) Conditioned medium from adiposederived stem cells attenuates ischemia/reperfusioninduced cardiac injury through the microRNA-221/ 222/PUMA/ETS-1 pathway. Theranostics 11(7): 3131–3149. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.52677
- Li F, Guo X, Chen SY (2017) Function and therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells in atherosclerosis. Front Cardiovasc Med 4:32. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fcvm.2017.00032
- Li B et al (2018) Genetic correction of adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells mediated by TALEN targeting the GDF5 gene. Int J Mol Med 41(4):2397–2405. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2018. 3442
- Li QC, Liang Y, Su ZB (2019) Prophylactic treatment with MSC-derived exosomes attenuates traumatic acute lung injury in rats. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 316:L1107–L1117. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung. 00391.2018
- Liu N, Patzak A, Zhang J (2013) CXCR4-overexpressing bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve repair of acute kidney injury. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 305(7):F1064–F1073. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajprenal.00178.2013
- Liu X et al (2014) Improvement in poor graft function after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation upon administration of mesenchymal stem cells from third-party donors: a pilot prospective study. Cell Transplant 23(9):1087–1098. https://doi.org/10.3727/ 096368912X661319
- Liu X, Fang Q, Kim H (2016) Preclinical studies of mesenchymal stem cell (msc) administration in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a systematic

review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 11(6):e0157099. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157099

- Luo L et al (2017) Fabrication of synthetic mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction in mice. Circ Res 120(11):1768–1775. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.310374
- Mahdavi Gorabi A et al (2019) The role of mesenchymal stem cells in atherosclerosis: prospects for therapy via the modulation of inflammatory milieu. J Clin Med 8(9):1413. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8091413
- Makhlough A et al (2018) Bone marrow-mesenchymal stromal cell infusion in patients with chronic kidney disease: a safety study with 18 months of follow-up. Cytotherapy 20(5):660–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcyt.2018.02.368
- Mathew B et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and retinal ischemia-reperfusion. Biomaterials 197:146–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2019.01.016
- Matthay MA et al (2019) Treatment with allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells for moderate to severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (START study): a randomised phase 2a safety trial. Lancet Respir Med 7(2):154–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30418-1
- Miller DL, Pislaru SV, Greenleaf JE (2002) Sonoporation: mechanical DNA delivery by ultrasonic cavitation. Somat Cell Mol Genet 27(1-6):115–134. https://doi. org/10.1023/a:1022983907223
- Naji A, Eitoku M, Favier B et al (2019) Biological functions of mesenchymal stem cells and clinical implications. Cell Mol Life Sci 76:3323–3348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03125-1
- Oggu GS, Sasikumar S, Reddy N, Ella KKR, Rao CM, Bokara KK (2017) Gene delivery approaches for mesenchymal stem cell therapy: strategies to increase efficiency and specificity. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13(6): 725–740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-017-9760-2
- Paget S (1989) The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. Cancer Metastasis Rev 8(2): 98–101
- Panés J et al (2016) Expanded allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Cx601) for complex perianal fistulas in Crohn's disease: a phase 3 randomised, double-blind controlled trial. Lancet 388(10051): 1281–1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16) 31203-X
- Peired AJ, Sisti A, Romagnani P (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for kidney disease: a review of clinical evidence. Stem Cells Int 2016:4798639. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4798639
- Pina S, Riberio VP, Marques CF, Maia FR, Silva TH, Reis RL, Oliveira JM (2019) Scaffolding strategies for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. Materials (Basel) 12(11):1824. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ma12111824
- Quail DF, Joyce JA (2013) Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med 19(11): 1423–1437. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3394

- Ramamoorth M, Narvekar A (2015) Non-viral vectors in gene therapy- an overview. J Clin Diagn Res 9(1): GE01–GGE6. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/ 10443.5394
- Ribatti D, Mangialardi G, Vacca A (2006) Stephen Paget and the 'seed and soil' theory of metastatic dissemination. Clin Exp Med 6(4):145–149. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10238-006-0117-4
- Roehlen N, Crouchet E, Baumert TF (2020) Liver fibrosis: mechanistic concepts and therapeutic perspectives. Cells 9(4):875. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9040875
- Roudkenar MH et al (2018) Lipocalin 2 enhances mesenchymal stem cell-based cell therapy in acute kidney injury rat model. Cytotechnology 70(1):103–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-017-0107-2
- Sessa M et al (2016) Lentiviral haemopoietic stem-cell gene therapy in early-onset metachromatic leukodystrophy: an ad-hoc analysis of a non-randomised, openlabel, phase 1/2 trial. Lancet 388(10043):476–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30374-9
- Sharma RR, Pollock K, Hubel A, McKenna D (2014) Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells: a review of clinical applications and manufacturing practices. Transfusion 54(5):1418–1437. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf. 12421
- Shen LH, Li Y, Chen J, Zhang J, Vanguri P, Borneman J, Chopp M (2006) Intracarotid transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells increases axon-myelin remodeling after stroke. Neuroscience 137(2): 393–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005. 08.092
- Shichita T, Ito M, Yoshimura A (2014) Post-ischemic inflammation regulates neural damage and protection. Front Cell Neurosci 8:319. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fncel.2014.00319
- Sierra-Parraga JM et al (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cells are retained in the porcine renal cortex independently of their metabolic state after renal intra-arterial infusion. Stem Cells Dev 28(18):1224–1235. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2019.0105
- Srifa W et al (2020) Cas9-AAV6-engineered human mesenchymal stromal cells improved cutaneous wound healing in diabetic mice. Nat Commun 11:2470. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16065-3
- Sun Y et al (2018) Human Mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes alleviate Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus by reversing peripheral insulin resistance and relieving β-cell destruction. ACS Nano 12(8):7613–7628. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.7b07643
- Sun Z, Li X, Zheng X, Cao P, Yu B, Wang W (2019) Stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXC chemokine receptor 4 axis in injury repair and renal transplantation. J Int Med Res 47(11):5426–5440. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0300060519876138
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F (2021) Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of *i*ncidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in

185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 71(3):209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660

- Tobin MK, Stephen T, Lopez KL, Pergande MR, Bartholomew AM, Cologna SM, Lazarov O (2020) Activated mesenchymal stem cells induce recovery following stroke via regulation of inflammation and oligodendrogenesis. J Am Heart Assoc 9(7):e013583. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.013583
- Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD (2002) Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 105(1):93–98. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc0102.101442
- Torres-Ruiz R et al (2017) Efficient Recreation of t(11,22) EWSR1-FLI1<sup>+</sup> in Human Stem Cells Using CRISPR/ Cas9. Stem Cell Rep 8(5):1408–1420. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.04.014
- Tsuji W, Rubin JP, Marra KG (2014) Adipose-derived stem cells: implications in tissue regeneration. World J Stem Cells 6(3):312–321. https://doi.org/10.4252/ wjsc.v6.i3.312
- Ullah I et al (2015) Human mesenchymal stem cellscurrent trends and future prospective. Biosci Rep 35(2):e00191. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20150025
- Vargas JE, Chicaybam L, Stein RT, Tanuri A, Delgado-Cañedo A, Bonamino MH (2016) Retroviral vectors and transposons for stable gene therapy: advances, current challenges and perspectives. J Transl Med 14: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-1047-x
- Varshney R, Ali Q, Wu C, Sun Z (2016) Monocrotalineinduced pulmonary hypertension involves downregulation of antiaging protein klotho and eNOS activity. Hypertension 68(5):1255–1263. https://doi. org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.08184
- Wang W, Xu X, Li Z, Lendlein A, Ma N (2014) Genetic engineering of mesenchymal stem cells by non-viral gene delivery. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 58(1):19–48. https://doi.org/10.3233/CH-141883
- Weiss DJ, Casaburi R, Flannery R, LeRoux-Williams M, Tashkin DP (2013) A placebo-controlled, randomized trial of mesenchymal stem cells in COPD. Chest 143(6):1590–1598. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest. 12-2094
- Willis GR, Fernandez-Gonzalez A, Reis M, Mitsialis SA, Kourembanas S (2018) Macrophage immunomodulation: the gatekeeper for mesenchymal stem cell derived-exosomes in pulmonary arterial hypertension? Int J Mol Sci 19(9):2534. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms19092534
- Wilson JG et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem (stromal) cells for treatment of ARDS: a phase 1 clinical trial. The Lancet Respir Med 3(1):24–32. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S2213-2600(14)70291-7
- Xu Y, Sun Z (2015) Molecular basis of Klotho: from gene to function in aging. Endocr Rev 36(2):174–193. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2013-1079
- Xu W et al (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells from adult human bone marrow differentiate into a cardiomyocyte phenotype in vitro. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 229(7):623–631. https://doi.org/10.1177/153537020422900706

- Xu H, Wang Z, Liu L, Zhang B, Li B (2020) Exosomes derived from adipose tissue, bone marrow, and umbilical cord blood for cardioprotection after myocardial infarction. J Cell Biochem 121(3):2089–2102. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcb.27399
- Yang H et al (2019) Human induced pluripotent stem cellderived mesenchymal stem cells promote healing via TNF-α-stimulated gene-6 in inflammatory bowel disease models. Cell Death Dis 10(10):718. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41419-019-1957-7
- Yang Y, Zhao Y, Zhang L, Zhang F, Li L (2021) The application of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of liver diseases: mechanism, efficacy, and safety issues. Front Med (Lausanne) 8:655268. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmed.2021.655268
- Yenilmez EN, Genc D, Farooqi AA, Tunoglu S, Zeybek U, Akkoc T, Yaylim İ (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells combined with IFNγ induce apoptosis of breast cancer cells partially through TRAIL. Anticancer Res 40(10):5641–5647. https://doi.org/10.21873/ anticanres.14577
- Yong KW, Choi JR, Mohammadi M, Mitha AP, Sanati-Nezhad A, Sen A (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for ischemic tissues. Stem Cells Int 2018:8179075. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8179075
- Yoon YM, Lee JH, Yun CW, Lee SH (2019) Pioglitazone improves the function of human mesenchymal stem cells in chronic kidney disease patients. Int J Mol Sci 20(9):2314. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20092314
- Zare M, Soleimani M, Mohammadian M, Akbarzadeh A, Havasi P, Zarghami N (2016) Efficient biotechnological approach for lentiviral transduction of induced pluripotent stem cells. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 44(2):743–748. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401. 2014.982804
- Zhang J, Lv S, Liu X, Song B, Shi L (2018) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell treatment for Crohn's Disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Gut and Liver 12(1):73–78. https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl17035
- Zhang S et al (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes improve pulmonary hypertension through inhibition of pulmonary vascular remodeling. Respir Res 21(1):71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-020-1331-4
- Zhao J et al (2019) Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes attenuate myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury through miR-182-regulated macrophage polarization. Cardiovasc Res 115(7):1205–1216. https://doi. org/10.1093/cvr/cvz040
- Zheng XB et al (2019) Bone marrow-derived CXCR4overexpressing MSCs display increased homing to intestine and ameliorate colitis-associated tumorigenesis in mice. Gastroenterol Rep 7(2):127–138. https://doi. org/10.1093/gastro/goy017
- Zhu Y, Guan YM, Huang HL, Wang QS (2014) Human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cell transplantation suppresses inflammatory responses and neuronal apoptosis during early stage of focal cerebral ischemia in rabbits. Acta Pharmacol Sin 35(5):585–591. https:// doi.org/10.1038/aps.2014.9



# Identification of Small Molecules That Enhance the Expansion of Mesenchymal Stem Cells Originating from Bone Marrow

Lamia Yazgi Alyazici and Fatih Kocabas

## Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been shown to be promising for regenerative medicines with their immunomodulatory characteristics. They may be obtained from a variety of tissue types, including umbilical cord, adipose tissue, dental tissue, and bone marrow (BM). BM-MSCs are challenging in terms of their ex vivo expansion capability. Thus, we aimed to improve the expansion of BM-MSCs with small molecule treatments. We tested about forty small molecules that are potent quiescence modulators, and determined their efficacy by analysis of cell viability, cell cycle, and apoptosis in BM-MSCs. We also examined gene expression for selected small molecules to explore essential molecular pathways. We observed that treatment with SB203580 increased BM-MSCs expansion up to two fold when used for 5 days. SB203580 decreased the proportion of cells in the G1 phase of the cell cycle and substantially increased the ratio of cells in the S-G2-M phase. Enhanced MSC expansion with SB203580 therapy was associated with the lower expression of CDKIs like p15, p18,

L. Y. Alyazici and F. Kocabas (🖂)

p19, p21, p27, and p57. In conclusion, we have developed a new approach to facilitate the expansion of BM-MSCs. These results could enhance autologous and immunomodulation therapy involving BM-MSCs.

## Keywords

 $MSCs \cdot Small \ molecules \cdot Stem \ cell \ expansion$ 

# Abbreviations

BM	Bone marrow	
BM-MSCs	Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem	
	Cells	
CFU-F	Colony forming unit – fibroblast	
assay	assay	
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide	
MS	Muscle dystrophy	
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells	

# 1 Introduction

The interest around MSCs and their therapeutic potential increased significantly over the last decade. Ease of accessibility, ex vivo expansion, ease of isolation techniques, their immunomodulatory abilities and tissue repair potential made MSCs an important source for cell-based therapy

Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Faculty of Engineering, Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: fatih.kocabas@yeditepe.edu.tr

applications. While our understanding of MSCs improved, new therapeutic applications were developed not only in the tissue engineering area, but also on MSCs immunomodulatory and reparative traits on wound healing and rectification of defective immune systems. Several studies have reported that there is an urgent need for optimization of MSC culture conditions before clinical studies (Laube et al. 2016). It is clear that regulations and innovations of new techniques are required to optimize MSC culture conditions in terms of passage number dependency, elimination of aging factors, improvement of cryopreservation and preconditioning, and the determination of optimal tissue origin suitable for each specific context.

The use of MSCs increased rapidly due to the clinical studies that demand a large population of MSCs. Although they are dividing cells, their expansion capability does not match always with the requirement of clinical studies. While a minimal dosage requirement for transplantation is  $1-2 \times 10^6$  cells per kilogram, the bone marrow cell population consists of only 0.3% of MSCs. In the cord blood and peripheral blood samples, the ratio is even lower (Bonab et al. 2006). To reach the sufficient amount for transplantation, either long-term culture of MSC is required, which is unsafe due to senescence, loss of potency, tumor growth potential, or it is needed to develop new and safe expansion techniques.

Small molecules could be used to target biological pathways associated with growth, expansion, signal transduction, apoptosis, cell cycle, and differentiation (Huber and Superti-Furga 2016). In this study, previously identified and characterized small molecules which are potentially targeting cellular quiescence (Sidal et al. 2020) were tested in the expansion of bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells. We isolated and characterized BM-MSCs, which are known to be difficult to expand ex vivo. This is followed by testing small molecules in varying doses and assessing their effect in MSC growth, cell cycle, and apoptosis. In addition, we studied expression of genes relevant to improved MSC proliferation with selected small molecules. These studies led to the discovery of two small molecules SB203580 and SKF96395 that induce ex vivo BM-MSC expansion up to two fold by improving cell cycle progression. This was also associated with the upregulation of S-phase genes and downregulation of CDKIs such as p15, p21, and p57.

# 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Animals and Ethical Approval

BALB/c mice have been used throughout this study. Animal studies were used under decision number 592 which was approved by the Institutional Clinical Studies Ethical and the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Yeditepe University (YUDHEK).

# 2.2 MSC Isolation, Culture, and Characterization

BALB/c mice were dissected; femur and tibia bones were separated from flesh. Cold DPBS (Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline, Gibco cat. no. 14190250) were flushed through the bone marrow cavity using a 26-G needle. The marrow cell suspension was filtered through a 70 µM cell strainer (Falcon cat. no. 0877102). The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min. Supernatant was removed. Pellet was resuspended in low-glucose DMEM media (Gibco, cat. no. 10567014), supplemented with 15% FBS (Gibco, cat. no. 10082147), 1% PSA (Gibco, cat. no. 15240062). Then, cells were counted on a hemocytometer. The cells were cultured in T75 flasks (20 million cells per flask) with the media volume of 8 mL, or T25 flasks (eight million cells per flask) with the media volume of 3 mL. Flasks were placed in an incubator set at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> overnight. Twenty-four hours later. media with non-adherent cells was discarded, fresh media was added to flasks. Media was replaced with fresh media every 3-4 days. After 2 weeks of initial culture, adherent cells (MSCs) were collected.

At P2, BM-MSCs were seeded at 20,000 per well density at a 96-well plate. Each was stained separately with anti-mouse CD90 (Thy-1)-PE, anti-mouse CD105 – PECy7 and anti-mouse CD11b-PE (Invitrogen cat. no. in order; 4,280,969, 12,105,742, 11,011,842) and diluted in DPBS at 1:2000 ratio. 50  $\mu$ L of diluted antibodies was added to each well containing 200  $\mu$ L of media. The cells were incubated in ice, in a dark place for 15 min. Later on, flow cytometry analysis was conducted.

## 2.3 MSC CFU-F Assay

BM-MSCs were seeded on 6-well plates at 25,000 cells per well density to assess their CFU-F. The cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> conditions for 12 days. Media was changed with a fresh media every 3-4 days. After 12 days, cells were washed gently with DPBS twice. Cells were incubated and fixed at room temperature for 20 min with 2 mL of 1% formaldehyde. Formaldehyde was discarded. Giemsa (Thermo Scientific, cat. no.10434969) was diluted with dH<sub>2</sub>O at 1:20 ratio and added to the wells and incubated for 30 min. Giemsa was rinsed thoroughly with distilled H<sub>2</sub>O. Later on, colonies were observed and counted on a confocal microscope. Colony condition was 100 cells or higher.

## 2.4 Small Molecule Treatments

Small molecules were dissolved in DMSO at 20 mM concentration (Table 1) as we have done previously (Sidal et al. 2020). Dilutions were done with DPBS. BM-MSCs were seeded at the density of 5,000 cells per well to 96-well plates. Twenty-four hours later, the media was replaced with fresh media and cells were treated with small molecules to the final concentrations of 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, or 10  $\mu$ M in triplicates for a dose. Thereafter, the cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> conditions for 5 days.

#### 2.5 MSC Growth Analysis

WST-1 Reagent (Cell Proliferation Reagent WST-1, Roche, cat. No. 11644807001) was used and diluted in 1:10 ratio with cell culture media and added at 100  $\mu$ L to each well. Samples were incubated in a humidified incubator at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in the dark. After 4 h, the absorbance was measured using a spectrophotometer microplate reader (Thermo Scientific, Varioskan Lux) at 420-480 nm as we have done previously (Kalkan et al. 2020).

#### 2.6 Cell Cycle Analysis

BM-MSCs were seeded at 20,000 per well density at a 24-well plate. Twenty-four hours later, cells were treated with small molecules. Five days later, cells were trypsinized, centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min at room temperature. Supernatant was discarded. Pellet was resuspended with 200 µL of fresh media. Suspension was placed in 37 °C and 5% CO2 incubator for 15 min. 1.5 µL of 200X Hoechst stain (Thermo Scientific, cat. no. 62249) was added per well. Plate was placed in the incubator for 30 min (in dark). After that step, 2 µL of 100X Pyronin Y (Sigma-Aldrich, cat. no. 213519) was added per well. The cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 15 min. Flow cytometry device was used for analysis (Beckman Coulter, Cytoflex S) as we have done previously (Turan et al. 2020).

#### 2.7 Apoptosis Analysis

BM-MSCs were seeded at 20,000 per well density at a 96-well plate. Twenty-four hours later, cells were treated with small molecules. Five days later, cells were trypsinized, centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min at room temperature. Supernatant was discarded. For this analysis, Invitrogen's Annexin V-FITC Apoptosis Detection Kit (cat. no. BMS500FI-100) was used. Pellet was resuspended with 50 µL of 1X Binding Buffer. 2.5 µL of Annexin V and 2.5 uL of PI was

1	Alexidine Dihydrochloride	21	EX 527&Nicotinamide
2	HAT inhibitor - 505,298/p300&CBP inhibitor VI	22	Tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA)
3	AS1949490	23	SB203580
4	RG 108	24	α-Tocopherol
5	HAT inhibitor-Garcinol	25	L-N&-(1-iminoethyl)-lysine hydrochloride (L-NIL)
6	CHIR-99021	26	BIO (6-bromoindirubin-30-oxime)
7	c-Myc inhibitor	27	SKF96395 hydrochloride
8	SC1 (Pluripotin)	28	Mdivi-1
9	Pifithrin-α	29	(5Z)-7-Oxozeaenol
10	Ro 26-4,550 trifluoroacetate	30	SB239063
11	GANT 61	31	Trans-2-phenylcyclopropyşamine hydrochloride
12	400,083 I HIF-1 inhibitor	32	Tetraethylammonium chloride
13	StemRegenin 1 (SR1)	33	K252c
14	CASIN	34	BML-260
15	CXCR4 antagonist 1, AMD3100	35	N-4-Tosyl-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride
16	Cannabidiol (CBD)	CM1	MEIS inhibitor-1 (MEISi-1, 25 mg)
17	Ro5-3,335	CM2	MEIS inhibitor-2 (MEISi-2, 25 mg)
18	SKP2-C25	NAE	MLN4924 (NAE inhibitor)
19	bpV (Hopic)		
20	2-aminoethoxydipenyl-borade (2APB)		

Table 1 List of small molecules number and name of small molecules

added to each well. The cells were incubated at room temperature, in the dark for 15 min. 200  $\mu$ L of 1X Binding Buffer was added to each well. Flow cytometry device (Beckman Coulter Cytoflex S) was used for analysis as we have done previously (Boztas et al. 2013).

# 2.8 RNA Isolation, cDNA Preparation and RT-PCR

Total **RNA isolation** was done by NucleoZOL kit (Macerey-Nagel, cat. no. 740404200). Cell culture media was removed and 1 mL of NucleoZOL was added to the wells. Complete lysis was ensured by vigorous pipetting. 200  $\mu$ L of RNase free water was added per 500  $\mu$ L of NucleoZOL/ lysed cell suspension. The suspension was incubated at room temperature for 5 min then centrifuged at 12,000 xg for 15 min. 500  $\mu$ L of supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube, 500  $\mu$ L isopropanole was added. The suspension was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and centrifuge at 12,000 xg for 10 min. Supernatant was discarded and 500  $\mu$ L of 75% ethanol was added. Sample was centrifuged for 3 min at 8,000 xg. The ethanol-washing step was repeated two times. The RNA pellet was dissolved in RNase free water. Concentration and purity (A230/A280) results were obtained by Nanodrop. cDNA synthesis was done using ProtoScript II, First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (cat. no. E6560S). Up to 1 µg of template RNA, 2 µL d(T)23VN, 10 µ L of ProtoScript II Reaction Mix (2X), and 2 µL ProtoScript Enzyme Mix (10X) was mixed in a PCR tube. Nuclease free water was added as necessary to complete the mixture to a total volume of 20 µL. The mixture was incubated first at 42 °C for 1 h, then at 80 °C for 5 min. Promega, GoTaq qPCR Master Mix, cat. no. A6001 was used for RT-PCR. 4  $\mu$ L of nuclease free water, 0.75  $\mu$ L of Forward Primer (100 mM), 0.75 µL of Reverse Primer (100 mM) (Table 2: Primer list), 7.5 µL of Master Mix (Syber Green), and 2 µL of the sample's cDNA was mixed. 1 cycle of Hot Start Activation at 95 °C for 2 min, 50 cycles of Denaturation (95 °C for 15 s) and Annealing (60 °C for 1 min) protocol was set on Roche, LightCycler 96. GAPDH and  $\beta$ -actin were used as internal controls. Data was analyzed by using the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct Method as we have done previously (Uslu et al. 2020).

Gene	Forward primer (5'to3')	Reverse primer (5'to3')
GAPDH	TTGATGGCAACAATCTCCAC	CGTCCCGTAGACAAAATGGT
β-ΑCTIN	ATGGAGGGGAATACAGCCC	TTCTTTGCAGCTCCTTCGTT
RAD51	GGTGGTCTGTGTTGAACCCT	ACACCGAGGGCACCTTTAG
PCNA	GGAGACAGTGGAGTGGCTTT	GGAGACAGTGGAGTGGCTTT
MCM2	TCAGCTCCTCCACATCTTCA	TCAGCTCCTCCACATCTTCA
p15	CAGTTGGGTTCTGCTCCGT	AGATCCCAACGCCCTGAAC
p18	CTCCGGATTTCCAAGTTTCA	GGGGGACCTAGAGCAACTTAC
p19	TCAGGAGCTCCAAAGCAACT	TTCTTCATCGGGAGCTGGT
p19 Arf	GTTTTCTTGGTGAAGTTCGTGC	TCATCACCTGGTCCAGGATTC
p21	ATCACCAGGATTGGACATGG	CGGTGTCAGAGTCTAGGGGA
p27	GGGGAACCGTCTGAAACATT	AGTGTCCAGGGATGAGGAAG
p57	TTCTCCTGCGCAGTTCTCTT	CTGAAGGACCAGCCTCTCTC

Table 2 List of primer sets used

### 2.9 Statistics

Two tailed t-test was used to determine the significance of the data. The results were labeled as significant if the t-test value was less than 0.05, and high significant if the value is less than 0.01.

## 3 Results

# 3.1 Analysis and Growth of Primary Bone Marrow MSCs

We used BM-MSCs because they are among the hard-to-grow MSCs and needed more development in the expansion procedures. Primary MSC culture and characterization is regularly conducted by surface antigen analysis by flow cytometry, morphology and colony forming capacity in vitro.

BM-MSCs were isolated and cultured for 14 days on 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator then immediately after trypsinizing, they were stained with CD90-PE and CD105-PECy7 for positive MSC marker analysis. CD90-PE yielded >98% of positivity (Fig. 1a); while CD105-PECy7 showed >85% of positivity (Fig. 1b). Negative MSC marker staining of CD11b-PE showed that MSCs were < 95% negative (Fig. 1c).

After 7 days of initial culture following isolation, adherent MSCs and spindle shaped colony formation were seen. Cells were observed on brightfield microscopy to validate the morphology of the isolated cells (Fig. 1d). We also determined CFU-F values after 12 days of culture of passage number 3 on T25 flask and found over 25 colonies with >100 cells per colony as we counted under brightfield microscopy (Fig. 1e). These showed that we have successfully able to grow BM-MSCs, which could be further studied with small molecules to determine potent small molecules that could induce MSC expansion.

# 3.2 Screening of Small Molecules in BM-MSC Expansion

WST-1 cell viability assay was performed at the first stage of the experiments to evaluate and select the effective small molecules (Fig. 2). First, cells were treated for 5 days with a single dose  $(1 \mu M)$  of small molecules to see the overall effects of the molecules on BM-MSC (Fig. 2). These studies showed that several compounds (#23, #27, and #30) could increase MSC growth up to 1.4 fold at 1 µM dose. Second set of experiments was done with 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, and 10 µM doses of small molecules numbered for selected small molecules (Fig. 3). Significant and up to two fold increased in MSC growth were seen for #23 and #27 treatments at 10 µM concentrations (Fig. 3a, b). Since optimum expansion effects in MSCs were seen after 5 days of treatments and indicated doses, the



**Fig. 1** Analysis of BM-MSCs by flow cytometry and colony forming assay. MSC surface antigen analysis by flow cytometry for (a) CD90 and (b) CD105 markers which are positive markers for MSCs. (c) BM-MSC characterization with anti-mouse antibody CD11b as a negative MSC marker. Analysis of (d) BM-MSCs at passage

1 at day 7 image of BM-MSC on bright field microscopy (20X magnification). (f) Analysis of colony forming unit. Representative CFU-F assay images taken on brightfield microscopy on the day 12 of culture (Left: 10X, and Right: 20X magnification)

rest of the studies were performed after 5 days of treatment throughout this study. These findings showed that #23 and #27 treatments could be an

ideal approach for ex vivo BM-MSC expansion procedures. Next, we sought to determine potential mechanism of these compounds by studying



mBM-MSC growth post five days of treatments

Fig. 2 Treatment of BM-MSCs with various small molecules and analysis for cell growth. WST-1 cell viability assay shows fold difference following 5 days of treatment with all of the small molecules at 1  $\mu$ M final

concentration. Note that molecules #23 and #27 showed an increased MSC growth compared to control as well as other small molecules. n = 3

cell cycle, apoptosis (viability), and gene expression.

# 3.3 Small Molecule Treatment Enhances Cell Cycle in BM-MSCs

After 5 days of treatments, BM-MSC cell cycle analysis was done with Hoechst and Pyronin-Y staining. The results were obtained by flow cytometry. Significant changes were seen on #23 and #27 treatments in comparison to DMSO control treatment (Fig. 4a, b, c). Treatment with #27 caused a reduced number of cells in G0 and an increased number of cells in G1 phase (Fig. 4d). On the other hand, #23 doubled the S/G2/M phase population ratio indicating that MSCs were indeed expanding rapidly (Fig. 4d).

Rate of apoptosis was also determined by Annexin V-FITC and PI staining by flow cytometry post treatment with DMSO (Fig. 5a), #23 (Fig. 5b) and #27 (Fig. 5c). Early apoptosis, late apoptosis, and necrotic cell rate was coherent with the control for #23; while #27 treated MSCs showed decreased dead/necrotic cell percentage (Fig. 5d). In conclusion, #23 and #27 molecules act by inducing cell cycle progression rather than altering ex vivo cell viability.

# 3.4 Small Molecule Treatment Alters CDKI and S-Phase Related Gene Expression in MSCs

RNA isolation was done following 5 days of selected small molecule treatment to BM-MSCs. Thereafter, cDNA was synthesized, Real Time-PCR was conducted to determine CDKI and S-Phase/HDR related gene expression alterations in comparison to DMSO control treated group (Fig. 6). #27 treatments increased expression of key S-Phase genes RAD51, PCNA, and MCM2 in BM-MSCs (Fig. 6a). On the other hand, analysis of CDKI gene expression in BM-MSCs





showed that #23 treatment reduced expression of several CDKI genes including p15, p18, p19, p21, p27 and p57 (Fig. 6b). This was consistent with increased cells S-G2-M phases and reduction in G1 phases of cell cycle post #23 treatments (Fig. 5). However, #27 treatments in BM-MSCs did not alter expression of CDKI genes.

# 4 Discussion

The progression of stem cell technologies have let stem cell therapy to grow over the past decade (Ringdén et al. 2006). The ease of access, low immunogenic effects, reliable ways of in vitro and in vivo transplantation abilities are set to be the desired requirements for application. With more research being done, it was concurred that mesenchymal stem cells were one of the most suitable stem cell sources. Immunomodulatory traits of MSCs present a great potential for treating various diseases including immune disorders, and it enables them to act as a co-transplanted cell population to reduce the immune response. Homing capability of MSCs is found to be advantageous, hence their interaction with the host-tissues (Yagi et al. 2010). On the other hand, there is a significant decline in the expansion ability of mesenchymal stem cell cultures through time. MSCs show potency loss during sub-culturing and at high passage numbers. MSCs' becoming senescent at long-termed cultures is seen after passage 5 (Ahmad et al. 2013). Although they are dividing cells, their expansion capability does not always match with the requirement of clinical studies.

The development of commercially available stem cell sources has led the researchers to modulate the immune system and provide valuable assets for regenerative medicine and cell-based tissue repairing systems. MSCs have been shown to be important for various diseases and conditions. Recently, the scientists have shown the importance of MSCs in the treatment of





**Fig. 4** Analysis of BM-MSCs cell cycle following treatment with selected small molecules. BM-MSCs were treated with (a) DMSO as control and (b) #23, (c) #27, and were quantified for (d) the distribution of cells in cell

cycle phases by Hoechst and Pyronin Y staining. Note that #23 decreased the percentage of cells in G0. On the other hand, #27 increased the percentage of cells in G1 and S-G2-M phases of cell cycle. n = 3, \*p < 0.05

muscle dystrophy (MS) (Shabbir et al. 2009). Treatments for muscle dystrophy mainly depend on activating the host satellite cells, forming new myofibers at the injury zone. These applications reveal the rapid loss in the grafted MSC population, suggesting the need for the improvements in MSC therapeutics (Shabbir et al. 2009).

Initial improvements in MSC expansion was established with a simple adjustment on the oxygen levels of cell culture conditions (Chow et al. 2001). The standard  $O_2$  levels in bone marrow cavity is known to be around 5%. Yet,  $O_2$  gradient has been seen throughout the bone marrow. Hematopoietic stem cell niche is extremely hypoxic, and it has been shown that culturing HSC at low  $O_2$  percentage helps to protect the potency of the cells (Hawkins et al. 2013). Based on this information, MSCs have also been cultured on hypoxic conditions and the results indicated that hypoxia does not only promote MSC expansion, but it also allows the cells to preserve their potency (Grayson et al. 2006).

Platelet lysate was also proposed as an FBS subrogate for MSC expansion. The hypothesis was that platelet lysate growth factors can support MSC expansion (Abdelrazik et al. 2011). Studies suggested that the expansion of MSC is quicker and faster in this case compared to





**Fig. 5** Analysis of apoptosis in BM-MSCs treated with selected small molecules. (a) DMSO, (b) 10  $\mu$ M dose of #23, and (c) 10  $\mu$ M dose of #27 treated BM-MSCs were analyzed by flow cytometry after Annexin V-FITC and PI staining. (d) Quantification of apoptotic and necrotic

BM-MSCs treated with DMSO and selected molecules. Note that there is no change in the apoptosis profile of #23 or #27 treated molecules compared to DMSO control treatment

FBS-supplemented media. However, platelet lysate also results in the alterations of gene expressions on BM-MSC leading to a decrease in their immunomodulatory effects (Abdelrazik et al. 2011). Suppressive immunoregulatory activities of MSCs may arise with the presence of soluble factors which are substantively expressed and secreted by MSCs or released after the presence of a stimulatory factor on an inflammatory environment (Aggarwal and Pittenger 2005). For instance, IDO and PGE2 expressions have been seen to increase in MSCs (Spaggiari et al. 2008). Immunomodulatory effects of PGE2 are associated with releases of cytokines, particularly IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2. PGE2 alters an inflammatory environment to an antiinflammatory state (Meisel et al. 2004). Recent studies also indicate that when IFN $\gamma$  is present, it stimulates HGF (hepatocyte growth factor) and TGF $\beta$ 1 expressions and with that suppresses alloresponsiveness (Polchert et al. 2008).

In this study, a list of small molecules associated with stem cell quiescence was analyzed to identify novel BM-MSC expanding small molecules. For this purpose, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells were isolated, cultured, and treated with small molecules in a dosedependent manner. Following cell viability



**Fig. 6** Gene expression analysis in BM-MSCs treated with selected small molecules. (a) Analysis of S-Phase related gene expression, and (b) CDKI gene expression post treatment with DMSO, #23, and #27. Note that #27

assays, we decided to continue to further investigate #23 known as SB203580 and #27 known as SKF96365. SKF96395 is a capacitative Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry inhibitor and an appealing new anti-cancer drug candidate (Jing et al. 2016; Singh et al. 2010). SB203580 is a P38/MAPK inhibitor. MAPK is connected to differentiation, apoptosis, autophagy, and ageing. Its inhibition by SB203580 showed activity against fibrosis as well as muscle regeneration (Clerk and Sugden 1998). It has been shown that SB203580 evokes a therapeutic response in chronic airway disease (Underwood et al. 2000). In addition, SB203580 shows inhibition potential on cardiac stress

induced expression of S-phase genes while #23 decreased expression of CDKIs, namely, p15, p18, p19, p21, p27, and p57

activated protein kinases and C Jun N Terminal Kinases. These effects could be the results of elimination of the ageing-inducing persistently active p38/MAPK pathway (Clerk and Sugden 1998). Our findings also suggest that there might be an uncovered effect and associated benefits observed in these studies due to MSC expansion and growth that is triggered by SB203580 treatments.

In this study, the expansion capability of SB203580 was one of the highest among the tested small molecules. #23 on the optimum dose of 10  $\mu$ M expanded BM-MSC safely. More specifically, 5 days was the most convenient

timespan for treatment to observe the significant difference. Cell cycle analysis results showed a significance increase on G2/M phases. Apoptosis analysis demonstrates that #23 treated BM-MSCs did not show any irregular patterns on apoptosis analysis. CDKI gene expressions were down regulated post #23 treatments when compared with control (DMSO-treated culture). We believe use of SB203580 in clinical studies that require larger number BM-MSCs could be beneficial. However, further studies are needed for longterm treatment with SB203580.

Overall, this study assessed the premise of finding a novel small molecule for BM-MSC expansion. Further studies should be conducted after the treatment of small molecules to see the effects on the immunomodulation and stemness aspects of BM-MSCs. In addition, in vivo effect of SB203580 or SKF96365 in MSCs or other cell types would be intriguing to study. Making a cocktail of the complementing molecules or approaches might result in higher expansion potential for hard to expand BM-MSCs. In addition to these, the effects of #27's on the induction of key HDR and S-Phase gene expressions could be exploited in MSC gene editing studies.

#### Declarations

Funding: FK was supported by Yeditepe University.

**Conflicts of Interest/Competing interests:** All authors declare no conflict of interest.

**Availability of Data and Material:** Supporting data is provided in the supporting materials. Further data is available upon request.

Code Availability: Not applicable.

Authors' Contributions: LYA planned the experiments, collected and analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. FK designed the studies and wrote the manuscript.

# References

Abdelrazik H, Spaggiari GM, Chiossone L, Moretta L (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells expanded in human platelet lysate display a decreased inhibitory capacity on T- and NK-cell proliferation and function. Eur J Immunol 41:3281–3290

- Aggarwal S, Pittenger MF (2005) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood 105:1815–1822
- Ahmad H, Thambiratnam K, Zulkifli A, Lawrence A, Jasim A, Kunasekaran W, Musa S, Gnanasegaran N, Vasanthan P, Jayaraman P et al (2013) Quantification of mesenchymal stem cell growth rates through secretory and excretory biomolecules in conditioned media via Fresnel reflection. Sensors 13:13276–13288
- Bonab M, Alimoghaddam K, Talebian F, Ghaffari S, Ghavamzadeh A, Nikbin B (2006) Aging of mesenchymal stem cell in vitro. BMC Cell Biol 7:14
- Boztas AO, Karakuzu O, Galante G, Ugur Z, Kocabas F, Altuntas CZ, Yazaydin AO (2013) Synergistic interaction of paclitaxel and curcumin with Cyclodextrin polymer complexation in human cancer cells. Mol Pharm 10:2676–2683
- Chow DC, Wenning LA, Miller WM, Papoutsakis ET (2001) Modeling pO2 distributions in the bone marrow hematopoietic compartment. I. Krogh's model. Biophys J 81:675–684
- Clerk A, Sugden PH (1998) The p38-MAPK inhibitor, SB203580, inhibits cardiac stress-activated protein kinases/c-Jun N-terminal kinases (SAPKs/JNKs). FEBS Lett 426:93–96
- Grayson WL, Zhao F, Izadpanah R, Bunnell B, Ma T (2006) Effects of hypoxia on human mesenchymal stem cell expansion and plasticity in 3D constructs. J Cell Physiol 207:331–339
- Hawkins KE, Sharp TV, McKay TR (2013) The role of hypoxia in stem cell potency and differentiation. Regen Med 8:771–782
- Huber KVM, Superti-Furga G (2016) Profiling of small molecules by chemical proteomics. Methods Mol Biol 1394:211–218
- Jing Z, Sui X, Yao J, Xie J, Jiang L, Zhou Y, Pan H, Han W (2016) SKF-96365 activates cytoprotective autophagy to delay apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells through inhibition of the calcium/CaMKIIγ/ AKT-mediated pathway. Cancer Lett 372:226–238
- Kalkan BM, Akgol S, Ak D, Yucel D, Guney Esken G, Kocabas F (2020) CASIN and AMD3100 enhance endothelial cell proliferation, tube formation and sprouting. Microvasc Res 130:104001
- Laube M, Stolzing A, Thome UH, Fabian C (2016) Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for pulmonary complications associated with preterm birth. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 74:18–32
- Meisel R, Zibert A, Laryea M, Göbel U, Däubener W, Dilloo D (2004) Human bone marrow stromal cells inhibit allogeneic T-cell responses by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase–mediated tryptophan degradation. Blood 103:4619–4621
- Polchert D, Sobinsky J, Douglas GW, Kidd M, Moadsiri A, Reina E, Genrich K, Mehrotra S, Setty S, Smith B et al (2008) IFN-γ activation of mesenchymal stem cells for treatment and prevention

of graft versus host disease. Eur J Immunol 38:1745–1755

- Ringdén O, Uzunel M, Rasmusson I, Remberger M, Sundberg B, Lönnies H, Marschall H-U, Dlugosz A, Szakos A, Hassan Z et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of therapy-resistant graft-versushost disease. Transplantation 81:1390–1397
- Shabbir A, Zisa D, Leiker M, Johnston C, Lin H, Lee T (2009) Muscular dystrophy therapy by nonautologous mesenchymal stem cells: muscle regeneration without immunosuppression and inflammation. Transplantation 87:1275–1282
- Sidal H, Colakoglu Erkan P, Uslu M, Kocabas F (2020) Development of small-molecule-induced fibroblast expansion technologies. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 14:1476–1487
- Singh A, Hildebrand ME, Garcia E, Snutch TP (2010) The transient receptor potential channel antagonist SKF96365 is a potent blocker of low-voltage-activated T-type calcium channels. Br J Pharmacol 160:1464–1475
- Spaggiari GM, Capobianco A, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Mingari MC, Moretta L (2008) Mesenchymal stem

cells inhibit natural killer–cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. Blood 111:1327–1333

- Turan RD, Albayrak E, Uslu M, Siyah P, Alyazici LY, Kalkan BM, Aslan GS, Yucel D, Aksoz M, Tuysuz EC et al (2020) Development of small molecule MEIS inhibitors that modulate HSC activity. Sci Rep 10:7994
- Underwood DC, Osborn RR, Bochnowicz S, Webb EF, Rieman DJ, Lee JC, Romanic AM, Adams JL, Hay DWP, Griswold DE (2000) SB 239063, a p38 MAPK inhibitor, reduces neutrophilia, inflammatory cytokines, MMP-9, and fibrosis in lung. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 279:L895–L902
- Uslu M, Albayrak E, Kocabaş F (2020) Temporal modulation of calcium sensing in hematopoietic stem cells is crucial for proper stem cell expansion and engraftment. J Cell Physiol 235:9644–9666
- Yagi H, Soto-Gutierrez A, Parekkadan B, Kitagawa Y, Tompkins RG, Kobayashi N, Yarmush ML (2010) Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms of immunomodulation and homing. Cell Transplant 19:667–679

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2022) 16: 57–88 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2021\_683 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 19 December 2021



# Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell–Based Models for Studying Sex-Specific Differences in Neurodegenerative Diseases

Erkan Kiris

#### Abstract

The prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases is steadily increasing worldwide, and epidemiological studies strongly suggest that many of the diseases are sex-biased. It has long been suggested that biological sex differences are crucial for neurodegenerative diseases; however, how biological sex affects disease initiation, progression, and severity is not well-understood. Sex is a critical biological variable that should be taken into account in basic research, and this review aims to highlight the utility of humaninduced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC)-derived models for studying sex-specific differences in neurodegenerative diseases, with advantages and limitations. In vitro systems utilizing speciesspecific, renewable, and physiologically relevant cell sources can provide powerful platforms for mechanistic studies, toxicity testings, and drug discovery. Matched healthy, patient-derived, and gene-corrected human iPSCs, from both sexes, can be utilized to generate neuronal and glial cell types affected by specific neurodegenerative diseases to study sex-specific differences in two-dimensional (2D) and three-dimensional (3D) human culture systems. Such relatively

simple and well-controlled systems can significantly contribute to the elucidation of molecular mechanisms underlying sex-specific differences, which can yield effective, and potentially sex-based strategies, against neurodegenerative diseases.

# Keywords

Sex-specific differences · Neurodegeneration · Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) · iPSCbased neuronal and glial models · Neurodegenerative diseases · Central nervous system diseases

# Abbreviations

AD Alzheimer's disease PD Parkinson's disease MS multiple sclerosis HD Huntington's disease ALS amyotrophic lateral sclerosis SMA spinal muscular atrophy **PMA** progressive muscular atrophy ES embryonic stem iPSC induced pluripotent stem cells APOE apolipoprotein E **BDNF** brain-derived neurotrophic factor ER estrogen receptor CSF cerebrospinal fluid

E. Kiris (🖂)

Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: ekiris@metu.edu.tr

## 1 Introduction

Neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by progressive loss of neurons in the central nervous system (CNS), associated with irreversible defects in cognitive and motor functions (Dugger and Dickson 2017). Research shows an increasing burden of neurodegenerative diseases worldwide (Deuschl et al. 2020; Collaborators et al. 2021), highlighting the urgent need for effective prevention and treatment options. Toward that goal, there has been significant research interest to elucidate factors causing or contributing to disease initiation, progression, and severity. Aging is considered a primary risk factor in neurodegenerative diseases (Hou et al. 2019); however, many other potential risk factors have been suggested, including biological sex as a critical variable contributing to the diseases (Vegeto et al. 2020). Epidemiological studies demonstrate the striking prevalence and incidence differences between males and females in many neurodegenerative diseases (Hanamsagar and Bilbo 2016; Collaborators 2019b). Additionally, there are sex-specific differences concerning the age of disease onset, symptoms, progression, severity, and response to available treatment options (Pinares-Garcia et al. 2018). Understanding the effects of biological sex differences on disease initiation and progression is crucial to develop effective modalities against neurodegenerative diseases. Simple, well-controlled, species-specific, and physiologically relevant model systems can facilitate such studies.

The vast majority of clinical trials aiming to develop treatment options against neurodegenerative conditions have been unsuccessful despite large investments, with a failure rate exceeding 99% in clinical trials (Huang et al. 2020; Aldewachi et al. 2021). Failures in the drug development processes have been attributed in part to the animal models being extensively utilized in the relevant fields (Drummond and Wisniewski 2017). Although these models provided critical knowledge on neurodegenerative diseases, especially rodent models do not fully recapitulate the disease, indicating the need for species-specific model systems to complement, or if possible, replace, existing model systems (Veening-Griffioen et al. 2019). Additionally, sex has not been routinely taken into account in animal studies (Bhargava et al. 2021). Human neural cells and CNS samples represent valuable for neurobiology research, resources with advantages and disadvantages. Post-mortem human tissue samples are highly valuable; however, difficulties associated with obtaining highquality post-mortem CNS tissues make such samples less attractive, especially for large-scale studies. Immortalized human neural cell lines can be utilized in large quantities in a cost-effective manner for neurodegenerative disease research and drug discovery; however, cancerous propensities of the lines make them less desirable. Advances in pluripotent stem cell biology with two-dimensional (2D) and, more recently, threedimensional (3D) human culture systems offer unique approaches to study neurodegenerative diseases in a species-specific manner, with a potentially limitless supply of patients' own neurons and glial cells derived from humaninduced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) (Penney et al. 2019). It has been suggested that the 3D culture systems can represent a topological environment that allows cell-to-cell interactions and the formation of neuronal networks in a more physiologically relevant system than 2D culture (Gopalakrishnan 2019). However, 2D systems also provide certain advantages, including mechanism of action studies in relatively pure and better controlled neuronal or glial culture systems (Essayan-Perez et al. 2019). Therefore, it may be critical to test specific hypotheses in 2D and 3D systems and compare/contrast the results, which is not yet common in the literature.

This review focuses on sex-specific differences in neurodegenerative diseases and the importance of *in vitro* modeling, with an emphasis on the utility of human iPSC-based model systems to study sex-specific differences at the cellular level. Gender and sex are not interchangeable concepts, which have been discussed in elegant reviews (Bhargava et al. 2021; Mauvais-Jarvis et al. 2020), and this review uses

"sex" to emphasize biological differences. Although the main focus here is neurodegenerative diseases, we also touch upon other selected CNS disorders, including some neurodevelopmental and mental disorders. Here we summarize our current knowledge on the sex-specific differences in the prevalence and incidence of selected CNS diseases, molecular mechanisms implicated in sex-specific differences, and the importance of human model systems and sex of the cell. We also provide an overview of human cellular systems for studying sex-specific differences in CNS diseases, and the main focus is the advantages and disadvantages of human iPSC-based 2D and 3D model systems, which represent highly promising platforms for mechanistic studies, toxicity testings, and drug screening.

# 2 Sex as a Risk Factor in CNS Diseases

A better understanding of the biological basis of sex-specific differences observed in neurodegenerative conditions is crucial to develop efficient and potentially sex-dependent therapeutic options against such diseases. Many neurodevelopmental, psychiatric, and neurodegenerative diseases exhibit sex-based differences, and here we focus on some selected CNS diseases.

#### 2.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD), a chronic neurodegenerative condition without a cure, has a substantial burden for patients, families, and communities worldwide (Collaborators 2019b; Cummings et al. 2020). Approximately two-thirds of AD patients are females (Fig. 1), and importantly, the sex gap in the number of AD patients is expected to increase according to the estimations covering the range between 2020 and 2060 (Rajan et al. 2021). Interestingly, the treatment of patients with AD drugs also exhibits sex-specific differences (Scacchi et al. 2014). Although higher life expectancy may partially explain the greater prevalence in women, an increasing body of literature suggests that biological sex differences, beyond longevity and other gender-related effects, could significantly contribute to underlying reasons (Laws et al. 2016). Females are estimated to have a two-fold greater risk than males for developing AD at ages 45 and 65 (Sampathkumar et al. 2020; 2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures 2021; Chene et al. 2015). However, overall AD incidence differences between sexes are unclear as there have been conflicting studies, suggesting no difference, higher incidence for males or females (Mielke et al. 2018; Rocca 2017). Nonetheless, previous literature strongly suggests that AD is sex-biased and sex also affects the disease's progression and severity. For example, after diagnosis, AD progresses faster in females as compared to males (Ardekani et al. 2016), and cognitive decline is more significant in females than males at the same stage of AD (Levine et al. 2021). It has also been reported that brain atrophic rates are faster in female AD patients, and females exhibit higher AD tau pathology as compared to males (Barnes et al. 2005; Hohman et al. 2018; Oveisgharan et al. 2018). Taken together, females are more adversely affected than males by the disease, and biological sex-specific differences may play an important role in AD (Ferretti et al. 2020).

# 2.2 Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD), the second most common neurodegenerative disease following AD, develops upon progressive deterioration and death of dopaminergic neurons in the brain, leading to movement disability (Dickson et al. 2009). PD is considered a multifactorial disease in which multiple genetic and environmental factors play a role in disease initiation and progression (Poewe et al. 2017). In addition to motor symptoms, PD patients also suffer from cognitive and moodrelated issues, including anxiety, depression, and sleep problems (Postuma et al. 2012). Opposite to AD, PD disproportionally affects men, as roughly 3/5 patients are males (Elbaz et al. 2016) (Fig. 1).



**Fig. 1** Patient sex ratio differences in selected CNS diseases. Approximately 2/3 of Alzheimer's disease and major depressive disorder patients, and 3/4 of multiple sclerosis patients are females (see Sects. 2.1, 2.5, and 2.4., respectively). The age-standardized male-to-female incidence ratio in PD is approximately 1.5, as discussed in Sect. 2.2. Autism spectrum disorder affects males about

The age-standardized PD male-to-female incidence ratio is about 1.5 (Picillo et al. 2017), and it has been demonstrated that the male-to-female ratio in terms of both prevalence and incidence increases with age (Moisan et al. 2016). Sex appears to be important for the disease progression as well. For example, females experience relatively milder motor deterioration, especially at the earlier stages of the disease (Haaxma et al. 2007). Non-motor symptoms of PD also exhibit sex-specific differences, affecting females more negatively (Meoni et al. 2020). The degree of cognitive impairments in PD is also sex-dependent, affecting males more severely (Reekes et al. 2020). It has been shown that sexual dimorphism exists in the gene expression

four times more than females, although lower and higher male-to-female prevalence ratios have also been reported (Sect. 2.5). The global male-to-female prevalence ratio of motor neuron diseases is calculated to be 1.25; however, as discussed in Sect. 2.3, the male-to-female ratio in ALS is higher, especially at the age group of 20–49 years

profiles of basal ganglia in PD patients and healthy individuals (Cantuti-Castelvetri et al. 2007; Simunovic et al. 2010). Also, male PD patients exhibit a significantly higher neuronal loss in many different cortical areas compared to female PD patients (Tremblay et al. 2020). It has been suggested various factors play a role in the observed sex-specific differences in the prevalence and severity of the disease, including estrogen levels and signaling (Vaidya et al. 2021). The lack of treatment options causes a severe economic burden on patients and societies, especially with the increase in the elderly population. Numerous model systems have been utilized in PD research (Thomas et al. 2020), and among these, human iPSC-based modeling offers highly useful systems for PD research and drug discovery.

#### 2.3 Motor Neuron Diseases

Motor neuron disease is an umbrella term including various diseases affecting upper and lower motor neurons, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), and progressive muscular atrophy (PMA) (Dion et al. 2009). Degeneration of motor neurons, which control muscle cell contraction, eventually leads to progressive weakness and respiratory failure (van Es et al. 2017). Motor neuron diseases disproportionally affect males compared to women, and the global male-tofemale prevalence ratio is calculated to be 1.25 (Fig. 1). ALS is the most studied motor neuron disease, and both incidence and prevalence of ALS are higher among males (Deuschl et al. 2020). However, there are significant differences in male-to-female ratios depending on age (Manjaly et al. 2010). One study demonstrated while the male-to-female ratio in the age group 20-49 years is 2.26, the number drops to 1.41 in the age category of 50-84 years (Ahmadzai et al. 2018). The lifetime risk of developing motor neuron disease is also higher in males (Alonso et al. 2009; Johnston et al. 2006). Sex is an important variable for ALS disease phenotype (Trojsi et al. 2020), and future work elucidating biological sex-specific differences in ALS may be critical for better understanding the disease and developing effective modalities.

## 2.4 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is another CNS disease that exhibits apparent sexual dimorphism (Gilli et al. 2020). MS is characterized by inflammation in the CNS and demyelination of axons, leading to axonal damage and neuronal loss that cause neurological symptoms (Filippi et al. 2018). Although many genetic and environmental factors have been hypothesized as the underlying cause of the disease, specific factors critical for disease initiation or progression are not well understood (Thompson et al. 2018). There is currently no cure for MS, and existing drugs generally aim to suppress the immune system to prevent acute attacks (Hauser and Cree 2020). The disability that develops over time in MS is mainly due to the loss of the myelin layer (demyelination) of the axons (Lubetzki et al. 2020). Approximately 3/4 of patients diagnosed with MS are females (Orton et al. 2006; Krysko et al. 2020) (Fig. 1). Although various female-to-male ratios have been reported from different geographic locations and age groups (Asmarian et al. 2021: Romanelli et al. 2020: Collaborators 2019a), it is well established that both incidence and prevalence of the disease are significantly higher in females than in males (Rotstein et al. 2018). Previous literature demonstrated that sexual dimorphism also affects the susceptibility and progression of the disease (Gold et al. 2019). For example, the age at the onset of the disease and the frequency of attacks differ in male and female patients, suggesting sex as an important variable for MS (Gilli et al. 2020).

## 2.5 Other CNS Diseases

Sex-specific differences have been reported in a range of neurological diseases in addition to the diseases mentioned above, some of which exhibit significantly higher prevalence in one of the sexes. For example, migraine is 2-3 times more prevalent in females than males, and disease severity also exhibits sex-specific differences (Vetvik and MacGregor 2017). On the other hand, stroke disproportionally affects males in terms of incidence of the disease, with variations by age (Vyas et al. 2021). CNS tumors also exhibit sex-dependent differences in disease incidence (Ostrom et al. 2020). For example, glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), the most aggressive CNS cancer, affects males more than women, with the male-to-female incidence ratio of 1.58 (Ostrom et al. 2020). There are also CNS diseases exhibiting roughly similar prevalence and incidence between females and males. For example, Huntington's disease (HD), a progressive neurodegenerative condition caused by the polyglutamine repeat expansion in the huntingtin gene (Bates et al. 2015), affects both sexes roughly equally. However, recent analyses of a large cohort in the United States have suggested that HD prevalence is slightly higher in females than males (Bruzelius et al. 2019). HD symptoms also appear to be sex-specific (Hentosh et al. 2021), and there is growing interest in understanding sex-specific differences in the disease (Zielonka and Stawinska-Witoszynska 2020).

Neurodevelopmental disorders, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, intellectual disability, and autism spectrum disorder, have also been reported to exhibit prevalence differences between males and females, with significantly higher prevalence in males (May et al. 2019). For example, autism affects males about four times more than females (Fig. 1), although lower and higher male-to-female prevalence ratios have been reported in different geographic locations (Fombonne 2009; Elsabbagh et al. 2012; Baio et al. 2018). Similarly, there are sex differences in mental disorders regarding disease severity and prevalence. For example, schizophrenia symptoms, age at onset, and response to treatment differ between sexes, although prevalence appears to be similar in males and females, with slightly higher numbers in males (Hsu et al. 2019; Gonzalez-Rodriguez et al. 2020; Sommer et al. 2020; Wittchen et al. 2011). Major depressive disorder also exhibits symptom differences and significant prevalence differences between sexes, which is nearly doubled in females (Wittchen et al. 2011; McLean et al. 2011; Boyd et al. 2015; Kuehner 2017) (Fig. 1).

# 3 Mechanisms Implicated in Sex Differences in Neurodegenerative Diseases

As summarized above, many neurological disorders exhibit significant differences in males and females in terms of disease prevalence, symptoms, disease progression, and severity. It has been suggested that biological sex differences beyond gender-related effects might have a role in the outcome, and sex is an important biological variable that should be taken into account in CNS disease research (Rich-Edwards et al. 2018). Many pathways have been implicated in sex-dependent differences in neurodegenerative processes, including potentially female and male sex-specific risk genes and other differentially regulated pathways (Guo et al. 2021; Vaidya et al. 2021; Meoni et al. 2020). Here we briefly focus on some selected factors commonly associated with sex-specific differences.

### 3.1 Sex and Genetic Factors

Previous literature suggests a correlation between sex and known genetic risk factors for many CNS diseases, including AD (Guo et al. 2021) and PD (Vaidya et al. 2021). A great example comes from the AD field. Several groups have demonstrated that the best-known genetic risk factor for AD, apolipoprotein E (APOE)-ɛ4 genotype, may have sex-dependent effects, making females more vulnerable to both dementia progression (Altmann et al. 2014; Cho et al. 2021; Wang et al. 2019) and neurodegeneration (Hohman et al. 2018). A metaanalysis study suggested that females with APOE  $\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$  genotype have a particularly increased risk of developing AD between the ages of 65 and 75 compared to males with the same genotype (Neu et al. 2017). APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4 association with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) biomarkers, especially tau, also appears to be sex-specific, with a stronger association in females (Hohman et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2021; Altmann et al. 2014). Taken together, a large body of literature suggests that effect(s) of APOE genotype on the risk of developing AD is more significant in females (Belloy et al. 2019); however, molecular mechanisms underlying the sex-specific effects of APOE in AD are not clear. One potential hypothesis involves the cross-talk between APOE genotype and the sex hormone estrogen signaling. Estrogen is reported to be a regulator of APOE gene expression (Stone et al. 1997). Importantly, estrogen receptor (ER) $\alpha$  activation leads to enhanced APOE mRNA and protein expression, while the activation of ER $\beta$  leads to opposite results (Wang et al. 2006), suggesting a tight regulation of APOE levels by estrogen signaling. The potential cross-talk between APOE and estrogen might be indirect as well. A recent study identified a significant positive correlation with CSF APOE and sex hormone-binding globulin (SBHG), which inhibits the functions of biologically active testosterone and estrogen (Liu et al. 2021). Plasma levels of AD patients have been reported to have higher levels of SBHG, which may potentially lead to the inactivation of testosterone and estrogen and thereby bioavailability of the hormones (Xu et al. 2016). Overall, a better understanding of the correlation between biological sex and genetic risk factors may open new research avenues for CNS diseases.

## 3.2 Sex Hormones

Potential roles of sex hormones, especially estrogen, have long been recognized and studied in the context of various CNS diseases, including AD, PD, ALS, and anxiety and related disorders (Li and Graham 2017; Vegeto et al. 2020; Trojsi et al. 2020). Estrogen signaling attracts significant attention in AD research since a potential mechanism underlying the sex-specific differences in AD is the rate of sex hormone depletion with age (Uddin et al. 2020). Male hormone levels gradually decline with aging (Morley et al. 1997). However, the depletion is more severe for females as menopause is a critical contributor, in addition to aging, to the hormone levels (Russell et al. 2019). Estrogen, mainly 17- $\beta$ -estradiol (E2) as the main circulating female sex hormone, is produced in the brain and gonadal tissues and is neuroprotective against neurodegeneration (Raghava et al. 2017; Akwa 2020). E2 exerts its effect primarily through ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ , mediating membrane-initiated and transcription-dependent pathways (Yasar et al. 2017). E2 is involved in various vital physiological functions, including regulating CNS homeostasis (Russell et al. 2019). Therefore, it has been suggested that such sharp depletion of E2 could make females more vulnerable to AD than males of the same age. E2 is indeed lower in female AD

patients compared to controls, while there is no difference between healthy and AD males (Yue et al. 2005; Rosario et al. 2011), and therefore, the level of E2 has been associated with sex-dependent differences observed in AD (Sahab-Negah et al. 2020). The decline of E2 correlates with the severity of AD pathogenesis (Pike 2017). Studies in *in vitro* and animal models have provided compelling evidence that E2 has neuroprotective effects against AD (Azcoitia et al. 2019). However, clinical studies with estrogenbased approaches have yielded controversial results as some researchers found the hormone therapy beneficial effects against AD (Tang et al. 1996; Song et al. 2020), while some other researchers reported either no benefit (Wang et al. 2000; Mulnard et al. 2000) or, worse, increased risk for AD or some other conditions (Resnick et al. 2009; Savolainen-Peltonen et al. 2019; Espeland et al. 2004). It has been suggested that the time window of the therapy might be crucial (Merlo et al. 2017). Regardless, a better understanding of the biological basis of sex-specific differences observed in AD is crucial to determine whether E2-mediated neuroprotection can indeed be an attractive approach for AD. In addition to the neuroprotective roles of estrogen in neuronal cells, the signaling pathway has been shown to also play important roles in glial cells. For example, estrogen signaling appears to be critical for the differentiation and myelination processes of oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPC), relevant to MS disease (Khalaj et al. 2016; Kumar et al. 2013). Although the basis for sex-specific differences in MS are not well understood, it has been suggested that sex hormones may play an important role in the disease initiation and progression (Bove and Gilmore 2018; Miller et al. 2014; Triantafyllou et al. 2016).

#### 3.3 Inflammation

Inflammation has been implicated in many CNS diseases, and sex has been reported to be an important factor for inflammatory dysregulation (Hanamsagar and Bilbo 2016). There are sex differences in immunological responses in

diseases (Klein and Flanagan 2016), and it has long been suggested that sexual dimorphism in the immune system may be critical for CNS diseases (Lopez-Lee et al. 2021). Inflammatory dysregulation is reported to be sex-biased. For example, female MS patients suffer from higher inflammation compared to males (Ramien et al. 2016). Microglia is the primary immune cell in the CNS, which reacts differently under homeostatic and pathological conditions (Kettenmann et al. 2011). Under pathological conditions, microglia is highly active with many functions, including the destruction of pathogens (Boche et al. 2013). Microglia dysfunction has been implicated in various neurodegenerative diseases (Ashford et al. 2021; Salter and Stevens 2017). Female and male microglia exhibit significant differences at the molecular level (Guneykaya et al. 2018; Villa et al. 2018; Hammond et al. 2019), and importantly sex differences in microglia may be contributing to well-established sex bias in neurodegenerative diseases (Kodama and Gan 2019).

## 3.4 Neurotrophin Signaling

Another crucial pathway implicated in sex-specific differences in neurodegenerative diseases is neurotrophin signaling (Chan and Ye 2017). The neurotrophin family of growth factors is composed of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), growth factor. nerve neurotrophin-3, and neurotrophin-4 (Tessarollo 1998); and among these, BDNF is the most associated one with sex-specific differences in neurodegeneration (Wei et al. 2017). BDNF has a central role in brain development, physiology, and pathology (Miranda et al. 2019) and transduces its effect primarily through its highaffinity tyrosine kinase receptor, TrkB, mediated signaling (Chao 2003). BDNF has а neuroprotective role against neurodegeneration, and defects in BDNF and TrkB levels and functions have long been associated with many CNS diseases (Mitre et al. 2017). For example,

BDNF and TrkB are downregulated in AD, and the correlation between AD and defects in BDNF signaling have been reported (Ginsberg et al. 2019; Caffino et al. 2020). Previous studies suggest BDNF-TrkB signaling may contribute to sex-specific differences in cells that make up the nervous system (Chan and Ye 2017). Involvement of BDNF in AD, in a sex-specific manner, may involve a cross-talk with estrogen signaling, potentially through many mechanisms. The first potential mechanism involves the regulation of BDNF expression by estrogen. Indeed, it has been shown that E2 can modulate the expression of both BDNF and its receptor TrkB (Milne et al. 2015; Bora et al. 2005; Sohrabji et al. 1995), and BDNF is regulated in a sex-specific manner in the brain (Liu et al. 2012). The second potential mechanism is the BDNF association with APOE in a sex-specific manner. Potential cross-talk of APOE and estrogen signaling is discussed above (Sect. 3.1.). It has been shown that APOE regulates BDNF processing and release, suggesting a direct regulation between two factors in AD (Sen et al. 2017). Lastly, there may also be a sex-specific convergence between the E2-ER and BDNF-TrkB signaling at the cytoplasmic level regardless of gene expression changes (Chan and Ye 2017; Wong et al. 2011). ER and TrkB receptors are co-localized in hippocampal and cortical neurons (Miranda et al. 1993), which are highly affected in AD. It has been shown that TrkB overexpression in cells can induce ER $\alpha$  phosphorylation, suggesting the cytoplasmic signaling cross-talk (Wong et al. 2011). Importantly, phosphorylation and the distribution of TrkB in the brain is sex-specific (Spencer-Segal et al. 2011; Hill and van den Buuse 2011), and TrkB and ER $\alpha$  signaling share common downstream effectors in neurons (Chan and Ye 2017). Additionally, small molecule-based TrkB activation exhibits sex-specific effects in hypoxia-ischemia-induced brain injury models, and observed TrkB-mediated protective effect requires ERa signaling (Uluc et al. 2013; Cikla et al. 2016). Lastly, a recent study utilizing two different neuroimaging

methods demonstrated that estrogen modulates the effects of BDNF in hippocampal function in women's brains (Wei et al. 2018), further suggesting the convergence of the two pathways in the human brain. Despite these efforts, the molecular mechanism(s) underlying the potential intersection between BDNF-TrkB and E2-ER signaling in neurons is still largely unexplored, and their potential integrated effects in CNS diseases are not well understood.

Sex-specific effects of BDNF have also been implicated in other molecular mechanisms. For example, BDNF has been shown to affect inflammatory responses in a sex-specific manner (Rossetti et al. 2019), and BDNF polymorphism Val66Met also leads to sexually dimorphic effects, affecting females more negatively (Chen et al. 2014; Fukumoto et al. 2010). Although the examples provided above have focused on AD, BDNF pathways have also been implicated in many other CNS diseases. For example, the BDNF-TrkB signaling pathway affects OPC differentiation and myelination in the context of MS (Van't Veer et al. 2009; Xiao et al. 2010); however, the sex-specific effects of the pathway are not well understood. Generally speaking, neurotrophin signaling is considered a therapeutic target for many neurodegenerative diseases (Mitre et al. 2017). Therefore, there are efforts to modulate the pathways in vivo through various mechanisms, including agonists and antagonists (Saragovi et al. 2019), and identification of critical residues of Trk receptors for signaling and their degradation (Kiris et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2014). A better understanding of truncated Trk receptors in neural cells may also open avenues to better control neurotrophin signaling in neurons (Palko et al. 1999; Yanpallewar et al. 2021; Yanpallewar et al. 2012; Esteban et al. 2006; Galan et al. 2017; Bai et al. 2010; Brahimi et al. 2016; Dorsey et al. 2006; Ferrer et al. 1999; Quarta et al. 2018; Tomassoni-Ardori et al. 2019). In addition to such efforts, elucidation of potential sex-specific roles of neurotrophin signaling can pave the road potentially for neurotrophin-mediated and sex-specific neuroprotection.

# 4 Model Systems to Study Sex-Specific Differences in Neurodegenerative Diseases

## 4.1 Importance of Human Model Systems

Many model systems, including numerous animal models, have been developed to study neurodegenerative diseases, which have been extensively discussed in excellent reviews (Scearce-Levie et al. 2020; Drummond and Wisniewski 2017; Cenci and Bjorklund 2020). However, there has been growing literature demonstrating significant differences between animal models and humans, which may hamper the scientific development to understand the disease mechanisms and the pace of drug development efforts (Drummond and Wisniewski 2017). A great example of rodent models vs. human differences comes from the MS field. Studies focusing on remyelination in MS have often used rodent models (Sanabria-Castro et al. 2020), which has been crucial for scientific development in the field; however, recent studies have pointed to significant differences between human and animal models, particularly in cell types (OPCs vs. surviving, existing oligodendrocytes) carrying out remyelination (Yeung et al. 2019). Additionally, species-specific differences may be critical for drug discovery. For example, significant potency differences have been reported for some compounds between mouse and human stem cell-derived neuronal systems (McNeish et al. 2010). Therefore, the utility of biologically relevant human neural cell types may enhance scientific development in the neurodegenerative disease fields. Such platforms may also be utilized to validate observations made using non-human mammalian systems.

## 4.2 Sex of the Cell Matters

There has been a sex bias in basic and clinical research, which extensively utilized male cells
and male animal model systems (Will et al. 2017; Klein et al. 2015). Male sex bias has been more prominent in neuroscience; however, the inclusion of both sexes in studies appears to be increasing over the years (Woitowich et al. 2020; Mamlouk et al. 2020). Despite the mandates from funding sources such as the U.S. National Institutes of Health (Clayton and Collins 2014) and the increased awareness of sex as a biological variable, the sex of the cells utilized in research is still largely unreported. For example, James *et al.* surveyed 303 papers utilizing *in vitro* cell culture experiments in the field of biomaterials and found that 96.3% of the articles did not report the sex of the utilized cells (James et al. 2021).

Previous literature suggests that the sex of the cell matters as male and female cells exhibits different characteristics under the same conditions in various contexts (Lee 2018). Indeed, cellular sex differences have been reported in many different cell types, including osteoblasts (Berger et al. 2018), cardiac cells (Walker et al. 2021), neurons (Fairbanks et al. 2012), and glial cells (Yasuda et al. 2020). There are differences in cellular pathways in male and female cells, which can exhibit sex-specific effects. For example, the sex of the cell appears to be important for impairments in mitochondrial metabolism (Yao et al. 2009; Demarest et al. 2020) and neuronal death pathways (Demarest and McCarthy 2015). Some of the sex-specific differences could be due to the differential expression of specific receptors. For example, ER $\alpha$  protein levels are reported to be significantly higher in female neurons (Bryant and Dorsa 2010), which may be critical for sex-specific neuroprotection. Female and male neurons in culture exhibit differences in various characteristics, including dendritic morphology (Keil et al. 2017), pool size of recycling synaptic vesicles (Sertel et al. 2021), GABA receptor activation (Mir et al. 2020), survival under normoxia and hypoxia conditions (Heyer et al. 2005), oxygen-glucose deprivation (Fairbanks et al. 2012), cell death pathways (Sharma et al. 2011), and dopamine-induced neurotoxicity (Lieb et al. 1995).

In addition to neurons, glial cells also exhibit sexually dimorphic characteristics that are hypothesized to be important for sex-specific differences in neurodegeneration (Chowen and Garcia-Segura 2021). Recent genomics studies at single-cell resolution utilizing female and male AD patient samples identified subpopulations of human brains cells, particularly in glial cells in AD (Mathys et al. 2019; Grubman et al. 2019; Nott et al. 2019), exhibiting disease-specific changes in gene expressions. Among the glial cells, microglia is increasingly implicated in sex-specific differences in various neurodegenerative diseases (Delage et al. 2021; Kodama and Gan 2019), with implications that female microglia has differences compared to male microglia (Guneykaya et al. 2018; Villa et al. 2018; Hammond et al. 2019). For example, there are differences in expressed miRNAs in male and female microglia, which is critical for sex-specific microglia responses to AD tau pathology (Kodama et al. 2020). Genetic factors and sex may combinatorially affect microglia function in pathological conditions. For example, APOE and sex are important factors regulating TREM-2dependent microglia activation in AD (Stephen et al. 2019). Oligodendrocytes also exhibit sexual dimorphism in normal and pathological conditions. For example, it has been shown that female oligodendrocytes are short-lived compared to that of males in rodents (Cerghet et al. 2006), and there are differentially regulated signaling pathways between the two sexes (Swamydas et al. 2009). Sexual dimorphism also exists in OPCs, and differential effects can be observed in cell culture studies. For example, female OPCs are more resistant to hyperoxia-induced damage (Sunny et al. 2020) and oxygen-glucose deprivation (Yasuda et al. 2020) in culture. These differences might be important for remyelination in male and female MS patients. Sex-specific differences in astrocytes have also been reported in culture. For example, female primary astrocytes respond to lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory challenges differently than males (Santos-Galindo et al. 2011; Chistyakov et al. 2018). Cultured astrocytes respond to oxygen-glucose

deprivation (Liu et al. 2007), a toxic molecule, insecticide dimethoate, (Astiz et al. 2014), and chronic alcohol exposure (Wilhelm et al. 2016) in a sex-specific manner. Interestingly, the phagocytic activity of cultured primary astrocytes also differs in male and female cells (Crespo-Castrillo et al. 2020). Taken together, previous literature strongly suggests that the sex of the cell matters and sex-specific differences can be assayed in culture.

# 4.3 Utilization of Human Cellular Platforms for Sex-Specific Differences

Considering the rodent and human neuronal cell differences and the documented translational challenges between rodents to humans, in vitro model systems utilizing human neuronal and glial cells have long been suggested as a potentially optimal strategy to complement existing in vivo models. Human cells and samples from various sources are being utilized in research, all of which have advantages and limitations. Analyses on the human post-mortem tissue are highly useful; however, they are limited to relatively smallscale studies due to the availability of highquality post-mortem tissue. Obtaining samples from brain surgeries is also not a viable option for well-controlled and large-scale studies. Immortal human cell lines are also being extensively utilized for neurodegenerative disease research as they offer simple, cost-effective, and easily manipulatable cell environments. However, their genetic background differences from native neuronal and glial cells and tumorigenic propensities make them less attractive. An alternative methodology to generate human neuronal and glial cell types is the directed differentiation of human pluripotent cells, i.e., human ES cells (Sect. 4.3.1.) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) (Sect. 4.3.3). Pluripotent stem cells have two unique characteristics. First, these cells can be differentiated into specific cell types, including neuronal types and glial cells. Secondly, the cells have potentially unlimited self-renewing capacity, suggesting that these cells can be propagated in large quantities to generate a large number of cells for large-scale studies. In addition to the directed differentiation of pluripotent stem cells, neuronal and glial cells can also be directly reprogrammed from somatic cells (Sect. 4.3.2.) (Mertens et al. 2018).

### 4.3.1 Human Embryonic Stem (ES) Cell– Derived Neural Systems

There have been extensive research efforts to obtain specific neuronal cell types from human ES cells, and such model systems have been successfully utilized to study neurodegenerative diseases. It is well established that human ES cells can be differentiated into functional neuronal subtypes, including cortical neurons (Shi et al. 2012), motor neurons (Li et al. 2008), basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (Bissonnette et al. 2011), midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Kriks et al. 2011), and striatal neurons (Delli Carri et al. 2013). In addition to neurons, human ES cells have also been successfully differentiated to microglia (Muffat et al. 2016), astrocytes (Shaltouki et al. 2013; Emdad et al. 2012), and oligodendrocytes (Gorris et al. 2015; Hu et al. 2009). Such cells provide excellent culture systems for mechanistic studies (Hardingham et al. 2010), toxicity testings (Deshmukh et al. 2012), and drug screening (Kiris et al. 2015a, b; Little et al. 2019) in a human neuronal system. It has been shown that the sex of the ES cell significantly affects the directed differentiation of the pluripotent cells. For example, one study demonstrated sex-biased gene expression and differentially regulated cellular pathways in trophoblastic progenitor cells differentiated from male and female human ES cells (Syrett et al. 2018). Sex-specific differences have also been reported in human ES cell differentiation toward endothelial progenitor cells (Randolph et al. 2019) and fetal germ cells, and human primordial germ celllike cells (Mishra et al. 2021). These examples suggest that neuronal and glial cells derived from male and female human ES cells can provide useful platforms to study sex-specific differences; however, its applications might be somewhat limited compared to the sex-matched patient and control iPSC-derived culture platforms.

## 4.3.2 Direct conversion of Somatic Cells to Neurons and Glial Cells

In addition to pluripotent stem cell-based approaches, it is also possible to directly convert somatic cells to neural lineages. This approach has certain advantages, including the shorter culture and maintenance of cells, which is both timeand cost-effective compared to pluripotent stem cell-based differentiation. Additionally, it has been suggested that reprogramming somatic cells to iPSCs may affect the age-related epigenetic landscape, a limitation that can be potentially overcome with directly converted neural cells (Mertens et al. 2015). Directly converted neurons are functional (Pang et al. 2011), and many neuronal subtypes have been generated with this approach (Mertens et al. 2018). Similarly, direct conversion of fibroblasts to oligodendrocyte precursors (Yang et al. 2013; Najm et al. 2013) and astrocytes (Caiazzo et al. 2015; Tian et al. 2016) have been achieved. Induced microglia-like cells have also been generated, utilizing monocytes as the starting cells (Sellgren et al. 2019; Ryan et al. 2017; Ohgidani et al. 2014; Banerjee et al. 2021). While direct reprogramming is an exciting approach, a significant limitation is that human cells' conversion efficiency and yield are lower than the directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. However, there are continuing efforts to improve the protocols for efficient conversion (Ng et al. 2021). Induced neuronal cell types, induced astrocytes, and induced oligodendrocytes can also be potentially utilized to study sex-specific differences in neurodegenerative diseases. For example, a recent study generated iNeurons from fibroblasts of 16 AD patients and 19 healthy controls, exhibiting defects in AD iNeurons compared to controls (Mertens et al. 2021). Such experimental setup utilizing induced neurons, oligodendrocytes, or astrocytes can also include analyses to examine sex-specific differences in AD and other CNS diseases. Importantly, it has been shown that induced cells can be utilized to study biological sex-specific differences. For example, a recent study utilizing mouse-induced hepatocyte-like cells reprogrammed from male or female primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts demonstrated sex-specific expression patterns (Ullah et al. 2021).

## 4.3.3 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell (iPSC)–Based Systems Can Be Utilized to Assess Sex-Specific Differences

Obtaining neurons or glial cells affected by specific diseases starting from the patients' cells constitutes a crucial resource for modeling CNS diseases. Since the initial studies demonstrated reprogramming adult cells with mitotic propensities to a pluripotent state, there has been significant scientific advancement to optimize reprogramming and differentiation protocols. iPSCs have been generated from patients suffering from many CNS diseases, including AD (Penney et al. 2020), PD (Avazzadeh et al. 2021), motor neuron diseases (Karpe et al. 2021), and MS (Begentas et al. 2021; Douvaras et al. 2014; Miquel-Serra et al. 2017; Morales Pantoja et al. 2020; Mozafari et al. 2020; Mutukula et al. 2021; Lopez-Caraballo et al. 2020; Nicaise et al. 2017). Directed differentiation of human iPSCs to various human cell types, including neurons, has been achieved, with specific efforts to develop methodologies to obtain relatively pure cultures for CNS disease modeling (D'Souza et al. 2021). Previous studies have demonstrated successful derivation of neuronal subtypes from iPSCs, including cortical neurons (Shi et al. 2012), motor neurons (Dimos et al. 2008), basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (Duan et al. 2014), midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Devine et al. 2011), and striatal neurons (Delli Carri et al. 2013). Recent efforts have also established efficient protocols to generate glial cells from iPSCs. Functional microglia have been efficiently generated from human iPSCs (Muffat et al. 2016; Abud et al. 2017; Pandya et al. 2017; Haenseler et al. 2017; Douvaras et al. 2017; McQuade et al. 2018). Similarly, human iPSCs have been differentiated to astrocytes (Shaltouki et al. 2013; Tcw et al. 2017; Emdad et al. 2012), and oligodendrocytes (Gorris et al. 2015; Ehrlich et al. 2017).

numerous Importantly, studies have demonstrated that iPSC-derived neuronal and glial cultures can be utilized to observe neurodegenerative disease-specific phenotypes. For example, neurons differentiated from iPSCs derived from sporadic and familial AD patients exhibit disease characteristics. including increased tau protein phosphorylation and amyloid levels (Ochalek et al. 2017; Ortiz-Virumbrales et al. 2017; Wezyk et al. 2018; Israel et al. 2012). Similarly, iPSC-derived astrocytes have provided critical knowledge about the diseases, including AD (Jones et al. 2017; Oksanen et al. 2017; Konttinen et al. 2019b), Schizophrenia (Akkouh et al. 2020), and Down syndrome (Kawatani et al. 2021) in human culture systems. Microglia cells differentiated from iPSCs have also been shown to be highly useful in disease modeling (Reich et al. 2020; Konttinen et al. 2019a; Garcia-Reitboeck et al. 2018). Directed differentiation of human iPSCs toward oligodendrocytes generates functional oligodendrocytes that provide critical information for relevant diseases, such as MS and other myelin diseases (Mozafari et al. 2020; Lopez-Caraballo et al. 2020). iPSC-derived in vitro culture systems has also been successfully utilized in drug screening in the context of neurodegenerative diseases (Little et al. 2019).

Previous work demonstrated that iPSC-derived cells could exhibit sex-specific differences. For example, an important study revealed that male and female iPSCs could form smooth muscle progenitor cells without significant differences in the differentiation efficiency; however, there are sex-specific differences in the derived male and female cells, which differentially respond to E2 stimulation (Li et al. 2017). The ability to generate specific neuronal subtypes and glial cells exhibiting disease phenotype using iPSC-based models are crucial for CNS disease research (Vadodaria et al. 2020), and such systems can be utilized for assessing sex-specific differences in culture. A representative workflow of neuronal and glial cell derivation from iPSCs generated from the male and female patients and healthy individuals to study sex-specific differences is illustrated in Fig. 2. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) serve as a common source cell type to generate iPSCs. PBMCs can be isolated from peripheral blood samples, cultured in particular media for erythroblast enrichment, and then reprogrammed to iPSCs (Begentas et al. 2021). To study sex-specific differences in CNS diseases, such iPSC lines can be differentiated to neuronal and glial cultures in 2D and 3D environments (Fig. 2). Despite the great potential of such systems, there are still a limited number of publications evaluating sex-specific differences in patient and control iPSC-derived neural culture; however, such literature is expected to increase as recent work sets excellent examples. A great example comes from the schizophrenia field. Recent work demonstrates sex-specific differences in the gene expression profiles of cortical neurons differentiated from healthy control and schizophrenia patient iPSCs (Tiihonen et al. 2019). Furthermore, in a follow-up paper which is a preprint at the time of the composition of this review, the authors utilized the same iPSC lines derived from schizophrenia twin pairs and healthy controls and demonstrated that human iPSCderived astrocytes also exhibit sex-specific differences (Koskuvi et al. 2020). Although both patient and control iPSC can differentiate into astrocytes with similar efficiency, expression profiles of certain genes and some specific cellular pathways are differentially regulated in male and female schizophrenia astrocytes (Koskuvi et al. 2020).

### Genetic Manipulation of iPSCs to Generate Isogenic Controls

Since the initial discovery and development of genome editing methodology clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-Cas9 (Barrangou et al. 2007; Jinek et al. 2012), there have been significant efforts to make the approach more precise and well controlled. Apart from its potential in treating CNS diseases (Lubroth et al. 2021), CRISPR-Cas9-based gene editing approach has great value in generating neurodegenerative disease models, which can be at least in two ways. First, WT cells, such as iPSCs from healthy control, can be genome engineered to knock in specific disease-associated

mutations. For example, it has been shown that homozygous and heterozygous mutations could be introduced to iPSCs with the CRISPR-Cas9 approach that can model AD (Paquet et al. 2016). Second, isogenic controls of iPSCs can be generated using CRISPR-Cas9 (Fig. 2), which are highly crucial for *in vitro* modeling. This is important as the healthy donor iPSCs may not be the optimal control cells to compare to patient iPSCs in studies due to variations in the genetic landscape. Taken together, considering the genetic diversity between healthy and patientspecific iPSCs, and many unknown molecular determinants, which may include sex-specific differences, in disease characteristics, isogenic controls of patient iPSCs may provide valuable information, as documented in the context of many CNS diseases, including AD (Kwart et al. 2019; Ortiz-Virumbrales et al. 2017), and Down Syndrome (Kawatani et al. 2021).

#### Three-Dimensional (3D) Modeling

Recent studies have suggested that 3D human neuronal systems can provide a brain-like model for research on neurodegenerative diseases (Siney et al. 2018). Such organoids represent a topologienvironment that allows cell-to-cell cal interactions and the formation of neuronal networks, which may provide a more physiologithan cally relevant system 2D culture (Gopalakrishnan 2019). Indeed, cerebral organoids exert neurodegenerative diseasespecific phenotypes (Chang et al. 2020). For example, recent studies demonstrated that such systems exhibit both A $\beta$  and tau pathologies and can model AD (Ghatak et al. 2019; Raja et al. 2016; Yin and VanDongen 2021). Importantly, neuroinflammatory components have also been introduced in 3D AD models, which exhibited critical hallmarks of AD, i.e., AB42 accumulation, tau phosphorylation, and microglia-induced



**Fig. 2** Modeling sex-specific differences *in vitro* using human-induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)–derived cellular platforms. PBMCs can be isolated from the blood samples of male and female patients and healthy individuals, cultured for erythroblast enrichment, and then reprogrammed to iPSCs. The representative iPSC colonies in the figure are co-cultured with mitotically

inactivated mouse embryonic fibroblast cells. Such iPSCs derived from the sex-matched healthy and patient cohorts, and gene-corrected isogenic controls, can be utilized to generate neuronal and glial cell types in 2D and 3D cell culture platforms to study sex-specific differences. These models can be utilized in drug screening assays, toxicity testings, and mechanism of action studies

neurite degeneration and cell death (Park et al. 2018). Similarly, 3D culture platforms have been successfully utilized for many other neurodegenerative disease modeling, including PD (Kim et al. 2019), ALS (Osaki et al. 2018), and SMA (Hor et al. 2018). There is also interest in glial cells in 3D cultures, and it has been shown that myelinating oligodendrocytes can form in such systems (Madhavan et al. 2018; Marton et al. 2019). Similarly, astrocytes (Lin et al. 2018; Quadrato et al. 2017; Sloan et al. 2017) and microglia (Ormel et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2021) can form in 3D-cultures. Isogenic 3D cultures have also been utilized in neurodegenerative disease modeling (Yin and VanDongen 2021; Kim et al. 2019). Taken together, recent advancements suggest that 3D culture models can provide powerful experimental systems to study sex-specific differences in the context of neurodegenerative diseases (Fig. 2). However, it is important to note that 3D models also have many limitations, including variability, cell diversity, and neuronal circuit connectivity (Kim et al. 2021), and such shortcomings need to be overcome to generate better models of neurodegenerative diseases.

Taken together, comparing and contrasting female and male neuronal subtypes and glial cells derived from patient and healthy iPSCs, and isogenic controls, in 2D and 3D cultures can potentially significantly enhance our scientific understanding of CNS diseases.

## Limitations of Human İpsc-based Models to Study Biological Sex-Linked Differences in Culture

Despite the great potential, there are also several limitations of human iPSC-based cell culture platforms to study sex-specific differences. First, epigenetic imprinting already present in the donor material to begin with for iPSC generation may affect the phenotype in culture (Braverman-Gross and Benvenisty 2021). Second, the sex of the human iPSC can affect the differentiation capacity of the line (Randolph et al. 2019), which may hamper disease modeling under identical conditions, suggesting that there may be a need to optimize directed differentiation conditions for male and female human pluripotent cells. Third, variability between controls and disease iPSC lines, and even clones of the same line, may complicate data analyses (Volpato and Webber 2020). Fourth, aging is a critical factor for neurodegenerative diseases; however, aging in culture is challenging and may not recapitulate the disease conditions. Fifth, the genomic stability of iPSC lines, in the long run, is questionable. Therefore, regular karyotyping is a must to detect potential chromosomal abnormalities as there are many examples of Y chromosomes being lost in male human and mouse cells in culture (Shah et al. 2014). Although this phenomenon has been mostly reported in cancer cell lines, regular determination of the sexual identity of human iPSC in culture is still critical. Lastly, differentiation of human iPSCs toward neurons or glial cells typically gives rise to heterogeneous cultures. Although there have been efforts to generate more homogenous cultures and accelerate the differentiation protocols (Walsh et al. 2020), the vast majority of current directed differentiation protocols are long, expensive, and laborious.

Researchers must also be careful about factors affecting reproducibility in cell culture when assessing sex-specific differences. Culture medium contains steroids, growth hormones, and insulin that might influence the expression of various genes. For example, phenol red, commonly used in cell culture media, is reported to have an estrogen-like effect in culture (Welshons et al. 1988; Berthois et al. 1986). This is critical as estrogen differentially affects male and female cells in culture (Hong et al. 2009), and phenol red in culture media has been shown to affect neuronal cultures (Liu et al. 2013). Similarly, the serum is another source of factors that potentially confound reproducibility in culture. Given that serum contains many factors, including sex steroids, and there may be significant batch-tobatch differences, the utility of serum-free culture media may be useful for in vitro studies assessing sex-specific differences (De Souza et al. 2018). It has also been suggested that certain plastics may release estrogenic chemicals (Bittner et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2011), indicating the importance of plastic products used in media bottles. Regular tests for contaminations, such as mycoplasma, are also crucial for maintaining high-quality iPSCs. As mentioned above, genomic instability is a critical issue for iPSC-based methodologies (Yoshihara et al. 2019; Rebuzzini et al. 2016), and therefore cultures should be regularly tested for genomic variations. Taken together, assessment of sex-specific effects in culture requires rigorous evaluation of external factors that may affect experimental outcomes, and culture conditions should be kept constant.

## 5 Concluding Remarks

Neurological diseases are among the top 5 most common causes of disability and death, and their prevalence and economic and social burden are predicted to increase (Deuschl et al. 2020; Collaborators et al. 2021). There are male or female-biased CNS diseases, including striking differences between the sexes regarding the age of onset, symptoms, disease severity, progression, and response to pharmacological treatments (Hanamsagar and Bilbo 2016; Collaborators 2019b; Pinares-Garcia et al. 2018). It has long been suggested that biological sex differences at the cellular level may be critical for disease initiation; however, sex-specific differences in neurodegeneration are still poorly studied (Rich-Edwards et al. 2018; Vegeto et al. 2020). Unfortunately, most CNS disease literature used sex-matched conditions in the analyses without comparisons between the sexes; however, sex is an important variable that should be taken into account for neurodegeneration research (Nebel et al. 2018). Understanding the role of biological sex differences in CNS diseases may be critical for earlier diagnosis and sex-specific treatments (Bartz et al. 2020). Indeed, sex-based neuroprotection has been demonstrated in the context of several neurological disorders. For example, a recent study demonstrated that Transferrin/Transferrin Receptor 2 (TfR2) deletion leads to neuroprotection against PD neurodegenerative process, and the observed effect is sex-dependent, providing higher protection in female mice (Milanese et al. 2021). A better understanding of molecular mechanisms

underlying sex-specific differences in CNS diseases requires well-established and controllable model systems. There has been criticism in animal models that they do not recapitulate all pathophysiological and clinical aspects of neurodegenerative diseases. However, in vivo model systems are currently indispensable, and it may be best to complement the animal studies with human cellular systems as carefully as possible to study sex-specific differences. Integrating sex into analyses of molecular events at the cellular level may open new avenues for developing better and potentially sex-specific therapeutic options. Modeling sex differences in CNS diseases with human iPSC-based 2D and 3D model systems offers unique approaches to study neurodegenerative diseases in a speciesspecific manner, with a potentially limitless supply of patients' own neurons or glial cells.

Acknowledgments E.K. is supported by grants from The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (Grant Numbers 119S801 and 118Z805) and the Research Fund of Middle East Technical University (Grant Numbers GAP-108-2020-10126 and YOP-108-2018-2851). We would like to thank Onur Can Begentas for the PBMC and human iPSC images utilized in Fig. 2 and Dilara Koc for drawings to generate Fig. 2. We would like to thank Edanur Sen, Onur Can Begentas, Dilara Koc, Sena Ezgin, and Peri Besarat for the critical reading of the manuscript.

**Declaration of Competing Interest** The author declares no potential conflicts of interest.

### References

- Alzheimer's Association (2021) Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 17(3):327–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12328
- Abud EM, Ramirez RN, Martinez ES, Healy LM, Nguyen CHH, Newman SA, Yeromin AV, Scarfone VM, Marsh SE, Fimbres C, Caraway CA, Fote GM, Madany AM, Agrawal A, Kayed R, Gylys KH, Cahalan MD, Cummings BJ, Antel JP, Mortazavi A, Carson MJ, Poon WW, Blurton-Jones M (2017) iPSCderived human microglia-like cells to study neurological diseases. Neuron 94(2):278–293. e279. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.03.042
- Ahmadzai P, Kab S, Vlaar T, Artaud F, Carcaillon-Bentata L, Canonico M, Moisan F, Elbaz A (2018) Age-dependent sex ratios of motor neuron disease:

French nationwide study and meta-analysis. Neurology 90(18):e1588–e1595. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL. 000000000005459

- Akkouh IA, Ueland T, Hansson L, Inderhaug E, Hughes T, Steen NE, Aukrust P, Andreassen OA, Szabo A, Djurovic S (2020) Decreased IL-1beta-induced CCL20 response in human iPSC-astrocytes in schizophrenia: potential attenuating effects on recruitment of regulatory T cells. Brain Behav Immun 87:634–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.02.008
- Akwa Y (2020) Steroids and Alzheimer's disease: changes associated with pathology and therapeutic potential. Int J Mol Sci 21(13). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21134812
- Aldewachi H, Al-Zidan RN, Conner MT, Salman MM (2021) High-throughput screening platforms in the discovery of novel drugs for neurodegenerative diseases. Bioengineering (Basel) 8(2). https://doi.org/ 10.3390/bioengineering8020030
- Alonso A, Logroscino G, Jick SS, Hernan MA (2009) Incidence and lifetime risk of motor neuron disease in the United Kingdom: a population-based study. Eur J Neurol 16(6):745–751. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1468-1331.2009.02586.x
- Altmann A, Tian L, Henderson VW, Greicius MD, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative I (2014) Sex modifies the APOE-related risk of developing Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol 75(4):563–573. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24135
- Ardekani BA, Convit A, Bachman AH (2016) Analysis of the MIRIAD data shows sex differences in Hippocampal Atrophy progression. J Alzheimers Dis 50(3):847–857. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-150780
- Ashford BA, Boche D, Cooper-Knock J, Heath PR, Simpson JE, Highley JR (2021) Review: microglia in motor neuron disease. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 47(2):179–197. https://doi.org/10.1111/nan.12640
- Asmarian N, Sharafi Z, Mousavi A, Jacques R, Tamayo I, Bind MA, Abutorabi-Zarchi M, Moradian MJ, Izadi S (2021) Multiple sclerosis incidence rate in southern Iran: a Bayesian epidemiological study. BMC Neurol 21(1):309. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-021-02342-1
- Astiz M, Acaz-Fonseca E, Garcia-Segura LM (2014) Sex differences and effects of estrogenic compounds on the expression of inflammatory molecules by astrocytes exposed to the insecticide dimethoate. Neurotox Res 25(3):271–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-013-9417-0
- Avazzadeh S, Baena JM, Keighron C, Feller-Sanchez Y, Quinlan LR (2021) Modelling Parkinson's Disease: iPSCs towards Better Understanding of Human Pathology. Brain Sci 11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ brainsci11030373
- Azcoitia I, Barreto GE, Garcia-Segura LM (2019) Molecular mechanisms and cellular events involved in the neuroprotective actions of estradiol. Analysis of sex differences. Front Neuroendocrinol 55:100787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.100787
- Bai Y, Shi Z, Zhuo Y, Liu J, Malakhov A, Ko E, Burgess K, Schaefer H, Esteban PF, Tessarollo L, Saragovi HU (2010) In glaucoma the upregulated

truncated TrkC.T1 receptor isoform in glia causes increased TNF-alpha production, leading to retinal ganglion cell death. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 51(12):6639–6651. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs. 10-5431

- Baio J, Wiggins L, Christensen DL, Maenner MJ, Daniels J, Warren Z, Kurzius-Spencer M, Zahorodny W, Robinson Rosenberg C, White T, Durkin MS, Imm P, Nikolaou L, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Lee LC, Harrington R, Lopez M, Fitzgerald RT, Hewitt A, Pettygrove S, Constantino JN, Vehorn A, Shenouda J, Hall-Lande J, Van Naarden BK, Dowling NF (2018) Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years – autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2014. MMWR Surveill Summ 67(6):1–23. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6706a1
- Banerjee A, Lu Y, Do K, Mize T, Wu X, Chen X, Chen J (2021) Validation of induced microglia-like cells (iMG Cells) for future studies of brain diseases. Front Cell Neurosci 15:629279. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel. 2021.629279
- Barnes LL, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Schneider JA, Evans DA, Bennett DA (2005) Sex differences in the clinical manifestations of Alzheimer disease pathology. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62(6):685–691. https://doi.org/10. 1001/archpsyc.62.6.685
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, Richards M, Boyaval P, Moineau S, Romero DA, Horvath P (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science 315(5819):1709–1712. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138140
- Bartz D, Chitnis T, Kaiser UB, Rich-Edwards JW, Rexrode KM, Pennell PB, Goldstein JM, O'Neal MA, LeBoff M, Behn M, Seely EW, Joffe H, Manson JE (2020) Clinical advances in sex- and genderinformed medicine to improve the health of all: a review. JAMA Intern Med. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamainternmed.2019.7194
- Bates GP, Dorsey R, Gusella JF, Hayden MR, Kay C, Leavitt BR, Nance M, Ross CA, Scahill RI, Wetzel R, Wild EJ, Tabrizi SJ (2015) Huntington disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15005. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrdp.2015.5
- Begentas OC, Koc D, Yurtogullari S, Temel M, Akcali KC, Demirkaya S, Kiris E (2021) Generation and characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cell line METUi001-A from a 25-year-old male patient with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Stem Cell Res 53:102370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2021. 102370
- Belloy ME, Napolioni V, Greicius MD (2019) A quarter century of APOE and Alzheimer's disease: progress to date and the path forward. Neuron 101(5):820–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.01.056
- Berger MB, Cohen DJ, Olivares-Navarrete R, Williams JK, Cochran DL, Boyan BD, Schwartz Z (2018) Human osteoblasts exhibit sexual dimorphism in their response to estrogen on microstructured titanium surfaces. Biol Sex Differ 9(1):30. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13293-018-0190-x

- Berthois Y, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS (1986) Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83(8):2496–2500. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.83.8.2496
- Bhargava A, Arnold AP, Bangasser DA, Denton KM, Gupta A, Hilliard Krause LM, Mayer EA, McCarthy M, Miller WL, Raznahan A, Verma R (2021) Considering sex as a biological variable in basic and clinical studies: an endocrine society scientific statement. Endocr Rev 42(3):219–258. https://doi. org/10.1210/endrev/bnaa034
- Bissonnette CJ, Lyass L, Bhattacharyya BJ, Belmadani A, Miller RJ, Kessler JA (2011) The controlled generation of functional basal forebrain cholinergic neurons from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 29(5):802–811. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.626
- Bittner GD, Yang CZ, Stoner MA (2014) Estrogenic chemicals often leach from BPA-free plastic products that are replacements for BPA-containing polycarbonate products. Environ Health 13(1):41. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1476-069X-13-41
- Boche D, Perry VH, Nicoll JA (2013) Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 39(1):3–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/nan.12011
- Bora SH, Liu Z, Kecojevic A, Merchenthaler I, Koliatsos VE (2005) Direct, complex effects of estrogens on basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. Exp Neurol 194(2):506–522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol. 2005.03.015
- Bove R, Gilmore W (2018) Hormones and MS: Risk factors, biomarkers, and therapeutic targets. Mult Scler 24(1):17–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1352458517737396
- Boyd A, Van de Velde S, Vilagut G, de Graaf R, O'Neill S, Florescu S, Alonso J, Kovess-Masfety V, Investigators E-W (2015) Gender differences in mental disorders and suicidality in Europe: results from a large cross-sectional population-based study. J Affect Disord 173:245–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad. 2014.11.002
- Brahimi F, Maira M, Barcelona PF, Galan A, Aboulkassim T, Teske K, Rogers ML, Bertram L, Wang J, Yousefi M, Rush R, Fabian M, Cashman N, Saragovi HU (2016) The paradoxical signals of two TrkC receptor isoforms supports a rationale for novel therapeutic strategies in ALS. PLoS One 11(10): e0162307. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0162307
- Braverman-Gross C, Benvenisty N (2021) Modeling maturity onset diabetes of the young in pluripotent stem cells: challenges and achievements. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 12:622940. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fendo.2021.622940
- Bruzelius E, Scarpa J, Zhao Y, Basu S, Faghmous JH, Baum A (2019) Huntington's disease in the United States: variation by demographic and socioeconomic

factors. Mov Disord 34(6):858-865. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mds.27653

- Bryant DN, Dorsa DM (2010) Roles of estrogen receptors alpha and beta in sexually dimorphic neuroprotection against glutamate toxicity. Neuroscience 170(4):1261–1269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurosci ence.2010.08.019
- Caffino L, Mottarlini F, Fumagalli F (2020) Born to protect: leveraging BDNF against cognitive deficit in Alzheimer's disease. CNS Drugs 34(3):281–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-020-00705-9
- Caiazzo M, Giannelli S, Valente P, Lignani G, Carissimo A, Sessa A, Colasante G, Bartolomeo R, Massimino L, Ferroni S, Settembre C, Benfenati F, Broccoli V (2015) Direct conversion of fibroblasts into functional astrocytes by defined transcription factors. Stem Cell Reports 4(1):25–36. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.12.002
- Cantuti-Castelvetri I, Keller-McGandy C, Bouzou B, Asteris G, Clark TW, Frosch MP, Standaert DG (2007) Effects of gender on nigral gene expression and parkinson disease. Neurobiol Dis 26(3):606–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2007.02.009
- Cenci MA, Bjorklund A (2020) Animal models for preclinical Parkinson's research: An update and critical appraisal. Prog Brain Res 252:27–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/bs.pbr.2020.02.003
- Cerghet M, Skoff RP, Bessert D, Zhang Z, Mullins C, Ghandour MS (2006) Proliferation and death of oligodendrocytes and myelin proteins are differentially regulated in male and female rodents. J Neurosci 26(5):1439–1447. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2219-05.2006
- Chan CB, Ye K (2017) Sex differences in brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling and functions. J Neurosci Res 95(1-2):328–335. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr. 23863
- Chang Y, Kim J, Park H, Choi H, Kim J (2020) Modelling neurodegenerative diseases with 3D brain organoids. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 95(5):1497–1509. https:// doi.org/10.1111/brv.12626
- Chao MV (2003) Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signalling pathways. Nat Rev Neurosci 4(4):299–309
- Chen J, Liang X, Li B, Jiang X, Xu Z (2014) Genderrelated association of brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene 196A/G polymorphism with Alzheimer's disease--a meta-analysis including 6854 cases and 6868 controls. Int J Neurosci 124(10):724–733. https://doi. org/10.3109/00207454.2013.869594
- Chene G, Beiser A, Au R, Preis SR, Wolf PA, Dufouil C, Seshadri S (2015) Gender and incidence of dementia in the Framingham Heart Study from mid-adult life. Alzheimers Dement 11(3):310–320. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jalz.2013.10.005
- Chistyakov DV, Azbukina NV, Astakhova AA, Goriainov SV, Chistyakov VV, Sergeeva MG (2018) Sex-mediated differences in LPS induced alterations of TNFalpha, IL-10 expression, and prostaglandin

synthesis in primary astrocytes. Int J Mol Sci 19(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19092793

- Cho SH, Woo S, Kim C, Kim HJ, Jang H, Kim BC, Kim SE, Kim SJ, Kim JP, Jung YH, Lockhart S, Ossenkoppele R, Landau S, Na DL, Weiner M, Kim S, Seo SW (2021) Disease progression modelling from preclinical Alzheimer's disease (AD) to AD dementia. Sci Rep 11(1):4168. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-021-83585-3
- Chowen JA, Garcia-Segura LM (2021) Role of glial cells in the generation of sex differences in neurodegenerative diseases and brain aging. Mech Ageing Dev 196: 111473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2021.111473
- Cikla U, Chanana V, Kintner DB, Udho E, Eickhoff J, Sun W, Marquez S, Covert L, Otles A, Shapiro RA, Ferrazzano P, Vemuganti R, Levine JE, Cengiz P (2016) ERalpha signaling is required for TrkBmediated hippocampal neuroprotection in female neonatal mice after hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy (1,2,3). eNeuro 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1523/ ENEURO.0025-15.2015
- Clayton JA, Collins FS (2014) Policy: NIH to balance sex in cell and animal studies. Nature 509(7500):282–283. https://doi.org/10.1038/509282a
- Collaborators GBDMS (2019a) Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol 18(3):269–285. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30443-5
- Collaborators GBDN (2019b) Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol 18(5):459–480. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X
- Collaborators GUND, Feigin VL, Vos T, Alahdab F, Amit AML, Barnighausen TW, Beghi E, Beheshti M, Chavan PP, Criqui MH, Desai R, Dhamminda Dharmaratne S, Dorsey ER, Wilder Eagan A, Elgendy IY, Filip I, Giampaoli S, Giussani G, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hole MK, Ikeda T, Owens Johnson C, Kalani R, Khatab K, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Koroshetz WJ, Krishnamoorthy V, Krishnamurthi RV, Liu X, Lo WD, Logroscino G, Mensah GA, Miller TR, Mohammed S, Mokdad AH, Moradi-Lakeh M, Morrison SD, Shivamurthy VKN, Naghavi M, Nichols E, Norrving B, Odell CM, Pupillo E, Radfar A, Roth GA, Shafieesabet A, Sheikh A, Sheikhbahaei S, Shin JI, Singh JA, Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Wallin MT, Weiss J, Wu C, Zunt JR, Adelson JD, Murray CJL (2021) Burden of neurological disorders across the US From 1990-2017: a Global Burden of Disease Study. JAMA Neurol 78(2):165-176. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.4152
- Crespo-Castrillo A, Garcia-Segura LM, Arevalo MA (2020) The synthetic steroid tibolone exerts sex-specific regulation of astrocyte phagocytosis under basal conditions and after an inflammatory challenge. J Neuroinflammation 17(1):37. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12974-020-1719-6

- Cummings J, Lee G, Ritter A, Sabbagh M, Zhong K (2020) Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2020. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 6(1):e12050. https://doi.org/10.1002/trc2.12050
- D'Souza GX, Rose SE, Knupp A, Nicholson DA, Keene CD, Young JE (2021) The application of in vitroderived human neurons in neurodegenerative disease modeling. J Neurosci Res 99(1):124–140. https://doi. org/10.1002/jnr.24615
- De Souza SR, Frank AP, Palmer BF, Clegg DJ (2018) Sex and media: Considerations for cell culture studies. ALTEX 35(4):435–440. https://doi.org/10.14573/ altex.1806151
- Delage CI, Simoncicova E, Tremblay ME (2021) Microglial heterogeneity in aging and Alzheimer's disease: Is sex relevant? J Pharmacol Sci 146(3):169–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphs.2021.03.006
- Delli Carri A, Onorati M, Lelos MJ, Castiglioni V, Faedo A, Menon R, Camnasio S, Vuono R, Spaiardi P, Talpo F, Toselli M, Martino G, Barker RA, Dunnett SB, Biella G, Cattaneo E (2013) Developmentally coordinated extrinsic signals drive human pluripotent stem cell differentiation toward authentic DARPP-32+ medium-sized spiny neurons. Development 140(2):301–312. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev. 084608
- Demarest TG, McCarthy MM (2015) Sex differences in mitochondrial (dys)function: Implications for neuroprotection. J Bioenerg Biomembr 47(1-2): 173–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10863-014-9583-7
- Demarest TG, Varma VR, Estrada D, Babbar M, Basu S, Mahajan UV, Moaddel R, Croteau DL, Thambisetty M, Mattson MP, Bohr VA (2020) Biological sex and DNA repair deficiency drive Alzheimer's disease via systemic metabolic remodeling and brain mitochondrial dysfunction. Acta Neuropathol 140(1):25–47. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00401-020-02152-8
- Deshmukh RS, Kovacs KA, Dinnyes A (2012) Drug discovery models and toxicity testing using embryonic and induced pluripotent stem-cell-derived cardiac and neuronal cells. Stem Cells Int 2012:379569. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/379569
- Deuschl G, Beghi E, Fazekas F, Varga T, Christoforidi KA, Sipido E, Bassetti CL, Vos T, Feigin VL (2020) The burden of neurological diseases in Europe: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Public Health 5(10):e551–e567. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30190-0
- Devine MJ, Ryten M, Vodicka P, Thomson AJ, Burdon T, Houlden H, Cavaleri F, Nagano M, Drummond NJ, Taanman JW, Schapira AH, Gwinn K, Hardy J, Lewis PA, Kunath T (2011) Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the alphasynuclein locus. Nat Commun 2:440. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms1453
- Dickson DW, Braak H, Duda JE, Duyckaerts C, Gasser T, Halliday GM, Hardy J, Leverenz JB, Del Tredici K, Wszolek ZK, Litvan I (2009) Neuropathological

assessment of Parkinson's disease: refining the diagnostic criteria. Lancet Neurol 8(12):1150–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70238-8

- Dimos JT, Rodolfa KT, Niakan KK, Weisenthal LM, Mitsumoto H, Chung W, Croft GF, Saphier G, Leibel R, Goland R, Wichterle H, Henderson CE, Eggan K (2008) Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from patients with ALS can be differentiated into motor neurons. Science 321(5893):1218–1221
- Dion PA, Daoud H, Rouleau GA (2009) Genetics of motor neuron disorders: new insights into pathogenic mechanisms. Nat Rev Genet 10(11):769–782. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrg2680
- Dorsey SG, Renn CL, Carim-Todd L, Barrick CA, Bambrick L, Krueger BK, Ward CW, Tessarollo L (2006) In vivo restoration of physiological levels of truncated TrkB.T1 receptor rescues neuronal cell death in a trisomic mouse model. Neuron 51(1):21–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.06.009
- Douvaras P, Sun B, Wang M, Kruglikov I, Lallos G, Zimmer M, Terrenoire C, Zhang B, Gandy S, Schadt E, Freytes DO, Noggle S, Fossati V (2017) Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells to microglia. Stem Cell Reports 8(6):1516–1524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.04.023
- Douvaras P, Wang J, Zimmer M, Hanchuk S, O'Bara MA, Sadiq S, Sim FJ, Goldman J, Fossati V (2014) Efficient generation of myelinating oligodendrocytes from primary progressive multiple sclerosis patients by induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 3(2):250–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014. 06.012
- Drummond E, Wisniewski T (2017) Alzheimer's disease: experimental models and reality. Acta Neuropathol 133(2):155–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1662-x
- Duan L, Bhattacharyya BJ, Belmadani A, Pan L, Miller RJ, Kessler JA (2014) Stem cell derived basal forebrain cholinergic neurons from Alzheimer's disease patients are more susceptible to cell death. Mol Neurodegener 9:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-9-3
- Dugger BN, Dickson DW (2017) Pathology of neurodegenerative diseases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 9(7). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028035
- Ehrlich M, Mozafari S, Glatza M, Starost L, Velychko S, Hallmann AL, Cui QL, Schambach A, Kim KP, Bachelin C, Marteyn A, Hargus G, Johnson RM, Antel J, Sterneckert J, Zaehres H, Scholer HR, Baron-Van Evercooren A, Kuhlmann T (2017) Rapid and efficient generation of oligodendrocytes from human induced pluripotent stem cells using transcription factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(11):E2243– E2252. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614412114
- Elbaz A, Carcaillon L, Kab S, Moisan F (2016) Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Rev Neurol (Paris) 172(1):14–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2015. 09.012
- Elsabbagh M, Divan G, Koh YJ, Kim YS, Kauchali S, Marcin C, Montiel-Nava C, Patel V, Paula CS,

Wang C, Yasamy MT, Fombonne E (2012) Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. Autism Res 5(3):160–179. https://doi. org/10.1002/aur.239

- Emdad L, D'Souza SL, Kothari HP, Qadeer ZA, Germano IM (2012) Efficient differentiation of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells into functional astrocytes. Stem Cells Dev 21(3):404–410. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2010.0560
- Espeland MA, Rapp SR, Shumaker SA, Brunner R, Manson JE, Sherwin BB, Hsia J, Margolis KL, Hogan PE, Wallace R, Dailey M, Freeman R, Hays J, Women's Health Initiative Memory S (2004) Conjugated equine estrogens and global cognitive function in postmenopausal women: Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. JAMA 291(24):2959–2968. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.24.2959
- Essayan-Perez S, Zhou B, Nabet AM, Wernig M, Huang YA (2019) Modeling Alzheimer's disease with human iPS cells: advancements, lessons, and applications. Neurobiol Dis 130:104503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nbd.2019.104503
- Esteban PF, Yoon HY, Becker J, Dorsey SG, Caprari P, Palko ME, Coppola V, Saragovi HU, Randazzo PA, Tessarollo L (2006) A kinase-deficient TrkC receptor isoform activates Arf6-Rac1 signaling through the scaffold protein tamalin. J Cell Biol 173(2):291–299. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200512013
- Fairbanks SL, Young JM, Nelson JW, Davis CM, Koerner IP, Alkayed NJ (2012) Mechanism of the sex difference in neuronal ischemic cell death. Neuroscience 219:183–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2012.05.048
- Ferrer I, Marin C, Rey MJ, Ribalta T, Goutan E, Blanco R, Tolosa E, Marti E (1999) BDNF and full-length and truncated TrkB expression in Alzheimer disease. Implications in therapeutic strategies. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 58(7):729–739. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00005072-199907000-00007
- Ferretti MT, Martinkova J, Biskup E, Benke T, Gialdini G, Nedelska Z, Rauen K, Mantua V, Religa D, Hort J, Santuccione Chadha A, Schmidt R (2020) Sex and gender differences in Alzheimer's disease: current challenges and implications for clinical practice: position paper of the dementia and cognitive disorders panel of the European academy of neurology. Eur J Neurol 27(6):928–943. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene. 14174
- Filippi M, Bar-Or A, Piehl F, Preziosa P, Solari A, Vukusic S, Rocca MA (2018) Multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 4(1):43. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41572-018-0041-4
- Fombonne E (2009) Epidemiology of pervasive developmental disorders. Pediatr Res 65(6):591–598. https:// doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0b013e31819e7203
- Fukumoto N, Fujii T, Combarros O, Kamboh MI, Tsai SJ, Matsushita S, Nacmias B, Comings DE, Arboleda H, Ingelsson M, Hyman BT, Akatsu H, Grupe A, Nishimura AL, Zatz M, Mattila KM, Rinne J,

Goto Y, Asada T, Nakamura S, Kunugi H (2010) Sexually dimorphic effect of the Val66Met polymorphism of BDNF on susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease: new data and meta-analysis. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 153B(1):235–242. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30986

- Galan A, Jmaeff S, Barcelona PF, Brahimi F, Sarunic MV, Saragovi HU (2017) In retinitis pigmentosa TrkC.T1dependent vectorial Erk activity upregulates glial TNF-alpha, causing selective neuronal death. Cell Death Dis 8(12):3222. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41419-017-0074-8
- Garcia-Reitboeck P, Phillips A, Piers TM, Villegas-Llerena C, Butler M, Mallach A, Rodrigues C, Arber CE, Heslegrave A, Zetterberg H, Neumann H, Neame S, Houlden H, Hardy J, Pocock JM (2018) Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived microglia-like cells harboring TREM2 missense mutations show specific deficits in phagocytosis. Cell Rep 24(9):2300–2311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2018.07.094
- Ghatak S, Dolatabadi N, Trudler D, Zhang X, Wu Y, Mohata M, Ambasudhan R, Talantova M, Lipton SA (2019) Mechanisms of hyperexcitability in Alzheimer's disease hiPSC-derived neurons and cerebral organoids vs isogenic controls. Elife:8. https://doi. org/10.7554/eLife.50333
- Gilli F, DiSano KD, Pachner AR (2020) SeXX matters in multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol 11:616. https://doi. org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00616
- Ginsberg SD, Malek-Ahmadi MH, Alldred MJ, Che S, Elarova I, Chen Y, Jeanneteau F, Kranz TM, Chao MV, Counts SE, Mufson EJ (2019) Selective decline of neurotrophin and neurotrophin receptor genes within CA1 pyramidal neurons and hippocampus proper: Correlation with cognitive performance and neuropathology in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Hippocampus 29(5):422–439. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22802
- Gold SM, Willing A, Leypoldt F, Paul F, Friese MA (2019) Sex differences in autoimmune disorders of the central nervous system. Semin Immunopathol 41(2):177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-018-0723-8
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez A, Guardia A, Alvarez Pedrero A, Betriu M, Cobo J, Acebillo S, Monreal JA, Seeman MV, Palao D, Labad J (2020) Women with Schizophrenia over the life span: health promotion, treatment and outcomes. Int J Environ Res Public Health 17(15). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17155594
- Gopalakrishnan J (2019) The emergence of stem cellbased brain organoids: trends and challenges. Bioessays 41(8):e1900011. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bies.201900011
- Gorris R, Fischer J, Erwes KL, Kesavan J, Peterson DA, Alexander M, Nothen MM, Peitz M, Quandel T, Karus M, Brustle O (2015) Pluripotent stem cellderived radial glia-like cells as stable intermediate for

efficient generation of human oligodendrocytes. Glia 63(12):2152–2167. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22882

- Grubman A, Chew G, Ouyang JF, Sun G, Choo XY, McLean C, Simmons RK, Buckberry S, Vargas-Landin DB, Poppe D, Pflueger J, Lister R, Rackham OJL, Petretto E, Polo JM (2019) A single-cell atlas of entorhinal cortex from individuals with Alzheimer's disease reveals cell-type-specific gene expression regulation. Nat Neurosci 22(12):2087–2097. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41593-019-0539-4
- Guneykaya D, Ivanov A, Hernandez DP, Haage V, Wojtas B, Meyer N, Maricos M, Jordan P, Buonfiglioli A, Gielniewski B, Ochocka N, Comert C, Friedrich C, Artiles LS, Kaminska B, Mertins P, Beule D, Kettenmann H, Wolf SA (2018) Transcriptional and translational differences of microglia from male and female brains. Cell Rep 24(10):2773–2783. e2776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.08.001
- Guo L, Zhong MB, Zhang L, Zhang B, Cai D (2021) Sex differences in Alzheimer's disease: insights from the multiomics landscape. Biol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.02.968
- Haaxma CA, Bloem BR, Borm GF, Oyen WJ, Leenders KL, Eshuis S, Booij J, Dluzen DE, Horstink MW (2007) Gender differences in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 78(8):819–824. https:// doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.103788
- Haenseler W, Sansom SN, Buchrieser J, Newey SE, Moore CS, Nicholls FJ, Chintawar S, Schnell C, Antel JP, Allen ND, Cader MZ, Wade-Martins R, James WS, Cowley SA (2017) A highly efficient human pluripotent stem cell microglia model displays a neuronal-co-culture-specific expression profile and inflammatory response. Stem Cell Reports 8(6):1727–1742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr. 2017.05.017
- Hammond TR, Dufort C, Dissing-Olesen L, Giera S, Young A, Wysoker A, Walker AJ, Gergits F, Segel M, Nemesh J, Marsh SE, Saunders A, Macosko E, Ginhoux F, Chen J, Franklin RJM, Piao X, McCarroll SA, Stevens B (2019) Single-cell RNA sequencing of microglia throughout the mouse lifespan and in the injured brain reveals complex cellstate changes. Immunity 50(1):253–271. e256. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.11.004
- Hanamsagar R, Bilbo SD (2016) Sex differences in neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders: Focus on microglial function and neuroinflammation during development. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 160: 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.09.039
- Hardingham GE, Patani R, Baxter P, Wyllie DJ, Chandran S (2010) Human embryonic stem cell-derived neurons as a tool for studying neuroprotection and neurodegeneration. Mol Neurobiol 42(1):97–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-010-8136-2
- Hauser SL, Cree BAC (2020) Treatment of multiple sclerosis: a review. Am J Med 133(12):1380–1390. e1382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2020.05.049

E. Kiris

- Hentosh S, Zhu L, Patino J, Furr JW, Rocha NP, Furr Stimming E (2021) Sex differences in Huntington's disease: evaluating the enroll-HD database. Mov Disord Clin Pract 8(3):420–426. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mdc3.13178
- Heyer A, Hasselblatt M, von Ahsen N, Hafner H, Siren AL, Ehrenreich H (2005) In vitro gender differences in neuronal survival on hypoxia and in 17beta-estradiolmediated neuroprotection. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25(4):427–430. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm. 9600056
- Hill RA, van den Buuse M (2011) Sex-dependent and region-specific changes in TrkB signaling in BDNF heterozygous mice. Brain Res 1384:51–60. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.01.060
- Hohman TJ, Dumitrescu L, Barnes LL, Thambisetty M, Beecham G, Kunkle B, Gifford KA, Bush WS, Chibnik LB, Mukherjee S, De Jager PL, Kukull W, Crane PK, Resnick SM, Keene CD, Montine TJ, Schellenberg GD, Haines JL, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Larson EB, Johnson SC, Albert M, Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Jefferson AL, Alzheimer's Disease Genetics C, the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2018) Sex-Specific Association of Apolipoprotein E with cerebrospinal fluid levels of Tau. JAMA Neurol 75(8):989–998. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaneurol.2018.0821
- Hong L, Sultana H, Paulius K, Zhang G (2009) Steroid regulation of proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells: a gender difference. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 114(3-5):180–185. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.02.001
- Hor JH, Soh ES, Tan LY, Lim VJW, Santosa MM, Winanto HBX, Fan Y, Soh BS, Ng SY (2018) Cell cycle inhibitors protect motor neurons in an organoid model of Spinal Muscular Atrophy. Cell Death Dis 9(11):1100. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-1081-0
- Hou Y, Dan X, Babbar M, Wei Y, Hasselbalch SG, Croteau DL, Bohr VA (2019) Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol 15(10):565–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-019-0244-7
- Hsu CW, Lee SY, Wang LJ (2019) Gender differences in the prevalence, comorbidities and antipsychotic prescription of early-onset schizophrenia: a nationwide population-based study in Taiwan. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 28(6):759–767. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00787-018-1242-9
- Hu BY, Du ZW, Zhang SC (2009) Differentiation of human oligodendrocytes from pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc 4(11):1614–1622. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nprot.2009.186
- Huang LK, Chao SP, Hu CJ (2020) Clinical trials of new drugs for Alzheimer disease. J Biomed Sci 27(1):18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0609-7
- Israel MA, Yuan SH, Bardy C, Reyna SM, Mu Y, Herrera C, Hefferan MP, Van Gorp S, Nazor KL, Boscolo FS, Carson CT, Laurent LC, Marsala M, Gage FH, Remes AM, Koo EH, Goldstein LS (2012)

Probing sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease using induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 482(7384):216–220. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10821

- James BD, Guerin P, Allen JB (2021) Let's talk about sex-biological sex is underreported in biomaterial studies. Adv Healthc Mater 10(1):e2001034. https://doi. org/10.1002/adhm.202001034
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNAguided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science 337(6096):816–821. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.1225829
- Johnston CA, Stanton BR, Turner MR, Gray R, Blunt AH, Butt D, Ampong MA, Shaw CE, Leigh PN, Al-Chalabi A (2006) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in an urban setting: a population based study of inner city London. J Neurol 253(12):1642–1643. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00415-006-0195-y
- Jones VC, Atkinson-Dell R, Verkhratsky A, Mohamet L (2017) Aberrant iPSC-derived human astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Death Dis 8(3):e2696. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.89
- Karpe Y, Chen Z, Li XJ (2021) Stem cell models and gene targeting for human motor neuron diseases. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 14(6). https://doi.org/10. 3390/ph14060565
- Kawatani K, Nambara T, Nawa N, Yoshimatsu H, Kusakabe H, Hirata K, Tanave A, Sumiyama K, Banno K, Taniguchi H, Arahori H, Ozono K, Kitabatake Y (2021) A human isogenic iPSC-derived cell line panel identifies major regulators of aberrant astrocyte proliferation in Down syndrome. Commun Biol 4(1):730. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02242-7
- Keil KP, Sethi S, Wilson MD, Chen H, Lein PJ (2017) In vivo and in vitro sex differences in the dendritic morphology of developing murine hippocampal and cortical neurons. Sci Rep 7(1):8486. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-017-08459-z
- Kettenmann H, Hanisch UK, Noda M, Verkhratsky A (2011) Physiology of microglia. Physiol Rev 91(2):461–553. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev. 00011.2010
- Khalaj AJ, Hasselmann J, Augello C, Moore S, Tiwari-Woodruff SK (2016) Nudging oligodendrocyte intrinsic signaling to remyelinate and repair: Estrogen receptor ligand effects. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 160:43– 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.01.006
- Kim H, Park HJ, Choi H, Chang Y, Park H, Shin J, Kim J, Lengner CJ, Lee YK, Kim J (2019) Modeling G2019S-LRRK2 sporadic Parkinson's disease in 3D midbrain organoids. Stem Cell Reports 12(3):518–531. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.01.020
- Kim J, Sullivan GJ, Park IH (2021) How well do brain organoids capture your brain? iScience 24 (2):102063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2021.102063
- Kiris E, Burnett JC, Nuss JE, Wanner LM, Peyser BD, Du HT, Gomba GY, Kota KP, Panchal RG, Gussio R,

Kane CD, Tessarollo L, Bavari S (2015a) SRC family kinase inhibitors antagonize the toxicity of multiple serotypes of botulinum neurotoxin in human embry-onic stem cell-derived motor neurons. Neurotox Res 27(4):384–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-015-9526-z

- Kiris E, Nuss JE, Stanford SM, Wanner LM, Cazares L, Maestre MF, Du HT, Gomba GY, Burnett JC, Gussio R, Bottini N, Panchal RG, Kane CD, Tessarollo L, Bavari S (2015b) Phosphatase inhibitors function as novel, broad spectrum botulinum neurotoxin antagonists in mouse and human embryonic stem cell-derived motor neuron-based assays. PLoS One 10(6):e0129264. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0129264
- Kiris E, Wang T, Yanpallewar S, Dorsey SG, Becker J, Bavari S, Palko ME, Coppola V, Tessarollo L (2014) TrkA in vivo function is negatively regulated by ubiquitination. J Neurosci 34(11):4090–4098. https:// doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4294-13.2014
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Klein SL, Schiebinger L, Stefanick ML, Cahill L, Danska J, de Vries GJ, Kibbe MR, McCarthy MM, Mogil JS, Woodruff TK, Zucker I (2015) Opinion: Sex inclusion in basic research drives discovery. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(17):5257–5258. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1502843112
- Kodama L, Gan L (2019) Do microglial sex differences contribute to sex differences in neurodegenerative diseases? Trends Mol Med 25(9):741–749. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2019.05.001
- Kodama L, Guzman E, Etchegaray JI, Li Y, Sayed FA, Zhou L, Zhou Y, Zhan L, Le D, Udeochu JC, Clelland CD, Cheng Z, Yu G, Li Q, Kosik KS, Gan L (2020) Microglial microRNAs mediate sex-specific responses to tau pathology. Nat Neurosci 23(2):167–171. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0560-7
- Konttinen H, Cabral-da-Silva MEC, Ohtonen S, Wojciechowski S, Shakirzyanova A, Caligola S, Giugno R, Ishchenko Y, Hernandez D, Fazaludeen MF, Eamen S, Budia MG, Fagerlund I, Scoyni F, Korhonen P, Huber N, Haapasalo A, Hewitt AW, Vickers J, Smith GC, Oksanen M, Graff C, Kanninen KM, Lehtonen S, Propson N, Schwartz MP, Pebay A, Koistinaho J, Ooi L, Malm T (2019a) PSEN1DeltaE9, APPswe, and APOE4 Confer Disparate Phenotypes in Human iPSC-Derived Microglia. Stem Cell Reports 13(4):669–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019. 08.004
- Konttinen H, Gureviciene I, Oksanen M, Grubman A, Loppi S, Huuskonen MT, Korhonen P, Lampinen R, Keuters M, Belaya I, Tanila H, Kanninen KM, Goldsteins G, Landreth G, Koistinaho J, Malm T (2019b) PPARbeta/delta-agonist GW0742 ameliorates dysfunction in fatty acid oxidation in PSEN1DeltaE9 astrocytes. Glia 67(1):146–159. https://doi.org/10. 1002/glia.23534

- Koskuvi M, Lehtonen Š, Trontti K, Keuters M, Wu YC, Koivisto H, Ludwig A, Plotnikova L, Virtanen PLJ, Räsänen N, Kaipainen S, Hyötyläinen I, Dhungana H, Giniatullina R, Ojansuu I, Vaurio O, Cannon TD, Lönnqvist J, Therman S, Suvisaari J, Kaprio J, Lähteenvuo M, Tohka J, Giniatullin R, Rivera C, Hovatta I, Tanila H, Tiihonen J, Koistinaho J (2020) Patient iPSC-astrocytes show transcriptional and functional dysregulation in schizophrenia. bioRxiv:2020.2010.2023.350413. https://doi.org/10. 1101/2020.10.23.350413
- Kriks S, Shim JW, Piao J, Ganat YM, Wakeman DR, Xie Z, Carrillo-Reid L, Auyeung G, Antonacci C, Buch A, Yang L, Beal MF, Surmeier DJ, Kordower JH, Tabar V, Studer L (2011) Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature 480(7378):547–551. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10648
- Krysko KM, Graves JS, Dobson R, Altintas A, Amato MP, Bernard J, Bonavita S, Bove R, Cavalla P, Clerico M, Corona T, Doshi A, Fragoso Y, Jacobs D, Jokubaitis V, Landi D, Llamosa G, Longbrake EE, Maillart E, Marta M, Midaglia L, Shah S, Tintore M, van der Walt A, Voskuhl R, Wang Y, Zabad RK, Zeydan B, Houtchens M, Hellwig K (2020) Sex effects across the lifespan in women with multiple sclerosis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 13:1756286420936166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756286420936166
- Kuehner C (2017) Why is depression more common among women than among men? Lancet Psychiatry 4(2):146–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366 (16)30263-2
- Kumar S, Patel R, Moore S, Crawford DK, Suwanna N, Mangiardi M, Tiwari-Woodruff SK (2013) Estrogen receptor beta ligand therapy activates PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling in oligodendrocytes and promotes remyelination in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Neurobiol Dis 56:131–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nbd.2013.04.005
- Kwart D, Gregg A, Scheckel C, Murphy EA, Paquet D, Duffield M, Fak J, Olsen O, Darnell RB, Tessier-Lavigne M (2019) A large panel of isogenic APP and PSEN1 Mutant Human iPSC Neurons Reveals Shared Endosomal Abnormalities Mediated by APP beta-CTFs, Not Abeta. Neuron 104(2):256–270. e255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.07.010
- Laws KR, Irvine K, Gale TM (2016) Sex differences in cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. World J Psychiatry 6(1):54–65. https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v6. i1.54
- Lee SK (2018) Sex as an important biological variable in biomedical research. BMB Rep 51(4):167–173. https:// doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep.2018.51.4.034
- Levine DA, Gross AL, Briceno EM, Tilton N, Giordani BJ, Sussman JB, Hayward RA, Burke JF, Hingtgen S, Elkind MSV, Manly JJ, Gottesman RF, Gaskin DJ, Sidney S, Sacco RL, Tom SE, Wright CB, Yaffe K, Galecki AT (2021) Sex differences in cognitive decline

among US Adults. JAMA Netw Open 4(2):e210169. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0169

- Li SH, Graham BM (2017) Why are women so vulnerable to anxiety, trauma-related and stress-related disorders? The potential role of sex hormones. Lancet Psychiatry 4(1):73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(16) 30358-3
- Li XJ, Hu BY, Jones SA, Zhang YS, Lavaute T, Du ZW, Zhang SC (2008) Directed differentiation of ventral spinal progenitors and motor neurons from human embryonic stem cells by small molecules. Stem Cells 26(4):886–893
- Li Y, Wen Y, Green M, Cabral EK, Wani P, Zhang F, Wei Y, Baer TM, Chen B (2017) Cell sex affects extracellular matrix protein expression and proliferation of smooth muscle progenitor cells derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):156. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0606-2
- Lieb K, Andrae J, Reisert I, Pilgrim C (1995) Neurotoxicity of dopamine and protective effects of the NMDA receptor antagonist AP-5 differ between male and female dopaminergic neurons. Exp Neurol 134(2):222–229. https://doi.org/10.1006/exnr.1995. 1052
- Lin YT, Seo J, Gao F, Feldman HM, Wen HL, Penney J, Cam HP, Gjoneska E, Raja WK, Cheng J, Rueda R, Kritskiy O, Abdurrob F, Peng Z, Milo B, Yu CJ, Elmsaouri S, Dey D, Ko T, Yankner BA, Tsai LH (2018) APOE4 causes widespread molecular and cellular alterations associated with Alzheimer's disease phenotypes in human iPSC-derived brain cell types. Neuron 98(6):1141–1154. e1147. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.neuron.2018.05.008
- Little D, Ketteler R, Gissen P, Devine MJ (2019) Using stem cell-derived neurons in drug screening for neurological diseases. Neurobiol Aging 78:130–141. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.02.008
- Liu M, Hurn PD, Roselli CE, Alkayed NJ (2007) Role of P450 aromatase in sex-specific astrocytic cell death. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27(1):135–141. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600331
- Liu X, Chen B, Chen L, Ren WT, Liu J, Wang G, Fan W, Wang X, Wang Y (2013) U-shape suppressive effect of phenol red on the epileptiform burst activity via activation of estrogen receptors in primary hippocampal culture. PLoS One 8(4):e60189. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0060189
- Liu Y, Rutlin M, Huang S, Barrick CA, Wang F, Jones KR, Tessarollo L, Ginty DD (2012) Sexually dimorphic BDNF signaling directs sensory innervation of the mammary gland. Science 338(6112):1357–1360. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1228258
- Liu Y, Song JH, Xu W, Hou XH, Li JQ, Yu JT, Tan L, Chi S, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2021) The Associations of Cerebrospinal Fluid ApoE and Biomarkers of Alzheimer's Disease: Exploring Interactions With Sex. Front Neurosci 15:633576. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.633576

- Lopez-Caraballo L, Martorell-Marugan J, Carmona-Saez P, Gonzalez-Munoz E (2020) iPS-derived early oligodendrocyte progenitor cells from SPMS patients reveal deficient in vitro cell migration stimulation. Cells 9(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9081803
- Lopez-Lee C, Kodama L, Gan L (2021) Sex differences in neurodegeneration: the role of the immune system in humans. Biol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2021.01.002
- Lubetzki C, Zalc B, Williams A, Stadelmann C, Stankoff B (2020) Remyelination in multiple sclerosis: from basic science to clinical translation. Lancet Neurol 19(8):678–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422 (20)30140-X
- Lubroth P, Colasante G, Lignani G (2021) In vivo genome editing therapeutic approaches for neurological disorders: where are we in the translational pipeline? Front Neurosci 15:632522. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2021.632522
- Madhavan M, Nevin ZS, Shick HE, Garrison E, Clarkson-Paredes C, Karl M, Clayton BLL, Factor DC, Allan KC, Barbar L, Jain T, Douvaras P, Fossati V, Miller RH, Tesar PJ (2018) Induction of myelinating oligodendrocytes in human cortical spheroids. Nat Methods 15(9):700–706. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41592-018-0081-4
- Mamlouk GM, Dorris DM, Barrett LR, Meitzen J (2020) Sex bias and omission in neuroscience research is influenced by research model and journal, but not reported NIH funding. Front Neuroendocrinol 57: 100835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2020.100835
- Manjaly ZR, Scott KM, Abhinav K, Wijesekera L, Ganesalingam J, Goldstein LH, Janssen A, Dougherty A, Willey E, Stanton BR, Turner MR, Ampong MA, Sakel M, Orrell RW, Howard R, Shaw CE, Leigh PN, Al-Chalabi A (2010) The sex ratio in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population based study. Amyotroph Lateral Scler 11(5):439–442. https://doi. org/10.3109/17482961003610853
- Marton RM, Miura Y, Sloan SA, Li Q, Revah O, Levy RJ, Huguenard JR, Pasca SP (2019) Differentiation and maturation of oligodendrocytes in human threedimensional neural cultures. Nat Neurosci 22(3):484–491. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0316-9
- Mathys H, Davila-Velderrain J, Peng Z, Gao F, Mohammadi S, Young JZ, Menon M, He L, Abdurrob F, Jiang X, Martorell AJ, Ransohoff RM, Hafler BP, Bennett DA, Kellis M, Tsai LH (2019) Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 570(7761):332–337. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41586-019-1195-2
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, De Vries GJ, Epperson CN, Govindan R, Klein SL, Lonardo A, Maki PM, McCullough LD, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Regensteiner JG, Rubin JB, Sandberg K, Suzuki A (2020) Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine.

Lancet 396(10250):565–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)31561-0

- May T, Adesina I, McGillivray J, Rinehart NJ (2019) Sex differences in neurodevelopmental disorders. Curr Opin Neurol 32(4):622–626. https://doi.org/10.1097/ WCO.0000000000000714
- McLean CP, Asnaani A, Litz BT, Hofmann SG (2011) Gender differences in anxiety disorders: prevalence, course of illness, comorbidity and burden of illness. J Psychiatr Res 45(8):1027–1035. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jpsychires.2011.03.006
- McNeish J, Roach M, Hambor J, Mather RJ, Weibley L, Lazzaro J, Gazard J, Schwarz J, Volkmann R, Machacek D, Stice S, Zawadzke L, O'Donnell C, Hurst R (2010) High-throughput screening in embryonic stem cell-derived neurons identifies potentiators of alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate-type glutamate receptors. J Biol Chem 285(22):17209–17217
- McQuade A, Coburn M, Tu CH, Hasselmann J, Davtyan H, Blurton-Jones M (2018) Development and validation of a simplified method to generate human microglia from pluripotent stem cells. Mol Neurodegener 13(1):67. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13024-018-0297-x
- Meoni S, Macerollo A, Moro E (2020) Sex differences in movement disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 16(2):84–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-019-0294-x
- Merlo S, Spampinato SF, Sortino MA (2017) Estrogen and Alzheimer's disease: Still an attractive topic despite disappointment from early clinical results. Eur J Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017. 05.059
- Mertens J, Herdy JR, Traxler L, Schafer ST, Schlachetzki JCM, Bohnke L, Reid DA, Lee H, Zangwill D, Fernandes DP, Agarwal RK, Lucciola R, Zhou-Yang L, Karbacher L, Edenhofer F, Stern S, Horvath S, Paquola ACM, Glass CK, Yuan SH, Ku M, Szucs A, Goldstein LSB, Galasko D, Gage FH (2021) Age-dependent instability of mature neuronal fate in induced neurons from Alzheimer's patients. Cell Stem Cell 28(9):1533–1548. e1536. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2021.04.004
- Mertens J, Paquola ACM, Ku M, Hatch E, Bohnke L, Ladjevardi S, McGrath S, Campbell B, Lee H, Herdy JR, Goncalves JT, Toda T, Kim Y, Winkler J, Yao J, Hetzer MW, Gage FH (2015) Directly reprogrammed human neurons retain aging-associated transcriptomic signatures and reveal age-related nucleocytoplasmic defects. Cell Stem Cell 17(6):705–718. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.09.001
- Mertens J, Reid D, Lau S, Kim Y, Gage FH (2018) Aging in a dish: iPSC-derived and directly induced neurons for studying brain aging and age-related neurodegenerative diseases. Annu Rev Genet 52:271–293. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-120417-031534
- Mielke MM, Ferretti MT, Iulita MF, Hayden K, Khachaturian AS (2018) Sex and gender in Alzheimer's disease - Does it matter? Alzheimers

Dement 14(9):1101–1103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jalz.2018.08.003

- Milanese C, Gabriels S, Barnhoorn S, Cerri S, Ulusoy A, Gornati SV, Wallace DF, Blandini F, Di Monte DA, Subramaniam VN, Mastroberardino PG (2021) Gender biased neuroprotective effect of Transferrin Receptor 2 deletion in multiple models of Parkinson's disease. Cell Death Differ 28(5):1720–1732. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41418-020-00698-4
- Miller DH, Fazekas F, Montalban X, Reingold SC, Trojano M (2014) Pregnancy, sex and hormonal factors in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 20(5):527–536. https://doi. org/10.1177/1352458513519840
- Milne MR, Haug CA, Abraham IM, Kwakowsky A (2015) Estradiol modulation of neurotrophin receptor expression in female mouse basal forebrain cholinergic neurons in vivo. Endocrinology 156(2):613–626. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1669
- Miquel-Serra L, Duarri A, Munoz Y, Kuebler B, Aran B, Costa C, Marti M, Comabella M, Malhotra S, Montalban X, Veiga A, Raya A (2017) Generation of six multiple sclerosis patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cell lines. Stem Cell Res 24:155–159. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2017.06.001
- Mir FR, Wilson C, Cabrera Zapata LE, Aguayo LG, Cambiasso MJ (2020) Gonadal hormone-independent sex differences in GABAA receptor activation in rat embryonic hypothalamic neurons. Br J Pharmacol 177(13):3075–3090. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph. 15037
- Miranda M, Morici JF, Zanoni MB, Bekinschtein P (2019) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor: a key molecule for memory in the healthy and the pathological brain. Front Cell Neurosci 13:363. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fncel.2019.00363
- Miranda RC, Sohrabji F, Toran-Allerand CD (1993) Neuronal colocalization of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors in the developing central nervous system suggests a potential for autocrine interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(14):6439–6443
- Mishra S, Taelman J, Chang YW, Boel A, De Sutter P, Heindryckx B, Chuva De Sousa Lopes SM (2021) Sex-specific isolation and propagation of human premeiotic fetal germ cells and germ cell-like cells. Cells 10 (5). doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ cells10051214
- Mitre M, Mariga A, Chao MV (2017) Neurotrophin signalling: novel insights into mechanisms and pathophysiology. Clin Sci (Lond) 131(1):13–23. https:// doi.org/10.1042/CS20160044
- Moisan F, Kab S, Mohamed F, Canonico M, Le Guern M, Quintin C, Carcaillon L, Nicolau J, Duport N, Singh-Manoux A, Boussac-Zarebska M, Elbaz A (2016) Parkinson disease male-to-female ratios increase with age: French nationwide study and meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 87(9):952–957. https:// doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2015-312283
- Morales Pantoja IE, Smith MD, Rajbhandari L, Cheng L, Gao Y, Mahairaki V, Venkatesan A, Calabresi PA,

Fitzgerald KC, Whartenby KA (2020) iPSCs from people with MS can differentiate into oligodendrocytes in a homeostatic but not an inflammatory milieu. PLoS One 15(6):e0233980. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0233980

- Morley JE, Kaiser FE, Perry HM 3rd, Patrick P, Morley PM, Stauber PM, Vellas B, Baumgartner RN, Garry PJ (1997) Longitudinal changes in testosterone, luteinizing hormone, and follicle-stimulating hormone in healthy older men. Metabolism 46(4):410–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0026-0495(97)90057-3
- Mozafari S, Starost L, Manot-Saillet B, Garcia-Diaz B, Xu YKT, Roussel D, Levy MJF, Ottoboni L, Kim KP, Scholer HR, Kennedy TE, Antel JP, Martino G, Angulo MC, Kuhlmann T, Baron-Van Evercooren A (2020) Multiple sclerosis iPS-derived oligodendroglia conserve their properties to functionally interact with axons and glia in vivo. Sci Adv 6(49). https://doi.org/ 10.1126/sciadv.abc6983
- Muffat J, Li Y, Yuan B, Mitalipova M, Omer A, Corcoran S, Bakiasi G, Tsai LH, Aubourg P, Ransohoff RM, Jaenisch R (2016) Efficient derivation of microglia-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Med 22(11):1358–1367. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm.4189
- Mulnard RA, Cotman CW, Kawas C, van Dyck CH, Sano M, Doody R, Koss E, Pfeiffer E, Jin S, Gamst A, Grundman M, Thomas R, Thal LJ (2000) Estrogen replacement therapy for treatment of mild to moderate Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled trial. Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. JAMA 283(8):1007–1015. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.283. 8.1007
- Mutukula N, Man Z, Takahashi Y, Iniesta Martinez F, Morales M, Carreon-Guarnizo E, Hernandez Clares R, Garcia-Bernal D, Martinez Martinez L, Lajara J, Nunez Delicado E, Meca Lallana JE, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2021) Generation of RRMS and PPMS specific iPSCs as a platform for modeling Multiple Sclerosis. Stem Cell Res 53:102319. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scr.2021.102319
- Najm FJ, Lager AM, Zaremba A, Wyatt K, Caprariello AV, Factor DC, Karl RT, Maeda T, Miller RH, Tesar PJ (2013) Transcription factor-mediated reprogramming of fibroblasts to expandable, myelinogenic oligodendrocyte progenitor cells. Nat Biotechnol 31(5):426–433. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2561
- Nebel RA, Aggarwal NT, Barnes LL, Gallagher A, Goldstein JM, Kantarci K, Mallampalli MP, Mormino EC, Scott L, Yu WH, Maki PM, Mielke MM (2018) Understanding the impact of sex and gender in Alzheimer's disease: A call to action. Alzheimers Dement. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.04.008
- Neu SC, Pa J, Kukull W, Beekly D, Kuzma A, Gangadharan P, Wang LS, Romero K, Arneric SP, Redolfi A, Orlandi D, Frisoni GB, Au R, Devine S, Auerbach S, Espinosa A, Boada M, Ruiz A, Johnson SC, Koscik R, Wang JJ, Hsu WC, Chen YL, Toga AW (2017) Apolipoprotein E genotype and sex risk factors

for Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol 74(10):1178–1189. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.2188

- Ng YH, Chanda S, Janas JA, Yang N, Kokubu Y, Sudhof TC, Wernig M (2021) Efficient generation of dopaminergic induced neuronal cells with midbrain characteristics. Stem Cell Reports 16(7):1763–1776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2021.05.017
- Nicaise AM, Banda E, Guzzo RM, Russomanno K, Castro-Borrero W, Willis CM, Johnson KM, Lo AC, Crocker SJ (2017) iPS-derived neural progenitor cells from PPMS patients reveal defect in myelin injury response. Exp Neurol 288:114–121. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.11.012
- Nott A, Holtman IR, Coufal NG, Schlachetzki JCM, Yu M, Hu R, Han CZ, Pena M, Xiao J, Wu Y, Keulen Z, Pasillas MP, O'Connor C, Nickl CK, Schafer ST, Shen Z, Rissman RA, Brewer JB, Gosselin D, Gonda DD, Levy ML, Rosenfeld MG, McVicker G, Gage FH, Ren B, Glass CK (2019) Brain cell type-specific enhancer-promoter interactome maps and disease-risk association. Science 366(6469):1134–1139. https://doi.org/10.1126/sci ence.aay0793
- Ochalek A, Mihalik B, Avci HX, Chandrasekaran A, Teglasi A, Bock I, Giudice ML, Tancos Z, Molnar K, Laszlo L, Nielsen JE, Holst B, Freude K, Hyttel P, Kobolak J, Dinnyes A (2017) Neurons derived from sporadic Alzheimer's disease iPSCs reveal elevated TAU hyperphosphorylation, increased amyloid levels, and GSK3B activation. Alzheimers Res Ther 9(1):90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-017-0317-z
- Ohgidani M, Kato TA, Setoyama D, Sagata N, Hashimoto R, Shigenobu K, Yoshida T, Hayakawa K, Shimokawa N, Miura D, Utsumi H, Kanba S (2014) Direct induction of ramified microglia-like cells from human monocytes: dynamic microglial dysfunction in Nasu-Hakola disease. Sci Rep 4:4957. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep04957
- Oksanen M, Petersen AJ, Naumenko N, Puttonen K, Lehtonen S, Gubert Olive M, Shakirzyanova A, Leskela S, Sarajarvi T, Viitanen M, Rinne JO, Hiltunen M, Haapasalo A, Giniatullin R, Tavi P, Kanninen KM, Hamalainen RH, Zhang SC, Koistinaho J (2017) PSEN1 mutant iPSC-derived model reveals severe astrocyte pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Stem Cell Reports 9(6):1885-1897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr. 2017.10.016
- Ormel PR, Vieira de Sa R, van Bodegraven EJ, Karst H, Harschnitz O, Sneeboer MAM, Johansen LE, van Dijk RE, Scheefhals N, Berdenis van Berlekom A, Ribes Martinez E, Kling S, MacGillavry HD, van den Berg LH, Kahn RS, Hol EM, de Witte LD, Pasterkamp RJ (2018) Microglia innately develop within cerebral organoids. Nat Commun 9(1):4167. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-018-06684-2
- Ortiz-Virumbrales M, Moreno CL, Kruglikov I, Marazuela P, Sproul A, Jacob S, Zimmer M, Paull D,

Zhang B, Schadt EE, Ehrlich ME, Tanzi RE, Arancio O, Noggle S, Gandy S (2017) CRISPR/ Cas9-Correctable mutation-related molecular and physiological phenotypes in iPSC-derived Alzheimer's PSEN2 (N1411) neurons. Acta Neuropathol Commun 5(1):77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-017-0475-z

- Orton SM, Herrera BM, Yee IM, Valdar W, Ramagopalan SV, Sadovnick AD, Ebers GC, Canadian Collaborative Study G (2006) Sex ratio of multiple sclerosis in Canada: a longitudinal study. Lancet Neurol 5(11):932–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422 (06)70581-6
- Osaki T, Uzel SGM, Kamm RD (2018) Microphysiological 3D model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) from human iPS-derived muscle cells and optogenetic motor neurons. Sci Adv 4(10):eaat5847. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aat5847
- Ostrom QT, Patil N, Cioffi G, Waite K, Kruchko C, Barnholtz-Sloan JS (2020) CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and other central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2013-2017. Neuro Oncol 22(12 Suppl 2):iv1–iv96. https://doi.org/10. 1093/neuonc/noaa200
- Oveisgharan S, Arvanitakis Z, Yu L, Farfel J, Schneider JA, Bennett DA (2018) Sex differences in Alzheimer's disease and common neuropathologies of aging. Acta Neuropathol 136(6):887–900. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-018-1920-1
- Palko ME, Coppola V, Tessarollo L (1999) Evidence for a role of truncated trkC receptor isoforms in mouse development. J Neurosci 19(2):775–782
- Pandya H, Shen MJ, Ichikawa DM, Sedlock AB, Choi Y, Johnson KR, Kim G, Brown MA, Elkahloun AG, Maric D, Sweeney CL, Gossa S, Malech HL, McGavern DB, Park JK (2017) Differentiation of human and murine induced pluripotent stem cells to microglia-like cells. Nat Neurosci 20(5):753–759. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4534
- Pang ZP, Yang N, Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Fuentes DR, Yang TQ, Citri A, Sebastiano V, Marro S, Sudhof TC, Wernig M (2011) Induction of human neuronal cells by defined transcription factors. Nature 476(7359):220–223. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10202
- Paquet D, Kwart D, Chen A, Sproul A, Jacob S, Teo S, Olsen KM, Gregg A, Noggle S, Tessier-Lavigne M (2016) Efficient introduction of specific homozygous and heterozygous mutations using CRISPR/Cas9. Nature 533(7601):125–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature17664
- Park J, Wetzel I, Marriott I, Dreau D, D'Avanzo C, Kim DY, Tanzi RE, Cho H (2018) A 3D human triculture system modeling neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Neurosci 21(7):941–951. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41593-018-0175-4
- Penney J, Ralvenius WT, Tsai LH (2019) Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSC-derived brain cells. Mol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0468-3

- Penney J, Ralvenius WT, Tsai LH (2020) Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSC-derived brain cells. Mol Psychiatry 25(1):148–167. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41380-019-0468-3
- Picillo M, Nicoletti A, Fetoni V, Garavaglia B, Barone P, Pellecchia MT (2017) The relevance of gender in Parkinson's disease: a review. J Neurol 264(8):1583–1607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-016-8384-9
- Pike CJ (2017) Sex and the development of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci Res 95(1-2):671–680. https://doi. org/10.1002/jnr.23827
- Pinares-Garcia P, Stratikopoulos M, Zagato A, Loke H, Lee J (2018) Sex: A Significant Risk Factor for Neurodevelopmental and Neurodegenerative Disorders. Brain Sci 8(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci8080154
- Poewe W, Seppi K, Tanner CM, Halliday GM, Brundin P, Volkmann J, Schrag AE, Lang AE (2017) Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 3:17013. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrdp.2017.13
- Postuma RB, Aarsland D, Barone P, Burn DJ, Hawkes CH, Oertel W, Ziemssen T (2012) Identifying prodromal Parkinson's disease: pre-motor disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 27(5):617–626. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.24996
- Quadrato G, Nguyen T, Macosko EZ, Sherwood JL, Min Yang S, Berger DR, Maria N, Scholvin J, Goldman M, Kinney JP, Boyden ES, Lichtman JW, Williams ZM, McCarroll SA, Arlotta P (2017) Cell diversity and network dynamics in photosensitive human brain organoids. Nature 545(7652):48–53. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature22047
- Quarta E, Fulgenzi G, Bravi R, Cohen EJ, Yanpallewar S, Tessarollo L, Minciacchi D (2018) Deletion of the endogenous TrkB.T1 receptor isoform restores the number of hippocampal CA1 parvalbumin-positive neurons and rescues long-term potentiation in pre-symptomatic mSOD1(G93A) ALS mice. Mol Cell Neurosci 89:33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mcn.2018.03.010
- Raghava N, Das BC, Ray SK (2017) Neuroprotective effects of estrogen in CNS injuries: insights from animal models. Neurosci Neuroecon 6:15–29. https://doi. org/10.2147/NAN.S105134
- Raja WK, Mungenast AE, Lin YT, Ko T, Abdurrob F, Seo J, Tsai LH (2016) Self-organizing 3D human neural tissue derived from induced pluripotent stem cells recapitulate Alzheimer's disease phenotypes. PLoS One 11(9):e0161969. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0161969
- Rajan KB, Weuve J, Barnes LL, McAninch EA, Wilson RS, Evans DA (2021) Population estimate of people with clinical Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment in the United States (2020-2060). Alzheimers Dement. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12362
- Ramien C, Taenzer A, Lupu A, Heckmann N, Engler JB, Patas K, Friese MA, Gold SM (2016) Sex effects on inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes in multiple sclerosis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 67:137–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.12.015

- Randolph LN, Bao X, Oddo M, Lian XL (2019) Sex-dependent VEGF expression underlies variations in human pluripotent stem cell to endothelial progenitor differentiation. Sci Rep 9(1):16696. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-019-53054-z
- Rebuzzini P, Zuccotti M, Redi CA, Garagna S (2016) Achilles' heel of pluripotent stem cells: genetic, genomic and epigenetic variations during prolonged culture. Cell Mol Life Sci 73(13):2453–2466. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00018-016-2171-8
- Reekes TH, Higginson CI, Ledbetter CR, Sathivadivel N, Zweig RM, Disbrow EA (2020) Sex specific cognitive differences in Parkinson disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis 6:7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-020-0109-1
- Reich M, Paris I, Ebeling M, Dahm N, Schweitzer C, Reinhardt D, Schmucki R, Prasad M, Kochl F, Leist M, Cowley SA, Zhang JD, Patsch C, Gutbier S, Britschgi M (2020) Alzheimer's risk gene TREM2 determines functional properties of new type of human iPSC-derived microglia. Front Immunol 11: 617860. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.617860
- Resnick SM, Espeland MA, Jaramillo SA, Hirsch C, Stefanick ML, Murray AM, Ockene J, Davatzikos C (2009) Postmenopausal hormone therapy and regional brain volumes: the WHIMS-MRI Study. Neurology 72(2):135–142. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl. 0000339037.76336.cf
- Rich-Edwards JW, Kaiser UB, Chen GL, Manson JE, Goldstein JM (2018) Sex and gender differences research design for basic, clinical, and population studies: essentials for investigators. Endocr Rev 39(4):424–439. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00246
- Rocca WA (2017) Time, sex, gender, history, and dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 31(1):76–79. https:// doi.org/10.1097/WAD.00000000000187
- Romanelli RJ, Huang Q, Lacy J, Hashemi L, Wong A, Smith A (2020) Multiple sclerosis in a multi-ethnic population from Northern California: a retrospective analysis, 2010-2016. BMC Neurol 20(1):163. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12883-020-01749-6
- Rosario ER, Chang L, Head EH, Stanczyk FZ, Pike CJ (2011) Brain levels of sex steroid hormones in men and women during normal aging and in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 32(4):604–613. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.04.008
- Rossetti AC, Paladini MS, Trepci A, Mallien A, Riva MA, Gass P, Molteni R (2019) Differential neuroinflammatory response in male and female mice: a role for BDNF. Front Mol Neurosci 12:166. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2019.00166
- Rotstein DL, Chen H, Wilton AS, Kwong JC, Marrie RA, Gozdyra P, Krysko KM, Kopp A, Copes R, Tu K (2018) Temporal trends in multiple sclerosis prevalence and incidence in a large population. Neurology 90(16):e1435–e1441. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL. 000000000005331
- Russell JK, Jones CK, Newhouse PA (2019) The role of estrogen in brain and cognitive aging.

Neurotherapeutics 16(3):649–665. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13311-019-00766-9

- Ryan KJ, White CC, Patel K, Xu J, Olah M, Replogle JM, Frangieh M, Cimpean M, Winn P, McHenry A, Kaskow BJ, Chan G, Cuerdon N, Bennett DA, Boyd JD, Imitola J, Elyaman W, De Jager PL, Bradshaw EM (2017) A human microglia-like cellular model for assessing the effects of neurodegenerative disease gene variants. Sci Transl Med 9(421). https://doi.org/ 10.1126/scitranslmed.aai7635
- Sahab-Negah S, Hajali V, Moradi HR, Gorji A (2020) The impact of Estradiol on neurogenesis and cognitive functions in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Mol Neurobiol 40(3):283–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-019-00733-0
- Salter MW, Stevens B (2017) Microglia emerge as central players in brain disease. Nat Med 23(9):1018–1027. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4397
- Sampathkumar NK, Bravo JI, Chen Y, Danthi PS, Donahue EK, Lai RW, Lu R, Randall LT, Vinson N, Benayoun BA (2020) Widespread sex dimorphism in aging and age-related diseases. Hum Genet 139(3):333–356. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02082-w
- Sanabria-Castro A, Flores-Diaz M, Alape-Giron A (2020) Biological models in multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci Res 98(3):491–508. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.24528
- Santos-Galindo M, Acaz-Fonseca E, Bellini MJ, Garcia-Segura LM (2011) Sex differences in the inflammatory response of primary astrocytes to lipopolysaccharide. Biol Sex Differ 2:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-6410-2-7
- Saragovi HU, Galan A, Levin LA (2019) Neuroprotection: pro-survival and anti-neurotoxic mechanisms as therapeutic strategies in neurodegeneration. Front Cell Neurosci 13:231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019. 00231
- Savolainen-Peltonen H, Rahkola-Soisalo P, Hoti F, Vattulainen P, Gissler M, Ylikorkala O, Mikkola TS (2019) Use of postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of Alzheimer's disease in Finland: nationwide case-control study. BMJ 364:1665. https://doi.org/10. 1136/bmj.1665
- Scacchi R, Gambina G, Broggio E, Corbo RM (2014) Sex and ESR1 genotype may influence the response to treatment with donepezil and rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 29(6):610–615. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4043
- Scearce-Levie K, Sanchez PE, Lewcock JW (2020) Leveraging preclinical models for the development of Alzheimer disease therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 19(7):447–462. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-0065-9
- Sellgren CM, Gracias J, Watmuff B, Biag JD, Thanos JM, Whittredge PB, Fu T, Worringer K, Brown HE, Wang J, Kaykas A, Karmacharya R, Goold CP, Sheridan SD, Perlis RH (2019) Increased synapse elimination by microglia in schizophrenia patient-derived models of

synaptic pruning. Nat Neurosci 22(3):374–385. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0334-7

- Sen A, Nelson TJ, Alkon DL (2017) ApoE isoforms differentially regulates cleavage and secretion of BDNF. Mol Brain 10(1):19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13041-017-0301-3
- Sertel SM, Blumenstein W, Mandad S, Shomroni O, Salinas G, Rizzoli SO (2021) Differences in synaptic vesicle pool behavior between male and female hippocampal cultured neurons. Sci Rep 11(1):17374. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96846-y
- Shah K, McCormack CE, Bradbury NA (2014) Do you know the sex of your cells? Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 306(1):C3–C18. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell. 00281.2013
- Shaltouki A, Peng J, Liu Q, Rao MS, Zeng X (2013) Efficient generation of astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in defined conditions. Stem Cells 31(5):941–952. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1334
- Sharma J, Nelluru G, Wilson MA, Johnston MV, Hossain MA (2011) Sex-specific activation of cell death signalling pathways in cerebellar granule neurons exposed to oxygen glucose deprivation followed by reoxygenation. ASN Neuro 3(2). https://doi.org/10.1042/ AN20100032
- Shi Y, Kirwan P, Smith J, Robinson HP, Livesey FJ (2012) Human cerebral cortex development from pluripotent stem cells to functional excitatory synapses. Nat Neurosci 15(3):477–486., S471. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nn.3041
- Simunovic F, Yi M, Wang Y, Stephens R, Sonntag KC (2010) Evidence for gender-specific transcriptional profiles of nigral dopamine neurons in Parkinson disease. PLoS One 5(1):e8856. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0008856
- Siney EJ, Kurbatskaya K, Chatterjee S, Prasannan P, Mudher A, Willaime-Morawek S (2018) Modelling neurodegenerative diseases in vitro: Recent advances in 3D iPSC technologies. AIMS Cell and Tissue Engineering 2(1):1–23. https://doi.org/10.3934/celltissue. 2018.1.1
- Sloan SA, Darmanis S, Huber N, Khan TA, Birey F, Caneda C, Reimer R, Quake SR, Barres BA, Pasca SP (2017) Human astrocyte maturation captured in 3D cerebral cortical spheroids derived from pluripotent stem cells. Neuron 95(4):779–790. e776. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.035
- Sohrabji F, Miranda RC, Toran-Allerand CD (1995) Identification of a putative estrogen response element in the gene encoding brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(24):11110–11114
- Sommer IE, Tiihonen J, van Mourik A, Tanskanen A, Taipale H (2020) The clinical course of schizophrenia in women and men-a nation-wide cohort study. NPJ Schizophr 6(1):12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41537-020-0102-z
- Song YJ, Li SR, Li XW, Chen X, Wei ZX, Liu QS, Cheng Y (2020) The effect of estrogen replacement therapy on Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease in

postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis. Front Neurosci 14:157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020. 00157

- Spencer-Segal JL, Waters EM, Bath KG, Chao MV, McEwen BS, Milner TA (2011) Distribution of phosphorylated TrkB receptor in the mouse hippocampal formation depends on sex and estrous cycle stage. J Neurosci 31(18):6780–6790. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0910-11.2011
- Stephen TL, Cacciottolo M, Balu D, Morgan TE, LaDu MJ, Finch CE, Pike CJ (2019) APOE genotype and sex affect microglial interactions with plaques in Alzheimer's disease mice. Acta Neuropathol Commun 7(1):82. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-019-0729-z
- Stone DJ, Rozovsky I, Morgan TE, Anderson CP, Hajian H, Finch CE (1997) Astrocytes and microglia respond to estrogen with increased apoE mRNA in vivo and in vitro. Exp Neurol 143(2):313–318. https://doi.org/10.1006/exnr.1996.6360
- Sunny DE, Hammer E, Strempel S, Joseph C, Manchanda H, Ittermann T, Hubner S, Weiss FU, Volker U, Heckmann M (2020) Nup133 and ERalpha mediate the differential effects of hyperoxia-induced damage in male and female OPCs. Mol Cell Pediatr 7(1):10. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40348-020-00102-8
- Swamydas M, Bessert D, Skoff R (2009) Sexual dimorphism of oligodendrocytes is mediated by differential regulation of signaling pathways. J Neurosci Res 87(15):3306–3319. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21943
- Syrett CM, Sierra I, Berry CL, Beiting D, Anguera MC (2018) Sex-specific gene expression differences are evident in human embryonic stem cells and during in vitro differentiation of human placental progenitor cells. Stem Cells Dev 27(19):1360–1375. https://doi. org/10.1089/scd.2018.0081
- Tang MX, Jacobs D, Stern Y, Marder K, Schofield P, Gurland B, Andrews H, Mayeux R (1996) Effect of oestrogen during menopause on risk and age at onset of Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 348(9025):429–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(96)03356-9
- Tcw J, Wang M, Pimenova AA, Bowles KR, Hartley BJ, Lacin E, Machlovi SI, Abdelaal R, Karch CM, Phatnani H, Slesinger PA, Zhang B, Goate AM, Brennand KJ (2017) An efficient platform for astrocyte differentiation from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 9(2):600–614. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.06.018
- Tessarollo L (1998) Pleiotropic functions of neurotrophins in development. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 9(2):125–137
- Thomas R, Hallett PJ, Isacson O (2020) Experimental studies of mitochondrial and lysosomal function in in vitro and in vivo models relevant to Parkinson's disease genetic risk. Int Rev Neurobiol 154:279–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2020.02.004
- Thompson AJ, Baranzini SE, Geurts J, Hemmer B, Ciccarelli O (2018) Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 391(10130):1622–1636. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(18)30481-1

- Tian E, Sun G, Sun G, Chao J, Ye P, Warden C, Riggs AD, Shi Y (2016) Small-molecule-based lineage reprogramming creates functional astrocytes. Cell Rep 16(3):781–792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep. 2016.06.042
- Tiihonen J, Koskuvi M, Storvik M, Hyotylainen I, Gao Y, Puttonen KA, Giniatullina R, Poguzhelskaya E, Ojansuu I, Vaurio O, Cannon TD, Lonnqvist J, Therman S, Suvisaari J, Kaprio J, Cheng L, Hill AF, Lahteenvuo M, Tohka J, Giniatullin R, Lehtonen S, Koistinaho J (2019) Sex-specific transcriptional and proteomic signatures in schizophrenia. Nat Commun 10(1):3933. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11797-3
- Tomassoni-Ardori F, Fulgenzi G, Becker J, Barrick C, Palko ME, Kuhn S, Koparde V, Cam M, Yanpallewar S, Oberdoerffer S, Tessarollo L (2019) Rbfox1 up-regulation impairs BDNF-dependent hippocampal LTP by dysregulating TrkB isoform expression levels. Elife 8. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.49673
- Tremblay C, Abbasi N, Zeighami Y, Yau Y, Dadar M, Rahayel S, Dagher A (2020) Sex effects on brain structure in de novo Parkinson's disease: a multimodal neuroimaging study. Brain 143(10):3052–3066. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa234
- Triantafyllou N, Thoda P, Armeni E, Rizos D, Kaparos G, Augoulea A, Alexandrou A, Creatsa M, Tsivgoulis G, Artemiades A, Panoulis C, Lambrinoudaki I (2016) Association of sex hormones and glucose metabolism with the severity of multiple sclerosis. Int J Neurosci 126(9):797–804. https://doi.org/10.3109/00207454. 2015.1069825
- Trojsi F, D'Alvano G, Bonavita S, Tedeschi G (2020) Genetics and sex in the pathogenesis of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS): is there a link? Int J Mol Sci 21(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103647
- Uddin MS, Rahman MM, Jakaria M, Rahman MS, Hossain MS, Islam A, Ahmed M, Mathew B, Omar UM, Barreto GE, Ashraf GM (2020) Estrogen signaling in Alzheimer's disease: molecular insights and therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's dementia. Mol Neurobiol 57(6):2654–2670. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12035-020-01911-8
- Ullah I, Shin Y, Kim Y, Oh KB, Hwang S, Kim YI, Lee JW, Hur TY, Lee S, Ock SA (2021) Effect of sex-specific differences on function of induced hepatocyte-like cells generated from male and female mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Stem Cell Res Ther 12(1):79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02100-z
- Uluc K, Kendigelen P, Fidan E, Zhang L, Chanana V, Kintner D, Akture E, Song C, Ye K, Sun D, Ferrazzano P, Cengiz P (2013) TrkB receptor agonist 7, 8 dihydroxyflavone triggers profound genderdependent neuroprotection in mice after perinatal hypoxia and ischemia. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 12(3):360–370
- Vadodaria KC, Jones JR, Linker S, Gage FH (2020) Modeling brain disorders using induced pluripotent stem cells. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 12(6). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a035659

- Vaidya B, Dhamija K, Guru P, Sharma SS (2021) Parkinson's disease in women: mechanisms underlying sex differences. Eur J Pharmacol 895:173862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2021.173862
- Van't Veer A, Du Y, Fischer TZ, Boetig DR, Wood MR, Dreyfus CF (2009) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor effects on oligodendrocyte progenitors of the basal forebrain are mediated through trkB and the MAP kinase pathway. J Neurosci Res 87(1):69–78. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21841
- van Es MA, Hardiman O, Chio A, Al-Chalabi A, Pasterkamp RJ, Veldink JH, van den Berg LH (2017) Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet 390(10107):2084–2098. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(17)31287-4
- Veening-Griffioen DH, Ferreira GS, van Meer PJK, Boon WPC, Gispen-de Wied CC, Moors EHM, Schellekens H (2019) Are some animal models more equal than others? A case study on the translational value of animal models of efficacy for Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Pharmacol 859:172524. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ejphar.2019.172524
- Vegeto E, Villa A, Della Torre S, Crippa V, Rusmini P, Cristofani R, Galbiati M, Maggi A, Poletti A (2020) The role of sex and sex hormones in neurodegenerative diseases. Endocr Rev 41(2). https://doi.org/10.1210/ endrev/bnz005
- Vetvik KG, MacGregor EA (2017) Sex differences in the epidemiology, clinical features, and pathophysiology of migraine. Lancet Neurol 16(1):76–87. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30293-9
- Villa A, Gelosa P, Castiglioni L, Cimino M, Rizzi N, Pepe G, Lolli F, Marcello E, Sironi L, Vegeto E, Maggi A (2018) Sex-specific features of microglia from adult mice. Cell Rep 23(12):3501–3511. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.048
- Volpato V, Webber C (2020) Addressing variability in iPSC-derived models of human disease: guidelines to promote reproducibility. Dis Model Mech 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.042317
- Vyas MV, Silver FL, Austin PC, Yu AYX, Pequeno P, Fang J, Laupacis A, Kapral MK (2021) Stroke incidence by sex across the lifespan. Stroke 52(2):447–451. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.120.032898
- Walker CJ, Schroeder ME, Aguado BA, Anseth KS, Leinwand LA (2021) Matters of the heart: Cellular sex differences. J Mol Cell Cardiol 160:42–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2021.04.010
- Walsh P, Truong V, Nayak S, Saldias Montivero M, Low WC, Parr AM, Dutton JR (2020) Accelerated differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into neural lineages via an early intermediate ectoderm population. Stem Cells 38(11):1400–1408. https://doi.org/10. 1002/stem.3260
- Wang JM, Irwin RW, Brinton RD (2006) Activation of estrogen receptor alpha increases and estrogen receptor beta decreases apolipoprotein E expression in hippocampus in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A

103(45):16983–16988. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0608128103

- Wang PN, Liao SQ, Liu RS, Liu CY, Chao HT, Lu SR, Yu HY, Wang SJ, Liu HC (2000) Effects of estrogen on cognition, mood, and cerebral blood flow in AD: a controlled study. Neurology 54(11):2061–2066. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.54.11.2061
- Wang X, Zhou W, Ye T, Lin X, Zhang J, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2019) Sex difference in the association of APOE4 with memory decline in mild cognitive impairment. J Alzheimers Dis 69(4):1161–1169. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-181234
- Wei SM, Baller EB, Kohn PD, Kippenhan JS, Kolachana B, Soldin SJ, Rubinow DR, Schmidt PJ, Berman KF (2018) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val(66)Met genotype and ovarian steroids interactively modulate working memory-related hippocampal function in women: a multimodal neuroimaging study. Mol Psychiatry 23(4):1066–1075. https://doi.org/10. 1038/mp.2017.72
- Wei YC, Wang SR, Xu XH (2017) Sex differences in brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling: Functions and implications. J Neurosci Res 95(1-2):336–344. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23897
- Welshons WV, Wolf MF, Murphy CS, Jordan VC (1988) Estrogenic activity of phenol red. Mol Cell Endocrinol 57(3):169–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0303-7207 (88)90072-x
- Wezyk M, Szybinska A, Wojsiat J, Szczerba M, Day K, Ronnholm H, Kele M, Berdynski M, Peplonska B, Fichna JP, Ilkowski J, Styczynska M, Barczak A, Zboch M, Filipek-Gliszczynska A, Bojakowski K, Skrzypczak M, Ginalski K, Kabza M, Makalowska I, Barcikowska-Kotowicz M, Wojda U, Falk A, Zekanowski C (2018) Overactive BRCA1 affects Presenilin 1 in induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 62(1):175–202. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170830
- Wilhelm CJ, Hashimoto JG, Roberts ML, Bloom SH, Andrew MR, Wiren KM (2016) Astrocyte dysfunction induced by alcohol in females but not males. Brain Pathol 26(4):433–451. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa. 12276
- Will TR, Proano SB, Thomas AM, Kunz LM, Thompson KC, Ginnari LA, Jones CH, Lucas SC, Reavis EM, Dorris DM, Meitzen J (2017) Problems and progress regarding sex bias and omission in neuroscience research. eNeuro 4(6). https://doi.org/10.1523/ ENEURO.0278-17.2017
- Wittchen HU, Jacobi F, Rehm J, Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jonsson B, Olesen J, Allgulander C, Alonso J, Faravelli C, Fratiglioni L, Jennum P, Lieb R, Maercker A, van Os J, Preisig M, Salvador-Carulla L, Simon R, Steinhausen HC (2011) The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 21(9):655–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2011.07.018

- Woitowich NC, Beery A, Woodruff T (2020) A 10-year follow-up study of sex inclusion in the biological sciences. Elife 9. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.56344
- Wong J, Woon HG, Weickert CS (2011) Full length TrkB potentiates estrogen receptor alpha mediated transcription suggesting convergence of susceptibility pathways in schizophrenia. Mol Cell Neurosci 46(1):67–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2010.08.007
- Xiao J, Wong AW, Willingham MM, van den Buuse M, Kilpatrick TJ, Murray SS (2010) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes central nervous system myelination via a direct effect upon oligodendrocytes. Neurosignals 18(3):186–202. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000323170
- Xu J, Xia LL, Song N, Chen SD, Wang G (2016) Testosterone, estradiol, and sex hormone-binding globulin in Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. Curr Alzheimer Res 13(3):215–222. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1567205013666151218145752
- Xu R, Boreland AJ, Li X, Erickson C, Jin M, Atkins C, Pang ZP, Daniels BP, Jiang P (2021) Developing human pluripotent stem cell-based cerebral organoids with a controllable microglia ratio for modeling brain development and pathology. Stem Cell Reports 16(8):1923–1937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr. 2021.06.011
- Yang CZ, Yaniger SI, Jordan VC, Klein DJ, Bittner GD (2011) Most plastic products release estrogenic chemicals: a potential health problem that can be solved. Environ Health Perspect 119(7):989–996. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1003220
- Yang N, Zuchero JB, Ahlenius H, Marro S, Ng YH, Vierbuchen T, Hawkins JS, Geissler R, Barres BA, Wernig M (2013) Generation of oligodendroglial cells by direct lineage conversion. Nat Biotechnol 31(5):434–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2564
- Yanpallewar S, Fulgenzi G, Tomassoni-Ardori F, Barrick C, Tessarollo L (2021) Delayed onset of inherited ALS by deletion of the BDNF receptor TrkB.T1 is non-cell autonomous. Exp Neurol 337: 113576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2020. 113576
- Yanpallewar SU, Barrick CA, Buckley H, Becker J, Tessarollo L (2012) Deletion of the BDNF truncated receptor TrkB.T1 delays disease onset in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. PLoS One 7(6):e39946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0039946
- Yao J, Irwin RW, Zhao L, Nilsen J, Hamilton RT, Brinton RD (2009) Mitochondrial bioenergetic deficit precedes Alzheimer's pathology in female mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(34):14670–14675. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0903563106
- Yasar P, Ayaz G, User SD, Gupur G, Muyan M (2017) Molecular mechanism of estrogen-estrogen receptor signaling. Reprod Med Biol 16(1):4–20. https://doi. org/10.1002/rmb2.12006

- Yasuda K, Maki T, Kinoshita H, Kaji S, Toyokawa M, Nishigori R, Kinoshita Y, Ono Y, Kinoshita A, Takahashi R (2020) Sex-specific differences in transcriptomic profiles and cellular characteristics of oligodendrocyte precursor cells. Stem Cell Res 46: 101866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2020.101866
- Yeung MSY, Djelloul M, Steiner E, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Possnert G, Brundin L, Frisen J (2019) Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation in multiple sclerosis. Nature 566(7745):538–542. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-018-0842-3
- Yin J, VanDongen AM (2021) Enhanced neuronal activity and Asynchronous Calcium Transients revealed in a 3D organoid model of Alzheimer's disease. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 7(1):254–264. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acsbiomaterials.0c01583
- Yoshihara M, Oguchi A, Murakawa Y (2019) Genomic instability of iPSCs and challenges in their clinical

applications. Adv Exp Med Biol 1201:23–47. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31206-0\_2

- Yu T, Calvo L, Anta B, Lopez-Benito S, Lopez-Bellido R, Vicente-Garcia C, Tessarollo L, Rodriguez RE, Arevalo JC (2014) In vivo regulation of NGF-mediated functions by Nedd4-2 ubiquitination of TrkA. J Neurosci 34(17):6098–6106. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4271-13.2014
- Yue X, Lu M, Lancaster T, Cao P, Honda S, Staufenbiel M, Harada N, Zhong Z, Shen Y, Li R (2005) Brain estrogen deficiency accelerates Abeta plaque formation in an Alzheimer's disease animal model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(52):19198–19203. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.0505203102
- Zielonka D, Stawinska-Witoszynska B (2020) Gender differences in non-sex linked disorders: insights from Huntington's Disease. Front Neurol 11:571. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00571



Current Status, Barriers, and Future Directions for Humanized Mouse Models to Evaluate Stem Cell–Based Islet Cell Transplant

Kevin Verhoeff, Braulio A. Marfil-Garza, Nerea Cuesta-Gomez, Ila Jasra, Nidheesh Dadheech, and A. M. James Shapiro

#### Abstract

Islet cell transplant (ITx) continues to improve, with recently published long-term outcomes suggesting nearly 80% graft survival, leading to improvements in glycemic control, reductions

K. Verhoeff

Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: verhoeff@ualberta.ca

B. A. Marfil-Garza Department of Surgery, University of Alberta, Edmonton,

AB, Canada

National Institute of Medical Sciences and Nutrition Salvador Zubiran, Mexico City, Mexico

CHRISTUS-LatAm Hub – Excellence and Innovation Center, Monterrey, Mexico e-mail: marfilga@ualberta.ca

N. Cuesta-Gomez, I. Jasra, and N. Dadheech Alberta Diabetes Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

A. M. J. Shapiro (⊠) Alberta Diabetes Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Department of Surgery and Clinical Islet Transplant Programme, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Li Ka Shing Centre for Health Research Innovation, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: jshapiro@ualberta.ca in insulin doses, and near-complete abrogation of severe hypoglycemia. Unfortunately, access to ITx remains limited by immunosuppression requirements and donor supply. Discovery of stem cell-derived functional islet-like clusters with the capacity to reverse diabetes offers a renewable, potentially immunosuppressionfree solution for future widespread ITx. Evaluation and optimization of these therapies is ongoing, but may one day provide a realistic cure for type 1 diabetes. However, stem cellbased ITx has unique immunologic questions that remain unanswered. Here, we briefly synthesize current approaches for stem cellderived ITx, review humanized mice models, and elaborate on the potential of humanized mice models for bridging the gap between current small rodent models and human clinical trials for allogeneic and autologous inducible pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-based ITx while highlighting limitations and future directions.

### Keywords

Diabetes · Humanized mouse model · Immunosuppression · Inducible pluripotent stem cells · Islet cell transplant · Transplant

## Abbreviations

APC	Antigen presenting cell
BLT	Bone liver thymus mouse model
BRG	BALB/c-Rag2 gamma
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
Hu-PBL-	Human peripheral blood
SCID	lymphocyte mouse model
Hu-SRC-	Human SCID repopulating cell
SCID	mouse model
iPSC	Inducible pluripotent stem cell
ITx	Islet cell transplantation
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
NRG	NOD-Rag1 gamma (NRG)
NSG	NOD-scid gamma
PBL	Peripheral blood lymphocyte
T1D	Type 1 diabetes

### 1 Introduction

Twenty two years ago, islet cell transplant (ITx) provided proof-of-concept for a cell-based cure of type 1 diabetes (T1D), when 100% insulin independence was achieved 1 year post-ITx in a small number of subjects using glucocorticoid-free immunosuppression (Shapiro et al. 2000). Although long-term insulin independence only occurred in some patients, ITx has since proven to be a highly efficacious treatment for T1D patients with severe and recurrent hypoglycemia or severe glycemic lability (Marfil-Garza et al. 2020a). With ongoing technical, immune, and engraftment techniques, substantial advances continue to be recognized (Verhoeff et al. 2021a, b; Markmann et al. 2020; Marfil-Garza et al. 2021a); new evidence has demonstrated comparable 20-year patient survival between ITx and other T1D patient cohorts and 10-year graft survival rates of nearly 80% with sustained improvements in glycemic control, reductions in insulin doses, and near-complete abrogation of severe hypoglycemia (Verhoeff et al. 2021b; Vantyghem et al. 2019; Lemos et al. 2021; Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry 2017). The primary barriers to a more widespread use of

ITx are lifelong immunosuppression requirements and limited donor supply. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and inducible pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) present an exciting development and a path to simultaneously overcoming both barriers (Verhoeff et al. 2021a, b; Latres et al. 2019; Shapiro et al. 2021). With iPSCbased ITx, the Yamanaka transcription factors Sox2. c-Myc) (Oct3/4.Klf4, and are overexpressed in diverse mature cells (e.g., peripheral blood cells) to reverse them into a pluripotent state (Takahashi et al. 2007;Dadheech et al. 2022). Using ESCs and iPSCs functional islet cell clusters for transplant can be generated following a well-defined protocol (Verhoeff et al. 2021a; Rezania et al. 2014; Hogrebe et al. 2020). However, as stem cellbased ITx advance toward clinical trials, the question remains whether evaluation in rodents is sufficient or indeed confounding to demonstrate translational efficacy and safety.

While mice offer economical and ethical models to study ITx, their immune systems are dissimilar to those of humans, which limits their utility to evaluate immunogenic responses related to transplantation (Mestas and Hughes 2004; Cantarelli et al. 2013; Montanari et al. 2019). Historically, chimpanzees have helped bridge the gap between small rodent animal models and clinical trials in humans; however this has become less feasible due to ethical and funding limitations (Shultz et al. 2012; National Institutes of Health 2011). These limitations have led to an expanding interest in chimeric and humanized mouse models that could better replicate the human immune system.

In this review, humanized mice models refer to immunodeficient mice engrafted with portions of a human immune system. Ideally, these models would display an entire, innate, and acquired human immune system. Current efforts have focused on generating mouse strains capable of representing important aspects of human immune responses, more than the whole immune system. While it has been postulated that humanized mice may provide a way of evaluating stem cell–based ITx (Flahou et al. 2021), it remains unclear whether they can be utilized for evaluation of autologous iPSC-based ITx. Here, we briefly synthesize current approaches for stem cellbased ITx, review humanized mice models, and elaborate on the potential of humanized mice models for bridging the gap between current small rodent models and human clinical trials for allogeneic and autologous stem cell-based ITx, while highlighting limitations and future directions.

# 2 Stem Cell-Based Islet Cell Transplantation

Currently, clinical ITx demonstrates proof-ofconcept for a cell-based treatment for T1D (Marfil-Garza et al. 2020a, 2021a; Markmann et al. 2020; Vantyghem et al. 2019; Lemos et al. 2021; Shapiro et al. 2017; Zarinsefat and Stock 2020). As a way of addressing limitations in organ donor supply, ongoing work with ESCs and iPSCs have shown capacity to differentiate into functional islet-like clusters capable of reversing diabetes (Fig. 1) (Verhoeff et al. 2021a; Dadheech et al. 2022; Rezania et al. 2014; Hogrebe et al. 2020; Kroon et al. 2008; Sui et al. 2018). Their promise offers a path to personalized cell-based therapies that could ultimately offer a true cure for T1D (Verhoeff et al. 2021a; Latres et al. 2019; Takahashi et al. 2007). Herein, we discuss ESCs and iPSCs as they relate to humanized mouse models; for a recent review

on stem cell–based cellular therapies in diabetes, see Verhoeff et al. (Verhoeff et al. 2021a, b). As it relates to humanized mouse models, two approaches for stem cell–based ITx have been suggested: allogeneic and autologous, each with unique immune-related considerations that require further evaluation.

Allogeneic stem cell-based ITx involves generating human leukocyte antigen (HLA)matched or immune-silenced ESC or iPSC banks that can be used as a source of islet differentiation for all patients. It is highly likely that matching for major HLA antigens alone would be doomed to failure and mismatched minor still generate potent, destructive antigens immune response. Therefore generalized immunosuppression or alternatively some local or CRISPR-Cas9 genetic edit-based approaches would be needed to sustain allograft cell survival. Allogeneic approaches do however offer a technique that would simplify upscaling stem cellbased ITx to provide cells for >4 million T1D patients (Mobasseri et al. 2020). However, modified allogeneic islets represent a technically difficult approach, and currently only offer reduction and not complete elimination of immunosuppression. Several approaches to generating immune-tolerated allogeneic stem cell-based islets are being considered. Genetically modified stem cells may enable expression of immunotolerant molecules such as IL-10 or PD-L1 (Xu et al. 2015; Falcone and Fousteri



**Fig. 1** Embryological differentiation and maturation of islet cells. (Previously published by Verhoeff et al. (2021a) with permission for reuse)

2020). Alternatively, generating ESCs or iPSCs without HLA class 1 molecule expression may further reduce graft rejection and immunosuppression requirements. Han et al. (2019) and others have recently generated iPSCs without HLA class I molecules and expressing the immunomodulatory factors PD-L1, HLA-G, and CD47, which resulted in with blunted T-cell reactivity, minimal NK cell-mediated death, and macrophage phagocytosis (Han et al. 2019; Deuse et al. 2019; Shi et al. 2020). Similarly, ViaCyte's PEC-QT multitiered approach also takes advantage of these concepts and combines a genetically modified clonal ESC line expressing PD-L1 and lacking HLA class I molecules (i.e.,  $\beta$ microglobulin), with their PEC-Direct subcutaneous macroencapsulation device, and is expected to enter clinical trials soon (Verhoeff et al. 2021a, b; Shapiro et al. 2021; Sluch et al. 2019). However, islet cell maturation and their physiologic capacity to maintain normoglycemia after genetic modification remains unproven. Similarly, it remains uncertain whether allograft rejection will still occur despite genetic manipulation. Ongoing studies are certainly required prior to clinical implementation of allogeneic stem cellbased ITx.

Alternatively, individual iPSCs could be generated for each patient to create personalized islet-like cells for autologous ITx, which may eliminate the need for immunosuppression altogether. However, autologous islet cell clusters may still be subjected to recurrent autoimmune graft destruction (Verhoeff et al. 2021a, b). While autologous iPSC-derived islets would not face allogenecity, similar to what occurs following autologous ITx after total pancreatectomy, the effect of recurrent autoimmunity represents remains a key issue with uncertain effects. However, if recurrent autoimmunity does prove to be a barrier, combining "immune reset" approaches with autologous ITx may provide an effective solution to control recurrent autoimmunity (Marfil-Garza et al. 2021b, c; Moore et al. 2015; Voltarelli et al. 2007; Couri et al. 2009). Additionally, autologous iPSC-based ITx is more difficult for scale-up since it requires generation of unique iPSC lines for each patient, amplification,

maturation, and subsequent safety screening prior to ITx to identify and prevent genetic mutations or off-target effects. Automation, artificial intelligence (i.e., machine learning), process automation, large-scale bioreactors, standardized protocols, and increased efficiency of processes will be required to enable cost-efficient autologous iPSC-based ITx (Verhoeff et al. 2021a). Despite substantial promise, there remains unanswered questions regarding recurrent autoimmunity and uncertainty regarding feasibility of upscaling with research to evaluate these questions ongoing.

#### 3 Immune Responses

Differences between allogeneic and autologous responses for stem cell-based ITx are key when evaluating the utility of humanized mice models for preclinical evaluation. Alloimmune responses occur through direct recognition of donor major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and indirect recognition of graft-derived peptides through recipient MHC molecules. In humans, the key MHC molecule is the human leukocyte antigen (HLA). Recognition of MHC molecules by recipient antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and co-stimulatory signals leads to activation and amplification of recipient effector T-cells with ensuing direct cytotoxic graft destruction (Li et al. 2018). Alloimmunity begins immediately after islet infusion and can lead to massive islet cell destruction that could prevent any substantial benefit following ITx. In contrast, autoimmune responses, such as in T1D, involves destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells by infiltrative mononuclear inflammatory cells, including macrophages, CD4+, and CD8+ T-cells (Itoh et al. 1993); high concentrations of interleukin 2 (IL-2) lead to activated CD4+ cells, that stimulate CD8+ direct-cell-mediated apoptosis, and inflammation-driven insulitis within the pancreas (Thivolet et al. 1991). While macrophages and dendritic cells act as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that initiate the cytotoxic T-cell response (Knip and Siljander 2008; Echeverri and Tobón 2013; Gagnerault et al. 2002), it is T-cells that are central in the pathogenesis of T1D. In support of the key role of T-cells, inhibiting T-cells with cyclosporine slows T1D onset, and agammaglobulinemic patients without B-cells but with T-cells can still develop T1D (Mandrup-Poulsen et al. 1990; Martin et al. 2001). Furthermore, transferring T-cells from a patient with T1D to a nondiabetic patient has shown to induce T1D in the recipient (Lampeter et al. 1993). Secondary to insulitis and  $\beta$ -cell destruction by T-cells, specific antigens are exposed and patients acquire antibodies to insulin, islet cells, the cation efflux pump ZnT8, isoforms of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 or 67 (GAD65 or GAD67), or the IA-2 secretory protein (Echeverri and Tobón 2013). Autoimmunity occurs over months, with patients eventually becoming symptomatic once islet mass is reduced significantly. Recurrent autoimmunity in patients with T1D is largely understudied and remains difficult to evaluate, patients receiving ITx are currently as Concerning immunosuppressed. autologous iPSC-based ITx, theoretically, these patients continue to express islet specific antibodies, and may mount autoimmune responses to autologous iPSC-derived islets, but this remains an unanswered question.

## 4 Differences in Human and Murine Immune Systems

While human and murine immune systems are highly conserved and unique with regards to only approximately 300 genes (Chinwalla et al. 2002), acknowledging these differences provides context to current findings obtained from immunodeficient mouse. Additionally, understanding these differences highlights the role of humanized mice to enable ITx evaluation under the effects of a human immune system. Differences between mouse and human immune systems is only discussed briefly here, and specifically as they pertain to ITx. Reviews by Mestas and Hughes (2004), and Haley (2003) provide complete evaluation of differences between human and mouse immune systems (Mestas and Hughes 2004; Haley 2003).

The first major difference between humans and mice is the composition of circulating white blood cells (WBCs). Mice have a much higher proportion of lymphocytes (75-90%) in mice vs. 30-50% in humans) and lower neutrophils (10-25% in mice vs. 50-75% in humans) (Table 1). For ITx, a lower proportion of neutrophils may explain successful subcutaneous ITx in mice due to less neutrophil-directed foreign body response (Yasunami et al. 2018; Jhunjhunwala et al. 2015; Yu et al. 2020; Pepper et al. 2017), while device and device-free techniques have shown less promising results in humans (Marfil-Garza et al. 2020b). The proportion of lymphocytes and neutrophils that exist in humanized mouse models varies, and should be considered when evaluating outcomes; higher or lower lymphocyte populations may inadequately represent allograft responses or recurrent autoimmunity in these models.

Important differences for innate immunity are also present when comparing humans to mice (Table 1). Neutrophils, one of the primary cells responsible for early graft death and the instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction, express defensins as one of the key effector molecules in humans but not in mice (Risso 2000). Similarly, cells activation pathways for NK and macrophages are different between humans and mice (Mestas and Hughes 2004; Weinberg 1998; Lanier 1998). The clinical significance of this for ITx evaluation remains uncertain; however, both NK cells and macrophages play key roles in islet cell alloimmunity and autoimmunity (Knip and Siljander 2008; Poirot et al. 2004; Beilke et al. 2005; Azzi et al. 2010), with macrophages also contributing to islet angiogenesis and survival (Tessem et al. 2008). These cells also play an important role as antigen-presenting cells (APCs), with species specific antigen identification and presentation capabilities (Azzi et al. 2010; Monteiro and Van De Winkel 2003).

Acquired immunity also has notable differences between species (Table 1). Immunoglobulin (Ig) subtype activation pathways are different between mice and humans; as an example, interleukin 13 induces IgE class switching in humans but has no effect for mice (Mestas and

Immune system difference	Mouse	Human	Effect for islet cell transplantation
Proportion of neutrophils and lymphocytes in peripheral blood	10–25% neutrophils 75–90% lymphocytes	50–75% neutrophils 30–50% lymphocytes	Improved outcomes in subcutaneous and implantable devices for mice (less foreign body response)
Neutrophils with leukocyte defensins	Not present, defensins are expressed within small intestine	Present	Potentially reduced effect of IBMIR and early graft apoptosis
Macrophage and NK cell activation pathways	Different cytokines and messenger peptides lead to activation of macrophages and NK cells in mice and humans		Unclear clinical significance but both are crucial for alloimmunity and autoimmunity, including antigen presentation
Immunoglobulin class-switching pathways	Interleukins and inflammatory markers produce variable immunoglobulin classes		Unclear clinical significance but may produce variable alloimmune or autoimmune reaction.
T-cell differentiation and function	Interferon-alpha produces Th1 T-cells Th1 and Th2 cells make IL-10	Interferon-alpha has no effect Only Th2 cells make IL-10	Inflammatory markers and cell types found to cause insulitis or allograft rejection may be variable between groups

Table 1 Differences in human and murine immune systems

Hughes 2004). In evaluation of ITx, this may lead to different Ig being activated with allogeneic or autoimmune reaction, although this has never been evaluated. Potentially most significant is that the differentiation of T-cells occurs via stimulation by different cytokines in each species. For example, in humans interferon-alpha produces Th1 T-cells, while it does not have an effect in mice (Farrar et al. 2000). Additionally, differentiated T-cells release species-specific inflammatory molecules (Mestas and Hughes 2004). Again, Th1 and Th2 cells make IL-10 in humans, while only Th1 cells release IL-10 in mice (Del Prete et al. 1993). While the effect of these differences have not been studied specifically for T1D or ITx, we know their outcomes are crucial. The balance of Th1 and Th2 cells is directly related to development of T1D and modification of cytokine expression, including IL-10, and has clearly been shown to affect autoimmunity and allograft survival in islet cell transplant (Echeverri and Tobón 2013; Nitta et al. 1998; Zhang et al. 2003; Cote-Sierra et al. 2004).

These differences highlight the need for evaluating interventions and novel immune therapies within a true human-immune environment. The importance of these humanized mouse models has become patent in research related to human immunodeficiency virus vaccines (Gonzalez et al. 2013; Victor Garcia 2016), targeted oncologic immunotherapies (Wang et al. 2018), and human immunity (Pearson et al. 2008a), among other. However, the use of humanized models in the field of islet transplantation remains in its infancy and continues to face significant barriers. Understanding the history, current status, and major limitations is paramount to move this area of study forward.

### 5 Current Humanized Mouse Models

It has been nearly 20 years since the discovery that immunodeficient mice would accept, engraft, and display specific aspects of the human immune system (Ito et al. 2002; Shultz et al. 2005; Traggiai et al. 2004). Since then, substantial work has focus on optimizing both the recipient mice and the methods for immune system engraftment. In this section, we review historical and current immunocompromised mice that accept immune system engraftment with evaluation of efficacy between types. We also review techniques used for human immune system engraftment into these recipient mice, with discussion of the benefits and drawbacks of these approaches specific to stem cell–based ITx evaluation. Finally, we discuss current evidence evaluating humanized models for ITx evaluation and consider the feasibility of these models for autologous and allogeneic stem cell–based ITx evaluation.

# 5.1 Immunodeficient Mice: Suitable Homes for a Human Immune System?

Early generation of humanized mouse models began with engraftment of NOD-scid mice. These models are homozygous for the severe combined immunodeficiency (scid) mutation and do not display any functional lymphoid tissue, which precluded development of both T- and B-cells. Given their highly immunocompromised state (Bosma and Carroll 1991), these mice can accept engraftment of diverse tissues and cell types, including those from a human immune system. However, these models have numerous limitations that preclude their use to evaluate the complexity of a fully functional human immune system. Firstly, NOD-scid mice "leak" native Tand B-cells, which means that these cells slowly reappear and destroy human tissues and cells (Flahou et al. 2021; Ito et al. 2012; Shultz et al. 1995). These mice also reintegrate Emv30 into their genome leading to thymic lymphoma and early death (Shultz et al. 1995; Serreze et al. 1995). Finally, NOD-scid mice continue to exhibit NK cell function, leading to high rates of hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) and stem cell death, which severely limits efficient immune system engraftment (Shultz et al. 1995, 2007; Christianson et al. 1996). Ongoing investigations have led to development of improved mouse strains to act as recipients for immune system engraftment.

To eliminate the initial barriers for humanization using of NOD-*scid* mice, the addition of *Rag1* and *Rag2* knockout mutations eliminated adaptive immune system "leak" (Ito et al. 2012; Katano et al. 2011; Bosma 1992). Subsequent manipulation of NOD-scid-Rag knockout mice with targeted disruption of the IL-2 gammachain markedly reduced occurrence of lymphoma (Katano et al. 2011; Kato et al. 2009). Combinations of the NOD-scid, Rag knockout, and IL-2-gamma disrupted mice have now generated the NOD-scid gamma strain (NSG), the NOD-Rag1 gamma (NRG), and BALB/c-Rag2 gamma (BRG) strains, which now represent the primary recipient strains for humanization (Traggiai et al. 2004; Katano et al. 2011; King et al. 2008). Evaluation of immune system engraftment into NSG, NRG, and BRG immunodeficient mouse strains has demonstrated that NSG mice, and a similar NOG model, accept engraftment better than others (Traggiai et al. 2004; Ito et al. 2012; Brehm et al. 2010a; Allen et al. 2019; Pearson et al. 2008b). As outlined by Ito et al. (2012), immune system engraftment success appears to occur with greatest success in NSG NOG mice. and followed by NRG>BRG>NOD/SCID (Ito et al. 2012).

### 5.2 Approaches to Engraftment

Optimization of immune system engraftment techniques have also occurred since the original description of HSC injection into immunocompromised mice (Fig. 2). Importantly, each technique to generate humanize mouse models creates a unique immune system with relevant benefits and drawbacks, which can be exploited to evaluate allogeneic and autologous stem cell–based ITx (Table 2).

Human peripheral blood lymphocyte SCID (Hu-PBL-SCID) mice, first described by Mosier et al. (1988), are generated through intravenous, intraperitoneal or intrasplenic injection of peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs) (Mosier et al. 1988). This technique offers nearly 100% engraftment success, is technically simple, and enables engraftment of already activated T-cells (King et al. 2008; Mosier et al. 1988). However, Hu-PBL-SCID mice have a shortened lifespan due to graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), and live approximately 1 month before meeting end points



Fig. 2 Techniques used to engraft the human immune system into immunocompromised mice and key considerations for their use to evaluate allogeneic and autologous iPSC-based ITx

**Table 2** Benefits and limitations to various human immune system engraftment techniques to generate humanized mouse models

Engraftment		
technique	Benefits	Limitations
Hu-PBL-SCID	100% engraftment success	Limited lifespan due to GVHD
	Engraftment of activated T-cells	Lack of humoral immunity
		HLA-restricted immune responses
		and APC presentation
Hu-SRC-SCID	Enables engraftment of multiple immune cell lineages	HLA-restricted immune responses
	(T-cells, B-cells, NK-cells)	and APC presentation
		Lack of class switching
BLT	Only model with mucosal human immune system	Limited lifespan due to GVHD
	Most complete immune system	Requires fetal tissue
		Technically challenging

*iPSC* inducible pluripotent stem cells, *GVHD* graft-versus-host disease, *HLA* human leukocyte antigen, *APC* antigen presenting cell, *ITx* islet cell transplant

requiring euthanasia (Shultz et al. 2007; King et al. 2008, 2009; Allen et al. 2019; Sandhu et al. 1995). Naturally, GVHD confounds assessment of immune responses in these mice (King et al. 2009). Additionally, although Hu-PBL-SCID models enable engraftment of preactivated T-cells, antigen-specific T-cell activation, and humoral immunity within the engrafted mouse does occur (Shultz et al. 2012; Tary-Lehmann et al. 1994); this happens because the mice display antigens on H2 molecules whereas engrafted APCs are human-HLA restricted (Shultz et al. 2007; Allen et al. 2019; King et al. 2009; Banuelos et al. 2004).

The second approach is the human SCID repopulating cell scid mice (Hu-SRC-SCID), and involves engraftment of CD34+ HSCs injected into recipients via an intravenous or intrafemoral route into mice pretreated with sublethal irradiation. This approach benefits from technical feasibility, and development of a broader human immune system displaying all lineages of hematopoietic cells, including T-cells, B-cells, NK cells, myeloid cells, and precursors for red blood cells, megakaryocytes and granulocytes (Shultz et al. 2012; Allen et al. 2019). The most significant limitation with Hu-SRC-SCID mice is that, although they produce adequate T-cell populations, those T-cells fail to recognize, migrate, and reject allogeneic human antigens (Jacobson et al. 2010; Legrand et al. 2006). This is likely due to an absence of human thymic cells and lack of T-cell education to human MHC molecules (Traggiai et al. 2004; Allen et al. 2019; Chicha et al. 2005; Watanabe et al. 2009). Others have also postulated that lack of humanspecific cytokines to direct these engrafted human T-cells limits their migration, or that lack of peripheral lymph tissues in the recipient mouse strains limits their maturation (Mestas and Hughes 2004; Allen et al. 2019; Shultz et al. 2019).

To resolve HLA-restriction and partially developed acquired immunity, SCID-Hu and BLT models were developed. These involve implantation of fetal liver and thymus fragments under the renal capsule in adult mice to enable HLA expression, immunoglobulin class switching, and T-cell activation (Shultz et al. 2012, 2019; Allen et al. 2019). The BLT model adds intravenous injection of HSCs from the same fetal liver. The BLT model displays the most complete human immune system and is also the only model to have a mucosal immune system. These models have been useful for evaluation of immune response to vaccination and HIV, but are severely limited due to their need for embryonic tissues, technical complexity, and reproducibility (Allen et al. 2019).

## Humanized Mouse Models to Study Stem Cell–Based Islet Cell Transplantation

### 6.1 Current Evidence

6

Initial studies evaluating the utility of humanized mouse models utilized NOD-SCID and NRG mice with engraftment of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (Banuelos et al. 2004). After xenotransplantation of transgenic mouse islets expressing human HLA-A2.1 allograft rejection occurred, but only in 70% of mice (Banuelos et al. 2004). In this study, high PBMC doses were required and engraftment was highly variable, likely due to the use of NOD-SCID and NRG mice strains. Since then, studies evaluating several the utility of humanized mouse models have been developed and tested, each with their own benefits and limitations (Table 3). King et al. (2008) improved upon this study substantially by first testing engraftment in NOD-SCID versus NSG mice, showing better success with NSG strains (King et al. 2008). They also evaluated intraperitoneal, intravenous, and intrasplenic PBMC engraftment and demonstrated optimal results with intravenous injection (King et al. 2008). Using those techniques, they achieved 100% human immune system engraftment and after injection of human islets, all mice with humanized immune systems demonstrated islet graft rejection in 21 days with microscopic evidence of allogeneic response (King et al. 2008). Unfortunately, mice in this study died due to GVHD after approximately 1 month after immune system engraftment. However, utilizing this model, Nadig et al. (2010) transplanted skin allografts onto humanized mice and demonstrated rejection; subsequent co-transplantation with regulatory T-cells (Tregs) prevented graft rejection (Nadig et al. 2010). This technique was evaluated with ITx, showing human islet allograft rejection after Hu-PBL-SCID generation and prolonged islet allograft survival (45 days) when ex vivo-

Study	Key findings	Limitations	Could this be used for IPSC evaluation?					
			Allogeneic	Autologous				
Hu-PBL-SCID models								
Banuelos et al.	First study showing islet allograft rejection	Variable engraftment High PBMC doses	No, inconsistent immune engraftment	No, inconsistent immune engraftment				
(2004)		required						
King et al. (2008)	Demonstrated the NSG mice has improved immune system engraftment Proved IV PBMC injection was superior to intrasplenic or intraperitoneal 100% allograft rejection in 21 days	Early mouse death after approximately 1 month due to GVHD	Possibly, although examination beyond 1 month would be limited	Probably not, GVHD occurs soon after transplant and could confound assessment of autoimmunity				
Wu et al. (2013)	Demonstrated human islet allograft rejection in Hu-PBL-SCID model Improved allograft survival with Treg co-transplantation	Study only evaluated mice for 45 days	Yes, effective model for early allograft rejection but not studied beyond 45 days, likely due to GVHD	No, GVHD is likely a limitation				
Brehm	Developed a Hu-PBL-	Chronic GVHD still	Yes, however, chronic	Possibly, however the				
et al. (2019)	SCID model with MHC class 1 and 2 knockout that rejects islet allografts	occurs but is significantly decreased	GVHD may confound later results	lifespan is currently limited to 4 months and chronic GVHD may confound results				
Hu-SRC-SCI	D models							
Jacobson et al. (2010)	Generated Hu-SRC- SCID model with 100% immune engraftment	Failed to reject islet allografts	No, allografts were not rejected, likely due to inadequate human- specific MHC activation and T-cell education	No, allografts were not rejected, likely due to inadequate human- specific MHC activation and T-cell education				
Brehm et al. (2010a, b)	Developed mice that became diabetic spontaneously and accepted immune engraftment	Only achieved ~60% islet allograft rejection	No, allografts were not rejected, likely due to inadequate human- specific MHC activation and T-cell education	No, allografts were not rejected, likely due to inadequate human- specific MHC activation and T-cell education				
BLT models	I	I	1	1				
Tonomura et al. (2008)	Developed a BLT model that rejected porcine islets (xenorejection)	Unclear pathophysiology of xenograft rejection and whether it would apply to human allografts	Unclear, no evidence of allograft rejection. The study only showed xenograft rejection	No, acquiring fetal tissues for autologous iPSC donor/recipients is not possible. GVHD is also a limitation				
Tan et al. (2017)	Developed a BLT model with spontaneous development of T1D in DQ8+ transgenic mice	No evaluation of islet cell transplant to reverse spontaneous diabetes	Possible, but has yet to be tested and would be limited by ethical concerns and fetal tissue availability	No, acquiring fetal tissues for autologous iPSC donor/recipients is not possible. GVHD is also a limitation				

 Table 3
 Studies evaluating humanized mouse models in islet cell transplant, their benefits, and drawbacks

iPSC inducible pluripotent stem cells, GVHD graft-versus-host disease, MHC major histocompatibility complex

expanded Tregs were co-transplanted with PBLs (Wu et al. 2013). These studies demonstrate successful use of humanized mouse models to evaluate islet allograft rejection, and similar techniques have been postulated to be helpful to evaluate allogenic stem cell–based ITx (Flahou et al. 2021). However, no study has demonstrated evaluation of recurrent autoimmunity in autologous iPSC–based ITx. This is partly due to restricted lifespan of current humanized models. While allogeneic responses occur soon after transplant, recurrent autoimmunity is delayed and occurs later, requiring models to evaluate it to have longer lifespans (Burke 3rd et al. 2011; Sundkvist et al. 1998).

Alternatively, using Hu-SRC-SCID models has been attempted but remains highly limited due to the immature immune system they possess and lack human-specific MHC activation and T-cell education (Legrand et al. 2006; Manz 2007). Because of this, most Hu-SRC-SCID models have failed to completely reject allografts (Jacobson et al. 2010) (Table 3). The most promising Hu-SRC-SCID model has been developed by Brehm et al. (Brehm et al. 2010b), where NRG mice crossed with mice heterozygous for Ins2<sup>Akita</sup> showed spontaneous hyperglycemia similar to T1D in immunodeficient mice capable of being engrafted with human immune system cells; however, when they received human ITx, only 60% of islets were rejected, likely owing to poor T-cell function in Hu-SRC-SCID models (Brehm et al. 2010b). In these models, lack of T-cell education directed toward human MHC molecules within the thymus means that although human T-cells develop, they do not mount a robust peripheral immune response directed at human tissues (Shultz et al. 2007, 2019; Allen et al. 2019; Chicha et al. 2005). Additionally, others have postulated that poor peripheral lymphatic development in immunosuppressed recipient mouse strains (Cupedo and Mebius 2005), and the poor interaction of murine cytokines with both human immune cells and cytokine receptors may further limit allograft responses (Mestas and Hughes 2004; Allen et al. 2019; Shultz et al. 2019). To resolve these barriers, several genetically modified Hu-SRC-SCID

models have been developed to express or interact with human cytokines (Allen et al. 2019; Willinger et al. 2011; Drake et al. 2012; Huntington et al. 2009; Nicolini et al. 2004; Ito et al. 2013; Rongvaux et al. 2014), or express important human MHC molecules (Shultz et al. 2019; Akkina et al. 2016; Patton et al. 2015; Jaiswal et al. 2009). Overall, similar to Hu-PBL-SCID models, Hu-SRC-SCID models may be of use to evaluate alloimmunity but are unlikely to display adequate immunogenicity to fully comprehend recurrent autoimmunity after autologous iPSC-based ITx.

Finally, evaluation of BLT models in the context of ITx remains highly limited. A single study has demonstrated islet xenograft rejection in a BLT model, but no studies evaluating human allografts have been conducted (Tonomura et al. 2008). A recent BLT model has demonstrated capacity to induce immune-mediated T1D in humanized mice without concerns for GVHD (Tan et al. 2017). In their model, transplantation of HLA-DQ8+ human fetal thymus and CD34+ cells into HLA-DQ8 transgenic mice developed hyperglycemia and diabetes (Tan et al. 2017). While testing allogeneic stem cell-based ITx in this model could be attempted, technical and ethical concerns regarding BLT models, as well as restrictions on the source of fetal liver or thymus fragments from patients with T1D profoundly limit their use for the study of immune responses following autologous iPSC-based ITx.

### 6.2 Future Directions

An ideal humanized mouse model for preclinical evaluation of autologous iPSC-based ITx curdoes While generating rently not exist. individualized Hu-PBC-SCID mice for each iPSC donor is theoretically possible, the utility of those models remains highly limited by their shortened lifespan, while Hu-SRC-SCID models remain limited by their incomplete immune response (Fig. 3). When evaluating recurrent autoimmunity, humanized models with up to a year (or more) lifespan will be required. Current research is attempting to produce Hu-PBL-SCID



Fig. 3 Relative barrier for SC-islet transplant assessment

models with MHC knockout mice that do not express murine MHC class I or II molecules, which limits GVHD and prolongs their lifespans (Shultz et al. 2019; Yaguchi et al. 2018; Brehm et al. 2019; Goettel et al. 2015). Yaguchi et al. (2018) generated a NOG mouse strain deficient in MHC class I and II molecules and have demonstrated life spans of over 4 months (Yaguchi et al. 2018). Their model also showed human antigen-specific immune activation including primary T-cell responses and B-cell activation. Other similar models without MHC class I or II molecules have also demonstrated human islet allograft rejection (Brehm et al. 2019). However, it should be noted that while diminished, chronic GVHD still occurred with T-cell infiltration throughout the model's organs. It remains unclear how long these new models can live, and what effect GVHD plays, especially when evaluating alloimmune or autoimmune reactions. Alternatively, transgenic Hu-SRC-SCID models expressing human MHC molecules may enable improved T-cell immune response and enable primary immune responses within mouse models (Shultz et al. 2019; Akkina et al. 2016; Patton et al. 2015; Jaiswal et al. 2009). However, in transgenic mice expressing human MHC molecules, HSC engraftment is variable and may only occur for fetal-sourced cells (Patton et al. 2015). Future work is needed to demonstrate humanization in transgenic Hu-SRC-SCID models and subsequent evaluation of their utility for evaluation of immune responses following ITx.

Regardless of ongoing investigations to improve humanized mouse models, their use for evaluating stem cell–based ITx remains uncertain. The primary limitations of stem cell–based ITx remain off-target growth, allograft rejection in the case of allogeneic transplant, and recurrent autoimmunity for autologous iPSC–directed grafts. Fortunately, islets can be implanted locoregionally and not systemically, and initial evaluation in humans could be conducted subcutaneously. While subcutaneous ITx technologies have thus far not matched intraportal efficacy, they have demonstrated acceptable islet growth and islet cell function (Marfil-Garza et al. 2020b). Even if these subcutaneous devices never achieve efficacy similar to intraportal transplantation, they already provide a safe, true human model with complete human immune system for clinical assessment prior to intraportal transplant. In cases where aberrant cells or graft complications occur, removing them and eliminating risk is feasible. We believe this allows for safe in-human trials to be conducted, potentially within subcutaneous devices initially with subsequent intraportal infusion once safety is demonstrated. This may limit the need for humanized mouse models in this area of medicine entirely.

### 7 Conclusion

Stem cell-derived islet cells are generating optimism for a potential true cure for T1D. The question remains whether efficacy and safety demonstrated in rodent models is sufficient to implement this technique in clinical trials. Humanized mice models appear on the surface to offer an opportunity to further test these techniques prior to implementation. However, human immune system models remain limited; current models display only certain elements of the immune system. While utilization of Hu-PBL-SCID models may allow evaluation of recurrent autoimmunity following transplant of autologous iPSC-based islets, they offer limited information regarding long-term efficacy or safety due to their brief lifespan. Unfortunately, other models do not appear useful for autologous iPSC-based ITx evaluation. The Hu-SRC-SCID models fail to achieve adequate T-cell responses, while Hu-BLT-SCID models are limited primarily by their need for embryonic tissues, and their technical and resource heavy requirements. Work is ongoing to generate Hu-PBL-SCID mice that do not present GVHD to enable longer lifespans, and to produce Hu-SRC-SCID models with normal T-cell activity; however, efficacy of these models for evaluation of ITx remains unrealized. Thorough demonstration of efficacy and safety in

current mouse models, potentially followed by human ITx within subcutaneous devices to demonstrate safety currently offers a reliable pathway to obtain sufficient evidence to support stem cell– based ITx with intraportal infusion toward human clinical trials.

#### Acknowledgments None

**Financial Support and Sponsorship** AMJS is supported through a Canada Research Chair (Tier 1) in Regenerative Medicine and Transplant Surgery, and through grant support from the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation, Diabetes Canada, The Canadian Donation and Transplant Research Project, the Diabetes Research Institute Foundation of Canada, the Alberta Diabetes Foundation, and the Canadian Stem Cell Network. Dr. Braulio A. Marfil-Garza is currently supported by the Patronage of the National Institute of Medical Sciences and Nutrition Salvador Zubirán by the Foundation for Health and Education Dr. Salvador Zubirán (FunSaEd), and the CHRISTUS-LatAm Hub – Excellence and Innovation Center.

**Conflicts of Interest** AMJS serves as a consultant to ViaCyte Inc., Diagon Inc., Protokinetix Inc., and Pelican Therapeutics Inc.

**Ethical Approval** The authors declare that this article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals and was exempt from ethics board review.

### References

- Akkina R, Allam A, Balazs AB, Blankson JN, Burnett JC, Casares S et al (2016) Improvements and limitations of humanized mouse models for HIV research: NIH/NIAID "meet the experts" 2015 workshop summary. AIDS Res Hum Retrovir 32(2):109–119
- Allen TM, Brehm MA, Bridges S, Ferguson S, Kumar P, Mirochnitchenko O et al (2019) Humanized immune system mouse models: progress, challenges and opportunities. Nat Immunol 20(7):770–774
- Azzi J, Geara AS, El-Sayegh S, Abdi R (2010) Immunological aspects of pancreatic islet cell transplantation. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 6(1):111–124
- Banuelos SJ, Shultz LD, Greiner DL, Burzenski LM, Gott B, Lyons BL et al (2004) Rejection of human islets and human HLA-A2.1 transgenic mouse islets by alloreactive human lymphocytes in immunodeficient NOD-scid and NOD-Rag1(null)Prf1(null) mice. Clin Immunol 112(3):273–283
- Beilke JN, Kuhl NR, Kaer LV, Gill RG (2005) NK cells promote islet allograft tolerance via a perforindependent mechanism. Nat Med 11(10):1059–1065
- Bosma MJ (1992) B and T cell leakiness in the scid mouse mutant. Immunodefic Rev 3(4):261–276
- Bosma MJ, Carroll AM (1991) The SCID mouse mutant: definition, characterization, and potential uses. Annu Rev Immunol 9(1):323–350
- Brehm MA, Cuthbert A, Yang C, Miller DM, DiIorio P, Laning J et al (2010a) Parameters for establishing humanized mouse models to study human immunity: analysis of human hematopoietic stem cell engraftment in three immunodeficient strains of mice bearing the IL2rgamma(null) mutation. Clin Immunol 135(1):84–98
- Brehm MA, Bortell R, Diiorio P, Leif J, Laning J, Cuthbert A et al (2010b) Human immune system development and rejection of human islet allografts in spontaneously diabetic NOD-Rag1null IL2rgammanull Ins2Akita mice. Diabetes 59(9):2265–2270
- Brehm MA, Kenney LL, Wiles MV, Low BE, Tisch RM, Burzenski L et al (2019) Lack of acute xenogeneic graft- versus-host disease, but retention of T-cell function following engraftment of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in NSG mice deficient in MHC class I and II expression. FASEB J 33(3):3137–3151
- Burke GW 3rd, Vendrame F, Pileggi A, Ciancio G, Reijonen H, Pugliese A (2011) Recurrence of autoimmunity following pancreas transplantation. Curr Diab Rep 11(5):413–419
- Cantarelli E, Citro A, Marzorati S, Melzi R, Scavini M, Piemonti L (2013) Murine animal models for preclinical islet transplantation: no model fits all (research purposes). Islets 5(2):79–86
- Chicha L, Tussiwand R, Traggiai E, Mazzucchelli L, Bronz L, Piffaretti JC et al (2005) Human adaptive immune system Rag2-/-gamma(c)-/- mice. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1044:236–243
- Chinwalla AT, Cook LL, Delehaunty KD, Fewell GA, Fulton LA, Fulton RS et al (2002) Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature 420(6915):520–562
- Christianson SW, Greiner DL, Schweitzer IB, Gott B, Beamer GL, Schweitzer PA et al (1996) Role of natural killer cells on engraftment of human lymphoid cells and on metastasis of human T-lymphoblastoid leukemia cells in C57BL/6J-scid mice and in C57BL/6J-scid bg mice. Cell Immunol 171(2):186–199
- Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (2017) CITR tenth annual report. Clinical Transplants, Rockville
- Cote-Sierra J, Foucras G, Guo L, Chiodetti L, Young HA, Hu-Li J et al (2004) Interleukin 2 plays a central role in Th2 differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(11):3880–3885
- Couri CE, Oliveira MC, Stracieri AB, Moraes DA, Pieroni F, Barros GM et al (2009) C-peptide levels and insulin independence following autologous nonmyeloablative hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 301(15):1573–1579
- Cupedo T, Mebius RE (2005) Cellular interactions in lymph node development. J Immunol 174(1):21–25

- Dadheech N, Cuesta Gomez N, Jasra IT, Verhoeff K, Marfil-Garza B, Mohammad O, et al (2022) Opportunities and impediments to delivery of autologous human iPSC-islets in the curative treatment of Type-1 diabetes. J Immunol Regener Med (in press)
- Del Prete G, De Carli M, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S (1993) Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cytokine production. J Immunol 150(2):353–360
- Deuse T, Hu X, Gravina A, Wang D, Tediashvili G, De C et al (2019) Hypoimmunogenic derivatives of induced pluripotent stem cells evade immune rejection in fully immunocompetent allogeneic recipients. Nat Biotechnol 37(3):252–258
- Drake AC, Chen Q, Chen J (2012) Engineering humanized mice for improved hematopoietic reconstitution. Cell Mol Immunol 9(3):215–224
- Echeverri AF, Tobón GJ (2013) In: Anaya JMSY, Rojas-Villarraga A (eds) Autoimmune diabetes mellitus (Type 1A). El Rosario University Press, Bogota
- Falcone M, Fousteri G (2020) Role of the PD-1/PD-L1 dyad in the maintenance of pancreatic immune tolerance for prevention of type 1 diabetes. Front Endocrinol 11:569
- Farrar JD, Smith JD, Murphy TL, Leung S, Stark GR, Murphy KM (2000) Selective loss of type I interferon-induced STAT4 activation caused by a minisatellite insertion in mouse Stat2. Nat Immunol 1(1):65–69
- Flahou C, Morishima T, Takizawa H, Sugimoto N (2021) Fit-for-all iPSC-derived cell therapies and their evaluation in humanized mice with NK cell immunity. Front Immunol 12(1071):662360
- Gagnerault M-C, Luan JJ, Lotton C, Lepault F (2002) Pancreatic lymph nodes are required for priming of  $\beta$ cell reactive T cells in NOD mice. J Exp Med 196(3):369–377
- Goettel JA, Biswas S, Lexmond WS, Yeste A, Passerini L, Patel B et al (2015) Fatal autoimmunity in mice reconstituted with human hematopoietic stem cells encoding defective FOXP3. Blood 125(25):3886–3895
- Gonzalez L, Strbo N, Podack ER (2013) Humanized mice: novel model for studying mechanisms of human immune-based therapies. Immunol Res 57(1–3):326–334
- Haley PJ (2003) Species differences in the structure and function of the immune system. Toxicology 188(1):49–71
- Han X, Wang M, Duan S, Franco PJ, Kenty JH, Hedrick P et al (2019) Generation of hypoimmunogenic human pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(21):10441–10446
- Hogrebe NJ, Augsornworawat P, Maxwell KG, Velazco-Cruz L, Millman JR (2020) Targeting the cytoskeleton to direct pancreatic differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 38(4):460–470

- Huntington ND, Legrand N, Alves NL, Jaron B, Weijer K, Plet A et al (2009) IL-15 trans-presentation promotes human NK cell development and differentiation in vivo. J Exp Med 206(1):25–34
- Ito M, Hiramatsu H, Kobayashi K, Suzue K, Kawahata M, Hioki K et al (2002) NOD/SCID/gamma(c)(null) mouse: an excellent recipient mouse model for engraftment of human cells. Blood 100(9):3175–3182
- Ito R, Takahashi T, Katano I, Ito M (2012) Current advances in humanized mouse models. Cell Mol Immunol 9(3):208–214
- Ito R, Takahashi T, Katano I, Kawai K, Kamisako T, Ogura T et al (2013) Establishment of a human allergy model using human IL-3/GM-CSF-transgenic NOG mice. J Immunol 191(6):2890–2899
- Itoh N, Hanafusa T, Miyazaki A, Miyagawa J, Yamagata K, Yamamoto K et al (1993) Mononuclear cell infiltration and its relation to the expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens and adhesion molecules in pancreas biopsy specimens from newly diagnosed insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. J Clin Invest 92(5):2313–2322
- Jacobson S, Heuts F, Juarez J, Hultcrantz M, Korsgren O, Svensson M et al (2010) Alloreactivity but failure to reject human islet transplants by humanized Balb/c/ Rag2-/-gc-/- mice. Scand J Immunol 71(2):83–90
- Jaiswal S, Pearson T, Friberg H, Shultz LD, Greiner DL, Rothman AL et al (2009) Dengue virus infection and virus-specific HLA-A2 restricted immune responses in humanized NOD-scid IL2rγnull mice. PLoS One 4(10):e7251
- Jhunjhunwala S, Aresta-DaSilva S, Tang K, Alvarez D, Webber MJ, Tang BC et al (2015) Neutrophil responses to sterile implant materials. PLoS One 10(9):e0137550-e
- Katano I, Ito R, Eto T, Aiso S, Ito M (2011) Immunodeficient NOD-scid IL-2Rγ(null) mice do not display T and B cell leakiness. Exp Anim 60(2):181–186
- Kato C, Fujii E, Chen YJ, Endaya BB, Matsubara K, Suzuki M et al (2009) Spontaneous thymic lymphomas in the non-obese diabetic/Shi-scid, IL-2R gamma (null) mouse. Lab Anim 43(4):402–404
- King M, Pearson T, Shultz LD, Leif J, Bottino R, Trucco M et al (2008) A new Hu-PBL model for the study of human islet alloreactivity based on NOD-scid mice bearing a targeted mutation in the IL-2 receptor gamma chain gene. Clin Immunol 126(3):303–314
- King MA, Covassin L, Brehm MA, Racki W, Pearson T, Leif J et al (2009) Human peripheral blood leucocyte non-obese diabetic-severe combined immunodeficiency interleukin-2 receptor gamma chain gene mouse model of xenogeneic graft-versus-host-like disease and the role of host major histocompatibility complex. Clin Exp Immunol 157(1):104–118
- Knip M, Siljander H (2008) Autoimmune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. Autoimmun Rev 7(7):550–557
- Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S et al (2008) Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-

responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 26(4):443–452

- Lampeter EF, Homberg M, Quabeck K, Schaefer UW, Wernet P, Bertrams J et al (1993) Transfer of insulindependent diabetes between HLA-identical siblings by bone marrow transplantation. Lancet 341(8855):1243–1244
- Lanier LL (1998) NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 16:359–393
- Latres E, Finan DA, Greenstein JL, Kowalski A, Kieffer TJ (2019) Navigating two roads to glucose normalization in diabetes: automated insulin delivery devices and cell therapy. Cell Metab 29(3):545–563
- Legrand N, Weijer K, Spits H (2006) Experimental models to study development and function of the human immune system in vivo. J Immunol 176(4):2053–2058
- Lemos JRN, Baidal DA, Ricordi C, Fuenmayor V, Alvarez A, Alejandro R (2021) Survival after islet transplantation in subjects with type 1 diabetes: twenty-year follow-up. Diabetes Care. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/dc20-2458
- Li X, Meng Q, Zhang L (2018) The fate of allogeneic pancreatic islets following intraportal transplantation: challenges and solutions. J Immunol Res 2018: 2424586
- Mandrup-Poulsen T, Mølvig J, Andersen HU, Helqvist S, Spinas GA, Munck M (1990) Lack of predictive value of islet cell antibodies, insulin antibodies, and HLA-DR phenotype for remission in cyclosporintreated IDDM patients. The Canadian-European Randomized Control Trial Group. Diabetes 39(2):204–210
- Manz MG (2007) Human-hemato-lymphoid-system mice: opportunities and challenges. Immunity 26(5):537–541
- Marfil-Garza BA, Lam A, Bigam D, Senior P, Shapiro AMJ (2020a) 116-OR: comparison of pancreas vs. islet transplantation outcomes from a large single center. Diabetes 69(Supplement 1):116-OR
- Marfil-Garza BA, Polishevska K, Pepper AR, Korbutt GS (2020b) Current state and evidence of cellular encapsulation strategies in type 1 diabetes. Compr Physiol 10(3):839–878
- Marfil-Garza BA, Shapiro AMJ, Kin T (2021a) Clinical islet transplantation: current progress and new frontiers. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 28(3):243–254
- Marfil-Garza BA, Hefler J, Bermudez De Leon M, Pawlick R, Dadheech N, Shapiro AMJ (2021b) Progress in translational regulatory T cell therapies for type 1 diabetes and islet transplantation. Endocr Rev 42(2):198–218
- Marfil-Garza BA, Pawlick RL, Szeto J, Kroger C, Tahiliani V, Hefler J et al (2021c) Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 25 (TNFRSF25) agonists in islet transplantation: endogenous in vivo regulatory T cell expansion promotes prolonged allograft survival. Am J Transplant. https://doi.org/10. 1111/ajt.16940

- Markmann JF, Rickels MR, Eggerman TL, Bridges ND, Lafontant DE, Qidwai J et al (2020) Phase 3 trial of human islet-after-kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes. Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transplant Surg
- Martin S, Wolf-Eichbaum D, Duinkerken G, Scherbaum WA, Kolb H, Noordzij JG et al (2001) Development of type 1 diabetes despite severe hereditary B-cell deficiency. N Engl J Med 345(14):1036–1040
- Mestas J, Hughes CC (2004) Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology. J Immunol 172(5):2731–2738
- Mobasseri M, Shirmohammadi M, Amiri T, Vahed N, Hosseini Fard H, Ghojazadeh M (2020) Prevalence and incidence of type 1 diabetes in the world: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Promot Perspect 10(2):98–115
- Montanari E, Gonelle-Gispert C, Seebach JD, Knoll MF, Bottino R, Bühler LH (2019) Immunological aspects of allogeneic pancreatic islet transplantation: a comparison between mouse and human. Transpl Int 32(9):903–912
- Monteiro RC, Van De Winkel JG (2003) IgA Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21:177–204
- Moore C, Tejon G, Fuentes C, Hidalgo Y, Bono MR, Maldonado P et al (2015) Alloreactive regulatory T cells generated with retinoic acid prevent skin allograft rejection. Eur J Immunol 45(2):452–463
- Mosier DE, Gulizia RJ, Baird SM, Wilson DB (1988) Transfer of a functional human immune system to mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. Nature 335(6187):256–259
- Nadig SN, Wieckiewicz J, Wu DC, Warnecke G, Zhang W, Luo S et al (2010) In vivo prevention of transplant arteriosclerosis by ex vivo-expanded human regulatory T cells. Nat Med 16(7):809–813
- National Institutes of Health (2011) Statement by NIH Director Dr. Francis Collins on the Institute of Medicine report addressing the scientific need for the use of chimpanzees in research [press release]. 900 Rockville Pike, Bethesda, Maryland
- Nicolini FE, Cashman JD, Hogge DE, Humphries RK, Eaves CJ (2004) NOD/SCID mice engineered to express human IL-3, GM-CSF and steel factor constitutively mobilize engrafted human progenitors and compromise human stem cell regeneration. Leukemia 18(2):341–347
- Nitta Y, Tashiro F, Tokui M, Shimada A, Takei I, Tabayashi K et al (1998) Systemic delivery of interleukin 10 by intramuscular injection of expression plasmid DNA prevents autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Hum Gene Ther 9(12):1701–1707
- Patton J, Vuyyuru R, Siglin A, Root M, Manser T (2015) Evaluation of the efficiency of human immune system reconstitution in NSG mice and NSG mice containing a human HLA.A2 transgene using hematopoietic stem cells purified from different sources. J Immunol Methods 422:13–21

- Pearson T, Greiner DL, Shultz LD (2008a) Creation of "humanized" mice to study human immunity. Curr Protoc Immunol 81(1):15.21.1–1515.21
- Pearson T, Shultz LD, Miller D, King M, Laning J, Fodor W et al (2008b) Non-obese diabetic-recombination activating gene-1 (NOD-Rag1 null) interleukin (IL)-2 receptor common gamma chain (IL2r gamma null) null mice: a radioresistant model for human lymphohaematopoietic engraftment. Clin Exp Immunol 154(2):270–284
- Pepper AR, Pawlick R, Bruni A, Wink J, Rafiei Y, O'Gorman D et al (2017) Transplantation of human pancreatic endoderm cells reverses diabetes post transplantation in a prevascularized subcutaneous site. Stem Cell Rep 8(6):1689–1700
- Poirot L, Benoist C, Mathis D (2004) Natural killer cells distinguish innocuous and destructive forms of pancreatic islet autoimmunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(21):8102
- Rezania A, Bruin JE, Arora P, Rubin A, Batushansky I, Asadi A et al (2014) Reversal of diabetes with insulinproducing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 32(11):1121–1133
- Risso A (2000) Leukocyte antimicrobial peptides: multifunctional effector molecules of innate immunity. J Leukoc Biol 68(6):785–792
- Rongvaux A, Willinger T, Martinek J, Strowig T, Gearty SV, Teichmann LL et al (2014) Development and function of human innate immune cells in a humanized mouse model. Nat Biotechnol 32(4):364–372
- Sandhu JS, Gorczynski R, Shpitz B, Gallinger S, Nguyen HP, Hozumi N (1995) A human model of xenogeneic graft-versus-host disease in SCID mice engrafted with human peripheral blood lymphocytes. Transplantation 60(2):179–184
- Serreze DV, Leiter EH, Hanson MS, Christianson SW, Shultz LD, Hesselton RM et al (1995) Emv30null NOD-scid mice. An improved host for adoptive transfer of autoimmune diabetes and growth of human lymphohematopoietic cells. Diabetes 44(12):1392–1398
- Shapiro AMJ, Lakey JRT, Ryan EA, Korbutt GS, Toth E, Warnock GL et al (2000) Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 343(4):230–238
- Shapiro AM, Pokrywczynska M, Ricordi C (2017) Clinical pancreatic islet transplantation. Nat Rev Endocrinol 13(5):268–277
- Shapiro AMJ, Thompson D, Donner TW, Bellin MD, Hsueh W, Pettus J et al (2021) Insulin expression and C-peptide in type 1 diabetes subjects implanted with stem cell-derived pancreatic endoderm cells in an encapsulation device. Cell Rep Med 2(12):100466
- Shi L, Li W, Liu Y, Chen Z, Hui Y, Hao P et al (2020) Generation of hypoimmunogenic human pluripotent stem cells via expression of membrane-bound and secreted β2m-HLA-G fusion proteins. Stem Cells 38(11):1423–1437

- Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Christianson SW, Gott B, Schweitzer IB, Tennent B et al (1995) Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/ LtSz-scid mice. J Immunol 154(1):180–191
- Shultz LD, Lyons BL, Burzenski LM, Gott B, Chen X, Chaleff S et al (2005) Human lymphoid and myeloid cell development in NOD/LtSz-scid IL2R gamma null mice engrafted with mobilized human hemopoietic stem cells. J Immunol 174(10):6477–6489
- Shultz LD, Pearson T, King M, Giassi L, Carney L, Gott B et al (2007) Humanized NOD/LtSz-scid IL2 receptor common gamma chain knockout mice in diabetes research. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1103:77–89
- Shultz LD, Brehm MA, Garcia-Martinez JV, Greiner DL (2012) Humanized mice for immune system investigation: progress, promise and challenges. Nat Rev Immunol 12(11):786–798
- Shultz LD, Keck J, Burzenski L, Jangalwe S, Vaidya S, Greiner DL et al (2019) Humanized mouse models of immunological diseases and precision medicine. Mamm Genome 30(5–6):123–142
- Sluch VM, Swain D, Whipple W, Liao M, Bhoumik A, Agulnick AD, et al (2019) CRISPR-editing of hESCs allows for production of immune evasive cells capable of differentiation to pancreatic progenitors for future type 1 diabetes therapy. 55th EASD annual meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Barcelona, Spain: Diabetologia
- Sui L, Leibel RL, Egli D (2018) Pancreatic Beta cell differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells. Curr Protoc Hum Genet 99(1):e68
- Sundkvist G, Tydén G, Karlsson FA, Bolinder J (1998) Islet autoimmunity before and after pancreas transplantation in patients with type I diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 41(12):1532–1533
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K et al (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872
- Tan S, Li Y, Xia J, Jin C-H, Hu Z, Duinkerken G et al (2017) Type 1 diabetes induction in humanized mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(41):10954–10959
- Tary-Lehmann M, Lehmann PV, Schols D, Roncarolo MG, Saxon A (1994) Anti-SCID mouse reactivity shapes the human CD4+ T cell repertoire in hu-PBL-SCID chimeras. J Exp Med 180(5):1817–1827
- Tessem JS, Jensen JN, Pelli H, Dai X-M, Zong X-H, Stanley ER et al (2008) Critical roles for macrophages in islet angiogenesis and maintenance during pancreatic degeneration. Diabetes 57(6):1605
- Thivolet C, Bendelac A, Bedossa P, Bach JF, Carnaud C (1991) CD8+ T cell homing to the pancreas in the nonobese diabetic mouse is CD4+ T cell-dependent. J Immunol 146(1):85–88
- Tonomura N, Shimizu A, Wang S, Yamada K, Tchipashvili V, Weir GC et al (2008) Pig islet xenograft rejection in a mouse model with an established human immune system. Xenotransplantation 15(2):129–135

- Traggiai E, Chicha L, Mazzucchelli L, Bronz L, Piffaretti JC, Lanzavecchia A et al (2004) Development of a human adaptive immune system in cord blood celltransplanted mice. Science 304(5667):104–107
- Vantyghem M-C, Chetboun M, Gmyr V, Jannin A, Espiard S, Le Mapihan K et al (2019) Ten-year outcome of islet alone or islet after kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective parallel-arm cohort study. Diabetes Care. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-0401
- Verhoeff K, Henschke SJ, Marfil-Garza BA, Dadheech N, Shapiro AM (2021a) Inducible pluripotent stem cells as a potential cure for diabetes. Cell 10(2):278
- Verhoeff K, Marfil-Garza BA, Shapiro AMJ (2021b) Update on islet cell transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 26(4):397–404
- Victor Garcia J (2016) Humanized mice for HIV and AIDS research. Curr Opin Virol 19:56–64
- Voltarelli JC, Couri CE, Stracieri AB, Oliveira MC, Moraes DA, Pieroni F et al (2007) Autologous nonmyeloablative hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 297(14):1568–1576
- Wang M, Yao L-C, Cheng M, Cai D, Martinek J, Pan C-X et al (2018) Humanized mice in studying efficacy and mechanisms of PD-1-targeted cancer immunotherapy. FASEB J 32(3):1537–1549
- Watanabe Y, Takahashi T, Okajima A, Shiokawa M, Ishii N, Katano I et al (2009) The analysis of the functions of human B and T cells in humanized NOD/shi-scid/gammac(null) (NOG) mice (hu-HSC NOG mice). Int Immunol 21(7):843–858
- Weinberg JB (1998) Nitric oxide production and nitric oxide synthase type 2 expression by human mononuclear phagocytes: a review. Mol Med 4(9):557–591
- Willinger T, Rongvaux A, Strowig T, Manz MG, Flavell RA (2011) Improving human hemato-lymphoid-system mice by cytokine knock-in gene replacement. Trends Immunol 32(7):321–327
- Wu DC, Hester J, Nadig SN, Zhang W, Trzonkowski P, Gray D et al (2013) Ex vivo expanded human regulatory T cells can prolong survival of a human islet allograft in a humanized mouse model. Transplantation 96(8):707–716
- Xu A, Zhu W, Li T, Li X, Cheng J, Li C et al (2015) Interleukin-10 gene transfer into insulin-producing β cells protects against diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. Mol Med Rep 12(3):3881–3889
- Yaguchi T, Kobayashi A, Inozume T, Morii K, Nagumo H, Nishio H et al (2018) Human PBMCtransferred murine MHC class I/II-deficient NOG mice enable long-term evaluation of human immune responses. Cell Mol Immunol 15(11):953–962
- Yasunami Y, Nakafusa Y, Nitta N, Nakamura M, Goto M, Ono J et al (2018) A novel subcutaneous site of islet transplantation superior to the liver. Transplantation 102(6):945–952
- Yu M, Agarwal D, Korutla L, May CL, Wang W, Griffith NN et al (2020) Islet transplantation in the subcutaneous space achieves long-term euglycaemia in

preclinical models of type 1 diabetes. Nat Metab 2(10):1013-1020

Zarinsefat A, Stock PG (2020) Chapter 34 – Islet vs pancreas transplantation in nonuremic patients with type 1 diabetes. In: Orlando G, Piemonti L, Ricordi C, Stratta RJ, Gruessner RWG (eds) Transplantation, bioengineering, and regeneration of the endocrine pancreas. Academic Press, Amsterdam, pp 417–423

Zhang YC, Pileggi A, Agarwal A, Molano RD, Powers M, Brusko T et al (2003) Adeno-associated virusmediated IL-10 gene therapy inhibits diabetes recurrence in syngeneic islet cell transplantation of NOD mice. Diabetes 52(3):708



# Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Osteoarthritis: Practice and Possible Promises

Nahid Nasiri, Reihaneh Nateghi, Fatemeh Zarei, Samaneh Hosseini, and Mohamdreza Baghaban Eslaminejad

## Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a common progressively degenerative joint disease that affects more than 300 million people worldwide. OA is manifested by articular cartilage degradation, chronic pain, deformity, functional disability, and decreased quality of life. A real challenge

Department of Embryology, Reproductive Biomedicine Research Center, Royan Institute for Reproductive Biomedicine, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

#### R. Nateghi

Department of Embryology, Reproductive Biomedicine Research Center, Royan Institute for Reproductive Biomedicine, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

F. Zarei and M. B. Eslaminejad (🖂) Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: eslami@royaninstitute.org in OA management is the lack of an effective cure because exiting therapeutics often provide symptom control rather than disease modification; therefore, they fail to prevent disease progression. The inadequate treatments for OA management have encouraged researchers to study mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) as an investigational treatment for OA. MSCs are a promising tool for OA because of their availability; expand cultivation and multi-lineage differentiation capacity as well as welldocumented paracrine function have made MSCs a promising tool in this field. Accordingly, MSCs application has been successfully utilized in a broad range of pre-clinical OA animal models as well as clinical studies with the aim of cartilage repair which had not previously been achieved using classical treatments. Here, the brief scientific review of MSC role in the control of OA as well as the proposed mechanisms are discussed. We provide an insight into the last 10 years' studies conducted on preclinical and clinical OA treatment as well as future opportunities in OA management strategies employing MSCs.

## Keywords

Animal model · Cell therapy · Immunomodulatory effect · Mesenchymal stem cell · Osteoarthritis

N. Nasiri

Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

S. Hosseini (🖂)

Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Department of Cell Engineering, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: hosseini.samaneh@royaninstitute.org

# Abbreviations

3D	Three-dimensional
ACI	Autologous chondrocyte
	implantation
ACLT	Anterior cruciate ligament
	amputation
ADMSCs	Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem
	cells
BMSCs	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem
	cells
CDMP1	Cartilage-derived morphogenetic
	protein 1
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor 4
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ESWT	Extracorporeal shockwave therapy
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
GO	Graphene oxide
HA	Hyaluronic acid
IA	Intra-articular
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IV	Intravenous
KOOS	Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis
	Outcome Score
MIA	Monosodium iodoacetate
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
NPs	Nanoparticles
OA	Osteoarthritis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PLMSCs	Placenta-derived mesenchymal stem
	cells
PRP	Platelet-rich plasma
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
UCMSCs	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem
	cells
VAS	Visual analog scale
VEGF1	Vascular endothelial growth factor1
WJMSCs	Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem
	cells

WOMAC	Western Ontario and McMaster
	Universities Osteoarthritis Index
μCT	Micro-CT

# 1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of the most prevalent degenerative joint diseases that affects approximately one-quarter of the world's adult population. OA is considered to be a leading cause of pain, disability, social isolation, and depression among people over the age of 40 (Chen et al. 2017; Glyn-Jones et al. 2015; Wieland et al. 2005). The annual cost of OA management in terms of healthcare and functional disability is estimated to be 1-2.5% of the gross domestic product (Woolf and Pfleger 2003). Limited therapeutic approaches along with their inability to successfully prevent OA progression make it necessary to develop new therapeutic strategies instead of traditional pharmaceutical and surgical approaches.

Thus far, the limited therapeutic options for OA treatment that include pharmaceutical treatments, non-pharmacological methods, and surgical interventions have failed to modify its effects and complete tissue regeneration (Wieland et al. 2005); therefore, the efficacy of available treatments is limited to pain management during the early disease stages and joint replacements at end-stage OA (Glyn-Jones et al. 2015). This limitation highlights the need to design more effective, alternative therapies. Considering this challenge, the emerging field of regenerative medicine has encouraged clinicians to focus on cell/stem cell therapy as a promising alternative treatment for OA because of its minimal risk for patients. Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) therapy has been introduced as an easily accessible source with potential benefits that has led to promising long-term therapeutic success in both preclinical and clinical studies. The literature presented here is a review of evidence published during the previous 10 years in terms of the efficacy of MSC-based therapeutics for the management of symptomatic and radiologic OA. We also intend to discuss various available approaches for MSC administration and possible mechanisms for their regenerative effects in OA treatment.

# 1.1 Osteoarthritis (OA): Biochemical and Biomechanical Modification of the Joint

OA progression is accompanied by deep degeneration of joint cartilage and underlying bone. Given the modified biochemistry and biomechanics of the osteoarthritic joints, OA has long been identified by a lack of intrinsic repair processes for damaged articular cartilage (Bijlsma et al. 2011). Although the exact pathophysiology of OA is poorly defined and under research, susceptibility to OA is determined by multiple risk factors including age, genetics, obesity, physical inactivity, poor diet, and joint trauma (Mobasheri et al. 2015; van der Kraan et al. 2017). Among these, age is the greatest risk factor for OA progression because of the reduced regenerative capacity of cartilage in elderly people (Lawrence et al. 2008).

Pathological changes in OA affect whole joint tissues such as synovium and subchondral bone. These changes are highly associated with metabolic alterations in chondrocytes, which are a small number of resident cells found in avascular, alymphatic, aneural, and hypocellular articular cartilage. In the metabolically challenging environment of an osteoarthritic joint, chondrocytes may activate their regulatory metabolic state and lead to progressive cartilage destruction, osteophyte formation, synovitis or synovial inflammation, joint capsule hypertrophy, and destruction of joint menisci and ligaments (Loeser et al. 2012; Mobasheri et al. 2017). The most important tissue damage from OA occurs in cartilage, which undergoes unregulated biochemical changes and loss of function. In this regard, chondrocytes and their environment play an important role in the development of this phenotype (McAlindon et al. 2000). Activated chondrocytes produce antianabolic and pro-catabolic agents such as inflammatory cytokines and matrix-degrading enzymes, including matrix metalloproteinases and aggrecanases, in the disturbed pathophysiological environment of an osteoarthritic joint (Biggee and McAlindon 2004). This altered chondrocyte phenotype is called chondrosenescence, and it can disrupt the ability of cartilage to tolerate mechanical stresses, disorganize cartilage homeostasis and metabolism, and increase its damage (Mobasheri et al. 2015). Synovial inflammation, which appears as hyperplasia of the synoviocytes and increased vascularity, may play a role in OA symptoms such as pain, joint swelling, and production of more inflammatory mediators through the accumulation of synovial macrophages (Bondeson et al. 2006; Scanzello and Goldring 2012). There is often a delay in diagnosis despite the progressive and extensive tissue destruction in OA, which is mainly due to the annularity of articular cartilage. Clinical signs appear when adjacent innervated tissues become involved (Bijlsma et al. 2011).

# 2 Cell/Stem Cell Therapy for Knee Osteoarthritis (OA): A Brief Scientific Overview

All commonly accepted strategies for OA treatment have failed to prevent disease progression and only provide symptom control. Tremendous challenges exist with finite treatment of OA because of the complications from arthroplasty surgery that include limited lifetime of the prostheses, high cost, and complexity of the procedure. Therefore, treatments are currently limited to lifestyle modifications and maintenance of an optimal weight (Glyn-Jones et al. 2015). Over the last two decades, cell or stem cell therapy have been used as potent therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. Various basic and translational studies have been conducted with therapeutic cells in order to achieve real tissue regeneration for musculoskeletal diseases in the clinic setting (Kitta et al. 2018).

The first report on cellular intervention was published in 1994 and it pertained to an autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) (Brittberg et al. 1994). Despite promising results and relative advantages over conventional methods that included lack of stimulation of the host immune response, promotion of hyaline-like cartilage formation, and improved pain and joint function, ACI had limited use because of donor site morbidity, inability to restore tissue integrity and articular congruity, formation of fibrocartilage tissue, and repair of a focal cartilage lesion rather than regeneration of generalized cartilage loss (Niemeyer et al. 2016; Niethammer et al. 2014; Roberts et al. 2003). Given the limitations accompanied by ACI, in recent years MSC-based therapies have emerged as exciting possibilities for OA treatment along with evidence that favors disease modification and inhibition of disease progression (Freitag et al. 2016).

# 2.1 Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs)

MSCs were first characterized and recognized as adult multipotent stem cells in bone marrow over 40 years ago. Similar cells were subsequently identified in the peripheral blood, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, cord blood, and heart (Väänänen 2005). According to the International Society for Cell Therapy (ISCT), MSCs must have three necessary criteria: (1) plastic-adherent; (2) high expression levels of differentiation markers (CD105, CD90, and CD73) and inability to express CD45, CD11b, CD34, CD19, and HLA-DR surface molecules; and (3) high potential for in vitro differentiation into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes (Dominici et al. 2006). The contribution of MSCs to the tissue regeneration process mainly depends on their ability to be easily harvested from different types of adult tissues; high proliferation; in vitro expansion without loss of function; strong potential for differentiation into mesodermal lineages; immunomodulatory effects; and ability to migrate toward the injury site in response to homing signals from damaged tissue (Eom et al. 2015; Nasiri et al. 2019). These therapeutic benefits are mainly mediated by their trophic activity and secretion of factors for endogenous precursor cell recruitment, vascularization, apoptosis, and modulation of the immune response (Fu et al. 2017). Their trophic function is based on the secretion of an array of cytokines and growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which participate in local tissue repair (Caplan and Correa 2011; Nakagami et al. 2006). The immunomodulatory actions of MSCs may differ among individuals and donor species, in addition to the tissue origin, culture situation, and activation modes (Zhao et al. 2016). Moreover, a lack of ethical issues with MSCs use makes them promising candidates for cell-based tissue engineering approaches in various diseases, including premature ovarian failure, nervous system injuries, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and OA (Mamidi et al. 2016).

# 2.2 Safety Issues That Pertain to Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) Use in Regenerative Medicine

Apart from the effectiveness of MSCs for the tissue repair process and symptom relief, patients' wellbeing and lack of serious adverse effects following cell administration are important issues that must be addressed in preclinical studies. Despite the safety of different sources of MSCs for treatment of damaged tissues, complications such as tumorigenesis in immunocompromised mice have been reported (Pan et al. 2014). Administration of MSCs for OA has caused rare and uncommon adverse effects such as pain and slight bleeding at the injection site (Emadedin et al. 2018; Kuah et al. 2018) and knee edema (Jo et al. 2017). Except for these limited and rare cases, MSCs appear to be safe when used to treat OA. However, some of the studies that confirmed the relative safety of MSC applications had limitations such as a small sample size, lack of appropriate controls, or short-term follow-up. Transplantation of MSCs has been assessed in clinical trials of various neurological, cardiovascular, and musculoskeletal diseases. With the exception of rare cases of pulmonary embolism and mild infection, no acute adverse effects or malignancies were reported after transplantation of the MSCs (Peeters et al. 2013).

# 2.3 Effect of Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) on Symptomatic and Radiologic Osteoarthritis (OA)

MSCs have been safely and successfully administered for different inflammatory conditions, including OA. Various techniques have been used to guide and facilitate the differentiation of MSCs toward the formation of chondrocytes and hyaline cartilage for OA treatment. The cartilaginous differentiation of MSCs appears to be closely related to their trophic activity as well as cell-cell interactions between MSCs and residual chondrocytes in osteoarthritic cartilage (de Windt et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2011). Thus far, various administration modalities have been used in various animal and human studies to increase cell participation for management of OA and tissue repair. Proposed techniques to improve the effectiveness of MSC therapy include: accurate selection of MSCs density; MSCs source; selection of the best time for the MSC injection; selection of the most efficient cell administration route (intravascular, intra-articular [IA] or scaffold embedded); genetic modifications to increase the MSC therapeutic potential; pre-treatment of MSCs with inflammatory cytokines; MSCs combined with cartilage-derived morphogenetic protein and growth factors (GF), platelet concentrate/plateletrich plasma (PRP) and hyaluronic acid (HA); and biomechanical stimulation and application of hydrogels and nanoparticles (NPs).

Briefly, the results of animal, preclinical, and clinical studies show that MSCs therapy for OA can alleviate pain, induce regrowth of hyalinelike cartilage, and eventually lead to real tissue regeneration and improved joint function (Grigolo et al. 2009, Nasiri et al. 2019.

# 3 Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) Administration Routes

There are two major routes for MSCs transplantation in both animal and clinical applications – systemic injection or local administration. Systemic administration includes intravenous (IV) or IA injections of MSCs into the vasculature. This is a minimally invasive approach that can obligate MSC distribution throughout the body. However, there are several obstacles associated with systemic MSC injections and these include untargeted cell delivery, poor homing, and MSCs becoming trapped in the lungs through the "first pass" effect (Nasiri et al. 2019).

During local administration, MSCs are either directly injected into the damaged tissue or embedded in scaffolds prior to transplantation. For a direct injection, MSCs are suspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), HA, and PRP before they are injected into the articular space. Compared to the systemic approach, local IA injections of MSCs provide an easy, simple route that has been reported to inhibit the degeneration of osteoarthritic cartilage and induce therapeutic outcomes in different animal studies and clinical trials (Davatchi et al. 2016; Emadedin et al. 2012).

OA induces diffuse chondral degeneration; therefore, MSC therapy can be performed alone or mixed with HA or PRP, which is the most common and beneficial treatment. HA can stimulate the production of glycosaminoglycans (GAG) and collagen (Erickson et al. 2012), and PRP is an active substance that can stimulate cell proliferation, inflammatory chemotaxis, and collagen synthesis (Wang et al. 2019a, 2019b), which may enhance the rate of the normally limited cartilage repair process (Kurtz et al. 2007). In addition, as therapeutic cells, MSCs can be seeded onto three-dimensional (3D) scaffolds and then used locally to repair osteoarthritic cartilage through their trophic activity or ability to differentiate (Demoor et al. 2014).

Articular cartilage is a tissue with biomechanical function. Therefore, it seems to be essential that tissue engineering and cell therapy techniques ultimately produce a new structure that has the capability to adequately simulate the necessary mechanical properties of native tissue. This challenge can be addressed by MSC seeding on 3D scaffolds that provide the required mechanical strength (Diekman and Guilak 2013). Moreover, the therapeutic effects of MSCs can further be increased by seeding on scaffolds loaded with GF to assist tissue repair and elevate the integration of newly formed cartilage with the surrounding tissue (Barron et al. 2015; Qi et al. 2013). For example, scaffolds with chondrogenic growth factor TGF $\beta$ 1 on their margins and the osteogenic factor BMP-2 on the bottom layer could increase tissue integration between regenerated cartilage and old surrounding tissue (Chen et al. 2011). Furthermore, scaffolds can guide both homing and differentiation of endogenous progenitor cells; this capacity seems to be the reason for the observed repair ability of cell-free scaffolds during OA treatment (Lee et al. 2010; Mendelson et al. 2011; Re'em et al. 2012). The different commercial scaffolds currently available for treatment of cartilage defects include: collagen, polylactic acid, polylactic-co-glycolic acid, and polyethylene glycol (Tribe et al. 2017). Despite the primary therapeutic outcomes of various cell-seeded or cell-free scaffolds in animal and preclinical studies, they are not used as current treatments in clinical practice; this is mainly due to concerns about safety and the possibility of a graft-versushost immune response. Moreover, local administration of MSCs by using scaffolds is currently employed to treat small area cartilage defects rather than the large, diffuse cartilage losses observed in OA.

# 4 Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC)-Derived Extracellular Vesicles (EVs): A New Cell-Free Therapeutic for Osteoarthritis (OA)

In addition to anti-inflammatory and local immune-regulation activities, MSCs also exert their function by production and release of extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs are intracellular communication vehicles enclosed in a phospholipid bilayer. They are rich in nucleic acids (mRNAs and microRNAs), lipids, proteins, and other extracellular matrix (ECM) components and have antiapoptotic, antifibrotic, and pro-angiogenic activities to restore the anabolic and catabolic balance of the ECM and alleviate disease progression (Toh et al. 2017). EVs can be used as either a vehicle in drug delivery or therapeutic agents that contain a set of cellular products. EVs are representative of original cell components that can be used for disease diagnosis. In contrast to cell therapy, EVs do not have any risk for uncontrolled cell proliferation and tumorigenesis (Gomzikova and Rizvanov 2017). Therefore, by considering their tremendous healing potential, lack of toxicity, and minimal risk for immunogenicity, which is attributed to MSC exosomes, EVs are considered to be one of the simplest ways to treat OA and other inflammatory diseases. OA treatment with MSC-derived EVs appears to maintain the homeostasis of hyaline cartilage through SOX9 and aggrecan overexpression, as well as microRNA-140-5p (Liang et al. 2016; Tao et al. 2017). microRNA-140-5p seems to have a cartilage protective role that may effectively promote cartilage repair and inhibit OA progression (Tao et al. 2017).

MSCs can produce and secrete various factors under different environmental conditions that enter the exosomes and affect their therapeutic potentials. Thereby, the efficacy of exosome therapy can be enhanced by preconditioning of MSCs with hypoxia (Almeria et al. 2019) to stimulate the production of a large number of cytokines, as well as genetic modification of cells in the form of GATA-4-overexpressing MSCs (Li et al. 2010) and CXCR4-overexpressing MSCs (Kang et al. 2015) and by adding chemicals or cytokines including tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interferon  $\chi$  (IFN- $\chi$ ), IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  (Joo et al. 2020). Accordingly, these manipulated MSCs can produce exosomes enriched in pro-inflammatory cytokines, RNAs, and proteins to manage inflammatory micro-environment and anabolic events. Recent preclinical studies on OA animal models revealed that stem cell-derived exosomes by similar therapeutic function with original stem cells inhibited the OA progression and promote cartilage repair (Cosenza et al. 2017). Despite promising early results, the extraction of large-scale purified exosomes in a clinic is a challenging issue which should be more developed. Furthermore, the exact action mechanism of MSC-derived exosomes on OA is still unclear and needs further in-depth research. It seems that MSCs exosome will soon become one of the promising therapeutic modalities for future OA management.

# 5 Therapeutic Effects of Apoptotic MSCs

According to the literature, most MSCs disappear a few days post administration in OA animal models as well as human studies (Toupet et al. 2015). Despite these cell clearance, significant therapeutic effects of MSCs have been observed frequently (Schelbergen et al. 2014). Accordingly, the attention has been attracted to the therapeutic effects of apoptotic MSCs which seems to be mediated through both direct effects including secretion of IL-10 and TGF-b, and thereby induction of immunosuppressive microenvironment (Korns et al. 2011), as well as indirect effect which is associated with inflammatory to antiinflammatory switch by immune cells that phagocytose apoptotic MSCs (Fadok et al. 1998). Swallowed MSCs release IDO in the cytoplasm of the host cell and subsequently secrete it into extracellular environment, which leads to T-cell inhibition (Laing et al. 2018). Apoptotic MSCs may exert immunomodulatory effects and participate in alleviation of OA and inhibition of disease progression.

# 6 How Can Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) Be More Involved in the Process of Tissue Regeneration?

Despite their potential, the therapeutic outcome of the initial MSC therapies was not satisfactory; this limitation was the cause for subsequent development of novel strategies that could enhance the contribution of MSCs to the tissue regeneration process. Accordingly, accurate determination of their density; the adult tissue origin of MSCs; administration route; genetic correction; preconditioning of MSCs; combined administration of MSCs with different GFs, hydrogels, and NPs; and biomechanical stimulation have been employed to enhance the efficiency of MSC therapy (Nasiri et al. 2019). For example, researchers determined the proper cell dose of MSCs to prevent possible unwanted complications such as tumor formation or cartilage regeneration failure from insufficient numbers of cells, in different preclinical and clinical studies. Genetic manipulation of MSCs enhanced their cartilaginous ability both in terms of trophic function and differentiation potential (Wojdasiewicz et al. 2014). MSCs transduced with the CXCR4 were transfected to overexpress IL-10, CTLA4Ig, US6, and US11 to promote MSC migration toward fibrillated osteoarthritic cartilage (Li et al. 2017; Sullivan et al. 2013). Despite promising preliminary results from preclinical studies, safety concerns have restricted the use of genetically manipulated MSCs in the clinic. Alternatively, MSC priming with GFs and cytokines is used to increase their repair capacity. Various conditions and chemicals, including hypoxia, oxidative stress, heat shock, nutrientdeficient media, and inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ , could boost the immunosuppressive effects of MSCs and promote both cell migration and differentiation capacities, and cell survival and homing after transplantation (Fan et al. 2012). The therapeutic effects of MSCs can also be enhanced by combined MSC-GFs treatment (Li et al. 2016). In this approach, fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) and their receptors (FGFRs), cartilage-derived morphogenetic protein 1 (CDMP1), VEGF1, TGF $\beta$ 1, TGF $\beta$ 3, insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), SOX 5, SOX 6, SOX 9, BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-7, anti-apoptotic proteins, connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) and plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) have been used in clinical trials (Hu et al. 2010; Wu et al. 2014) with promising regenerative results.

To date, numerous studies used the above strategies to increase the therapeutic effectiveness of MSC therapy; however, the efficacy of MSC participation in damaged tissue regeneration remains low and it appears that the cell therapy techniques should employ more efficient cell delivery approaches in order to access targeted cell therapy and enhance cell migration, engraftment, and differentiation potential prior to the use of MSCs in the clinic setting.

# 7 Preclinical Data on Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) Treatment of Osteoarthritis (OA) and Cartilage Defects

Recent preclinical studies on various animal models confirmed that administration of MSCs via direct IA injection of cells suspended in carrier media or seeded on scaffolds, and MSC-derived exosomes often improve OA symptoms and joint function; in rare cases, they can induce tissue regeneration. Different small (mouse, rat, rabbit) and large (goat, dog, sheep, horse) animal models have been generated by oophorectomy; anterior cruciate ligament amputation (ACLT); or injection of monosodium iodoacetate (MIA), collagenase, quinolone, or papain (Kim et al. 2018). Cheng et al. reported that treatment of rat knee model of early OA with Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells (WJMSCs) combined with extracorporeal shockwave therapy (ESWT) significantly improved pathological immunohistoand chemistry (IHC) findings, micro-CT (µCT), and reduced synovitis compared with ESWT or WJMSCs alone (Cheng et al. 2019). Xing et al. compared treatment with a single dose  $(10^6 \text{ cells})$ versus three doses of embryonic stem cell-derived MSCs (ES-MSCs) for a rat OA knee model. Six weeks after treatment, they observed improved modified Mankin scores and International Cartilage Repair Society (ICRS) macroscopic scores for both the single and multiple doses. At 10 weeks after treatment, the multiple-dose administration had a significantly greater ICRS score, lower Mankin score, and improved histological analysis (Xing et al. 2021). Table 1 shows a summary of preclinical studies from 2011 to

2021 that used MSCs to treat animal models of OA.

# 8 Clinical Trials of Cultured Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) for Osteoarthritis (OA) Treatment

Clinical trials are conducted after initial approval and promising therapeutic results are obtained from studies on small and large OA animal models. Successful clinical trial results can subsequently be implemented in the clinic setting. MSCs obtained from human bone marrow, synovial fluid, and adipose tissue have been directly injected into the IA space. MSCs are ideal cell therapy candidates for the treatment of OA in humans because of the ease of their extraction from different adult tissues, in addition to their high differentiation potential into chondrocytes and special capacity for immunomodulatory activity (Kobolak et al. 2016). Several clinical trials have been conducted that examined the therapeutic potential of MSCs in the clinical management of OA with short-term (weeks) and longterm (years) follow-up. Bastos et al. reported that IA injections of bone marrow-derived cultureexpanded MSCs with and without PRP improved the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) symptom domain and global score, which led to a decrease in OA symptoms and repaired joint function at the 12-month follow-up (Bastos et al. 2020). Recently, Hernigou et al. reported that subchondral bone marrow MSCs compared with total knee arthroplasty (TKA) had a significant effect on pain relief and enabled patients with bilateral OA to postpone or avoid TKA (Hernigou et al. 2021a, b). Briefly, administration of MSCs appears to reach the alleviated pain, repaired physical function of the joint, and formation of the hyaline-like cartilage in human. Table 2 summarizes findings from past

OA				
animal				
model	MSC source	Intervention	Main results	References
Sheep	Autologous BMSCs	BMSCs with base medium	Better macroscopic and histological score in BMSCs	Al Faqeh et al. (2012)
Rabbit	Xenogenic	BMSCs with PBS	Better macroscopic and histochemical scores and	Saulnier
	UCMSCs		less synovitis in cartilage fibrillation in the	et al. (2015)
			UCMSCs transplanted group.	
Mouse	Allogeneic	ADMSCs/mouse	Less synovitis and better macroscopic score in	ter Huurne
	ADMSCs	serum	ADMSCs transplanted group.	et al. (2012)
Rat	Human MSCs or rat	Human MSCs versus	Meniscal regeneration in both human and human	Horie et al.
	MSCs of fat	Tat MISCS III PDS	inhibited OA progression in human MSCs	(2012)
	MISCS		compared with rat MSCs.	
Rat	Allogeneic	BMSCs/self-	Better histologic and macroscopic score in	Kim et al.
	BMSCs	assembled peptide	BMSCs transplanted group	(2014)
		hydrogels as a scaffold		
Sheep	Autologous	AMSC versus BMSCs	Cartilage regeneration and ECM synthesis in both	Ude et al.
	ADMSC or		ADMSCs and BMSCs transplanted groups	(2014)
	BMSCs			
Guinea	Human	MSCs/HA versus	Cartilage regeneration in both MSCs/HA and	Sato et al.
pigs	MSCs	MSCs/PBS	MSUS/PBS	(2012)
Rabbits	ADMSCs	ADMSCS/PRP versus	Better histological evidence for ADMSCs/PRP	Hermeto
Dogs		ADMSC a/DDD vorsus	Improved function and focal compressive	Vup at al
Dogs	ADMISCS	PRP	strength reduced pain in ADMSCs/PRP	(2016)
			compared with PRP.	(2010)
Rabbit	Allogeneic	BMSCs/HA versus	Better histological score in BMSCs/HA compared	Chiang et al.
	BMSCs	HA	with HA	(2016)
Rat	Allogeneic	ADMSCs/PBS	Delayed joint degeneration and chondrocyte	Mei et al.
	ADMSCs		protection in ADMSCs transplanted group	(2017)
Rabbit	BMSCs	BMSCs/HA versus	Better histologic and histochemical scores in	Desando
		PRP versus	BMSCs/HA, PRP/HA, and PRP.	et al. (2018)
<b>C</b> 1	A 11		Lucran da se la sincilia di la MDL's	E t1
Sneep	Anogeneic	ADMSCS/HA versus	AD MSCs/HA	(2018)
	ADMSCS		Compared with HA	(2018)
Sheep	ADMSCs	ADMSCs/HA versus	Better MRL uCT, and histochemical score in	Ly et al.
r		HA	ADMSCs/HA compared with HA.	(2018)
Dog	Allogeneic	MSCs/PBS	No observed histologic or behavior differences	Cabon et al.
C	MSCs		after MSCs administration.	(2019)
Rat	WJMSCs	WJMSCs versus	Improved µCT and histological scores in ESWT,	Cheng
		WJMSCs/ESWT or	WJMSCs and the combined groups, better	et al. (2019).
		ESWT	immunohistologic score in WJMSCs.	
Rat	Human	ADMSCs/PBS	Reduction of joint pain in the human ADMSCs	Wang et al.
	ADMSCs		transplanted group.	(2020)
Rat	Human	UCMSCs/HA versus	Higher cartilage regeneration and histological	(2020)
	UCIVISES	IIA OI FDS	with HA or PBS	(2020)
Rat	Allogeneic	BMSC-derived	Improved cartilage renair FCM synthesis and	He et al
	BMSCs	exosomes	alleviated knee pain in exosome-treated group	(2020)
Rabbit	UCMSCs	UCMSC versus	Higher ECM syntheses in UCMSCs and less	Wang et al.
		GO/UCMSC or GO	inflammation in UCMSC and GO/UCMSC	(2021)
			compared with GO.	

 Table 1
 Preclinical studies of mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) applications in osteoarthritis (OA) animal models (2011 to 2021)

(continued)

OA animal model	MSC source	Intervention	Main results	References
Rat	hESC- derived ESMSCs	Single-dose ESMSCs versus three doses of ESMSCs	Better macroscopic, histological, and behavioral scores in the repeated dose group.	Xing et al. (2021).
Rabbit	Allogeneic ADMSCs	ADMSCs/PBS	Decreased cartilage destruction and OA score, and chondrocyte protective effects in ADMSCs	Zhang et al. (2021)

 Table 1 (continued)

*BMSCs* Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, *ECM* Extracellular matrix, *UCMSCs* Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells, *PBS* Phosphate-buffered saline, *ADMSCs* Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells, *HA* Hyaluronic acid, *PRP* Platelet-rich plasma, *WJMSCs* Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells, *µCT* Micro-CT, *ESWT* Extracorporeal shockwave therapy, *GO* Graphene oxide

5 years of clinical trial results for MSC treatment of human osteoarthritic joints.

# 9 Proposed Mechanisms of Action by Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) in the Treatment of Osteoarthritis (OA)

Although the exact mechanisms by which MSCs regenerate articular cartilage are unknown, evidence suggests that injected exogenous MSCs primarily regulate the local inflammatory microenvironment, inhibit tissue damage, decrease apoptosis, stimulate progenitor cell recruitment and proliferation, improve angiogenesis, and reduce oxidative stress. MSCs mainly regulate these activities via paracrine signaling, regulation of anabolic and catabolic factors, and direct MSC-chondrocyte interactions instead of direct differentiation into chondrocytes (Ozeki et al. 2016; Saulnier et al. 2015). Apparently, MSCs are not specifically designed to engraft into the empty spaces of the lost cartilage; rather they predominantly regulate the repair response via activity and paracrine immunomodulatory functions. Clearance of MSCs and inability to trace them shortly after administration support this hypothesis. Therefore, the trophic activity of MSCs rather than differentiation to tissue-specific cells appears to be fundamental mechanism for their therapeutic effects in OA. To conduct such therapeutic effects, MSCs secrete an abundant cytokine, chemokine, anti-inflammatory, and

other soluble factors including prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), GAL3, GAL 9, HO-1, nitric oxide (NO), interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , interleukins (ILs) (involved in anti-inflammatory function), IDO, TGF- $\beta$ , TSG-6, IGF, HLA-G5, HGF, IL-6 (involved in immunomodulatory function), SDF-1 $\alpha$ , MCP-1, and MCP-2 (involved in cell recruitment), VEGF (involved in angiogenesis) (Jo et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019a, b), as well as other chondrogenic factors involved in chondrocyte proliferation and ECM synthesis (Im 2018). Figure 1 shows the paracrine activities of MSCs to induce tissue repair in an osteoarthritic knee joint.

# 10 Future of Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Directed Therapeutics for Osteoarthritis

Nowadays our current knowledge or application of exiting cell therapy techniques are failed to the treatment of large and diffuse cartilage defects which is observed in end-stage OA. Moreover, inadequate homing capacity and survival rate of MSCs have restricted the results and on the other hand, MSC-derived exosomes have not received permission to enter the clinic (Silva et al. 2018). However, given the existing knowledge and unresolved challenges, drawing the conclusion on the final effectiveness of MSC therapy in the treatment of OA is very early and precipitant and, in this regard, we need more extensive studies to guide the future of the path.

Despite the limited published evidence that supports the effectiveness of MSCs in OA

		Number	Mode of		
MSC source	Cell density	of patients	delivery	Main results	References
Allogeneic BMSCs	$40 \times 10^{6}$	30	IA injection	Higher cartilage quality and improved joint function in BMSCs group versus the control.	Vega et al. (2015) PMID: 25822648
Autologous BMSCs	$5 \times 10^6$	30	IA injection	Improved VAS and WOMAC scores seen by MRI, improved cartilage quality, knee function, and decreased pain level in BMSCs group versus the control.	Emadedin et al. (2015) PMID: 26058927
Autologous BMSCs	$50 \times 10^6$	15	IA injection	Reduced pain and remarkable improvement in clinical and quantitative MRI outcomes over 2 years in BMSCs group versus the control.	Soler et al. (2016) PMID: 26783191
Autologous ADMSCs	$2 \times 10^{6}$ (low-dose), $10 \times 10^{6}$ (mid-dose) and $50 \times 10^{6}$ (high-dose)	18	IA injection	Only the low dose of ADMSCs exhibited statistically significant improvements in WOMAC index, VAS pain score, and KOOS score.	Pers et al. (2016)
Allogeneic UCMSCs	$20-30 \times 10^{6}$	36	IA injection	Improved joint function and overall quality of life in UCMSCs group versus the control.	Wang et al. (2016)
Autologous BMSCs	$8-9 \times 10^{6}$	3	IA injection	The treated knee had a higher VAS score, better functional results, and lower pain levels at 5 years after the BMSCs injection.	Davatchi et al. (2016)
Allogeneic BMSCs	25, 50, 75 or $150 \times 10^6$	60	IA injection	Improvement of VAS, ICOAP, and WOMAC scores was observed only in the 25 x $10^6$ cell dose group at the 12-month follow-up	Gupta et al. (2016)
Autologous BMSCs	$30 \times 10^6$	13	IA injection	The KOOS score and knee cartilage thickness were dramatically improved in the BMSCs group versus the control.	Al-Najar et al. (2017)
Autologous ADMSCs	$10 \times 10^{6} \text{ (low-dose)},$ $50 \times 10^{6} \text{ (mid-dose)},$ $100 \times 10^{6} \text{ (high-dose)}$	18	IA injection	Improved function, pain, and WOMAC score in the high-dose group, which was confirmed by MRI and second look arthroscopy. Hyaline-like cartilage regeneration in the high-dose group.	Jo et al. (2017)
Autologous ADMSCs	$10 \times 10^{6}$ (low-dose), $20 \times 10^{6}$ (mid-dose) and high-dose, $50 \times 10^{6}$ (high-dose)	18	IA injection	Improved pain, function, and cartilage volume at different doses. The most improvement was seen in the high-dose group.	Song et al. (2018)
Autologous BMSCs	Not mentioned	61	IA injection	Improved quality of life, VAS, WOMAC in X-rays, decreased pain at the six-month follow-up	Garay- Mendoza et al. (2018)
Autologous BMSCs	$10-100 \times 10^{6}$	30	IA injection	No adverse effects after BMSCs throughout the follow-up period. Improved VAS, WOMAC, and KOOS scores in BMSCs versus the control.	Lamo- Espinosa et al. (2016)

Table 2	Five years	of clinical	trial results	with mes	enchymal st	em cells	(MSCs)	for treatment	t of	osteoarthritic	joints
(2015-20	21)										

(continued)

		Number of	Mode of MSC		
MSC source	Cell density	patients	delivery	Main results	References
Allogeneic PLMSCs	500–600 × 10 <sup>6</sup>	20	IA injections	No adverse effects after PLMSCs after 24 weeks, clinical outcome, and better joint function in PLMSCs versus control	Khalifeh Soltani et al. (2019)
Autologous ADMSCs	$100 \times 10^{6}$	30	IA injection	Significantly reduced pain and improved joint function at 12 months, better KOOS score in MRI. No adverse effects were observed during follow up	Freitag et al. (2019)
UCMSCs	$20 \times 10^6$	40	IA injection	Frequent injections of UC-MSCs had lower ratings than other study groups during 12 months; progress in pain and knee surgery in OA patients were monitored at 12 months	Khalifeh Soltani et al. (2019)
BM-MSCs	$1 \times 10^{6}$ (low-dose), $10 \times 10^{6}$ (mid-dose), and $50 \times 10^{6}$ (high-dose)	12	IA injection	Some cases of edema upon injection were reported. Patients who received higher doses of MSCs experienced reduced symptoms, greater improvements in KOOS, WOMAC score, and quality of life.	Chahal et al. (2019)
ADMSCs	$100 \times 10^{6}$	24	IA injection	Decreased cartilage lesion size, better WOMAC and VAS scores in ADMSCs group vs. control. No significant adverse effects were reported.	Lee et al. (2019)
ADMSCs	$80 \times 10^6$	34	IA injection	Improved pain and symptoms, higher VAS and KOOS score in ADMSCs group vs. control.	Higuchi et al. (2020)
BMSCs or BMSCs +PRP	$40 \times 10^6$	47	IA injection	Improved KOOS and global symptom, decreased intra-articular levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine in BMSC and MSC + PRP groups after 12 months	Bastos et al. (2020)
BMSCs	5.8× 10 <sup>3</sup> /mL	60	IA injection	Both clinical and MRI improvement in BMSC group vs. control	Hernigou et al. (2021a, b)
BMSCs	$7.8 \times 10^3$ /mL	140	IA injection	Pain relief in BMSCs versus TKA	Hernigou et al. (2021b)

Table 2 (continued)

*OA* Osteoarthritis, *BMSCs* Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, *MRI* Magnetic resonance imaging, *IA injection* Intraarticular injection, *ADMSCs* Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells, *UCMSCs* Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells, *PLMSCs* Placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells, *VAS* Visual analog scale, *KOOS* Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score, *WOMAC* Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index, *PRP* Platelet-rich plasma, *TKA* Total knee arthroplasty

management, 80% of OA patient participants in a study of MSC therapy reported "symptomatic improvement," or "good results" after treatment (Piuzzi et al. 2018). The results of similar studies indicate relative patient satisfaction, and this reveals a disparity between the literature and marketing claims.

Future MSC-based therapeutics for OA should focus on increasing MSC survival and targeted cell delivery to the injured tissue. Immobilization of cells by encapsulation with semi-permeable membranes may help increase MSC survival and targeted MSC therapy may significantly improve therapeutic outcomes in the future.



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of proposed mechanisms of action for tissue regeneration in an osteoarthritic joint by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). MSCs stimulate the angiogenesis and

recruitment of endogenous precursor cells, in addition to their anti-inflammatory and anti-catabolic roles which enables them to participate in tissue repair and disease control of the osteoarthritic environment in a joint

Targeted MSCs delivery to osteoarthritic cartilage can be performed in two ways, by surface modification of MSCs and NPs (Nasiri et al. 2019). MSC surface modification can occur by expression induction of special ligands, antibodies, or peptides on the MSC surface with the intent to increase its binding affinity to desired ligands on the target tissue (Ansboro et al. 2012). NPs are connector interfaces that bind to both the MSCs and the tissue, and cause MSCs to bind indirectly to the surface of the target tissue and inhibit off-target attachment of MSCs to an undesired surface (Nasiri et al. 2019).

In conclusion, the future of MSC therapy for OA has uncertainties and challenges. The results of many studies have described the hypoimmunogenic nature of MSCs; however, others reported the production of antibodies in the body and a host immune response after allogenic MSC administration (Zhang et al. 2009), which seems to be a cause for rapid cell clearance. Despite compatibility of autologous MSC's with the patient's immune system, there are barriers to the use of autologous MSCs in the clinic, including an inadequate number of cells for administration, decreased therapeutic potential of autologous MSCs in elderly or unhealthy patients, and lack of time and cost for the treatment of acute disease with autologous MSCs because of the costly and time-consuming process for culturing MSCs. These obstacles restrict the future of MSC therapy in OA. However, it would be promising to develop a targeting system that would provide more efficient targeting of endogenous stem/progenitor cells and advance the tissue regeneration process, even without the need for administration of MSCs.

# References

- Al Faqeh H, Nor Hamdan BM, Chen HC, Aminuddin BS, Ruszymah BH (2012) The potential of intra-articular injection of chondrogenic-induced bone marrow stem cells to retard the progression of osteoarthritis in a sheep model. Exp Gerontol 47:458–464. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exger.2012.03.018
- Almeria C, Weiss R, Roy M, Tripisciano C, Kasper C, Weber V, Egger D (2019) Hypoxia conditioned mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles induce increased vascular tube formation in vitro. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7:292. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fbioe.2019.00292
- Al-Najar M, Khalil H, Al-Ajlouni J, Al-Antary E, Hamdan M, Rahmeh R, Alhattab D, Samara O, Yasin M, Abdullah AA et al (2017) Intra-articular injection of expanded autologous bone marrow

mesenchymal cells in moderate and severe knee osteoarthritis is safe: a phase I/II study. J Orthop Surg Res 12:190. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-017-0689-6

- Ansboro S, Greiser U, Barry F, Murphy M (2012) Strategies for improved targeting of therapeutic cells: implications for tissue repair. Eur Cell Mater 23:310– 318; discussion 318-319
- Barron V, Merghani K, Shaw G, Coleman CM, Hayes JS, Ansboro S, Manian A, O'Malley G, Connolly E, Nandakumar A et al (2015) Evaluation of cartilage repair by mesenchymal stem cells seeded on a PEOT/ PBT scaffold in an osteochondral defect. Ann Biomed Eng 43:2069–2082. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-015-1246-2
- Bastos R, Mathias M, Andrade R, Amaral R, Schott V, Balduino A, Bastos R, Miguel Oliveira J, Reis RL, Rodeo S et al (2020) Intra-articular injection of culture-expanded mesenchymal stem cells with or without addition of platelet-rich plasma is effective in decreasing pain and symptoms in knee osteoarthritis: a controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 28:1989–1999. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00167-019-05732-8
- Biggee BA, McAlindon T (2004) Glucosamine for osteoarthritis: part I, review of the clinical evidence. Med Health R I 87:176–179
- Bijlsma JW, Berenbaum F, Lafeber FP (2011) Osteoarthritis: an update with relevance for clinical practice. Lancet (London, England) 377:2115–2126. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60243-2
- Bondeson J, Wainwright SD, Lauder S, Amos N, Hughes CE (2006) The role of synovial macrophages and macrophage-produced cytokines in driving aggrecanases, matrix metalloproteinases, and other destructive and inflammatory responses in osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 8:R187. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2099
- Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L (1994) Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med 331:889–895. https:// doi.org/10.1056/nejm199410063311401
- Cabon Q, Febre M, Gomez N, Cachon T, Pillard P, Carozzo C, Saulnier N, Robert C, Livet V, Rakic R et al (2019) Long-term safety and efficacy of single or repeated intra-articular injection of allogeneic neonatal mesenchymal stromal cells for managing pain and lameness in moderate to severe canine osteoarthritis without anti-inflammatory pharmacological support: pilot clinical study. Front Vet Sci 6:10. https://doi. org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00010
- Caplan AI, Correa D (2011) The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 9:11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stem.2011.06.008
- Chahal J, Gómez-Aristizábal A, Shestopaloff K, Bhatt S, Chaboureau A, Fazio A, Chisholm J, Weston A, Chiovitti J, Keating A et al (2019) Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with osteoarthritis results in overall improvement in pain and symptoms and reduces synovial inflammation. Stem

Cells Transl Med 8:746–757. https://doi.org/10.1002/ sctm.18-0183

- Chen J, Chen H, Li P, Diao H, Zhu S, Dong L, Wang R, Guo T, Zhao J, Zhang J (2011) Simultaneous regeneration of articular cartilage and subchondral bone in vivo using MSCs induced by a spatially controlled gene delivery system in bilayered integrated scaffolds. Biomaterials 32:4793–4805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2011.03.041
- Chen D, Shen J, Zhao W, Wang T, Han L, Hamilton JL, Im HJ (2017) Osteoarthritis: toward a comprehensive understanding of pathological mechanism. Bone Res 5: 16044. https://doi.org/10.1038/boneres.2016.44
- Cheng J-H, Wang C-J, Chou W-Y, Hsu S-L, Chen J-H, Hsu T-C (2019) Comparison efficacy of ESWT and Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cell in early osteoarthritis of rat knee. Am J Transl Res 11:586–598
- Chiang E-R, Ma H-L, Wang J-P, Liu C-L, Chen T-H, Hung S-C (2016) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in combination with hyaluronic acid for the treatment of osteoarthritis in rabbits. PLoS One 11:e0149835– e0149835. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0149835
- Cosenza S, Ruiz M, Toupet K, Jorgensen C, Noël D (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis. Sci Rep 7:16214. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15376-8
- Davatchi F, Sadeghi Abdollahi B, Mohyeddin M, Nikbin B (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for knee osteoarthritis: 5 years follow-up of three patients. Int J Rheum Dis 19:219–225. https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1756-185x.12670
- de Windt TS, Saris DB, Slaper-Cortenbach IC, van Rijen MH, Gawlitta D, Creemers LB, de Weger RA, Dhert WJ, Vonk LA (2015) Direct cell-cell contact with chondrocytes is a key mechanism in multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell-mediated Chondrogenesis. Tissue Eng A 21:2536–2547. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten. TEA.2014.0673
- Demoor M, Ollitrault D, Gomez-Leduc T, Bouyoucef M, Hervieu M, Fabre H, Lafont J, Denoix JM, Audigié F, Mallein-Gerin F et al (2014) Cartilage tissue engineering: molecular control of chondrocyte differentiation for proper cartilage matrix reconstruction. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840:2414–2440. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbagen.2014.02.030
- Desando G, Bartolotti I, Cavallo C, Schiavinato A, Secchieri C, Kon E, Filardo G, Paro M, Grigolo B (2018) Short-term homing of Hyaluronan-primed cells: therapeutic implications for osteoarthritis treatment. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 24:121–133. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEC.2017.0336
- Diekman BO, Guilak F (2013) Stem cell-based therapies for osteoarthritis: challenges and opportunities. Curr Opin Rheumatol 25:119–126. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BOR.0b013e32835aa28d
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop D,

Horwitz E (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240600855905

- Emadedin M, Aghdami N, Taghiyar L, Fazeli R, Moghadasali R, Jahangir S, Farjad R, Baghaban EM (2012) Intra-articular injection of autologous mesenchymal stem cells in six patients with knee osteoarthritis. Arch Iran Med 15:422–428
- Emadedin M, Ghorbani Liastani M, Fazeli R, Mohseni F, Moghadasali R, Mardpour S, Hosseini SE, Niknejadi M, Moeininia F, Aghahossein Fanni A et al (2015) Long-term follow-up of intra-articular injection of autologous mesenchymal stem cells in patients with knee, ankle, or hip osteoarthritis. Arch Iran Med 18:336–344
- Emadedin M, Labibzadeh N, Liastani MG, Karimi A, Jaroughi N, Bolurieh T, Hosseini SE, Baharvand H, Aghdami N (2018) Intra-articular implantation of autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells to treat knee osteoarthritis: a randomized, triple-blind, placebo-controlled phase 1/2 clinical trial. Cytotherapy 20:1238–1246. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcyt.2018.08.005
- Eom YW, Shim KY, Baik SK (2015) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for liver fibrosis. Korean J Intern Med 30: 580–589. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2015.30.5.580
- Erickson IE, Kestle SR, Zellars KH, Farrell MJ, Kim M, Burdick JA, Mauck RL (2012) High mesenchymal stem cell seeding densities in hyaluronic acid hydrogels produce engineered cartilage with native tissue properties. Acta Biomater 8:3027–3034. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2012.04.033
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM (1998) Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest 101:890–898. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci1112
- Fan H, Zhao G, Liu L, Liu F, Gong W, Liu X, Yang L, Wang J, Hou Y (2012) Pre-treatment with IL-1β enhances the efficacy of MSC transplantation in DSS-induced colitis. Cell Mol Immunol 9:473–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2012.40
- Feng C, Luo X, He N, Xia H, Lv X, Zhang X, Li D, Wang F, He J, Zhang L et al (2018) Efficacy and persistence of allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells combined with hyaluronic acid in osteoarthritis after intra-articular injection in a sheep model. Tissue Eng A 24:219–233. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.TEA.2017.0039
- Freitag J, Bates D, Boyd R, Shah K, Barnard A, Huguenin L, Tenen A (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the treatment of osteoarthritis: reparative pathways, safety and efficacy - a review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 17:230. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12891-016-1085-9

- Freitag J, Bates D, Wickham J, Shah K, Huguenin L, Tenen A, Paterson K, Boyd R (2019) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Regen Med 14:213–230. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2018-0161
- Fu Y, Karbaat L, Wu L, Leijten J, Both SK, Karperien M (2017) Trophic effects of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 23:515– 528. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2016.0365
- Garay-Mendoza D, Villarreal-Martínez L, Garza-Bedolla-A, Pérez-Garza DM, Acosta-Olivo C, Vilchez-Cavazos F, Diaz-Hutchinson C, Gómez-Almaguer D, Jaime-Pérez JC, Mancías-Guerra C (2018) The effect of intra-articular injection of autologous bone marrow stem cells on pain and knee function in patients with osteoarthritis. Int J Rheum Dis 21:140–147. https://doi. org/10.1111/1756-185x.13139
- Glyn-Jones S, Palmer AJ, Agricola R, Price AJ, Vincent TL, Weinans H, Carr AJ (2015) Osteoarthritis. Lancet (London, England) 386:376–387. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0140-6736(14)60802-3
- Gomzikova MO, Rizvanov AA (2017) Current trends in regenerative medicine: from cell to cell-free therapy. BioNanoSci 7:240–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12668-016-0348-0
- Grigolo B, Lisignoli G, Desando G, Cavallo C, Marconi E, Tschon M, Giavaresi G, Fini M, Giardino R, Facchini A (2009) Osteoarthritis treated with mesenchymal stem cells on hyaluronan-based scaffold in rabbit. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 15:647–658. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.TEC.2008.0569
- Gupta PK, Chullikana A, Rengasamy M, Shetty N, Pandey V, Agarwal V, Wagh SY, Vellotare PK, Damodaran D, Viswanathan P et al (2016) Efficacy and safety of adult human bone marrow-derived, cultured, pooled, allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells (Stempeucel®): preclinical and clinical trial in osteoarthritis of the knee joint. Arthritis Res Ther 18: 301. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-1195-7
- He L, He T, Xing J, Zhou Q, Fan L, Liu C, Chen Y, Wu D, Tian Z, Liu B et al (2020) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes protect cartilage damage and relieve knee osteoarthritis pain in a rat model of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Res Ther 11:276. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-020-01781-w
- Hermeto LC, DeRossi R, Oliveira RJ, Pesarini JR, Antoniolli-Silva AC, Jardim PH, Santana AE, Deffune E, Rinaldi JC, Justulin LA (2016) Effects of intra-articular injection of mesenchymal stem cells associated with platelet-rich plasma in a rabbit model of osteoarthritis. Genet Mol Res 15. https://doi.org/10. 4238/gmr.15038569
- Hernigou P, Bouthors C, Bastard C, Flouzat Lachaniette CH, Rouard H, Dubory A (2021a) Subchondral bone or intra-articular injection of bone marrow concentrate mesenchymal stem cells in bilateral knee osteoarthritis: what better postpone knee arthroplasty at fifteen years?

A randomized study. Int Orthod 45:391–399. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00264-020-04687-7

- Hernigou P, Delambre J, Quiennec S, Poignard A (2021b) Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell injection in subchondral lesions of knee osteoarthritis: a prospective randomized study versus contralateral arthroplasty at a mean fifteen year follow-up. Int Orthop 45:365–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-020-04571-4
- Higuchi J, Yamagami R, Matsumoto T, Terao T, Inoue K, Tsuji S, Maenohara Y, Matsuzaki T, Chijimatsu R, Omata Y et al (2020) Associations of clinical outcomes and MRI findings in intra-articular administration of autologous adipose-derived stem cells for knee osteoarthritis. Regene Ther 14:332–340. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.reth.2020.04.003
- Horie M, Choi H, Lee RH, Reger RL, Ylostalo J, Muneta T, Sekiya I, Prockop DJ (2012) Intra-articular injection of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) promote rat meniscal regeneration by being activated to express Indian hedgehog that enhances expression of type II collagen. Osteoarthr Cartil 20:1197–1207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2012.06.002
- Hu B, Ren JL, Zhang JR, Ma Q, Liu YP, Mao TQ (2010) Enhanced treatment of articular cartilage defect of the knee by intra-articular injection of Bcl-xL-engineered mesenchymal stem cells in rabbit model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 4:105–114. https://doi.org/10.1002/ term.212
- Im GI (2018) Tissue engineering in osteoarthritis: current status and Prospect of mesenchymal stem cell therapy. BioDrugs 32:183–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40259-018-0276-3
- Jo CH, Lee YG, Shin WH, Kim H, Chai JW, Jeong EC, Kim JE, Shim H, Shin JS, Shin IS et al (2014) Intraarticular injection of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: a proof-of-concept clinical trial. Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32:1254– 1266. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1634
- Jo CH, Chai JW, Jeong EC, Oh S, Shin JS, Shim H, Yoon KS (2017) Intra-articular injection of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: a 2-year follow-up study. Am J Sports Med 45:2774–2783. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0363546517716641
- Joo HS, Suh JH, Lee HJ, Bang ES, Lee JM (2020) Current knowledge and future perspectives on mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as a new therapeutic agent. Int J Mol Sci 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21030727
- Kang K, Ma R, Cai W, Huang W, Paul C, Liang J, Wang Y, Zhao T, Kim HW, Xu M et al (2015) Exosomes secreted from CXCR4 overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells promote Cardioprotection via Akt signaling pathway following myocardial infarction. Stem Cells Int 2015:659890. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2015/659890
- Khalifeh Soltani S, Forogh B, Ahmadbeigi N, Hadizadeh Kharazi H, Fallahzadeh K, Kashani L, Karami M,

Kheyrollah Y, Vasei M (2019) Safety and efficacy of allogenic placental mesenchymal stem cells for treating knee osteoarthritis: a pilot study. Cytotherapy 21:54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.11.003

- Kim JE, Lee SM, Kim SH, Tatman P, Gee AO, Kim DH, Lee KE, Jung Y, Kim SJ (2014) Effect of selfassembled peptide-mesenchymal stem cell complex on the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. Int J Nanomedicine 9(Suppl 1):141–157. https://doi.org/ 10.2147/ijn.S54114
- Kim JE, Song DH, Kim SH, Jung Y, Kim SJ (2018) Development and characterization of various osteoarthritis models for tissue engineering. PLoS One 13: e0194288. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0194288
- Kitta T, Kanno Y, Chiba H, Higuchi M, Ouchi M, Togo M, Moriya K, Shinohara N (2018) Benefits and limitations of animal models in partial bladder outlet obstruction for translational research. Int J Urol 25:36– 44. https://doi.org/10.1111/iju.13471
- Kobolak J, Dinnyes A, Memic A, Khademhosseini A, Mobasheri A (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells: identification, phenotypic characterization, biological properties and potential for regenerative medicine through biomaterial micro-engineering of their niche. Methods (San Diego, Calif) 99:62–68. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.09.016
- Korns D, Frasch SC, Fernandez-Boyanapalli R, Henson PM, Bratton DL (2011) Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. Front Immunol 2:57. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057
- Kuah D, Sivell S, Longworth T, James K, Guermazi A, Cicuttini F, Wang Y, Craig S, Comin G, Robinson D et al (2018) Safety, tolerability and efficacy of intraarticular Progenza in knee osteoarthritis: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled single ascending dose study. J Transl Med 16:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12967-018-1420-z
- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M (2007) Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89:780–785. https://doi.org/10. 2106/jbjs.F.00222
- Laing AG, Riffo-Vasquez Y, Sharif-Paghaleh E, Lombardi G, Sharpe PT (2018) Immune modulation by apoptotic dental pulp stem cells in vivo. Immunotherapy 10:201–211. https://doi.org/10.2217/imt-2017-0117
- Lamo-Espinosa JM, Mora G, Blanco JF, Granero-Moltó F, Nuñez-Córdoba JM, Sánchez-Echenique C, Bondía JM, Aquerreta JD, Andreu EJ, Ornilla E et al (2016) Intra-articular injection of two different doses of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells versus hyaluronic acid in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial (phase I/II). J Transl Med 14:246. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12967-016-0998-2
- Lawrence RC, Felson DT, Helmick CG, Arnold LM, Choi H, Deyo RA, Gabriel S, Hirsch R, Hochberg

MC, Hunder GG et al (2008) Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part II. Arthritis Rheum 58:26–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23176

- Lee CH, Cook JL, Mendelson A, Moioli EK, Yao H, Mao JJ (2010) Regeneration of the articular surface of the rabbit synovial joint by cell homing: a proof of concept study. Lancet (London, England) 376:440–448. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(10)60668-x
- Lee WS, Kim HJ, Kim KI, Kim GB, Jin W (2019) Intraarticular injection of autologous adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a phase IIb, randomized, placebocontrolled clinical trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 8: 504–511. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0122
- Li H, Zuo S, He Z, Yang Y, Pasha Z, Wang Y, Xu M (2010) Paracrine factors released by GATA-4 overexpressed mesenchymal stem cells increase angiogenesis and cell survival. Am J Phys Heart Circ Phys 299:H1772–H1781. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart. 00557.2010
- Li C, Li G, Liu M, Zhou T, Zhou H (2016) Paracrine effect of inflammatory cytokine-activated bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells and its role in osteoblast function. J Biosci Bioeng 121:213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jbiosc.2015.05.017
- Li M, Sun X, Ma L, Jin L, Zhang W, Xiao M, Yu Q (2017) SDF-1/CXCR4 axis induces human dental pulp stem cell migration through FAK/PI3K/Akt and GSK3β/β-catenin pathways. Sci Rep 7:40161. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep40161
- Liang Y, Duan L, Xiong J, Zhu W, Liu Q, Wang D, Liu W, Li Z, Wang D (2016) E2 regulates MMP-13 via targeting miR-140 in IL-1β-induced extracellular matrix degradation in human chondrocytes. Arthritis Res Ther 18:105. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0997-y
- Loeser RF, Goldring SR, Scanzello CR, Goldring MB (2012) Osteoarthritis: a disease of the joint as an organ. Arthritis Rheum 64:1697–1707. https://doi. org/10.1002/art.34453
- Lv X, He J, Zhang X, Luo X, He N, Sun Z, Xia H, Liu V, Zhang L, Lin X et al (2018) Comparative efficacy of autologous stromal vascular fraction and autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells combined with hyaluronic acid for the treatment of sheep osteoarthritis. Cell Transplant 27:1111–1125. https://doi. org/10.1177/0963689718773333
- Mamidi MK, Das AK, Zakaria Z, Bhonde R (2016) Mesenchymal stromal cells for cartilage repair in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 24:1307–1316. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.joca.2016.03.003
- McAlindon TE, LaValley MP, Gulin JP, Felson DT (2000) Glucosamine and chondroitin for treatment of osteoarthritis: a systematic quality assessment and metaanalysis. JAMA 283:1469–1475. https://doi.org/10. 1001/jama.283.11.1469
- Mei L, Shen B, Ling P, Liu S, Xue J, Liu F, Shao H, Chen J, Ma A, Liu X (2017) Culture-expanded allogenic adipose tissue-derived stem cells attenuate

cartilage degeneration in an experimental rat osteoarthritis model. PLoS One 12:e0176107. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0176107

- Mendelson A, Frank E, Allred C, Jones E, Chen M, Zhao W, Mao JJ (2011) Chondrogenesis by chemotactic homing of synovium, bone marrow, and adipose stem cells in vitro. FASEB J 25:3496–3504. https:// doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-176305
- Mobasheri A, Matta C, Zákány R, Musumeci G (2015) Chondrosenescence: definition, hallmarks and potential role in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Maturitas 80:237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2014. 12.003
- Mobasheri A, Rayman MP, Gualillo O, Sellam J, van der Kraan P, Fearon U (2017) The role of metabolism in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 13:302–311. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2017.50
- Nakagami H, Morishita R, Maeda K, Kikuchi Y, Ogihara T, Kaneda Y (2006) Adipose tissue-derived stromal cells as a novel option for regenerative cell therapy. J Atheroscler Thromb 13:77–81. https://doi. org/10.5551/jat.13.77
- Nasiri N, Hosseini S, Alini M, Khademhosseini A, Baghaban EM (2019) Targeted cell delivery for articular cartilage regeneration and osteoarthritis treatment. Drug Discov Today 24:2212–2224. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.drudis.2019.07.010
- Niemeyer P, Laute V, John T, Becher C, Diehl P, Kolombe T, Fay J, Siebold R, Niks M, Fickert S et al (2016) The effect of cell dose on the early magnetic resonance morphological outcomes of autologous cell implantation for articular cartilage defects in the knee: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Sports Med 44:2005– 2014. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546516646092
- Niethammer TR, Pietschmann MF, Horng A, Roßbach BP, Ficklscherer A, Jansson V, Müller PE (2014) Graft hypertrophy of matrix-based autologous chondrocyte implantation: a two-year follow-up study of NOVOCART 3D implantation in the knee. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 22:1329–1336. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-013-2454-7
- Ozeki N, Muneta T, Koga H, Nakagawa Y, Mizuno M, Tsuji K, Mabuchi Y, Akazawa C, Kobayashi E, Matsumoto K et al (2016) Not single but periodic injections of synovial mesenchymal stem cells maintain viable cells in knees and inhibit osteoarthritis progression in rats. Osteoarthr Cartil 24:1061–1070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.12.018
- Pan Q, Fouraschen SM, de Ruiter PE, Dinjens WN, Kwekkeboom J, Tilanus HW, van der Laan LJ (2014) Detection of spontaneous tumorigenic transformation during culture expansion of human mesenchymal stromal cells. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 239:105–115. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370213506802
- Peeters CM, Leijs MJ, Reijman M, van Osch GJ, Bos PK (2013) Safety of intra-articular cell-therapy with culture-expanded stem cells in humans: a systematic literature review. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:1465–1473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.06.025

- Pers YM, Rackwitz L, Ferreira R, Pullig O, Delfour C, Barry F, Sensebe L, Casteilla L, Fleury S, Bourin P et al (2016) Adipose mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapy for severe osteoarthritis of the knee: a phase I dose-escalation trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 5:847– 856. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0245
- Piuzzi NS, Ng M, Chughtai M, Khlopas A, Ng K, Mont MA, Muschler GF (2018) The stem-cell market for the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: a patient perspective. J Knee Surg 31:551–556. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1604443
- Qi BW, Yu AX, Zhu SB, Zhou M, Wu G (2013) Chitosan/ poly(vinyl alcohol) hydrogel combined with Ad-hTGF-β1 transfected mesenchymal stem cells to repair rabbit articular cartilage defects. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 238:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1258/ebm. 2012.012223
- Re'em T, Witte F, Willbold E, Ruvinov E, Cohen S (2012) Simultaneous regeneration of articular cartilage and subchondral bone induced by spatially presented TGF-beta and BMP-4 in a bilayer affinity binding system. Acta Biomater 8:3283–3293. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.actbio.2012.05.014
- Roberts S, McCall IW, Darby AJ, Menage J, Evans H, Harrison PE, Richardson JB (2003) Autologous chondrocyte implantation for cartilage repair: monitoring its success by magnetic resonance imaging and histology. Arthritis Res Ther 5:R60–R73. https://doi.org/10. 1186/ar613
- Sato M, Uchida K, Nakajima H, Miyazaki T, Guerrero AR, Watanabe S, Roberts S, Baba H (2012) Direct transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells into the knee joints of Hartley strain guinea pigs with spontaneous osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 14:R31. https:// doi.org/10.1186/ar3735
- Saulnier N, Viguier E, Perrier-Groult E, Chenu C, Pillet E, Roger T, Maddens S, Boulocher C (2015) Intraarticular administration of xenogeneic neonatal Mesenchymal Stromal Cells early after meniscal injury down-regulates metalloproteinase gene expression in synovium and prevents cartilage degradation in a rabbit model of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 23:122– 133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2014.09.007
- Scanzello CR, Goldring SR (2012) The role of synovitis in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. Bone 51:249–257. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2012.02.012
- Schelbergen RF, van Dalen S, ter Huurne M, Roth J, Vogl T, Noël D, Jorgensen C, van den Berg WB, van de Loo FA, Blom AB et al (2014) Treatment efficacy of adipose-derived stem cells in experimental osteoarthritis is driven by high synovial activation and reflected by S100A8/A9 serum levels. Osteoarthr Cartil 22:1158–1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca. 2014.05.022
- Silva LHA, Antunes MA, Dos Santos CC, Weiss DJ, Cruz FF, Rocco PRM (2018) Strategies to improve the therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stromal cells in respiratory diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:45. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13287-018-0802-8

- Soler R, Orozco L, Munar A, Huguet M, López R, Vives J, Coll R, Codinach M, Garcia-Lopez J (2016) Final results of a phase I-II trial using ex vivo expanded autologous mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee confirming safety and suggesting cartilage regeneration. Knee 23:647– 654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2015.08.013
- Song Y, Du H, Dai C, Zhang L, Li S, Hunter DJ, Lu L, Bao C (2018) Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis: a pilot study with long-term follow-up and repeated injections. Regen Med 13: 295–307. https://doi.org/10.2217/rme-2017-0152
- Sullivan C, Barry F, Ritter T, O'Flatharta C, Howard L, Shaw G, Anegon I, Murphy M (2013) Allogeneic murine mesenchymal stem cells: migration to inflamed joints in vivo and amelioration of collagen induced arthritis when transduced to express CTLA4Ig. Stem Cells Dev 22:3203–3213. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd. 2013.0248
- Tao SC, Yuan T, Zhang YL, Yin WJ, Guo SC, Zhang CQ (2017) Exosomes derived from miR-140-5poverexpressing human synovial mesenchymal stem cells enhance cartilage tissue regeneration and prevent osteoarthritis of the knee in a rat model. Theranostics 7: 180–195. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.17133
- ter Huurne M, Schelbergen R, Blattes R, Blom A, de Munter W, Grevers LC, Jeanson J, Noël D, Casteilla L, Jorgensen C et al (2012) Antiinflammatory and chondroprotective effects of intraarticular injection of adipose-derived stem cells in experimental osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 64:3604–3613. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.34626
- Toh WS, Lai RC, Hui JHP, Lim SK (2017) MSC exosome as a cell-free MSC therapy for cartilage regeneration: implications for osteoarthritis treatment. Semin Cell Dev Biol 67:56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb. 2016.11.008
- Toupet K, Maumus M, Luz-Crawford P, Lombardo E, Lopez-Belmonte J, van Lent P, Garin MI, van den Berg W, Dalemans W, Jorgensen C et al (2015) Survival and biodistribution of xenogenic adipose mesenchymal stem cells is not affected by the degree of inflammation in arthritis. PLoS One 10:e0114962. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114962
- Tribe HC, McEwan J, Taylor H, Oreffo ROC, Tare RS (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: potential role in the treatment of osteochondral lesions of the ankle. Biotechnol J 12. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot. 201700070
- Ude CC, Sulaiman SB, Min-Hwei N, Hui-Cheng C, Ahmad J, Yahaya NM, Saim AB, Idrus RB (2014) Cartilage regeneration by chondrogenic induced adult stem cells in osteoarthritic sheep model. PLoS One 9: e98770. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098770
- Väänänen HK (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells. Ann Med 37:469-479. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07853890500371957
- van der Kraan P, Matta C, Mobasheri A (2017) Age-related alterations in signaling pathways in

articular chondrocytes: implications for the pathogenesis and progression of osteoarthritis - a mini-review. Gerontology 63:29–35. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000448711

- Vega A, Martín-Ferrero MA, Del Canto F, Alberca M, García V, Munar A, Orozco L, Soler R, Fuertes JJ, Huguet M et al (2015) Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with allogeneic bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a randomized controlled trial. Transplantation 99:1681– 1690. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.0000000000000678
- Wang Y, Jin W, Liu H, Cui Y, Mao Q, Fei Z, Xiang C (2016) Curative effect of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells by intra-articular injection for degenerative knee osteoarthritis. Zhongguo xiu fu chong jian wai ke za zhi = Zhongguo xiufu chongjian waike zazhi = Chin J Reparative Reconstr Surg 30: 1472–1477. https://doi.org/10.7507/1002-1892. 20160305
- Wang AT, Feng Y, Jia HH, Zhao M, Yu H (2019a) Application of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: a concise review. World J Stem Cells 11:222–235. https://doi. org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i4.222
- Wang S, Zhu R, Li H, Li J, Han Q, Zhao RC (2019b) Mesenchymal stem cells and immune disorders: from basic science to clinical transition. Front Med 13:138– 151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11684-018-0627-y
- Wang Z, Zhu H, Dai S, Liu K, Ge C (2020) Alleviation of medial meniscal transection-induced osteoarthritis pain in rats by human adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Invest 7:10. https://doi.org/10.21037/ sci-2020-003
- Wang XD, Wan XC, Liu AF, Li R, Wei Q (2021) Effects of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells loaded with graphene oxide granular lubrication on cytokine levels in animal models of knee osteoarthritis. Int Orthop 45: 381–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-020-04584-z
- Wieland HA, Michaelis M, Kirschbaum BJ, Rudolphi KA (2005) Osteoarthritis - an untreatable disease? Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:331–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrd1693
- Wojdasiewicz P, Poniatowski ŁA, Szukiewicz D (2014) The role of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Mediat Inflamm 2014: 561459. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/561459

- Woolf AD, Pfleger B (2003) Burden of major musculoskeletal conditions. Bull World Health Organ 81:646–656
- Wu L, Leijten JC, Georgi N, Post JN, van Blitterswijk CA, Karperien M (2011) Trophic effects of mesenchymal stem cells increase chondrocyte proliferation and matrix formation. Tissue Eng A 17:1425–1436. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2010.0517
- Wu G, Cui Y, Ma L, Pan X, Wang X, Zhang B (2014) Repairing cartilage defects with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induced by CDMP and TGF-β1. Cell Tissue Bank 15:51–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10561-013-9369-x
- Xing D, Wu J, Wang B, Liu W, Liu W, Zhao Y, Wang L, Li JJ, Liu A, Zhou Q et al (2020) Intra-articular delivery of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells temporarily retard the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. Int J Rheum Dis 23:778–787. https://doi. org/10.1111/1756-185x.13834
- Xing D, Wang K, Wu J, Zhao Y, Liu W, Li JJ, Gao T, Yan D, Wang L, Hao J et al (2021) Clinical-grade human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate the progression of osteoarthritis in a rat model. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland) 26: 604. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26030604
- Yun S, Ku SK, Kwon YS (2016) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma synergistically ameliorate the surgical-induced osteoarthritis in Beagle dogs. J Orthop Surg Res 11:9. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13018-016-0342-9
- Zhang B, Liu R, Shi D, Liu X, Chen Y, Dou X, Zhu X, Lu C, Liang W, Liao L et al (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells induce mature dendritic cells into a novel Jagged-2-dependent regulatory dendritic cell population. Blood 113:46–57. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-04-154138
- Zhang R, Meng F, Zhang Q, Zou Z, Xiao K, Zhu T, Li H, Zhang W, Ma J, Ma J (2021) Allogeneic adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells promote the expression of chondrocyte redifferentiation markers and retard the progression of knee osteoarthritis in rabbits. Am J Transl Res 13:632–645
- Zhao Q, Ren H, Han Z (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells: immunomodulatory capability and clinical potential in immune diseases. J Cell Immunother 2:3–20. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jocit.2014.12.001



# The Historical Relationship Between Meis1 and Leukemia

Neslihan Meriç and Fatih Kocabaş

## Abstract

Acute leukemia (AL) is a poor progressive resistant hematological disease, which has different subtypes and immunophenotypic properties according to leukemic blasts. AL is caused by genetic changes and associated with leukemia stem cells (LSCs), which determine its prognosis and endurance. LSCs are thought to be hematopoietic progenitor and stem cell (HPSCs)-like cells that underwent a malignant transformation. In addition to their low number, LSCs have the characteristics of self-renewal, resistance to chemotherapy, and relapse of leukemia. The myeloid ecotropic integration site-1 (MEIS1) protein is a member of the three-amino acid loop extension (TALE) family of homeodomain (HD) proteins that can bind to DNA sequence-specific manner. Studies have shown that overexpression of MEIS1 and associated cofactors involves tumorigenesis of numerous cancers. Historically, increased expression of Meis1 transcript as well as protein has been determined in acute

lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients. Moreover, resistance to conventional chemotherapy was observed in leukemic blast samples with high Meis1 content. In this review article, the molecular mechanism of the oncological role of the MEIS1 protein in leukemia and LSC is discussed. In addition, it was suggested that MEIS1 protein could be utilized as a possible treatment target in leukemia with an emphasis on the inhibition of MEIS1, which is overexpressed in LSC.

#### Keywords

Leukemia · Leukemia stem cells · MEIS1

# Abbreviations

AL	Acute leukemia
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
AML-IC	Aml-initiating cells
BCL-2	B-cell lymphoma-2
BM	Bone marrow
CSCs	Cancer stem cells
CXCR-4	C-x-c chemokine receptor type 4
DFS	Disease-free survival
DNMT3a	DNA methyltransferase 3 alpha
FAB	French-American-British
FLT3	Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3

N. Meric (🖂)

Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Health and Technology University, Istanbul, Turkey

Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Faculty of Engineering, Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: neslihan.meric@istun.edu.tr

F. Kocabaş

Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Faculty of Engineering, Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey

FLT3-	Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3-internal
ITD	tandem duplication
HD	Homeodomain
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
Hif-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha subunit
Hif-2α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 2 alpha subunit
HoxA9	Homeobox a9
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
HSPCs	Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells
LICs	Leukemia initiating cells
LSCs	Leukemia stem cells
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndromes
MEIS1	Myeloid ecotropic integration site-1
MEIS1i	MEIS1 inhibitors
MLL	Mixed lineage leukemia
MRD	Minimal residual disease
NOD/	Nonobese diabetic/severe combined
SCID	immunodeficiency
NPM1	Nucleophosmin 1
OS	Overall survival
PB	Peripheral blood
Pbx1	Pre-b-cell leukemia transcription
	factor 1
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TALE	Three-amino acid loop extension
Tdt	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl
	transferase

# 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Leukemia

Leukemia is a life-threatening hematological malignant disease (Juliusson and Hough 2016). Acute (fast progressive) and chronic (more slowly progressing) leukemia are divided into myeloid and lymphoid origin. Acute and chronic leukemias have different mechanisms and different treatment options. According to the 2021 data from the *American Cancer Society*, the number of newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients was 20,240, while the number of patients diagnosed with acute lymphocytic leukemia

(ALL) was 5,690 in the USA. While the number of patients who died from AML was 11,400 in 2021, the number of patients who died from ALL was 1,580. The risk of most leukemias increases, as people get older. The typical age of a patient with AML, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), or chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is 65 years or older. People under the age of 20 are more likely to develop ALL. The average age of an ALL patient at the time of diagnosis is 15. Mutagenic factors, genetic combinations, and environmental factors are among the known causes of leukemia (Kreile et al. 2016). Besides all these reasons, somatic mutations are accepted as the major factor in the development of leukemia. Some common somatic mutations include chromosomal translocations (fusion proteins, abnormal gene expressions) (Kumari et al. 2012; Nickoloff et al. 2008), numerical chromosomal aberrations (deletions, aneuploidy) (Simonetti et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2011b), and mutations (Point-,ITD.) in known oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes (Osato 2004; Panuzzo et al. 2020).

# 1.1.1 Leukemia Stem Cells (LSCs) and Leukemia-Initiating Cells (LICs)

LSCs are usually characterized by their quiet nature, immature phenotype, distinct metabolic characteristics, and reliance on certain signaling pathways (Polak et al. 2020). In addition to these characters, LSCs have properties such as selfrenewal, undifferentiation, drug resistance, as well as initiating leukemia when transported to NOD/SCID mice (Gupta et al. 2009; Hanekamp et al. 2017).

Self-renewal refers to the ability to transfer illness into secondary/tertiary recipients, whereas leukemia initiation refers to the ability to engraft and reconstitute the heterogeneous leukemia disease (Chung and Park 2014). LSCs and HSCs could share the same niche in the bone marrow (BM) (Vormoor et al. 1994). Both LSCs and HCSs demonstrate the similar CD34+CD38immunophenotype. This strengthens the hypothesis that LSCs are likely to originate from HSCs and subsequently undergo a series of malignant transformations (Passegué et al. 2005; Weissman 2005). The LSCs that originate from the myeloid line have self-renewal and other biological features of HSCs (Ayton and Cleary 2003; Kumar et al. 2004; Passegué et al. 2005; Weissman 2005). The response of healthy and leukemic cells to hematopoietic growth factors, as well as their sensitivity to cytokines in stem cells, is the most significant difference (Jordan et al. 2000). Interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain (CD123) is the most prominent marker of LCSs and is not highly expressed in CD34+CD38hematopoietic cells (Jordan et al. 2000; Okada et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2005). Furthermore, studies suggest that LSCs exist in the CD34+CD38population (Hanekamp et al. 2017). For AML, LSCs are well understood, while their existence and significance for ALL are less clear (Bernt and Armstrong 2009). Human AML-IC was first found in 1994 by Lapidot and colleagues in immunodeficient SCID mice in vivo (Shultz et al. 2007) (Lapidot et al. 1994).

LSCs, defined as leukemia-initiating cells (LIC) from time to time, represent a subset of leukemia cells and are distinguished from other leukemia cells because they have some characteristics of the stem cell (Chung and Park 2014). Ng et al. (2016) studied four patients with AML, and CD34+/CD38- leukemic cells were injected into the mouse (Ng et al. 2016). Transfected mice were identified with LICs (Ng et al. 2016). LSCs obtained from transplanted xenograft specimens were found to be similar to the original patient LSCs (Buss and Ho 2011). Recent research have also confirmed the occurrence of CD34+CD38-LSCs and parallel correlation with minimal residual disease (MRD) levels after chemotherapy, disease responsiveness, and poor survival (Terwijn et al. 2014). In the presence of LSCs, the treatment of AML patients is different, and resistance to treatment increases (Buss and Ho 2011; Terwijn et al. 2014). In a broader gene study with 1,047 AML patients, the expression of 52 genes representing LSCs and non-LSCs was determined, and it was found to be related that patients with high-score LSCs had poor OS (overall survival) and DFS (disease-free survival) (Gentles et al. 2010).

Although xenograft transplantation experiments confirmed the presence of LCSs in CD34+CD38cells, Taussig et al. (2010) found the existence of LSCs in the samples taken from NPM-mutated AMLs in low CD34- expression (Taussig et al. 2010; Jin et al. 2009; Lechman et al. 2016). In some instances, only the presence of LSCs in CD34- cells was observed, while in some samples, the presence of LSCs in both CD34+ and CD34cells emphasized that the phenotyping of LSCs was heterogeneous. It has also been shown that the phenotype of LSCs has changed and the existence of LSCs differs in CD34 and CD38 expressions (Buss and Ho 2011). LSCs observed different ratios of AML subtypes, and the ratio of LSCs was found to be directly proportional to high-risk AML (Gentles et al. 2010; Taussig et al. 2010). In addition, LSCs-associated microRNAs obtained from samples known to be LSCs are associated with OS (Lechman et al. 2016). All these studies allow the patient to determine the treatment modality and identify risky groups according to the genetic and other characteristics of AML LSCs.

## 1.1.2 Biomarkers of Leukemia Stem Cells in AML and ALL

The identification of LSCs in leukemia is particularly important in disease diagnosis, prognosis, monitoring, and drug screening of leukemia. Multicolor flow cytometry, side population assays, and ALDH assays are all used to identify LSCs. Despite the variability of AML/ALL, multiple cell surface markers that are increased on CD34+CD38- LSCs when compared to normal CD34+CD38- HSPCs have been found. The most common surface markers in the LSCs are shown in Table 1.

Many of these markers related to relapses of the disease have not been studied in detail. However, the combination of CD123+CD34+CD38is known to increase once the disease relapsed (Buss and Ho 2011; Kinstrie et al. 2015). In addition, CD123 positive cells and FLT3-internal tandem duplication (ITD) mutation come together in the CD34+CD38- LSC population (Al-Mawali et al. 2016) suggests that CD123 is a strong LSCs marker in FLT3-ITD mutated AML. In several studies to identify myeloid originated leukemic

1.1		D.C.
Marker	Description	References
CD34	Marker antigen for HSPCs and LSCs	Taussig et al. (2010)
CD38	This is a maturation marker. Typical HSC is negative for CD38. This marker was found negative in AML-LSCs as well	Takagi et al. (2017)
CD123 (IL3RA)	LSCs are frequently identified by this marker	Han et al. (2017)
CD33	Positive for patients with AML-LSCs	Ehninger et al. (2014); Walter et al. (2012)
TIM3 (T-cell Ig mucin3)	Surface molecule expressed on LSCs in most forms of AML except acute promyelocytic leukemia but not on HSCs	Jan et al. (2011) and Kikushige et al. (2010)
Anti-BCL-2	The BCL-2 is highly expressed in CLL patients	Marschitz et al. (2000)
CD96	Cell surface marker present on many AML-LSCs	Du et al. (2015), Hosen et al. (2007) and Zeijlemaker et al. (2016)
CD47	Upregulated in murine and human myeloid leukemia	Jaiswal et al. (2009) and Majeti et al. (2009)
CLL-1	A stem cell and myeloid LSC marker	Moshaver et al. (2008), Taussig et al. (2010), Van Rhenen et al. (2007) and W. Zeijlemaker et al. (2016)
ALDH	ALDH activity is high in both myeloid LSCs and HSCs	Cheung et al. (2007) and Ran et al. (2009)
CD133	CD133 expression on LICs in children with ALL	Cox et al. (2009)
CD99	Allows functionally normal hematopoietic stem cells to be distinguished from leukemic stem cells in AML	Chung et al. (2017)
CD32	In some AML patients, the expression is linked to LSC activity	Saito et al. (2010a)
CD93	Novel biomarker of LSC in CML	Kinstrie et al. (2015)
CD22 CD19 Anti-Tdt CD10 CD20	These markers in combination are used for B-ALL classification	Mannelli (2016)
CD2 CD5 CD7 CD8 CD10 Anti-Tdt	These markers are used for T-ALL classification	Mannelli (2016)

 Table 1
 Common leukemia stem cell markers

cells, CD123 and CD33 were used as LCSs determinants (Han et al. 2017; Somervaille et al. 2009; Takagi et al. 2017; Testa et al. 2002). In sum, these studies indicate that CD123 is a crucial determinant in the targeting and identification of LSCs.

It has been reported that TIM3 is highly expressed on the surface of a large number of LCSs but not in normal BM-HSCs (Jan et al. 2011). TIM3 is defined as a new surface marker in the determination of AML-LCSs. Saito et al. (2010a, b) examined that CD32 and CD25 are highly expressed on the surface of human LCSs (Saito et al. 2010b). Although LSCs were defined in CD34+CD38- phenotype, Taussig et al. (2008) showed that CD34+ CD38+ leukemic cells were engrafted in all seven AML samples in their investigation (Taussig et al. 2008). Furthermore, technologies based on the flow cytometer analysis showed that LSCs were observed to be quite high in aldehyde dehydrogenase activity (ALDH) (Gerber et al. 2012).

## 1.1.3 AML and LSC

AML is defined as an aggressive neoplastic disease characterized by elevated proliferation, discontinuance of differentiation, and disruption of apoptosis mechanism (Weinstein et al. 2013). Although the treatment of AML has robustly increased in recent years, its cause has sufficiently not been determined (Döhner et al. 2017). Although transplantation is still an important treatment modality in relapsed and high-risk AML disease, side effects associated with transplantation and refractory diseases cause morbidity and mortality (Breems et al. 2005). AML patients are treated with various treatment methods and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, but the relapse of leukemia is still an insoluble problem of AML treatment (Liu et al. 2017). The most important reason for the relapse of the disease after treatment is the presence of LSCs,

which enable the regrowth of leukemia. For the discovery of new drugs to be developed for the treatment of AML subtypes (Table 2), CD34+ CD38-LSCs with leukemic blasts belonging to AML patients in xenograft models can be examined (Zhang et al. 2011a). With the disruption of hematopoiesis, the number of hematopoietic cells (red blood cells, platelets, and granulocytes) is reduced, which contributes to the development of the disease. Due to their resistance to chemotherapy drugs, LSCs were difficult to respond to treatment. However, OS rates have decreased in AML (Liu et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2011a). CD34 is a trans-membrane sialomucine protein and as a cell-cell adhesion factor and is a protein that is expressed on the surface of HSCs, which allows stem cells to bind to the extracellular matrix (Aljurf et al. 2011). The CD34 monoclonal antibody is important in the identification of

 Table 2
 WHO classification of AML

immature and mature cells in LSCs and in identifying residual immature blasts for MRD disease (Basso et al. 2001).

The etiology of AML is influenced by chromosomal structural variations and genetic abnormalities (Rowley 2008). The five most common mutated genes in AML comprise NPM1, Idh1, Idh2, DNA methyltransferase 3 alpha (Dnmt 3a), and FLT3, according to The Cancer Genome Atlas project. In addition to all these, the classification of leukemia is an important issue. For this purpose, the WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues, fourth edition, was originally released in 2016, with the whole description of the classification being published in 2017 (Aljurf et al. 2011; Basso et al. 2001; Rowley 2008) (Table 2).

#### CD34+ AML

The majority of AML-LCSs samples (about 75%) were positive for CD34 expression, and the blast rate was above > 10% (Thomas and Majeti 2017). In CD34+CD38- AML cells, a higher percentage of LSCs are observed than CD34+CD38+ cells, whereas these cells are immature cells with higher self-renewal properties (Arber et al. 2016; Thomas and Majeti 2017).

#### CD34- AML

CD34- leukemia cells are defined as cells that are resistant to treatment and have the potential to initiate leukemia (Hanekamp et al. 2017). 20% of patients with AML lacks neoplastic CD34+ cells (Eppert et al. 2011; Sarry et al. 2011). No LSCs were found in samples with CD34+ and a blast population below 1% (Sarry et al. 2011; Wendelien Zeijlemaker et al. 2015; Zhu et al. CD34-2013). Patients with except for CD34+CD38or CD34+CD38+ leukemic populations potentially have a population of LCSs. Apart from all these, it is thought that more small cell groups in the AML patient group are not yet defined, which are more leukemic and much more resistant to treatment (Hanekamp et al. 2017). Quek and colleagues studied 49 samples of CD34-AML cohort, and they compared the mutation profile with that of a distinct cohort of 84 sequential AML samples with more than 2% CD34+ blasts. There was enrichment of CD34- versus CD34+ AML with NPM1, TET2 mutations (Quek et al. 2016). Besides, the presence of NPM1 mutation was found to be inversely proportional to CD34 expression (Falini et al. 2005). In addition, cells identified by flow cytometry using Hoechst dye 33,342 were found to be resistant to AML treatment, and these cells were found to have leukemia initiation when NOD/SCID mice were administered (Boesch et al. 2012; Falini et al. 2005; Quek et al. 2016; Richard et al. 2013). These studies suggest that CD34+ and CD34cells (Jaiswal et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2013) are to found to be neoplastic (Moshaver et al. 2008).

## 1.1.4 Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia and LSC

ALL is defined as a hematological disease that is seen in 20% of all adult AL and 80% of children AL (Feuring-Buske and Hogge 2001; Liew et al. 2012; Roshal et al. 2013). ALL diseases are classified as follows: T-lineage ALL and B-lineage ALL (Table 3). LSCs are found in a large proportion of AML but are less defined in ALL (Bernt and Armstrong 2009). Satake et al. (2014) have developed a new method of separating ALL LSCs and found that they had in vivo LICs cells obtained by this new method (Satake et al. 2014). They also demonstrated that the LSCs isolated from the same investigation had different transcriptome profiles and also showed that LSCs had subclones (Satake et al. 2014).

There are genetic variations that can be observed by cytogenetic, FISH, or molecular tests in around 80% of ALL patients. Five significant genetic mutations in B-cell leukemia/ lymphoma including hypodiploidy and hyperdiploidy are established in the WHO 2008 classification as t(9;22) (q34;q11.2) BCR-ABL1, t(v;11q23) MLL rearranged, t(12;21) (p13;q22) TEL-AML1 (ETV6-RUNX1), t(5;14)(q31;q32) IL3-IGH, and t(1;19) (q23;p13.3) E2A-PBX1 (TCF3-PBX1) (Vardiman et al. 2009). Besides these, Philadelphia chromosome-like B-lineage ALL is one of the latest high-risk subtypes characterized by genetic changes that cause

WHO types	Immunophenotyping
B- ALL	
Early precursor B-ALL	Pro-B-ALL, CD10-, CD19+, cCD79a+, cCD22+, TdT+
Common B-ALL	CD10 <sup>+</sup>
Precursor B-ALL (pre-B-ALL) Pre-B-ALL, cytoplasmic $\mu^+$ , sIg <sup>-</sup> , CD10 <sup>+</sup> / <sup>-</sup> )	
T- ALL	
Immature T-cell	CD1a, CD2, CD3 (membrane and cytoplasm), CD4, CD5, CD7, CD8
	(Chiaretti et al. 2014)

Table 3 WHO classification of ALL

different signaling pathways, including those involving cytokine receptors, tyrosine kinases, and epigenetic modifiers (Yokota and Kanakura 2016).

CD34 is an important marker for B-ALL between ages 1 and 10 (Pui et al. 1993). In low-risk adult B-ALL patients, CD34 expression was correlated with higher WBC cell count and high peripheral blood (PB) LSCs (Thomas et al. 1995). In most of the ALL patients, CD34 is not expressed on the surface of LSCs (Aljurf et al. 2011).

## 1.2 MEIS1

Homeodomain transcription factors play an important function in embryogenesis and differentiation. 60-amino The acids-long homeodomain is characterizing the class of TALE that includes three extra amino acids between the first and the second a-helix. This class comprises two major subfamilies, PBC (Pbx1-4 in human) and MEINOX, further divided into sub-families PREP (PREP1-2) and MEIS (MEIS1-3) (Blasi et al. 2017).

Belonging to the MEIS subfamily, MIES1 protein has important roles in both hematopoiesis and leukemogenesis, including differentiation and regulation of apoptosis mechanism (Blasi et al. 2017; Schulte and Geerts 2019). The MEIS1 protein is a 43KDa protein of 137,360 base-pair gene length, consisting of 13 exons and containing 390 amino acids (Moskow et al. 1995; Rosales-Avĩa et al. 2011). The canonical DNA binding sequence of MEIS1 is TGACAG (Shen et al. 1997). The MEIS1 protein plays a crucial role in numerous types of cancers

including neuroblastomas, nephroblastomas, ovarian carcinomas, prostate cancer, non-small cell lung adenocarcinoma, and leukemia (Geerts et al. 2003; Jones et al. 2000; Kroon et al. 1998; Shen et al. 1997; Sitwala et al. 2008; Spieker et al. 2001). Moreover, in recent research, it was found that MEIS1 controls both the development of papilloma and the malignant conversion from papilloma to carcinoma in papilloma. Despite all these studies, the role and mechanism of MEIS1 protein in tumor formation and development are not fully known (Okumura et al. 2014).

MEIS1 protein was first discovered in the BXH-2 mouse leukemia model as a common viral integration site (Moskow et al. 1995). The normal Meis1 mRNA or Meis1-proviral fusion mRNA level increases with viral integration. Recent studies have shown increased cytoplasmic glycolysis by overexpression of MEIS1 protein, which is thought to be involved in the spread and progression of cancer. The increase in resistance to chemotherapy treatment is also parallel to the increased expression of Meis1 than healthy counterparts. In addition, the MEIS1 protein modulates stem cell homeostasis by maintaining stem cell glycolytic metabolism (Aksoz et al. 2017; Crijns et al. 2007; Kocabas et al. 2012a, b, 2015; Okumura et al. 2014).

## 1.2.1 The Role of MEIS1 on Normal Hematopoiesis

Recent studies suggest that MEIS1 is a protein that performs a crucial role in the normal HSC self-renewal/proliferation. MEIS1 co-works with the Hox genes in the differentiation stages of hematopoiesis (Imamura et al. 2002; Kocabas et al. 2014; Mahmoud et al. 2013). This idea is supported by a high rate of bleeding due to the lack of megakaryocytes in mouse 14.5 embryonic days, which has not supplemented the MEIS1 protein (Hisa et al. 2004). While the presence of myeloerythroids in dead embryos was observed, the total number of colony-forming cells was observed to be quite low.

## 1.2.2 The Oncogenic Role of MEIS1 in Leukemia

The onset of cancer is initiated by its overexpression in various tumors as a result of numerous genetic alterations in the genome. The excessive expression of MEIS1 causes cell proliferation and apoptosis resistance (Rosales-Avĩa et al. 2011).

Cancer cells, unlike healthy cells, use cytoplasmic glycolysis to digest large amounts of glucose, a phenomenon known as the Warburg effect in biology. With this effect, cancer cells can survive in the hypoxic tumor microenvironment. Pernilla Eliasson et al. (2010) revealed that when they performed hypoxic conditions to LSCs, they noticed that HSC proliferation had reduced by the accumulation of the cells to G0 phase (Eliasson et al. 2010; Aksoz et al. 2017; Crijns et al. 2007; Hisa et al. 2004). Supporting previous observations, increased MEIS1 expression in the BMs of ALL and AML patients was observed (Kocabas et al. 2014; Thorsteinsdottir et al. 2001). In the experiments with murine AML models, it was found that high expression of MEIS1 is involved in the onset of the disease (Rozovskaia et al. 2001; Wong et al. 2007).

MEIS1 and Hox proteins, especially Homeobox A9 (HoxA9) and Pre-B-Cell Leukemia Transcription Factor 1 (Pbx1), work together in leukemia and accelerate leukemogenesis by activating target genes (Imamura et al. 2002; Jones et al. 2000). HoxA9 transcription factor is important in HSCs replication, and its regulation mostly degenerates in AL (Collins and Hess 2016). The higher expressions of MEIS1 and HoxA9 were observed in aggressive murine and human ALL samples (Blasi et al. 2017; Collins and Hess 2016; Pineault et al. 2004). Intriguingly, decreased activity of fumarate hydratase (Fh1) (TriCarboxylic Acid (TCA) cycle and fumarate metabolism causes activation of MEIS1/HoxA9 oncogenic pathway in LSCs (Guitart et al. 2017). In this case, the change in metabolic activity is thought to trigger the activity of MEIS1 during the development of leukemia. In another study, even in the absence of fusion, the Dntm3a mutation in AML has been shown to reactivate the oncogenic MEIS1 pathway (Ferreira et al. 2016). PU.1, a tissue-specific transcription factor that is expressed in cells of the hematopoietic cells, has a role in leukemia by increasing the expression of MEIS1 in non-MLL U937 cells (Ferreira et al. 2016; Shen et al. 1999). Although there is a relationship between the high expression of MEIS1 protein in cancer cells and cytoplasmic glycolysis, the effects of MEIS1 and its cofactors on cancer stem cells and cancer metabolism still require further investigation (Aksoz et al. 2017).

# 1.3 Relapse-Refractory AML/ALL and MEIS1

One of the biggest problems encountered in the treatment of leukemia disease in the clinic is the resistance of LSCs in the blast population of patients to traditional chemotherapy. As a result of this resistance, the disease appears to be relapsed, known as *relapse or recurrence*. There are still uncertainties regarding the relapse of the disease, and it is known that the MEIS1 gene and its family are involved in development of resistance to traditional chemotherapy regimens (Liu et al. 2017). According to studies, patients with a high MEIS1 expression level were more resistant to chemotherapy than those with a low MEIS1 expression level. The connection between MEIS1 and relapse/refractory is strengthened as a result of this (Liu et al. 2017). According to the investigation of Adamaki et al. (2015), high HoxA9 and MEIS1 gene expressions are associated with relapse and OS in childhood AL (Adamaki et al. 2015).

# 1.4 Molecular Mechanism of Leukemia Associated with MEIS1

## 1.4.1 Relationship of MLL with MEIS1, HoxA9, and PBX

MLL contains chromosomal translocations that contain >50 different genes associated with leukemia (Adamaki et al. 2015; Guzman and Jordan 2004). Chromosomal translocations involving the MLL gene (11q23) are found in 8-19% of ALL patients and 3% of AML patients. Chromosomal translocations involving the MLL gene (11q23) fuse N-terminal sequences of MLL to one of >40 functionally diverse groups of C-terminal fusion partners (Daser and Rabbitts 2005). AFL, AF9, or ENL translocation of the MLL gene in AML patients contributes to the development of both lymphoid and myeloid disease. Gene analysis of all leukemias associated with MLL fusion indicated that Hox gene dysregulation was an integral factor for MLL fusion-related leukemias (Aoki et al. 2015; Daser and Rabbitts 2005; Ernst et al. 2002; Kawagoe et al. 1999). In other studies, both the wild-type MLL and MLL oncogenic fusions have been associated with the Hox genes and active transcription of these genes (Ferrando et al. 2003; Yeoh et al. 2002; Yu et al. 1995, 1998). Upregulation of HoxA9 and MEIS1 is seen in leukemias associated with MLL rearrangements (Aoki et al. 2015; Caslini et al. 2007; Milne et al. 2005; Weissman 2005). Recently, various genetic techniques are used to investigate the contribution of the TALE family of Pbx1, Pbx2, and Pbx3 and MEIS1 to the formation of MLL-induced AML. The presence of the relationship defines MLL fusion genes and their capacity to induce MEIS1 transcription was promising to find the contribution of MEIS1 to the formation of MLL oncogenesis (Wong et al. 2007). This hypothesis is not valid in all myeloid leukemias. In the recent study with the AML mouse model, it was found that the MLL-AF9 oncogene was effectively induced in FAB-M4 or M5 subtypes of human AML (Kohlmann et al. 2003; Tsutsumi et al. 2003) (Swansbury et al. 1998).

# 1.4.2 Relation with FMS-Like Tyrosine Kinase 3 (FLT3) with MEIS1, HoxA9, and PBX

FLT3 is a member of the class III tyrosine kinase receptor family. Although it is temporarily secreted during HSC maturation, it is much more expressed in AML disease (Somervaille and Cleary 2006; Swansbury et al. 1998). FLT3 is expressed in leukemic blasts even in AL groups with negative CD34 (Drexler 1996; Gary Gilliland and Griffin 2002; Ozeki et al. 2004). In human ALs, the MEIS1 protein and Hox gene are high, which is associated with the high expression of FLT3 mRNA (Roche et al. 2004). On the contrary, Morgado et al. (2007) found that FLT3 was independent of MEIS1 and HoxA9 oncologic cooperation, and leukemogenesis was independent of FLT3 (Morgado et al. 2007). Garcia-Cuellar et al. (2015) conducted important research on the regulation of Hox function with HoxA9-MEIS1-Pbx3 interaction (Garcia-Cuellar et al. 2015). According to this study, Pbx3 binds to MEIS1 and protects it from ubiquitination and then inhibits its proteasome-mediated degradation, which is greatly extending the half-life of MEIS1. When there is a mutation in MEIS1 (i.e., MEIS1  $\Delta$ ), the association of Pbx3-MEIS1is disrupted, and the ubiquitination and degradation of MEIS1 are halted. Pbx3-MEIS1 binding is required for MEIS1-HoxA9 communication. As a result of Pbx3 stabilizing the MEIS1 protein level, MEIS1-HoxA9 communication and gene regulation activity are increased (Garcia-Cuellar et al. 2015). Similarly, Wang et al. (2005) suggested that Meis1-Pbx complexes control FLT3 transcription, expansion of normal shortterm HSCs, and expansion of leukemia-initiating progenitors in vivo regulation of hypoxic phenotype in hematopoietic cells with MEIS1 (Wang et al. 2005a).

The MEIS1 protein is involved in the transcriptional control of the Hif-1 and Hif-2 genes. (Aksoz et al. 2017; Kocabas et al. 2012a, 2015; Zhang et al. 2012). MEIS1 and its cofactors (Pbx1, HoxA9) work together to activate Hif-1 $\alpha$ by binding to the reserved sites on the Hif-1 $\alpha$ gene in this mechanism (Kocabas et al. 2015). One characteristic of the hematopoietic niche is the low-oxygen partial pressure. Hypoxia provides long-term protection of HSPCs. Hypoxia is a powerful signal and is provided by members of the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) family (Deynoux et al. 2016). High expression of Hif-1 $\alpha$  was detected in leukemia and especially in AML, acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), and ALL. Thus, response to chemotherapy was decreased, and poor prognosis was observed in these samples (Deeb et al. 2011; Deynoux et al. 2016; Gao et al. 2015; Li and Ye 2010; Thorne and Milne 2015). The severity and survival of AML and myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) diseases are affected by the level of Hif-1 $\alpha$ (Forristal et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2011; Zhe et al. 2015). While Hif-2 $\alpha$  expression has not been observed in normal cells, it has been readily detected in AML and ALL samples (Li and Ye 2010; Song et al. 2014; Tong et al. 2012). Several studies have shown that when Hif-1 $\alpha$  was inhibited by RNAi or small molecules, the primary cells did not form colonies in vitro, and tumor growth and leukemic development were reduced. In these studies, the disease was significantly regressed in AML xenograft samples, and leukemia was eliminated by inhibition of Hif-1α in second transplantation (Deynoux et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2005b; Zhe et al. 2015). This is backed up by research in ALL (Rouault-Pierre et al. 2013; Wellman et al. 2004) and CML (Giambra et al. 2015; Zou et al. 2013). Similarly, limited in vitro cell proliferation or weak or incomplete in vivo engraftment was observed by knockdown of Hif-2 $\alpha$  with shRNA resulting in leukemic inhibition (Kawada et al. 2013; Li and Ye 2010; Song et al. 2014).

Hypoxia environment created by the HIF family allows the progression of disease and maintenance through a series of mechanisms effective in the deregulated and normal physiology of cancer, energy metabolism, cycle, quiescence, and immunological function are only a few examples (Coltella et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2012). Hif-1 $\alpha$  and Hif-2 $\alpha$  activate the signaling pathways involved in the protection and spread of leukemia. Hif-1 $\alpha$  influences the Notch1 pathway to activate the Wnt pathway that induces leukemia propagation and formation (Rouault-Pierre et al. 2013; Wellman et al. 2004). On the contrary, Hif-1 $\alpha$  inhibits the expression of tumor suppressor genes such as p15, p16, p19, and p53 (Deynoux et al. 2016; Zou et al. 2013). Expressing HIFs allows cells to remain in the quiescence phase. The leukemia cells in the quiescence phase gain resistance to chemotherapy drugs. Here, hypoxia induces members of the HIF family, and Hif-1 $\alpha$  keeps the cells in the GO/G1 phase and prevents AML cells from passing to the S phase (Aksoz et al. 2017; Kocabas et al. 2012a; Zhang et al. 2012).

Intriguingly, the expressions of Hif-1 $\alpha$  and Hif-2 $\alpha$  decrease with the tissue-specific deletion of the Meis1, thus increasing ROS content and hematopoietic cell apoptosis (Kocabas et al. 2012b). ROS activity in metabolism plays a main role in the functioning of stem cells. ROS activity is also effective in the onset and progression of leukemia. ROS levels are reduced in LSCs than HSCs, and agents that escalate the activity of ROS may contribute to the elimination of AML stem cells.

## 1.4.3 Effect of MEIS1 Protein in Cell Cycle and Apoptosis

Cell replication and apoptosis are necessary processes for the development of the organism. However, in cancer cells, cell proliferation goes out of control, and the pathways that provide the apoptosis mechanism are disrupted. Likewise, uncontrolled cell proliferation in cancer cells involves a change in the activity of cell cycle regulations. Meis1 is a protein that is significantly expressed in a variety of cancers, causing cell proliferation and apoptosis resistance (Rosales-Avía et al. 2011). In a research conducted by Kumar et al. (2009), cell cycle and apoptosis investigations were done to determine the processes by which Meis1 suppression leads to reduced cell proliferation. The findings obtained as a result of PI-stained nuclei analysis in flow cytometry show that inhibition of MEIS1 caused a cell cycle arrest in the G0/G1 phase. It was observed that G0/G1 phase was escalated and S and G2/M phase was reduced (Kumar et al. 2009). Other studies showed that the G0 phase was decreased

and the G1 phase was doubled after silencing of the Meis1 gene in the K562 cells. On the other hand, Wermuth and Buchberg (2005) found that HoxA9 and MEIS1 could eliminate the caspasemediated apoptosis pathway (Wermuth and Buchberg 2005).

# 1.5 Leukemia Stem Cells (LSCs) Inhibition Methods

While developing strategies to selectively eliminate LSCs, it is believed that the maintenance of normal hematopoietic stem cells is also necessary for the long-term survival of leukemia patients. Thus, methods targeting LSCs should be more specific to LSCs by allowing survival of HSPCs.

## 1.5.1 Targeting Surface Markers Expressed by LSCs

It is a common approach to treat LCSs with monoclonal antibodies targeting markers on their surface. The effects of the newly developed humanized monoclonal anti-CD44 antibody, RG7356, on AML patients were investigated (Vey et al. 2016). At the end of this investigation, it was shown that RG7356 increased macrophage uptake and decreased AML blasts especially in CD34-CD38+ cells (Saygin et al. 2019). The anti-CD123 drugs developed for the CD123 antigen, the specific marker of LSC, were promising for the treatment of leukemia (Thomas and Majeti 2017). IL-3 is a cytokine that performs a function in myeloid differentiation, and blocking the IL-3 receptor CD123 has been shown to lessen the growth of LSCs in NOD/SCID mice (Jin et al. 2009). New drugs targeting LCSs are still in phase 1-2 stages in clinical studies (Thomas and Majeti 2017).

# 1.5.2 Targeting the LSC Microenvironment

CSCs are believed to reside in niches, as is the case for normal stem cells. Niches are specialized microenvironments that regulate the fate of adult stem cells by providing indications in the form of both contacts between cells and secreted variables (Plaks et al. 2015). C-X-C chemokine receptor

type 4 (CXCR-4) has a significant impact on homing and quiescence of HSCs (Moriuchi et al. 1997; Saini et al. 2010). Blocking CXCR4 allows LCSs to move out of the protected stromal niche and allows the disease to be eliminated by chemotherapy. 52 AML patients were treated with CXCR4 antagonist *plerixafor* and salvage chemotherapy, and 46% of the patients showed improvement in one phase 1–2 study (Uy et al. 2012).

## 1.5.3 Targeting the MEIS1 Protein via Small Molecules Called MEIS1i

Inhibitors have been developed for MEIS1 protein, which has an important role in leukemia. Small molecules called MEIS1i-1 and MEIS1i-2 show an inhibition effect on MEIS1 protein activity over 95% of MEIS-luciferase activity at doses of 100 nM (Turan et al. 2020). MEIS1i-1 has been found to inhibit the activity of MEIS1, reducing the expression of hypoxia-inducible factors (Hif-1 $\alpha$  and Hif-2 $\alpha$ ). The negative effects of newly developed drug-structured MEIS inhibitors on MEIS protein activity, LSCs cell survival, and the apoptotic pathway in LSCs should be tested with more comprehensive and in-depth studies. In addition, it should be shown that MEIS inhibitors reduced levels of expression of known genes related to cancer growth and survival in patient samples.

# 1.5.4 Other Methods for the Elimination of LSCs

Membrane markers, transcriptional factors, ROS activity, telomerase, and microRNAs have been targeted to eliminate LCSs in AML. In addition, transcription factors NF- $\kappa$ B, Hif-1 $\alpha$ , B-catenin, and histone deacetylases (HDACs) are therapeutic targets for the elimination of LSCs (Ding et al. 2017). LSCs relied on telomerase to continue to self-renew and proliferate. Targeting telomerase as a therapeutic strategy for eradicating LSCs in AML is considered to be ideal (Kuo and Bhatia 2014). Furthermore, microRNAs such as miR-34a and miR-126 performed a crucial function in the regulation of LSCs and could be used to develop new anti-LSC therapies (Terwijn et al.

2014; Wang et al. 2016; Aksoz et al. 2017; Kocabas et al. 2012a; Zhang et al. 2012).

## 2 Conclusions

This review article summarizes the MEIS1 protein and its relationship with leukemia. As in many solid cancer types, MEIS1 protein is extremely expressed in leukemia and causes cell proliferation. In addition to that, MEIS1 gene expression performs a major function in the relapse of leukemia disease and its resistance to chemotherapy treatment. With the knowledge of the MEIS1 protein and related regulatory pathways and its gene family, it will increase the possibility of being a potential treatment target for leukemia treatment in the clinic.

**Acknowledgments** This study has been supported by funds provided by Gilead Sciences International Hematology and Oncology program. FK and NK were supported by Gilead ile Hayat Bulan Fikirler.

## References

- Adamaki M, Lambrou GI, Athanasiadou A, Vlahopoulos S, Papavassiliou AG, Moschovi M (2015) HOXA9 and MEIS1 gene overexpression in the diagnosis of childhood acute leukemias: significant correlation with relapse and overall survival. Leuk Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2015.04.012
- Aksoz M, Turan RD, Albayrak E, Kocabas F (2017) Emerging roles of Meis1 in cardiac regeneration, stem cells, and cancer. Curr Drug Targets. https://doi. org/10.2174/1389450118666170724165514
- Aljurf M, Chaudhri NA, Almhareb F, Walter CU, Nounou R, Khalil S et al (2011) CD34 expression in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a favorable prognostic factor in patients treated with stem cell transplant in first remission. Blood 118(21):4091–4091. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v118.21.4091.4091
- Al-Mawali A, Gillis D, Lewis I (2016) Immunoprofiling of leukemic stem cells CD34+/CD38-/CD123+ delineate FLT3/ITD-positive clones. J Hematol Oncol 9:61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-016-0292-z
- Aoki Y, Watanabe T, Saito Y, Kuroki Y, Hijikata A, Takagi M et al (2015) Identification of CD34 + and CD34 - leukemia-initiating cells in MLL-rearranged human acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-03-563304

- Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM et al (2016) The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/ 10.1182/blood-2016-03-643544
- Ayton PM, Cleary ML (2003) Transformation of myeloid progenitors by MLL oncoproteins is dependent on Hoxa7 and Hoxa9. Genes Dev. https://doi.org/10. 1101/gad.1111603
- Basso G, Lanza F, Orfao A, Moretti S, Castoldi G (2001) Clinical and biological significance of CD34 expression in acute leukemia. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents
- Bernt KM, Armstrong SA (2009) Leukemia stem cells and human acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Semin Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.09.010
- Blasi F, Bruckmann C, Penkov D, Dardaei L (2017) A tale of TALE, PREP1, PBX1, and MEIS1: interconnections and competition in cancer. BioEssays. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201600245
- Boesch M, Reimer D, Rumpold H, Zeimet AG, Sopper S, Wolf D (2012) DyeCycle violet used for side population detection is a substrate of P-glycoprotein. Cytometry A. https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.22038
- Breems DA, Van Putten WLJ, Huijgens PC, Ossenkoppele GJ, Verhoef GEG, Verdonck LF et al (2005) Prognostic index for adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. J Clin Oncol. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.06.027
- Buss EC, Ho AD (2011) Leukemia stem cells. Int J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.26318
- Caslini C, Yang Z, El-Osta M, Milne TA, Slany RK, Hess JL (2007) Interaction of MLL amino terminal sequences with menin is required for transformation. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2369
- Cheung AMS, Wan TSK, Leung JCK, Chan LYY, Huang H, Kwong YL et al (2007) Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity in leukemic blasts defines a subgroup of acute myeloid leukemia with adverse prognosis and superior NOD/SCID engrafting potential. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404721
- Chiaretti S, Zini G, Bassan R (2014) Diagnosis and subclassification of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 6(1):e2014073. https:// doi.org/10.4084/mjhid.2014.073
- Chung SS, Park CY (2014) Acute myeloid leukemia stem cells-updates and controversies. Cancer Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118356203.ch11
- Chung SS, Eng WS, Hu W, Khalaj M, Garrett-Bakelman FE, Tavakkoli M et al (2017) CD99 is a therapeutic target on disease stem cells in myeloid malignancies. Sci Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. aaj2025
- Collins CT, Hess JL (2016) Role of HOXA9 in leukemia: dysregulation, cofactors and essential targets. Oncogene. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.174
- Coltella N, Percio S, Valsecchi R, Cuttano R, Guarnerio J, Ponzoni M et al (2014) HIF factors cooperate with PML-RARα to promote acute promyelocytic leukemia
progression and relapse. EMBO Mol Med. https://doi. org/10.1002/emmm.201303065

- Cox CV, Diamanti P, Evely RS, Kearns PR, Blair A (2009) Expression of CD133 on leukemia-initiating cells in childhood ALL. Blood. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2008-04-154187
- Crijns APG, de Graeff P, Geerts D, ten Hoor KA, Hollema H, van der Sluis T et al (2007) MEIS and PBX homeobox proteins in ovarian cancer. Eur J Cancer 43(17):2495–2505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca. 2007.08.025
- Daser A, Rabbitts TH (2005) The versatile mixed lineage leukaemia gene MLL and its many associations in leukaemogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.semcancer.2005.01.007
- Deeb G, Vaughan MM, McInnis I, Ford LA, Sait SNJ, Starostik P et al (2011) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α protein expression is associated with poor survival in normal karyotype adult acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2010.10.020
- Deynoux M, Sunter N, Hérault O, Mazurier F (2016) Hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factors in leukemias. Front Oncol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2016.00041
- Ding Y, Gao H, Zhang Q (2017) The biomarkers of leukemia stem cells in acute myeloid leukemia. Stem Cell Investig 4:19. https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2017. 02.10
- Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, Amadori S, Appelbaum FR, Büchner T et al (2017) Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2016-08-733196
- Drexler HG (1996) Expression of FLT3 receptor and response to FLT3 ligand by leukemic cells. Leukemia
- Du W, Hu Y, Lu C, Li J, Liu W, He Y et al (2015) Cluster of differentiation 96 as a leukemia stem cell-specific marker and a factor for prognosis evaluation in leukemia. Mol Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco. 2015.552
- Ehninger A, Kramer M, Röllig C, Thiede C, Bornhäuser M, Von Bonin M et al (2014) Distribution and levels of cell surface expression of CD33 and CD123 in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Cancer J. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2014.39
- Eliasson P, Rehn M, Hammar P, Larsson P, Sirenko O, Flippin LA, et al (2010) Hypoxia mediates low cellcycle activity and increases the proportion of longterm-reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells during in vitro culture. Exp Hematol 38(4):301–310.e2
- Eppert K, Takenaka K, Lechman ER, Waldron L, Nilsson B, Van Galen P et al (2011) Stem cell gene expression programs influence clinical outcome in human leukemia. Nat Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2415
- Ernst P, Wang J, Korsmeyer SJ (2002) The role of MLL in hematopoiesis and leukemia. Curr Opin Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1097/00062752-200207000-00004
- Falini B, Mecucci C, Tiacci E, Alcalay M, Rosati R, Pasqualucci L et al (2005) Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin

in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. N Engl J Med. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa041974

- Ferrando AA, Armstrong SA, Neuberg DS, Sallan SE, Silverman LB, Korsmeyer SJ, Look AT (2003) Gene expression signatures in MLL-rearranged T-lineage and B-precursor acute leukemias: dominance of HOX dysregulation. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-10-3221
- Ferreira HJ, Heyn H, Vizoso M, Moutinho C, Vidal E, Gomez A et al (2016) DNMT3A mutations mediate the epigenetic reactivation of the leukemogenic factor MEIS1 in acute myeloid leukemia. Oncogene. https:// doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.359
- Feuring-Buske M, Hogge DE (2001) Hoechst 33342 efflux identifies a subpopulation of cytogenetically normal CD34+CD38- progenitor cells from patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/ 10.1182/blood.V97.12.3882
- Forristal C, Brown A, Helwani F, Leukemia IW et al (2015) Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-2α accelerates disease progression in mouse models of leukemia and lymphoma but is not a poor prognosis factor in human AML. Leukemia 29(10):2075–2085. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/leu.2015.102
- Gao XN, Yan F, Lin J, Gao L, Lu XL, Wei SC et al (2015) AML1/ETO cooperates with HIF1α to promote leukemogenesis through DNMT3a transactivation. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.56
- Garcia-Cuellar MP, Steger J, Füller E, Hetzner K, Slany RK (2015) Pbx3 and Meis1 cooperate through multiple mechanisms to support Hox-induced murine leukemia. Haematologica. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol. 2015.124032
- Gary Gilliland D, Griffin JD (2002) The roles of FLT3 in hematopoiesis and leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2002-02-0492
- Geerts D, Schilderink N, Jorritsma G, Versteeg R (2003) The role of the MEIS homeobox genes in neuroblastoma. Cancer Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3835(03)00087-9
- Gentles AJ, Plevritis SK, Page P, Majeti R, Alizadeh AA (2010) Association of a leukemic stem cell gene in acute myeloid leukemia. JAMA
- Gerber JM, Smith BD, Ngwang B, Zhang H, Vala MS, Morsberger L et al (2012) A clinically relevant population of leukemic CD34 -CD38 – cells in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-06-364182
- Giambra V, Jenkins CE, Lam SH, Hoofd C, Belmonte M, Wang X et al (2015) Leukemia stem cells in T-ALL require active Hif1α and Wnt signaling. Blood. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-10-609370
- Guitart AV, Panagopoulou TI, Villacreces A, Vukovic M, Sepulveda C, Allen L et al (2017) Fumarate hydratase is a critical metabolic regulator of hematopoietic stem cell functions. J Exp Med. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem. 20161087

- Gupta PB, Chaffer CL, Weinberg RA (2009) Cancer stem cells: mirage or reality? Nat Med. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm0909-1010
- Guzman ML, Jordan CT (2004) Considerations for targeting malignant stem cells in leukemia. Cancer Control. https://doi.org/10.1177/107327480401100216
- Han L, Jorgensen JL, Brooks C, Shi C, Zhang Q, Nogueras Gonzalez GM et al (2017) Antileukemia efficacy and mechanisms of action of SL-101, a novel anti-CD123 antibody conjugate, in acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1904
- Hanekamp D, Cloos J, Schuurhuis GJ (2017) Leukemic stem cells: identification and clinical application. Int J Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-017-2221-5
- Hisa T, Spence SE, Rachel RA, Fujita M, Nakamura T, Ward JM et al (2004) Hematopoietic, angiogenic and eye defects in Meis1 mutant animals. EMBO J. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600038
- Hosen N, Park CY, Tatsumi N, Oji Y, Sugiyama H, Gramatzki M et al (2007) CD96 is a leukemic stem cell-specific marker in human acute myeloid leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0704271104
- Imamura T, Morimoto A, Takanashi M, Hibi S, Sugimoto T, Ishii E, Imashuku S (2002) Frequent co-expression of HoxA9 and Meis1 genes in infant acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with MLL rearrangement. Br J Haematol. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-2141.2002.03803.x
- Jaiswal S, Jamieson CHM, Pang WW, Park CY, Chao MP, Majeti R et al (2009) CD47 is upregulated on circulating hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia cells to avoid phagocytosis. Cell. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2009.05.046
- Jan M, Chao MP, Cha AC, Alizadeh AA, Gentlese AJ, Weissmana IL, Majeti R (2011) Prospective separation of normal and leukemic stem cells based on differential expression of TIM3, a human acute myeloid leukemia stem cell marker. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1100551108
- Jin L, Lee EM, Ramshaw HS, Busfield SJ, Peoppl AG, Wilkinson L et al (2009) Monoclonal antibody-mediated targeting of CD123, IL-3 receptor α chain, eliminates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.04.018
- Jones TA, Flomen RH, Senger G, Nižeti D, Sheer D (2000) The homeobox gene MEIS1 is amplified in IMR-32 and highly expressed in other neuroblastoma cell lines. Eur J Cancer 36(18):2368–2374. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0959-8049(00)00332-4
- Jordan CT, Upchurch D, Szilvassy SJ, Guzman ML, Howard DS, Pettigrew AL et al (2000) The interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain is a unique marker for human acute myelogenous leukemia stems cells. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2401903
- Juliusson G, Hough R (2016) Leukemia. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000447076

- Kawada H, Kaneko M, Sawanobori M, Uno T, Matsuzawa H, Nakamura Y et al (2013) High concentrations of L-ascorbic acid specifically inhibit the growth of human leukemic cells via downregulation of HIF-1α transcription. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0062717
- Kawagoe H, Humphries RK, Blair A, Sutherland HJ, Hogge DD (1999) Expression of HOX genes, HOX cofactors, and MLL in phenotypically and functionally defined subpopulations of leukemic and normal human hematopoietic cells. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10. 1038/sj.leu.2401410
- Kikushige Y, Shima T, Takayanagi SI, Urata S, Miyamoto T, Iwasaki H et al (2010) TIM-3 is a promising target to selectively kill acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2010.11.014
- Kinstrie R, Horne GA, Morrison H, Moka HA, Cassels J, Dunn K et al (2015) CD93 is a novel biomarker of leukemia stem cells in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 126(23):49–49. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood. V126.23.49.49
- Kocabas F, Mahmoud AI, Sosic D, Porrello ER, Chen R, Garcia JA et al (2012a) The hypoxic epicardial and subepicardial microenvironment. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-012-9366-7
- Kocabas F, Zheng J, Thet S, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, DeBerardinis RJ et al (2012b) Meis1 regulates the metabolic phenotype and oxidant defense of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2012-05-432260
- Kocabas F, Zheng J, Zhang C, Sadek H, Sadek HA (2014) Metabolic characterization of hematopoietic stem cells characterization of viral OTU-like novel parasite proteins view project small molecule induced ex vivo hematopoietic stem cell expansion view project metabolic characterization of hematopoietic stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1185. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1133-2 10
- Kocabas F, Xie L, Xie J, Yu Z, DeBerardinis RJ, Kimura W et al (2015) Hypoxic metabolism in human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Biosci. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13578-015-0020-3
- Kohlmann A, Schoch C, Schnittger S, Dugas M, Hiddemann W, Kern W, Haferlach T (2003) Molecular characterization of acute leukemias by use of microarray technology. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.10225
- Kreile M, Piekuse L, Rots D, Dobele Z, Kovalova Z, Lace B (2016) Analysis of possible genetic risk factors contributing to development of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in the Latvian population. Arch Med Sci. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2016.59920
- Kroon E, Krosl J, Thorsteinsdottir U, Baban S, Buchberg AM, Sauvageau G (1998) Hoxa9 transforms primary bone marrow cells through specific collaboration with Meis1a but not Pbx1b. EMBO J. https://doi.org/10. 1093/emboj/17.13.3714

- Kumar AR, Hudson WA, Chen W, Nishiuchi R, Yao Q, Kersey JH (2004) Hoxa9 influences the phenotype but not the incidence of Mll-AF9 fusion gene leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-07-2582
- Kumar AR, Li Q, Hudson WA, Chen W, Sam T, Yao Q et al (2009) A role for MEIS1 in MLL-fusion gene leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-06-163287
- Kumari P, Madhumathi D, Appaji L, Mazloumi SH (2012) Rare and recurrent chromosomal abnormalities and their clinical relevance in pediatric acute leukemia of south Indian population. Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-5851.103144
- Kuo YH, Bhatia R (2014) Pushing the limits: defeating leukemia stem cells by depleting telomerase. Cell Stem Cell 15:673–675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014. 11.014
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J et al (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/367645a0
- Lechman ER, Gentner B, Ng SWK, Schoof EM, van Galen P, Kennedy JA et al (2016) MiR-126 regulates distinct self-renewal outcomes in normal and malignant hematopoietic stem cells. Cancer Cell. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2015.12.011
- Li Y, Ye D (2010) Cancer therapy by targeting hypoxiainducible factor-1. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. https:// doi.org/10.2174/1568210205789830096
- Liew E, Atenafu EG, Schimmer AD, Yee KWL, Schuh AC, Minden MD et al (2012) Outcomes of adult patients with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia following frontline treatment with a pediatric regimen. Leuk Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2012. 08.019
- Liu J, Qin YZ, Yang S, Wang Y, Chang YJ, Zhao T et al (2017) Meis1 is critical to the maintenance of human acute myeloid leukemia cells independent of MLL rearrangements. Ann Hematol. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00277-016-2913-6
- Mahmoud AI, Kocabas F, Muralidhar SA, Kimura W, Koura AS, Thet S et al (2013) Meis1 regulates postnatal cardiomyocyte cell cycle arrest. Nature. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature12054
- Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD et al (2009) CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Cell. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2009.05.045
- Mannelli F (2016) Immunophenotyping of acute leukemias – from biology to clinical application. Flow Cytometry – Select Topics. https://doi.org/10. 5772/62332
- Marschitz I, Tinhofer I, Hittmair A, Egle A, Kos M, Greil R (2000) Analysis of Bcl-2 protein expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Am J Clin Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1309/491w-l1tn-ufqx-t61b
- Milne TA, Dou Y, Martin ME, Brock HW, Roeder RG, Hess JL (2005) MLL associates specifically with a

subset of transcriptionally active target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0503630102

- Morgado E, Albouhair S, Lavau C (2007) Flt3 is dispensable to the Hoxa9/Meis1 leukemogenic cooperation. Blood 109(9):4020–4022. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2006-01-039586
- Moriuchi M, Moriuchi H, Turner W, Fauci AS (1997) Cloning and analysis of the promoter region of CXCR4, a coreceptor for HIV-1 entry. J Immunol 159(9):4322–4329
- Moshaver B, van Rhenen A, Kelder A, van der Pol M, Terwijn M, Bachas C et al (2008) Identification of a small subpopulation of candidate leukemia-initiating cells in the side population of patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10. 1634/stemcells.2007-0861
- Moskow JJ, Bullrich F, Huebner K, Daar IO, Buchberg AM (1995) Meis1, a PBX1-related homeobox gene involved in myeloid leukemia in BXH-2 mice. Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.15.10.5434
- Ng SWK, Mitchell A, Kennedy JA, Chen WC, McLeod J, Ibrahimova N et al (2016) A 17-gene stemness score for rapid determination of risk in acute leukaemia. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20598
- Nickoloff JA, De Haro LP, Wray J, Hromas R (2008) Mechanisms of leukemia translocations. Curr Opin Hematol 15(4):338–345. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MOH.0b013e328302f711
- Okada Y, Feng Q, Lin Y, Jiang Q, Li Y, Coffield VM et al (2005) hDOT1L links histone methylation to leukemogenesis. Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.020
- Okumura K, Saito M, Isogai E, Aoto Y, Hachiya T, Sakakibara Y et al (2014) Meis1 regulates epidermal stem cells and is required for skin tumorigenesis. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102111
- Osato M (2004) Point mutations in the RUNX1/ AML1 gene: another actor in RUNX leukemia. Oncogene. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207779
- Ozeki K, Kiyoi H, Hirose Y, Iwai M, Ninomiya M, Kodera Y et al (2004) Biologic and clinical significance of the FLT3 transcript level in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-06-1845
- Panuzzo C, Signorino E, Calabrese C, Ali MS, Petiti J, Bracco E, Cilloni D (2020) Landscape of tumor suppressor mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Med. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9030802
- Passegué E, Wagers AJ, Giuriato S, Anderson WC, Weissman IL (2005) Global analysis of proliferation and cell cycle gene expression in the regulation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell fates. J Exp Med. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20050967
- Pineault N, Abramovich C, Ohta H, Humphries RK (2004) Differential and common leukemogenic potentials of multiple NUP98-Hox fusion proteins alone or with Meis1. Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb. 24.5.1907-1917.2004
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness

of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.stem.2015.02.015

- Polak A, Bialopiotrowicz E, Krzymieniewska B, Wozniak J, Stojak M, Cybulska M et al (2020) SYK inhibition targets acute myeloid leukemia stem cells by blocking their oxidative metabolism. Cell Death Dis 11(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03156-8
- Pui CH, Hancock ML, Head DR, Rivera GK, Look AT, Sandlund JT, Behm FG (1993) Clinical significance of CD34 expression in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 82(3):889–894. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7687897
- Quek L, Otto GW, Garnett C, Lhermitte L, Karamitros D, Stoilova B et al (2016) Genetically distinct leukemic stem cells in human CD34-acute myeloid leukemia are arrested at a hemopoietic precursor-like stage. J Exp Med. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20151775
- Ran D, Schubert M, Pietsch L, Taubert I, Wuchter P, Eckstein V et al (2009) Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity among primary leukemia cells is associated with stem cell features and correlates with adverse clinical outcomes. Exp Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exphem.2009.10.001
- Richard V, Nair MG, Santhosh Kumar TR, Pillai MR (2013) Side population cells as prototype of chemoresistant, tumor-initiating cells. Biomed Res Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/517237
- Roche J, Zeng C, Barón A, Gadgil S, Gemmill RM, Tigaud I et al (2004) Hox expression in AML identifies a distinct subset of patients with intermediate cytogenetics. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu. 2403366
- Rosales-Avîa JA, Torres-Flores J, Aguilar-Lemarroy A, Gurrola-Díaz C, Hernández-Flores G, Ortiz-Lazareno PC et al (2011) MEIS1, PREP1, and PBX4 are differentially expressed in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: association of MEIS1 expression with higher proliferation and chemotherapy resistance. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-30-112
- Roshal M, Chien S, Othus M, Wood BL, Fang M, Appelbaum FR et al (2013) The proportion of CD34+ CD38low or neg myeloblasts, but not side population frequency, predicts initial response to induction therapy in patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu. 2012.217
- Rouault-Pierre K, Lopez-Onieva L et al (2013) HIF-2α protects human hematopoietic stem/progenitors and acute myeloid leukemic cells from apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Stem Cell 13(5): 549–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.08.011
- Rowley JD (2008) Chromosomal translocations: revisited yet again. Blood 112(6):2183–2189. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2008-04-097931
- Rozovskaia T, Feinstein E, Mor O, Foa R, Blechman J, Nakamura T et al (2001) Upregulation of Meis1 and HoxA9 in acute lymphocytic leukemias with the t(4 : 11) abnormality. Oncogene. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. onc.1204174

- Saini V, Marchese A, Majetschak M (2010) CXC chemokine receptor 4 is a cell surface receptor for extracellular ubiquitin. J Biol Chem. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M110.103408
- Saito Y, Kitamura H, Hijikata A, Tomizawa-Murasawa M, Tanaka S, Takagi S et al (2010a) Identification of therapeutic targets for quiescent, chemotherapyresistant human leukemia stem cells. Sci Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3000349
- Saito Y, Uchida N, Tanaka S, Suzuki N, Tomizawa-Murasawa M, Sone A et al (2010b) Induction of cell cycle entry eliminates human leukemia stem cells in a mouse model of AML. Nat Biotechnol. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nbt.1607
- Sarry JE, Murphy K, Perry R, Sanchez PV, Secreto A, Keefer C et al (2011) Human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells are rare and heterogeneous when assayed in NOD/SCID/IL2Rγc-deficient mice. J Clin Investig. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI41495
- Satake N, Duong C, Yoshida S, Davis R, Liu S, Van Dyke J et al (2014) Leukemia stem cells in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: unveiling hierarchical structure at single cell resolution. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood.v124.21.4786.4786
- Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD (2019) Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2018.11.017
- Schulte D, Geerts D (2019) MEIS transcription factors in development and disease. Development 146(16): dev174706. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.174706
- Shen WF, Montgomery JC, Rozenfeld S, Moskow JJ, Lawrence HJ, Buchberg AM, Largman C (1997) AbdB-like Hox proteins stabilize DNA binding by the Meis1 homeodomain proteins. Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.17.11.6448
- Shen W-F, Rozenfeld S, Kwong A, Kömüves LG, Lawrence HJ, Largman C (1999) HOXA9 forms triple complexes with PBX2 and MEIS1 in myeloid cells. Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.19.4.3051
- Shultz LD, Ishikawa F, Greiner DL (2007) Humanized mice in translational biomedical research. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2017
- Simonetti G, Padella A, Ferrari A, Guadagnuolo V et al (2014) Dissecting the molecular mechanisms of aneuploidy in acute myeloid leukemia by next generation sequencing. Blood
- Sitwala KV, Dandekar MN, Hess JL (2008) HOX proteins and leukemia. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 1(6):461–474
- Somervaille TCP, Cleary ML (2006) Identification and characterization of leukemia stem cells in murine MLL-AF9 acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.020
- Somervaille TCP, Matheny CJ, Spencer GJ, Iwasaki M, Rinn JL, Witten DM et al (2009) Hierarchical maintenance of MLL myeloid leukemia stem cells employs a transcriptional program shared with embryonic rather than adult stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2008.11.015

- Song K, Li M, Xu XJ, Xuan L, Huang GN, Song XL, Liu QF (2014) HIF-1α and GLUT1 gene expression is associated with chemoresistance of acute myeloid leukemia. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. https://doi.org/10. 7314/APJCP.2014.15.4.1823
- Spieker N, Van Sluis P, Beitsma M, Boon K, Van Schaik BDC, Van Kampen AHC et al (2001) The MEIS1 oncogene is highly expressed in neuroblastoma and amplified in cell line IMR32. Genomics. https://doi. org/10.1006/geno.2000.6408
- Swansbury GJ, Slater R, Bain BJ, Moorman AV, Secker-Walker LM (1998) Hematological malignancies with t (9;11)(p21–22;q23) – a laboratory and clinical study of 125 cases. European 11q23 workshop participants. Leukemia 12(5):792–800. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. leu.2401014
- Takagi S, Yoneyama A, Uchida N, Mitsuki T, Yuasa M (2017) Proportion of CD34+ CD38-leukemia stem cell fraction predicts relapse rate after umbilical cord Blood transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia with adverse. Retrieved from http://www.bloodjournal.org/ content/130/Suppl\_1/5082%3Futm\_source% 3DTrendMD%26utm\_medium%3Dcpc%26utm\_cam paign%3DBlood\_TrendMD\_0%26sso-checked% 3Dtrue
- Taussig DC, Miraki-Moud F, Anjos-Afonso F, Pearce DJ, Allen K, Ridler C et al (2008) Anti-CD38 antibody – mediated clearance of human repopulating cells masks the heterogeneity of leukemia-initiating cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-10-118331
- Taussig DC, Vargaftig J, Miraki-Moud F, Griessinger E, Sharrock K, Luke T et al (2010) Leukemia-initiating cells from some acute myeloid leukemia patients with mutated nucleophosmin reside in the CD34- fraction. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-02-206565
- Terwijn M, Zeijlemaker W, Kelder A, Rutten AP, Snel AN, Scholten WJ et al (2014) Leukemic stem cell frequency: a strong biomarker for clinical outcome in acute myeloid leukemia. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0107587
- Testa U, Riccioni R, Militi S, Coccia E, Stellacci E, Samoggia P et al (2002) Elevated expression of IL-3Rα in acute myelogenous leukemia is associated with enhanced blast proliferation, increased cellularity, and poor prognosis. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2002-03-0852
- Thomas D, Majeti R (2017) Biology and relevance of human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-10-696054
- Thomas X, Archimbaud E, Charrin C, Magaud JP, Fiere D (1995) CD34 expression is associated with major adverse prognostic factors in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia
- Thorne RMW, Milne TA (2015) Dangerous liaisons: cooperation between Pbx3, Meis1 and Hoxa9 in leukemia. Haematologica. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol. 2015.129932
- Thorsteinsdottir U, Kroon E, Jerome L, Blasi F, Sauvageau G (2001) Defining roles for HOX and

MEIS1 genes in induction of acute myeloid leukemia. Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.1. 224-234.2001

- Tong H, Hu C, Zhuang Z, Wang L, Jin J (2012) Hypoxiainducible factor-1α expression indicates poor prognosis in myelodysplastic syndromes. Leuk Lymphoma. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2012.696637
- Tsutsumi S, Taketani T, Nishimura K, Ge X, Taki T, Sugita K et al (2003) Two distinct gene expression signatures in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia with MLL rearrangements. Cancer Res
- Turan RD, Albayrak E, Uslu M, Siyah P, Alyazici LY, Kalkan BM et al (2020) Development of small molecule MEIS inhibitors that modulate HSC activity. Sci Rep 10(1):1–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64888-3
- Uy GL, Rettig MP, Motabi IH, McFarland K, Trinkaus KM, Hladnik LM et al (2012) A phase 1/2 study of chemosensitization with the CXCR4 antagonist plerixafor in relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-10-383406
- Van Rhenen A, Van Dongen GAMS, Le Kelder A, Rombouts EJ, Feller N, Moshaver B et al (2007) The novel AML stem cell-associated antigen CLL-1 aids in discrimination between normal and leukemic stem cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-03-083048
- Vardiman J, Thiele J, Blood DA et al (2009) The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood 114(5): 937–951. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-03-209262
- Vey N, Delaunay J, Martinelli G, Fiedler W, Raffoux E, Prebet T et al (2016) Phase I clinical study of RG7356, an anti-CD44 humanized antibody, in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Oncotarget. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.8687
- Vormoor J, Lapidot T, Pflumio F, Risdon G, Patterson B, Broxmeyer HE, Dick JE (1994) Immature human cord blood progenitors engraft and proliferate to high levels in severe combined immunodeficient mice. Blood
- Walter RB, Appelbaum FR, Estey EH, Bernstein ID (2012) Acute myeloid leukemia stem cells and CD33targeted immunotherapy. Blood. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2011-11-325050
- Wang J, Iwasaki H, Krivtsov A, Febbo PG, Thorner AR, Ernst P et al (2005) Conditional MLL-CBP targets GMP and models therapy-related myeloproliferative disease. EMBO J. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600521
- Wang GG, Pasillas MP, Kamps MP (2005a) Meis1 programs transcription of FLT3 and cancer stem cell character, using a mechanism that requires interaction with Pbx and a novel function of the Meis1 C-terminus. Blood 106(1):254–264. https://doi.org/ 10.1182/blood-2004-12-4664
- Wang GG, Pasillas MP, Kamps MP (2005b) Meis1 programs transcription of FLT3 and cancer stem cell

character, using a mechanism that requires interaction with Pbx and a novel function of the Meis1 C-terminus. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-12-4664

- Wang Y, Liu Y, Malek SN, Zheng P, Liu Y (2011) Targeting HIF1α eliminates cancer stem cells in hematological malignancies. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2011.02.006
- Wang Y, Yin C, Feng L, Ma L, Wei Y, Sheng G (2013) Sorting, identification and enrichment of side population cells in THP-1 acute monocytic leukemia cells. Oncol Rep. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2013.2316
- Wang S, Wang T, Li MZ, Cheng XL, Li XL (2016) Expression of microRNA miR-34a inhibits leukemia stem cells and its metastasis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci
- Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KRM, Ozenberger BA, Ellrott K et al (2013) The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. Nat Genet. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2764
- Weissman I (2005) Stem cell research: paths to cancer therapies and regenerative medicine. J Am Med Assoc. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.294.11.1359
- Wellman S, Guschmann M, Griethe W, Eckert C, Stackelberg A, Lottaz C et al (2004) Activation of the HIF pathway in childhood ALL, prognostic implications of VEGF. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10. 1038/sj.leu.2403332
- Wermuth PJ, Buchberg AM (2005) Meis1-mediated apoptosis is caspase dependent and can be suppressed by coexpression of HoxA9 in murine and human cell lines. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-03-0802
- Wong P, Iwasaki M, Somervaille TCP, So CWE, Cleary ML (2007) Meis1 is an essential and rate-limiting regulator of MLL leukemia stem cell potential. Genes Dev. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1602107
- Yeoh EJ, Ross ME, Shurtleff SA, Williams WK, Patel D, Mahfouz R et al (2002) Classification, subtype discovery, and prediction of outcome in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia by gene expression profiling. Cancer Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(02) 00032-6
- Yokota T, Kanakura Y (2016) Genetic abnormalities associated with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Sci. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12927
- Yu BD, Hess JL, Horning SE, Brown GAJ, Korsmeyer SJ (1995) Altered Hox expression and segmental identity

in Mll-mutant mice. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 378505a0

- Yu BD, Hanson RD, Hess JL, Horning SE, Korsmeyer SJ (1998) MLL, a mammalian trithorax-group gene, functions as a transcriptional maintenance factor in morphogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.18.10632
- Zeijlemaker W, Kelder A, Wouters R, Valk PJM, Witte BI, Cloos J et al (2015) Absence of leukaemic CD34+ cells in acute myeloid leukaemia is of high prognostic value: a longstanding controversy deciphered. Br J Haematol. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.13572
- Zeijlemaker W, Kelder A, Oussoren-Brockhoff YJM, Scholten WJ, Snel AN, Veldhuizen D et al (2016) A simple one-tube assay for immunophenotypical quantification of leukemic stem cells in acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu. 2015.252
- Zhang L, Hofmann S, Bullinger L, Goetz M, Wiesneth M, Rojewski M et al (2011a) Efficiency of leukemic stem cell separation from patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 118(21):4997–4997. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood.v118.21.4997.4997
- Zhang L, Lan Q, Guo W, Hubbard AE, Li G, Rappaport SM et al (2011b) Chromosome-wide aneuploidy study (CWAS) in workers exposed to an established leukemogen, benzene. Carcinogenesis. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/carcin/bgq286
- Zhang H, Li H, Xi HS, Li S (2012) HIF1α is required for survival maintenance of chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-10-387381
- Zhe N, Wang J, Chen S, Lin X, Chai Q, Zhang Y et al (2015) Heme oxygenase-1 plays a crucial role in chemoresistance in acute myeloid leukemia. Hematology. https://doi.org/10.1179/1607845414Y. 0000000212
- Zhu HH, Liu YR, Jiang H, Lu J, Qin YZ, Jiang Q et al (2013) CD34 expression on bone marrow blasts is a novel predictor of poor prognosis independent of FIT3-ITD in acute myeloid leukemia with the NPM1mutation. Leuk Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres. 2013.02.007
- Zou J, Li P, Lu F, Liu N, Dai J, Ye J et al (2013) Notch1 is required for hypoxia-induced proliferation, invasion and chemoresistance of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. J Hematol Oncol. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1756-8722-6-3



# An Overview of Zebrafish Modeling Methods in Drug Discovery and Development

Bagher Larijani , Shayesteh Kokabi Hamidpour, Akram Tayanloo-Beik , Ainaz Shahbazbadr, Hanieh Yavari, Nazli Namazi , Mahmood Biglar, and Babak Arjmand

#### Abstract

Animal studies are recognized as a significant step forward in the bridging between drug discovery and clinical applications. Animal models, due to their relative genetic, molecular, physiological, and even anatomical similarities to humans, can provide a suitable platform for unraveling the mechanisms underlying human diseases and discovering new therapeutic approaches as well. Recently,

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center,

Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran,

e-mail: emrc@tums.ac.ir; mbiglar@tums.ac.ir

Iran

zebrafish has attracted attention as a valuable experimental and pharmacological model in drug discovery and development studies due to its prominent characteristics such as the high degree of genetic similarity with humans, genetic manipulability, and prominent clinical features. Since advancing a theory to a valid and reliable observation requires the manipulation of animals, it is, therefore, essential to use efficient modeling methods appropriate to the different aspects of experimental conditions. In this context, applying several various approaches such as using chemicals, genetic manipulation pathogens, and approaches allows zebrafish development into a preferable model that mimics some human disease pathophysiology. Thus, such modeling approaches not only can provide a framework for a comprehensive understanding of the human disease mechanisms that have a counterpart in zebrafish but also can pave the way for discovering new drugs that are accompanied by higher amelioration effects on different human diseases.

#### Keywords

Animal modeling · Danio rerio · Drug development · Drug discovery · In vivo studies · Zebrafish

B. Larijani and M. Biglar

S. K. Hamidpour, A. Tayanloo-Beik, A. Shahbazbadr, H. Yavari, and B. Arjmand  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: sh.k.hamidpour@gmail.com; a.tayanloo@gmail. com; ainazshahbazbadr@gmail.com; yavari. hanieh@gmail.com; barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

N. Namazi

Diabetes Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: nazli.namazi@yahoo.com

# Abbreviations

5-ASA	5-aminosalicylic acid
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADHD	Attention-deficit/hyperactivity
	disorder
AI	Artificial intelligence
AKI	Acute kidney injury
ALD	Alcoholic liver disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ASD	Autism spectrum disorders
BA	Biliary atresia
BMAA	β-methylamine-alanine
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CNS	Central nervous system
COPAS	Complex object parametric analysis
	and sorting
CRISPR /	Clustered regularly interspaced
Cas9	short palindromic repeats
	(CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated
	protein 9 (Cas9)
DILI	Drug-induced liver injury
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DSS	Dextran sulfate sodium
E. coli	Escherichia coli
ENU	N-Ethyl-N-nitrosourea
GAS	Gastrodin
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GIOP	Glucocorticoid-induced
	osteoporosis
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial
	cells
IACUCs	Institutional animal care and use
	committees
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IND	Investigational new drug
LOC	Lab on a chip
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MPTP	1-methyl 4-phenyl-1.2.3.6-
	tetrahydropyridine
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MRSA	Anti-methicillin-resistant
	Staphylococcus aureus
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

NAFLD	Non-alcoholic liver disease
NDA	New drug application
NPs	Nanoparticles
PAM	Protospacer adjacent motif
Pcna	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDE	Pyridoxine-dependent epilepsy
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
PTZ	Pentylenetetrazole
RNAi	RNA interference
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
sgRNA	Single guide RNA
TALE	Transcription activator-like
	effector
TALENs	Transcription activator-like effector
	nucleases
TB	Tuberculosis
TILLING	Targeting induced local lesions in
	genomes
TNBS	2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid
TOR	Target of rapamycin
TRACP	Tartrateresistant acid phosphatase
UCS	Unpredictable chronic stress
VRI	VEGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor II
ZFN	Zinc finger nuclease
ZFP	Zinc finger protein

# 1 Introduction

Drug discovery as a multi-process platform leads to identifying new candidate drugs for therapeutic purposes. Principally, the sequence of processes that constructs the basis of drug discovery pipeline is generally aimed at:

- 1. The selection and validation of the efficacy and druggability of a suitable biological target.
- 2. The identification and validation of a suitable target drug by screening a large library of chemical compounds.
- 3. The generation and optimization of the lead compounds that have the desired interaction with the drug target to enter the development

platform as a candidate drug (Sinha and Vohora 2018; Hughes et al. 2011).

The platform of drug development consists of different stages that principally include preclinical study, investigational new drug (IND), clinical phases, new drug application (NDA), and premarket approval, in which various therapeutic aspects are considered for the commercialization of pharmaceuticals (Tamimi and Ellis 2009). It is noteworthy that both drug discovery and development platforms are accompanied by in vivo experiments (Paramasivam 2020; Giacomotto and Ségalat 2010). In this regard, animal models create the possibility to advance the current knowledge of mechanisms underlying various diseases (Khorramizadeh and Saadat 2014; Arjmand et al. 2019; Larijani et al. 2021a, b; Roudsari et al. 2021; Mansouri et al. 2020) and assess the pharmacological and toxicological effects of drugs to ensure their safety and efficacy (Greek 2013). To promote in vivo researches, choosing an appropriate animal model must first be considered in line with adherence to the ethical guidelines in scientific researches to examine the different aspects of a therapeutic approach (Goodarzi et al. 2019; Larijani et al. 2019). One of the most commonly known ethical principles is named the principle of the 3Rs that are first and foremost. Generally, the 3R ethical principles include reduction, refinement, and replacement of animals. "Reduction" involves improving appropriate experimental methods or applying new techniques to use the minimum possible number of animals in experiments. Further, "Refinement" refers to the methods that provide suitable conditions to keep and care for the animal, reduce pain and stress, and increase animal welfare. Finally, "Replacement" refers to applying substitute methods such as using cell lines, in silico modeling, and young or animal embryonic forms instead of vertebrates or complex animal models in terms of physiology as much as possible (Sneddon et al. 2017; Graham and Prescott 2015). Also, it should be mentioned that the types of disease and target drugs are as indispensable as the physiological similarity between humans and animals to choose an appropriate in vivo model (Nematizadeh et al. 2020). To get more accurate results, animal unusual biological features and the results obtained from previous experiments on the selected model should also be considered. Additionally, it is necessary to pay attention to available experimental methods, modern biomedical techniques, and financial constraints in this field (Ericsson et al. 2013). Hence, in the light of the above-mentioned ethical considerations and many efforts in the field of translational medicine, recently, zebrafish (Danio rerio) has gained increasing interest as a candidate animal model in scientific researches such as drug discovery (Macrae and Peterson 2015; Hickman et al. 2017; Cassar et al. 2019) and development to make further advances and alleviate the challenges in an in vivo research (Cassar et al. 2019). In the context of in vivo experiments, zebrafish represents attractive characteristics that can pave the way in drug discovery and development platforms. In the past decade, as a result of continuous efforts to evaluate the zebrafish and human relationships at the genomic level, we were the witnesses of achieving a complete genome sequence of zebrafish and decoding the information behind it, which was unprecedented in the genome sequencing of a vertebrate. These efforts reflect a wealth of information, such as the high degree of genome similarity between zebrafish and humans (Howe et al. 2013). In addition, genetic manipulability is considered one of the advantages of working with zebrafish (Larijani et al. 2019), which can pave the way for evaluation of human-related diseases the (Bradford et al. 2017). Consequently, a variety of genetic methods, such as the use of mutagenic or transgenic procedures, have been developed, which are intended to create a suitable zebrafish model in preclinical studies (Tavakoli et al. 2017). In addition to genetic similarities, zebrafish have high homology to several human systems in terms of physiological body characteristics. Consequently, it can not only provide deeper insights into the pathophysiology of various diseases but can also contribute valuable information to the current biological and pharmaceutical knowledge about the various effects of drugs on the target diseases (Khan and

Alhewairini 2018). Moreover, the presence of remarkable unique characteristics such as transparent body, the short cycle of the reproductive period, and even low maintenance costs of this vertebrate, has made it possible to be considered as a suitable animal model in target-based phenotypic screening with high-throughput approaches (Williams and Hong 2016). Hereupon, to promote research in this field, this review will discuss the advantages and disadvantages of zebrafish and highlight the 3R ethical principles in zebrafish modeling. Then, the discussion particularly is focused on some modeling methods for zebrafish modeling, which can provide an opportunity to simulate human disease. Finally, this review provides an overview of some pharmaceutical findings that implicate zebrafish as a preclinical model in drug discovery and development.

# 2 A Prominent In Vivo Model

In recent years, zebrafish has been identified as a valuable vertebrate animal model based on its remarkable features in the field of in vivo experiments (Chakraborty et al. 2009; Arjmand et al. 2020). Some of the unique features which have made zebrafish a powerful vertebrate model in preclinical studies are as detailed below:

- 1. The small size of zebrafish and their natural aquatic environment have made it easier to house a large number of them in a small aquarium (Arjmand et al. 2020). Therefore, the maintenance costs and the materials used during experiments can be decreased (Avdesh et al. 2012).
- The short cycle of the reproductive period and high fertility have made it possible to screen the different chemical compounds in several model groups at the same time (Littleton and Hove 2013; Kari et al. 2007).
- 3. Unlike many mammalian embryos, zebrafish embryos grow outside the mother's wombs. Therefore, this allows for a variety of studies, such as birth defects in the embryogenic stage.

- 4. Some cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the biological function represent similarities in zebrafish and mammals (Kari et al. 2007).
- 5. Zebrafish embryonic development, which is accompanied by organ growth, can be completed within about 5 days after fertilization. Therefore, it is possible to perform the various experiments during the embryonic stage (Kari et al. 2007).
- 6. Transparent body of the zebrafish embryo compared to the other mammals has made it possible to evaluate drug toxicity and the physiological functions of various organs.
- The body of a zebrafish embryo can penetrate small pharmaceutical and chemical compounds from the aquatic environment during the formation and development of organs (Littleton and Hove 2013, Kari et al. 2007).
- Genetic comparisons between humans and zebrafish indicate high organ and genetic homology between them (Goldsmith and Jobin 2012). In addition, 82% of the genes involved in human disease show orthology with zebrafish (Howe et al. 2013; van Wijk et al. 2016).
- 9. Several body systems such as the cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, musculoskeletal, central nervous system (CNS), and peripheral nervous system (PNS) or some organs such as the pancreas, liver, and gall bladder have been preserved between zebrafish and human beings (Teame et al. 2019; Williams and Hong 2011).
- Zebrafish are classified as living organisms that have the ability to regenerate some organs, such as the heart (Beffagna 2019) and CNS after injuries (Tayanloo-Beik et al. 2021).

Despite many advantages, zebrafish is still not recognized as a perfect model in animal studies due to some disadvantages and this can affect various aspects of preclinical and clinical studies as well. Therefore, examining the disadvantages along with the advantages of zebrafish should be taken into consideration in preclinical studies, which are described below:

- Despite orthologous genes between zebrafish and humans, zebrafish is located at a more distant branch from that of humans in phylogenetic analyses.
- Unlike humans, which are known as endothermic organisms, zebrafish is an ectothermic animal and its body temperature is more affected by the external environment.
- The absence of some organs such as limbs, lungs, and synovial joints in zebrafish cannot allow the preclinical study of some human diseases related to these organs.
- 4. Some studies have highlighted that the zebrafish genome has been affected by genome duplication during vertebrate genome evolution (Ali et al. 2011). Consequently, concerning some genes, two copies of each gene reside on a single chromosome in each of two different species. Therefore, instead of a single copy, both copies of the targeted gene should be studied at genome-associated studies, which will be time-consuming (Postlethwait et al. 1998).

## 3 Ethical Principles

In vivo studies on zebrafish, like any other biological organism, must be consistent with ethical considerations. Therefore, in conforming to the 3R principles, this review has outlined some of the basic ethical and professional principles of working with zebrafish as a valuable vertebrate model in animal experiments:

• **Replacement:** Cultured fish cells can be an alternative approach to a living model. Since the cell lines have been developed from most fish tissues and organs, they effectively contribute to mimic some physiological features of zebrafish in an in vitro condition. Alternatively, the use of perfused organs of fish could also be a suitable platform for examining the physiology of the animal model. Indeed, a perfused organ can offer a higher level of tissue complexity than the cell culture in an in vitro experiment. In addition to the above,

the embryo of zebrafish can be replaced with the adult type in some cases. Compared to the other species embryos, zebrafish embryos can reach the feeding stage in a shorter period (about 4 to 5 days post-fertilization). Also, studies indicate that the zebrafish in embryonic stages can lead to reliable results in toxicological studies, the same as the adults. On the other side of the coin, the complete replacement of zebrafish with leading-edge technologies can also be an advantageous solution in animal experiments. Recently, in light of the development of new biomedical technologies, computer-based modeling strategies have emerged that promise fundamental advances in in vivo studies with less dependence on animal models in the future. Although these technologies may not currently be a complete alternative to animal models, they have a key and cooperative contribution to in vivo modeling (Sloman et al. 2019).

- Reduction: In general, although a large number of animal models can increase the validity and accuracy of the results, this can lead to suffering and damaging of many models as a living organism. Conversely, the small number of animal models, in some cases, can also call into question the concept of results validity of scientific research (Larijani et al. 2020). Therefore, some statistical calculations such as power analyses can be a big step toward applying a reasonable and reliable number of animal models in the experiments so that neither a large number of living organisms are suffered nor the validity of the results obtained decreases. On the other hand, careful model and experiment designing by the researcher during experiments, based on data or experiences from previous researches, can also have a great contribution to minimizing the number of animal models per study (Sloman et al. 2019).
- **Refinement:** The discussion of zebrafish refinement should be assessed in several different aspects. First, in terms of in vivo research, the use of zebrafish bred in laboratory conditions has a higher priority than the

species of zebrafish bred in nature. Since any displacement of a living organism from its natural habitat to a new and unknown environment will lead to distress and consequently adverse effects on the final results in the Even if experiments. possible, is it recommended to use zebrafish bred in the study area. However, in case of impracticality, zebrafish eggs or larvae transferring is recommended. If there are still no options other than using off-site zebrafish, all the principles related to care and maintenance of the organism during displacement or even after displacement should be taken into consideration, according to the guidelines. Second, the zebrafish housing conditions should always be carefully examined in terms of the suitability of the storage tank, water-related parameters, amount of light, environmental disturbances, and humidity. In addition, other maintenance conditions such as the type of food and related diets, examining the health conditions, and providing suitable conditions for reproduction, must be closely monitored. well-Third, animal modeling requires organized modeling methods appropriate to the research purposes with minimal damage to the animal. Even in some cases, appropriate anesthetic and analgesic agents should be used to relieve the pain. Fourth, hiring skilled staff and researchers who adhere to ethical and professional principles of working with animal models can play a key role in maintaining the model in a healthy condition, timely reviewing of animal model phenotypes, taking steps toward instantly reducing pain and injury, recording all observations during the experiment (Reed and Jennings 2011), and applying an appropriate euthanasia procedure for inducing humane death under moral and environmental principles with the least suffering to the animal model in accordance with the principles approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUCs) (Moosapour et al. 2020).

#### B. Larijani et al.

# Human Disease Modeling Strategies in Zebrafish

4

## 4.1 Experimental Environment

The relationship between environmental stimuli and neuropsychiatric disorders in humans is undeniable. Therefore, a comprehensive recognition of neuropsychiatric diseases such as anxiety can be a big step toward discovering effective therapeutic approaches for patients (Hollander et al. 2020). Accordingly, the use of animal models appropriate to the evaluation objectives of such diseases can be of great help in neuroscience studies. Over the past years, in the light of preclinical studies development, it has become evident that zebrafish can be an appropriate model for examining psychological and brainrelated diseases by providing some mammalianlike neurotransmitters and hormones (Cachat et al. 2011). It has gradually become clear that anxiety-like behavior, same as rodents, can be induced in zebrafish, which is possible by applying the almost same stimuli (Stewart et al. 2012). For this purpose, due to the aquatic nature of zebrafish, the novel tank test has performed the suitable conditions almost similar to the openfield test apparatus to measure the anxiety-like behavior responses to novel environments. The novel tank test, in combination with video-aided analysis, can provide accurate facts about how zebrafish behave in the face of the new environment. For instance, examination of time and distance traveled by fish, behavioral reactions, and physical measurement of zebrafish movement velocity in different directions can be obtained from the videos recorded (Cachat et al. 2011). In addition to the novel tank test, which is intended to evaluate the animal's reactions against novel environmental conditions, exposure to alarm pheromones can also be an effective environmental factor in anxious behavior modeling. In a simple definition, alarm pheromones (e.g., hypoxanthine 3-N-oxide and Phoxinus phoxinus) are a group of chemical compounds that are released into aquatic habitat as a result of injuries to the zebrafish body. Accordingly, the release of alarm pheromones into the surrounding water can trigger a risk response in the body of other zebrafish by stimulating their chemical receptors. Hence, anxiety-like behaviors such as prolonged immobility and irregular movements are displayed (Cachat et al. 2011; Speedie and Gerlai 2008). Another environmental factor that can have a major contribution to the study of emotional responses, such as fear on zebrafish, is the presence of a predator. Initially, it is worth mentioning that zebrafish can distinguish between a natural predator and a predator that does not belong to their habitat. Nevertheless, elevated levels of neuroendocrine responses, such as cortisol in the body of the zebrafish as a hormone involved in fight-or-flight responses, are among the available clues that confirm the emergence of fear towards the predator. Additionally, zebrafish display some behaviors (either instinctively or as a result of training), such as erratic movements or moving away from the predator due to fear responses. Therefore, by analyzing antipredator behaviors, researchers can take fundamental steps to examine various aspects of emotional reactions such as fear (Cachat et al. 2011).

## 4.2 Chemicals

The effects of chemical compounds evaluated in preclinical studies can lead to molecular, biochemical, and subsequently phenotypic changes in the body of an in vivo model such as zebrafish. In some cases, these changes can lead to the appearance of symptoms of various diseases. Accordingly, some chemical compounds can provide opportunities to establish a suitable model to investigate the effects of other candidate drugs on the target diseases (Table 1) (Mussulini et al. 2013b; Anichtchik et al. 2004; Fénero et al. 2016).

# 4.3 Approaches for Genetic Manipulation

In recent years, zebrafish have found a privileged position in human disease pathophysiology researches and subsequently in accelerating and facilitating the assessment of different drug compounds' effects on a living organism (Miyawaki 2020). The high percentage of gene homology with humans, easy genetic manipulability, body optical transparency, and highfecundity are some of the main reasons to draw the attention of researchers to the production of genetically engineered zebrafish by employing extensive spectrum of genome engineering approaches (Rafferty and Quinn 2018). To acquire more knowledge in this field, some of the common approaches for zebrafish genome targeting will be outlined in the following.

### 4.3.1 N-Ethyl-N-Nitrosourea (ENU)

ENU, as a chemical compound with high mutagenic potential, aims at random mutagenesis in the target genome (DE Bruijn et al. 2009). One of the common ENU applications in zebrafish animal model is neoplasia induction and cancer researches (Beckwith et al. 2000). Although the ENU is considered as one of the effective factors in the forward genetic to identify the genetic causes of a particular abnormal phenotypic manifestation, ENU-induced mutations can be used as one of the genetic tools in the reverse genetic approaches to examine the particular phenotypes which have been caused by changes in the function of a specific gene (Varshney and Burgess 2014). To facilitate the identification process of induced-point mutations on the target gene, targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) techniques can be applied, which has a great contribution to the reverse genetics. In this method, applying restriction enzymes such as Cel1 and different polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods can pave the way for detecting the

Compounds	Disease-induced	Clinical signs and phenotypes in zebrafish	References
Soluble PTZ	Epilepsy	Fall to the bottom of the tank	Mussulini et al.
		Irregular movement	(2015a)
		Behaviors similar to the tonic seizure process	
		High rate of swimming	
		Rapid opercular movement	
		Behaviors similar to the clonic seizure process	
		High speed swimming	
		Snake-like swimming	
		Death	
6-OHDA	PD	Alteration in the locomotor behaviors	Anichtchik et al.
		Reduction in dopamine and noradrenaline levels	(2004) and Soto-Otero
		Complete or partial loss of nigral dopaminergic	et al. (2000)
		neurons	
		Increase of $tnf\alpha$ , $ill\beta$ , and $ill0$ transcripts	
MPTP	PD	Alteration in the locomotor behaviors	Anichtchik et al.
	-	Reduction in dopamine and noradrenaline levels	(2004)
LPS	Intestinal	High expression of <i>tnfa</i>	Marjoram and Bagnat
	inflammatory	High neutrophil recruitment	(2015)
0.2%	Intestinal	Bowel-wall thickening	Fénero et al. (2016)
Oxazolone/ 50%	inflammatory	Elimination of intestinal folds	
ethanol		Goblet cells destruction	
		macrophages and lymphocytes into the intestinal	
		tissue	
TNBS in a 30%	Intestinal	Illcerations swelling thickening and separation of	Eénero et al. (2016)
ethanol solution	inflammatory	villi in epithelial tissue in adult type	
culation solution	innannatory	Increase of $IL18$ , $IL8$ and $IL10$ transcripts in adult	
		type	
		Impaired epithelial integrity in adult type	
		Decreased survival rate in relation to dose in both	
		adult and larvae	
		Expansion of intestinal lumen in larvae	
		Villi destruction in larvae	
		Increase of $ILI\beta$ , $TNF\alpha$ , $IL8$ , and $MMP9$ in larvae	
		Penetration of myeloid cells into larvae intestinal	
		tissue Lich TNEss avarageign in the large intestingl luman	
DEE	Intactinal	Perrocentation of mucus production estivity without	Eánara at al (2016)
D33	inflammatory	any alteration in goblet cell rates	Fenero et al. (2016)
	minaninatory	Increase in intestine-infiltrating neutrophils count	
		and the levels of <i>ccl20</i> , <i>il1 β</i> , <i>il23</i> , <i>il8</i> , <i>mm9</i> , and <i>tnf</i>	
		$\alpha$ transcripts in larvae	
		Reduction in the <i>pcna</i> gene in larva	
Glafenine	Intestinal	Endoplasmic reticulum stress in epithelial cells	Fénero et al. (2016)
	inflammatory	Emergence of apoptotic phenotype in epithelium	
		cells	
Ethanol	ALD	Abnormal body curvature	Goessling and Sadler
		Hepatomegaly	(2015)
		Transformation of behavior	
		Turning on the activity of stellate cells in prolonged	
		exposure process	
		Liver toxicity in prolonged exposure process	
		Increase in KOS level	
	1	mercase in the expression of endoplasmic reliculum	

 Table 1 Modeling human diseases by chemical exposure

(continued)

	<i>,</i>		
Compounds	Disease-induced	Clinical signs and phenotypes in zebrafish	References
		stress genes Increase in oxidative stress Reduction in one of the markers associated with the process of liver cells secretions Steatosis	
Acetaminophen	DILI	Increase in the serum levels of aminotransferase Histological alterations Necrosis Hemorrhage Death	Goessling and Sadler (2015)
Prednisolone- 21phosphate	Osteoporosis	Small and irregular shape in regenerated scales of prednisolone exposed fish A three-dimensional figure whose plane sections are ellipses or circles in scales of some treated fish Scales with irregular perimeter in some treated fish More irregularly shaped scales and even fusion of two scales in fish just treated with prednisolone Presence large amount of calcium phosphate minerals in scales of prednisolone treated fish Reduction in transcriptions of glucocorticoid receptor- $\alpha$ Help in staining by increase in TRACP activity Increase in osteoclast activity Increase in matrix resorption Change in crystal maturation	de Vrieze et al. (2014)
Ferric chloride	Thrombosis	Injuries in the tail caudal vessels	Jagadeeswaran et al. (2016)
Phenylhydrazine	Thrombosis	Flippase activation Placing phosphatidylserine on the outer surface of red blood cells and platelets Adherence of thrombocytes to the endothelial surface Blockage of vessel in the caudal part	Jagadeeswaran et al. (2016)
Laser-induced venous thrombosis	Thrombosis	Crescent-shaped fibrin formation from the vascular endothelial surface toward the lumen	Jagadeeswaran et al. (2016)
Human amyloid light-chain proteins	Cardiomyopathy	Edema in pericardium Cardiac dysfunction Myocardial cells death	Asnani and Peterson (2014)
Doxorubicin	Cardiomyopathy	Decrease in myocardial and endocardial volumes Change in the structure or form of ventricle Ventricle regeneration Hypertrophy in myocardial cells Shutdown of cell proliferation activity	Dvornikov et al. (2018)
Streptozotocin	DM	Fasting glucose levels enhancement An excess of glucose in the bloodstream Reduction in insulin levels Increase the thickness of glomerular basement membrane	Heckler and Kroll (2017)
Gentamicin	AKI	Flattening of the epithelium of the distal tubules Increased tubular and glomerular diameter Lysosomal phospholipidosis Debris development in the nephron lumen White blood cells accumulation High renal dysfunction Pericardial effusion	Poureetezadi and Wingert (2016)

#### Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Compounds	Disease-induced	Clinical signs and phenotypes in zebrafish	References
Cisplatin	AKI	Elimination and flattening of the tubular epithelium	Poureetezadi and
-		brush borders	Wingert (2016)
		The formation of vacuoles or vacuole-like structures	
		in the cells	
		Nephron tubule distention	
		High renal dysfunction	
		Pericardial effusion	

Table 1 (continued)

Abbreviation: 6-OHDA 6-hydroxydopamine, AKI Acute kidney injury, ALD Alcoholic liver disease, DSS Dextran Sulfate Sodium, DILI Drug-induced liver injury, DM Diabetes mellitus, LPS Lipopolysaccharide, MPTP 1-methyl 4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine, pcna proliferating cell nuclear antigen, PD Parkinson's disease, PTZ Pentylene-tetrazole, ROS Reactive oxygen species, TNBS 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid, TRACP Tartrateresistant acid phosphatase

mutations created in zebrafish by a mutagen such as ENU (Moens et al. 2008). For instance, identifying the *SOD1* mutated gene that causes amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is one of the applications of this reverse genetic approach in zebrafish (DA Costa et al. 2014).

### 4.3.2 Insertional Mutagenesis

Insertional mutagenesis is recognized as one of random mutations procedures, in which target DNA can be manipulated by accommodating additional base pairs. Although insertional mutagenesis is not as effective as mutagenesis by ENU, a comparison of these two methods reveals that the exogenous DNA injection procedure may also be superior to the ENU in the process of mutagenesis. For instance, the determination of the mutated genes induced by ENU faces many challenges and requires gene extensive sequencing methods such as whole-genome sequencing to trace the random gene disruptions (Varshney and Burgess 2014). Rather, the implementation of an exogenous DNA in the target, with its molecular tagging capability in which is empowered by some markers such as green fluorescent protein (GFP), allows tracing mutated genes with fewer constraints in comparison to the ENU method (Varshney and Burgess 2014) by novel highthroughput sequencing (Varshney and Burgess 2014). To promote mutagenesis based on the insertional method, the retroviruses (particularly pseudotyped retroviral agents) (Sivasubbu et al. 2007) and transposable elements are selected as the suitable platforms, which are marked with

traceable labels. These insertion factors can represent a different range of effects on the targeted gene depending on the type of transposable elements and their insertion site into the gene. The effects of this mutagenesis method can be in the form of destruction of gene functionality allele) or partial loss of function (null (hypomorphic allele). In some cases, these agents are not destructive and do not alter the function of the gene (Varshney and Burgess 2014). Moreover, it is worth mentioning that pseudotyped retrovirus (Suster et al. 2009) and transposons, in addition to their important role in insertional mutagenesis, can also be categorized as transgenic agents in animal modeling, which will be discussed later in detail in the transgenic section (Varshney and Burgess 2014).

#### 4.3.3 Transgenic Methods

The creation of a transgenic organism is essentially based on the insertion of one or more DNA sequences into the genome content of the host organism, which is typically applicable in the laboratory environment through certain methods. In recent years, the use of transgenic zebrafish has been able to occupy an important place to unravel the mechanisms underlying various diseases. In fact, the existence of outstanding features such as the short reproductive cycle with a large number of offspring in each generation can make zebrafish suitable as a genetically engineered organism (Chen et al. 2016). In addition, since the identification of genes transferred into the host organism is based on the expression of marker labels (e.g., GFPs), an organism such as zebrafish, with its body transparency feature, can facilitate and accelerate the tracking of these labels in experimental researches (Higashijima 2008). Therefore, in recent decades and in accordance with these outstanding features of zebrafish, many efforts have been made to produce transgenic zebrafish lines to promote the accurate evaluation of toxological effects of candidate drugs in different organs (Lee et al. 2021; Poon et al. 2017). In order to advance a transgenic study, there are different exogenous DNA sequences that can be injected and transferred into the genome content of zebrafish to produce a genetically engineered fish. For instance, in vivo delivery of linear and purified plasmid is one of the transgenic approaches which is able to produce the target protein in the zebrafish body (Suster et al. 2009) with the cooperation of CMV promoter. Studies on transgenic zebrafish with such naked DNA have indicated that fluorescent labels and, as a result, products of the inserted gene show a mosaic expression pattern in the zebrafish. Therefore, it can be concluded that the method of using an expression plasmid is more preferable to study the various functional aspects of cells on a small scale within zebrafish body (Sassen and Köster 2015). In addition to plasmids, transposons, especially Tol2 transposable element, have a major contribution in transgenic zebrafish development line. Insertion of Tol2 transposable elements is mainly accomplished in collaboration with a variety of vectors that can facilitate and accelerate the integration of the desired gene into the host's genomic content (Suster et al. 2009). Additionally, Toll and Sleeping Beauty are some of the other examples of transposons which are common in zebrafish genetic modification process. Detailed studies of zebrafish cells combined with transposons indicate that the use of transposons for tissue-limited studies may be appropriate (Sassen and Köster 2015).

#### 4.3.4 Morpholino

Morpholinos are also known as novel mutagenic techniques that can speed up the emergence of phenotypic effects by injection into zebrafish emberyos. Morpholinos are antisense oligonucleotides that can make it possible to evaluate phenotypic changes in the early stages of zebrafish growth (Corey and Abrams 2001) by their translation-blocking and splice-blocking function during gene expression. The Morpholino splice-blocking function is intended to inhibit the pre-mRNA processing by inhibiting the spliceosome components. Also, in the translationblocking process, Morpholino prevents the ribosomal components assembly. In in vivo studies, Morpholino can play an important role in discovering genes on a large scale, corroborating candidate gene function, and evaluating mutant phenotypes (Bill et al. 2009; Santoriello and Zon 2012). Nevertheless, the Morpholino-induced mutations are transient and cannot be passed on to subsequent generations. Eventually, this is one of the major drawbacks in using this genetic approach (Timme-Laragy et al. 2012). Inactivating the gene encoding dystroglycan by Morpholino is a good example of using this antisense knockdown tool to design zebrafish as an animal model for muscular dystrophy disease (Rubinstein 2003). Additionally, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Norton 2013), PD (Xi et al. 2011; Bretaud et al. 2004), and epilepsy are some of CNS disorders that can be inoculated by Morpholino in zebrafish (Zhang et al. 2015).

## 4.3.5 RNAi (RNA Interference) and Capped Messenger RNA (mRNA)

In line with other mutagenesis methods in zebrafish, procedures such as the injection of RNAi and capped mRNA can be considered as creative techniques, which can lead to gene silencing and over-increasing gene products, respectively. Therefore, they can ultimately lead to the emergence of phenotypes that result from alterations in the target gene function. Regarding capped mRNA, since it is injected into the body of the zebrafish in the early stages of embryonic formation, it has only a short-term effect on the zebrafish embryo along with general gene expression in all cells. Therefore, injection of capped mRNA is beneficial for studies associated with embryonic stages. It should also be noted that, in some cases, this method is employed in parallel

with the method of injecting transposons such as Tol2 into the body of the zebrafish, which increases the possibility of transmitting the manipulated gene to the next generation (Sassen and Köster 2015).

## 4.3.6 Zinc Finger Nuclease (ZFN)

With the advancement of technology and the emergence of novel methods, a variety of genome engineering approaches have been considered in biological researches. ZFN is one of these approaches which is applied to create mutant zebrafish. In general, the structure of a ZFN comprises two main parts, which include a DNA-binding finger domain and a Fok1 restriction endonuclease. To initiate ZFN function and create double-strand breaks in the target DNA, two ZFNs need to be attached to the target DNA and nuclease domains cooperate as a dimer (Woods and Schier 2008). In this process, the Zinc finger protein (ZFP) has the task of identifying specific sequences of double-stranded DNA. Subsequently, the nuclease domains cleave the DNA (Meng et al. 2008). One of the advantages of ZFN is that in contrast to the function of restriction enzymes, there is no need for palindromic sequences to DNA cleavage (Leong et al. 2011). one of the examples in creating mutant zebrafish is the mutation in the *clrn1* gene, which ultimately leads to Usher syndrome type III (Zheng et al. 2018). Additionally, non-alcoholic liver disease (NAFLD) can also be inoculated by ZFN (Asaoka et al. 2013).

## 4.3.7 Transcription Activator-like Effector Nucleases (TALENs)

TALENs approach is also known as one of the gene-editing approaches that can lead to DNA break in both strands of targeted DNA by its protein-DNA binding interaction like ZFN. Structurally, TALENs consist of a transcription activator-like effector (TALE) and a DNA nuclease domain that the combination of these two parts can ultimately result in the target DNA cleavage at a specific region (Hwang et al. 2014). it should also be noted that the shear activity of DNA nuclease domains in TALENs is possible due to dimer cooperation same as in

ZFN (Sertori et al. 2016). Studies indicate that the TALE protein consists of three domains, including a translocation domain at the aminoterminus, a DNA binding domain at the center of the sequence, and a transcriptional activation domain at the carboxyl-terminus (Auer and DEL Bene 2014). Additionally, the DNA binding domain of TALE protein mainly comprises multiple repeats of 33-35 amino acids with variable residues in 12 and 13 positions (Hwang et al. 2014). Accordingly, the type of these variable amino acids in the domains is among the main factors in the specificity of the TALENs function (Auer and DEL Bene 2014). One of the advantages of this bioengineering tool is that, unlike morpholino, TALENs-induced mutations can descend into to the next generation (Hwang et al. 2014). In addition, compared to the ZFN, not only the TALENs target binding sequence is longer (Sertori et al. 2016), but also the function of TALENs is ultimately associated with less cytotoxicity (Mussolino et al. 2011). One of the applications of the TALENs approach is in modeling human tumors, such as brain tumors by the inactivation of *rb1* tumor suppressor gene (Solin et al. 2015). Additionally, mutant models of NAFLD can be developed by TALENs in zebrafish (Asaoka et al. 2013).

## 4.3.8 Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPR-Associated Protein 9 (Cas9)

In recent years, another approach of genetic engineering called CRISPR has been widely applied to manipulate the targeted genes and create mutant zebrafish, likewise the TALENs and ZFN gene-editing approaches. The common CRISPR bioengineering tool consists of a single guide RNA (sgRNA) and a Cas9 protein that is responsible for identifying and cleaving the target sequence near the protospacer adjacent motif (PAM), respectively (Liu et al. 2017; Chusilp et al. 2020). Similar to the other gene-editing approaches, the induced mutations by CRISPR / Cas9 can be passed down to offspring (Liu et al. 2017). By contrast, CRISPR is more efficacious, low-cost, and user-friendly than the previous two gene-editing approaches. Additionally, much labor requirement for designing and constructing the ZFN and TALENs is one of the significant drawbacks of these genome-engineering approaches in comparison to the CRISPR. Eventually, in contrast to the nuclease enzymes used in ZFN and TALENs approaches, Cas9 did not need to be reconstructed for each target sequence (Chusilp et al. 2020). One of the applications of the CRISPR /Cas9 mutagenesis approach is the inoculation of autism-like behaviors (Liu et al. 2018) and intestinal dysmotility related to autism spectrum disorders (ASD) by inducing mutation in the shank3 gene (James et al. 2019). Furthermore, modeling skeletal diseases (Wu et al. 2019), pyridoxine-dependent epilepsy (PDE) (Zabinyakov et al. 2017), Diabetes mellitus (DM) (Heckler and Kroll 2017), and anxietylike behavior are examples of applying CRISPR/ Cas9 for human disease modeling in zebrafish (Fig. 1) (Wang et al. 2016).

## 4.4 Bacterial Pathogenesis

In the past few years, zebrafish embryos have been used as an appropriate model in many laboratory studies to investigate the effects of various pathogens on living organisms (Benard et al. 2012). In light of previous studies, it is conceivable that there are 82% disease-related orthologous genes between humans and zebrafish (Howe et al. 2013). Additionally, immunological studies indicate that, like mammals, zebrafish have an innate or nonspecific immune system whose function depends on the role of macrophage and neutrophil phagocytic cells (Torraca and Mostowy 2018). Today, zebrafish can provide wealth of information about how pathogens act in a physiological platform within a vertebrate, due to its prominent features such as a transparent body. In addition, the possibility of implementing genetic engineering and even tracing zebrafish genome by advanced screening and imaging techniques can be a big step toward finding therapeutic approaches to combat human infections (Gomes and Mostowy 2020; van der Vaart et al. 2012).

#### 4.4.1 Mycobacterium Marinum

Tuberculosis (TB) is known as one of the top causes of death in the humans. The causative agent of TB is a bacterium called Mycobacterium tuberculosis that is categorized as an infectious agent and transmitted by airborne from person to person (Kaufmann et al. 2017). In recent years, animal models such as rodents, insects, cattle, sheep, pigs, goats, dogs, and non-human primates were common to use in pulmonary infections studies and the evaluation of therapeutic options. Despite the phylogenetic similarities, these animal models are not appropriate for complete coverage of all aspects of human lung diseases and infections. Therefore, zebrafish could have a superior position in the study of these infections based on the features described in the preceding sections (López Hernández et al. 2015). It must be mentioned that zebrafish do not possess lungs. Instead, their gills perform similar respiratory functions as that of the lungs and also possess the same tissues as compared to the pulmonary system in humans (Progatzky et al. 2016). Mycobacterium marinum, as a natural zebrafish pathogen, can cause infections similar to human TB in zebrafish (Gomes and Mostowy 2020). Zebrafish's gastrointestinal tract is the natural procedure to enter the causative agent of TB, but intraperitoneal or intramuscular injection in adults and caudal vein injection in embryos can also be used to cause infection. Furthermore, yolk injection in the early stages of development can lead to early infections (van Leeuwen et al. 2015). In order to fight the infections caused by Mycobacterium marinum, Rifampicin is known as an effective antibiotic drug in zebrafish, which is useful against some detrimental effects of Mycobacterium marinum, when it is loaded by nanoparticles (NPs). This antibiotic reduces bacterial load and also enhances the survival of the embryo (Fenaroli et al. 2014).

#### 4.4.2 Shigella Flexneri

*Shigella flexneri* is a strain of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) with the similar characteristics that can normally enter through the fecal-oral route and causes shigellosis in humans by making



Fig. 1 Genetic manipulation approaches in zebrafish modeling. The common approaches for zebrafish genetic manipulation are divided into two approaches: Gene and mRNA targeting. Gene targeting approaches can be divided into two methods including random and targeted methods. Random methods include chemical compounds, retroviruses, and transposons. ENU is a chemical compound that is used in both forward and reverse genetic approaches. Pseudotyped retrovirus is one of the most common retroviruses in generating transgenic zebrafish, which is used as knockout and knock-in techniques in both forward and reverse genetic approaches. The Toll, Tol2, and Sleeping Beauty are three transposons, which are used as knockout and knock-in techniques in both forward and reverse genetic approaches. Targeted methods in gene targeting approaches can be divided into six methods: CRISPR /Cas9, TALENs, ZFN, TILLING, plasmid DNA, and RNAi. CRISPR /Cas9 and TALENs are knockout and knock-in techniques in reverse genetic approach. TILLING and ZFN are also knockout techniques in reverse genetic approach. Plasmid DNA is used for overexpressing the gene of desired. RNAi is a knockdown technique in reverse genetic approach. The mRNA targeting approaches include targeted methods that are divided into two Morpholino and synthetic capped mRNA. Morpholino is a knockdown technique in reverse

genetic approach. Synthetic capped is used for overexpressing the gene of desired. Forward genetic is related to the identification of the genetic causes of a particular abnormal phenotypic manifestation. Reverse genetic indicates the particular phenotypes which have been caused by changes in the function of a specific gene. Gene knockout refers to a genetic method in which a gene will be deactivated. Gene knock-in refers to a set of techniques in which the insertion of sequence occurs or in which homologous recombination occurs to replace the target gene. Gene knockdown technique leads to the reduction in the expression of the targeted gene (Haiyong 2018; Auer and DEL Bene 2014; Skromne and Prince 2008; Kawakami et al. 2017; Lawson and Wolfe 2011; Sassen and Köster 2015; Sivasubbu et al. 2007; Woods and Schier 2008; Sood et al. 2006; Stainier et al. 2017; Raby et al. 2020; Varshney and Burgess 2014; Andrews et al. 2014; Suster et al. 2011; Cornet et al. 2018; Argmann et al. 2006; Sawitzke et al. 2013; Roebroek et al. 2011). Abbreviation: ENU N-Ethyl-N-nitrosourea, EMS ethyl methanesulfonate, TALENs Transcription activator-like effector nucleases, ZFN Zinc-finger nuclease, TILLING Targeting induced local lesions in genomes, CRISPR/ Cas9 Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9), RNAi RNA interference

inflammatory destruction of the intestinal epithelium. Recent studies have shown that zebrafish can create an opportunity for in vitro imaging of Shigella infections (Duggan and Mostowy 2018). In some studies, intravenous microinjection of this bacterium near cloaca or urogenital orifice has been used for investigating the pathogenicity of this bacterium in zebrafish larvae (Mostowy et al. 2013). *Shigella flexneri* induced inflammatory response, lowered by a biopharmaceutical drug called Anakinra. As a result, this drug can protect zebrafish from Shigella infection (shigellosis) (Mazon-Moya et al. 2017).

#### 4.4.3 Staphylococcus Aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is a gram-positive bacterium and a human pathogen that can establish life-threatening infections. This pathogen is the main cause of bacteremia, osteoarticular, pneumonia, skin, and soft tissue infections (Tong et al. 2015). Additionally, various bacterial infections such as septic arthritis/sepsis, staphylococcal-related endocarditis, and toxic shock syndrome have been studied with Staphylococcus aureus origin in different animal models (Prajsnar et al. 2008). Recently, in addition to other animal models, zebrafish has also attracted attention as a suitable in vivo model for examining various infections caused by this type of bacterium. In order to advance studies in this field, some researches have mentioned methods like an intravenous injection to wild-type zebrafish larvae (Prajsnar et al. 2012) and automated microinjection system with complex object parametric analysis and sorting (COPAS) technology as the methods used for inducing and investigating Staphylococcus aureus infections in zebrafish (Veneman et al. 2013). Producing the extracted compound from Streptomyces rubrolavendulae ICN3 and its assessment on zebrafish embryo can be a positive step in antibacterial therapy against anti-methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). In this context, the effect of anti-MRSA compound has been examined by monitoring heart rate, enumerating blood cells, and calculating LD50 values of the embryo. All in all, the result of this compound assessment has shown the success of this novel compound with its MRSA inhibition performance (Kannan et al. 2014).

#### 4.4.4 Salmonella Typhimurium

Salmonella typhimurium is known as a gramnegative and intracellular anaerobic bacterium that can induce inflammation in the digestive system by its primary mechanism of virulence (Patel and Mccormick 2014). Some methods have included inoculation of zebrafish in water (Howlader et al. 2016), injection of the bacterium Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in the yolk zebrafish embryos (van der Sar et al. 2003), and inoculation by microinjection; and static immersion have been used to inoculate Salmonella typhimurium infectivity in zebrafish (Varas et al. 2017). Recent studies indicate that a heat-killed immunogen can a protective agent against Salmonella be typhimurium-induced infections. This immunogen is applied in different doses with different procedures, such as intraperitoneal injections and bath vaccination. Accordingly, bath vaccination can be more effective in protection; on the other side, intra-peritoneal techniques can virtually have a protective effect (Howlader et al. 2016).

#### 4.4.5 Aeromonas Hydrophila

One of the natural pathogens of zebrafish is Aeromonas hydrophila. Aquatic environments such as freshwater are known as the natural habitat of these gram-negative bacteria (Li et al. 2011). Additionally, humans can be exposed to dangerous infections by consuming certain usable products or contacting infected animals (Rowe et al. 2014). In recent years, researchers use zebrafish as an appropriate animal model to study the infectious pathogenicity of the Aeromonas hydrophila and also to discover new therapeutic options for dangerous infections caused by this bacterium in humans. Microinjection and tail damage are some of the Aeromonas hydrophila inoculation methods which are used in some studies. Water immersion is another method for modeling zebrafish larvae. In this procedure, the bacteria in the water could easily enter the body by mouth (Saraceni et al. 2016). Studies show that one of the functional treatment options that can affect the Aeromonas hydrophila in zebrafish is flumequine which can lessen the numbers of this bacteria, so in this respect, this drug can have a positive effect on the functioning of the immune system against the Aeromonas clinical infections, while drugs like tetracycline, trimethoprim, and sulphonamide are some ineffective therapeutants of Aeromonas hydrophila bacteria (Cantas et al. 2012). In line with the ideas of bacterial pathogenesis, it can be concluded that bacterial diseases modeling allows researchers to study the behavior and function of pathogens like bacteria in the body of the zebrafish as a preclinical animal model. This will be a step toward making vaccines or producing drugs to treat bacterial diseases in humans (Bailone et al. 2020).

# 5 Resultant Drugs from Disease Modeling on Zebrafish

Drug discovery is a promising platform with multi-scale approaches that have a considerable role in the field of human disease researches and therapies, especially when it is going to apply in preclinical phases through drug screening in zebrafish (Rubinstein 2003; Guo 2009). In conformity with zebrafish's unique superiorities, this animal has become an operational and even costeffective model in the pharmaceutical and therapeutic fields of human diseases (Guo 2009; Rubinstein 2003; Das et al. 2013; Collier et al. 2014). Accordingly, by converting zebrafish into an animal model of human diseases, the opportunity for prescreening various drugs is created to realize whether they can potentially be used for human therapeutic purposes or not (Menke et al. 2011; Gut et al. 2017). In the following, there are some explanations and assessments which depict the efficacy of drug discovery in various human diseases (Table 2).

## 6 Conclusion and Future Perspective

Preclinical studies are one of the important processes of drug discovery and development platforms, intending to achieve new drugs with more effective therapeutic potential that rely mainly on the study of candidate drugs in the body of a living organism (Deore et al. 2019; Aghayan et al. 2021; Arjmand et al. 2021a; Arjmand et al. 2021b). Due to the necessity of efficient and appropriate animal models with different aspects of the preclinical stage, zebrafish has gained increasing interest over the last decades as a suitable vertebrate model with a high degree of genetic and clinical similarities with human beings (Zon and Peterson 2005). Despite some considerable differences between zebrafish and humans, such as the absence of breast tissue, prostate, and lung, zebrafish still represents many prominent features appropriate with drug discovery and development purposes. It is therefore tempting to apply zebrafish as a suitable preclinical model in many scientific types of research (Delvecchio et al. 2011). Although preclinical testing can be a key step in the development of new drugs and therapeutic strategies for human diseases such as determining the appropriate dosage and the preferred route of drug administration (Mohamadi-Jahani et al. 2020), the use of animals in preclinical studies, especially in the field of drug testing and toxicity evaluation, is still a major challenge. Particularly, in some cases, the results of a drug investigation in preclinical studies may not be the same as those in clinical trials. Therefore, this will lead researchers to step back and change their strategy to discover more compatible drugs with human diseases. Additionally, in recent years, by examining the public opinions regarding the use of animals as a laboratory platform for testing a variety of chemicals, it can be comprehended how animal experiments have become less acceptable. However, some people are in agreement with scientists

	Examples of		
Drugs / Chemical compounds	disease	Pharmaceutical functions	References
NAC	Depression and anxiety	An antidote for paracetamol overdose Preventing stress Protection against the oxidative balance relevant to anxiety	Khan et al. (2017)
MEK inhibitors	Depression and anxiety	Lessen the cAMP -induced anxiety-like response	Khan et al. (2017)
Vasodilators	Epilepsy	Antiepileptic drug Reduction in PTZ-induced epilepsy seizures	Khan et al. (2017)
Antioxidants	Epilepsy	Antiepileptic drug Reduction in PTZ-induced epilepsy seizures	Khan et al. (2017)
Antipsychotic-related drugs	Psychosis	Treatment of impaired pre-pulse inhibition in schizophrenia	Khan et al. (2017)
Quercetin	AD	Pretreatment of scopolamine- induced-memory impairment	Khan et al. (2017)
Rutin	AD	Pretreatment of scopolamine- induced-memory impairment	Khan et al. (2017)
Physostigmine	AD	Amelioration of scopolamine- induced memory impairment	Khan et al. (2017)
Fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor	ALS	Inhibiting the BMAA-induced heart rate reduction	Khan et al. (2017) and Frøyset et al. (2016)
Bromazepam	UCS	Anxiolytic drug Preventing UCS-induced symptoms	Marcon et al. (2016)
Fluoxetine	UCS	Antidepressant drug Preventing UCS-induced symptoms	Marcon et al. (2016)
Nortriptyline	UCS	Antidepressant drug Preventing UCS-induced symptoms	Marcon et al. (2016)
Apomorphine	PD	Dopaminergic agonist Preventing MPP+ – induced symptoms	Pinho et al. (2016)
Antioxidants	Cardiotoxicity	Inhibiting destructive effects of chemotherapeutical agents on cardiovascular system	Zakaria et al. (2018)
Endothelial- or cardio myocyte-protective compound	Cardiotoxicity	Inhibiting destructive effects of chemotherapeutical agents on cardiovascular system	Zakaria et al. (2018)
Rapamycin	Cardiomyopathy	Inhibition in TOR signaling	Kushwaha and Xu (2012)
Human antithrombotic drugs (e.g., injections of aspirin, clopidogrel, diltiazem hydrochloride, xuanshuantong, salvianolate, astragalus)	Thrombosis	Preventive and therapeutic effect on disease Effective in the prevention of ADP-induced blood clots	Zhu et al. (2016) and Rubinstein (2003)

**Table 2** Drugs and chemical compounds discovered through preclinical studies on zebrafish and their pharmaceutical functions

(continued)

	Examples of		Deferment
Drugs / Cnemical compounds	uisease	Pharmaceutical functions	Keierences
Calycosin	Myocardial ischemia	Post-treatment of VRI-induced vascular blood vessel loss Post-treatment of VRI-induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis in HUVEC	Zhou et al. (2014)
Antibiotics (e.g., ampicillin and kanamycin)	IBD	Diminishing TNBS-induced side effects Maintaining larvae from TNBS- related mortality	Oehlers et al. (2011)
5-ASA	IBD	Anti-inflammatory drug Diminishing TNBS-induced side effects	Oehlers et al. (2011)
Prednisone	IBD	Anti-inflammatory drug Diminishing TNBS-induced side effects	Oehlers et al. (2011)
Nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitors	IBD	Anti-inflammatory effects Remission and prevention of IBD by rescuing in vivo disease phenotypes	Fleming et al. (2010)
Thalidomide andParthenolide	IBD	Failed to rescuing in vivo disease phenotypes Downregulation of TNF-α	Fleming et al. (2010)
Rhein	Ulcerative colitis	Reduction in the tail cutting- induced migration of immune cells Inhibition of some inflammasome factors Attenuate inflammations Decreased the levels of IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$	Ge et al. (2017)
Vancomycin	Oxazolone- induced enterocolitis	Decrease in enter colitis scores and intestinal damage Decrease in percentages of infiltrating neutrophils and eosinophils Intestinal damage	Brugman et al. (2009)
Colistin sulphate	Oxazolone- induced enterocolitis	No reduction in enter colitis scores Reduction in eosinophil and lymphocyte infiltration	Brugman et al. (2009)
Prednisolone + alendronate	GIOP	Increase in alkaline phosphatase and up-regulate the cAMP Prevention abnormal muscle structure in dystrophin-null fish Reduction in tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase	Pasqualetti et al. (2015)
GAS	NAFLD	Anti NAFLD Weight losing Lipid regulation effect Suppression of oxidant attack	Ahmad et al. (2019)
Metformin	DM	Type 2 DM treatment Improvement of hyperglycemia	Heckler and Kroll (2017)
Glimepiride	DM	Type 2 DM treatment Improvement of hyperglycemia	Heckler and Kroll (2017)

## Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

	Examples of		
Drugs / Chemical compounds	disease	Pharmaceutical functions	References
Aminoguanidine	DM	Lessen the methylglyoxal- induced vascular damage Prevention of methylglyoxal formation increment Decrease in the inducing improper blood vessel in larvae	Heckler and Kroll (2017)
Aminoglycosides (gentamicin and paromycin)	Human coloboma	Therapeutic effect on zebrafish <i>lamb</i> and <i>pax2</i> mutants Human coloboma therapy	Chhetri et al. (2014)
Sunitinib	Hypoxia- induced retinopathy	Anti-angiogenesis inhibitor Retina's neovascularization destroyer	(Chhetri et al. 2014)
Small drug-like molecule PROTO1	Hearing loss	Protection against neomycin induced damage	Owens et al. (2009)
Vemurafenib + DMSO	Melanoma	Reduction in tumor burden	Dang et al. (2016)
Prednisone	BA	Reduction in DNA methylation	Matthews et al. (2011)

Table 2 (continued)

Abbreviation: 5-ASA 5-aminosalicylic acid, AD Alzheimer's disease, BA Biliary atresia, BMAA β-methylamine-alanine, cAMP Cyclic adenosine monophosphate, DM Diabetes mellitus, GAS Gastrodin, GIOP Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis, HUVEC Human umbilical vein endothelial cells, IBD Inflammatory bowel disease, NAC N-acetylcysteine, NAFLD Non-alcoholic liver disease, PD Parkinson's disease, PTZ Pentylenetetrazole, TNBS 2,4,6trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid, TOR Target of rapamycin, UCS Unpredictable chronic stress, VRI VEGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor II

and still consider the use of animals to be an integral part of toxicity experiments in some cases. Furthermore, the issue of cost and time spent on drug discovery studies confronts many pharmaceutical companies with major problems in the processes (van Norman 2019). Therefore, scientists believe that owing to the rapid technological advances, non-animal models might be replaced by animal models. For instance, due to computational the enormous impact of approaches, some advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI) are maturing rapidly in various fields of biomedical sciences in recent years. AI can be considered a novel and cuttingedge technology which is concerned with simulating human intelligence by computer and smart machine processing. Today, to reduce costs and speed up drug production, AI, along with new technologies, is expected to have a positive impact on human studies. Based on the computational power of AI, scientists believe that AI will revolutionize the drug detection process and make it possible to conduct more accurate clinical trials in the future (Gilvary et al. 2019; Bonde 2019). Also, by focusing on technological aspects of the science world, Lab on a chip (LOC) is a novel in silico model platform with the power of earlier and cost-effective disease diagnosing, which results in advanced health care. In this context, the possibility of modeling diseases on a micro-physiological system by applying different tissue engineering technologies allows recognizing LOC technology as a promising tool in the revolution of the drug discovery and development realm (Azizipour et al. 2020).

**Declaration** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

Funding No funds, grants, or other support was received.

### References

Aghayan HR, Hosseini MS, Gholami M, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Tayanloo-Beik A, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Goodarzi P, Abdollahi M, Larijani B, Arjmand B (2021) Mesenchymal stem cells' seeded amniotic membrane as a tissue-engineered dressing for wound healing. Drug Deliv Transl Res

- Ahmad O, Wang B, Ma K, Deng Y, Li M, Yang L, Yang Y, Zhao J, Cheng L, Zhou Q (2019) Lipid modulating anti-oxidant stress activity of gastrodin on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease larval zebrafish model. Int J Mol Sci 20:1984
- Ali S, Champagne DL, Spaink HP, Richardson MK (2011) Zebrafish embryos and larvae: a new generation of disease models and drug screens. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 93:115–133
- Andrews OE, Cha DJ, Wei C, Patton JG (2014) RNAimediated gene silencing in zebrafish triggered by convergent transcription. Sci Rep 4:1–8
- Anichtchik OV, Kaslin J, Peitsaro N, Scheinin M, Panula P (2004) Neurochemical and behavioural changes in zebrafish Danio rerio after systemic administration of 6-hydroxydopamine and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine. J Neurochem 88:443–453
- Argmann CA, Dierich A, Auwerx J (2006) Uses of forward and reverse genetics in mice to study gene function Current Protocols Mol Biol 73:29A.1.1-29A. 1.8
- Arjmand B, Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Payab M, Rahim F, Alavi-Moghadam S, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Larijani B (2019) Co-transplantation of human fetal mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells in type 1 diabetic mice model. Front Endocrinol 10
- Arjmand B, Tayanloo-Beik A, Foroughi Heravani N, Alaei S, Payab M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Goodarzi P, Gholami M, Larijani B (2020) Zebrafish for personalized regenerative medicine; a more predictive humanized model of endocrine disease. Front Endocrinol 11:396
- Arjmand B, Abedi M, Arabi M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Hadavandkhani M, Tayanloo-Beik A, Kordi R, Roudsari PP, Larijani B (2021a) Regenerative medicine for the treatment of ischemic heart disease. Status and future perspectives. Front Cell Develop Biol 9
- Arjmand B, Alaei S, Heravani NF, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Ebrahimpour M, Aghayan HR, Goodarzi P, Larijani B (2021b) Regenerative medicine perspectives in polycystic ovary syndrome. Adv Exp Med Biol 1341:125–141
- Asaoka Y, Terai S, Sakaida I, Nishina H (2013) The expanding role of fish models in understanding non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Dis Model Mech 6: 905–914
- Asnani A, Peterson RT (2014) The zebrafish as a tool to identify novel therapies for human cardiovascular disease. Dis Model Mech 7:763–767
- Auer TO, DEL Bene F (2014) CRISPR/Cas9 and TALENmediated knock-in approaches in zebrafish. Methods 69:142–150
- Avdesh A, Chen M, Martin-Iverson MT, Mondal A, Ong D, Rainey-Smith S, Taddei K, Lardelli M, Groth DM, Verdile G (2012) Regular care and maintenance of a zebrafish (Danio rerio) laboratory: an introduction. JoVE e4196

- Azizipour N, Avazpour R, Rosenzweig DH, Sawan M, Ajji A (2020) Evolution of biochip technology: a review from lab-on-a-chip to organ-on-a-chip. Micromachines 11:599
- Bailone RL, Fukushima HCS, Ventura Fernandes BH, De Aguiar LK, Corrêa T, Janke H, Grejo Setti P, Roça RDO, Borra RC (2020) Zebrafish as an alternative animal model in human and animal vaccination research. Lab Anim Res 36:1–10
- Beckwith LG, Moore JL, Tsao-Wu GS, Harshbarger JC, Cheng KC (2000) Ethylnitrosourea induces neoplasia in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Lab Investig 80:379–385
- Beffagna G (2019) Zebrafish as a smart model to understand regeneration after heart injury: how fish could help humans. Front Cardiovasc Med 6:107
- Benard EL, VAN DER Sar AM, Ellett F, Lieschke GJ, Spaink HP, Meijer AH (2012) Infection of zebrafish embryos with intracellular bacterial pathogens. JoVE: e3781
- Bill BR, Petzold AM, Clark KJ, Schimmenti LA, Ekker SC (2009) A primer for morpholino use in zebrafish. Zebrafish 6:69–77
- Bonde C (2019) Artificial intelligence in healthcare and research-an overview. Pharm Res 2(1)
- Bradford YM, Toro S, Ramachandran S, Ruzicka L, Howe DG, Eagle A, Kalita P, Martin R, Taylor Moxon, S. A.
  & Schaper, K. (2017) Zebrafish models of human disease: gaining insight into human disease at ZFIN. ILAR J 58:4–16
- Bretaud S, Lee S, Guo S (2004) Sensitivity of zebrafish to environmental toxins implicated in Parkinson's disease. Neurotoxicol Teratol 26:857–864
- Brugman S, Liu KY, Lindenbergh-Kortleve D, Samsom JN, Furuta GT, Renshaw SA, Willemsen R, Nieuwenhuis EE (2009) Oxazolone-induced enterocolitis in zebrafish depends on the composition of the intestinal microbiota. Gastroenterology 137:1757– 1767.e1
- Cachat JM, Canavello PR, Elegante MF, Bartels BK, Elkhayat SI, Hart PC, Tien AK, Tien DH, Beeson E, Mohnot S (2011) Modeling stress and anxiety in zebrafish. Springer, Zebrafish models in neurobehavioral research
- Cantas L, Midtlyng PJ, Sørum H (2012) Impact of antibiotic treatments on the expression of the R plasmid tra genes and on the host innate immune activity during pRAS1 bearing Aeromonas hydrophila infection in zebrafish (Danio rerio). BMC Microbiol 12:37
- Cassar S, Adatto I, Freeman JL, Gamse JT, Iturria I, Lawrence C, Muriana A, Peterson RT, Van Cruchten S, Zon LI (2019) Use of zebrafish in drug discovery toxicology. Chem Res Toxicol 33:95–118
- Chakraborty C, Hsu CH, Wen ZH, Lin CS, Agoramoorthy G (2009) Zebrafish: a complete animal model for in vivo drug discovery and development. Curr Drug Metab 10:116–124
- Chen X, Gays D, Santoro MM (2016) Transgenic zebrafish. Springer, Tumor angiogenesis assays
- Chhetri J, Jacobson G, Gueven N (2014) Zebrafish—on the move towards ophthalmological research. Eye 28: 367–380

- Chusilp S, Li B, Lee D, Lee C, Vejchapipat P, Pierro A (2020) Intestinal organoids in infants and children. Pediatr Surg Int 36:1–10
- Collier AD, Khan KM, Caramillo EM, Mohn RS, Echevarria DJ (2014) Zebrafish and conditioned place preference: a translational model of drug reward. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 55:16–25
- Corey DR, Abrams JM (2001) Morpholino antisense oligonucleotides: tools for investigating vertebrate development. Genome Biol 2:1–3
- Cornet C, DI Donato V, Terriente J (2018) Combining zebrafish and CRISPR/Cas9: toward a more efficient drug discovery pipeline. Front Pharmacol 9:703
- DA Costa MM, Allen CE, Higginbottom A, Ramesh T, Shaw PJ, Mcdermott CJ (2014) A new zebrafish model produced by TILLING of SOD1-related amyotrophic lateral sclerosis replicates key features of the disease and represents a tool for in vivo therapeutic screening. Dis Model Mech 7:73–81
- Dang M, Henderson RE, Garraway LA, Zon LI (2016) Long-term drug administration in the adult zebrafish using oral gavage for cancer preclinical studies. Dis Model Mech 9:811–820
- Das BC, Mccormick L, Thapa P, Karki R, Evans T (2013) Use of zebrafish in chemical biology and drug discovery. Future Med Chem 5:2103–2116
- de Bruijn E, Cuppen E, Feitsma H (2009) Highly efficient ENU mutagenesis in zebrafish. Springer, Zebrafish
- de Vrieze E, Van Kessel M, Peters H, Spanings F, Flik G, Metz J (2014) Prednisolone induces osteoporosis-like phenotype in regenerating zebrafish scales. Osteoporos Int 25:567–578
- Delvecchio C, Tiefenbach J, Krause HM (2011) The zebrafish: a powerful platform for in vivo, HTS drug discovery. Assay Drug Dev Technol 9:354–361
- Deore AB, Dhumane JR, Wagh R, Sonawane R (2019) The stages of drug discovery and development process. Asian J Pharmaceut Res Develop 7:62–67
- Duggan GM, Mostowy S (2018) Use of zebrafish to study Shigella infection. Dis Models Mechan 11:dmm032151
- Dvornikov AV, de Tombe PP, Xu, X. (2018) Phenotyping cardiomyopathy in adult zebrafish. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 138:116–125
- Ericsson AC, Crim MJ, Franklin CL (2013) A brief history of animal modeling. Mo Med 110:201
- Fenaroli F, Westmoreland D, Benjaminsen J, Kolstad T, Skjeldal FM, Meijer AH, van der Vaart M, Ulanova L, Roos N, Nystrom B (2014) Nanoparticles as drug delivery system against tuberculosis in zebrafish embryos: direct visualization and treatment. ACS Nano 8:7014–7026
- Fénero CIM, Flores AAC, Câmara NOS (2016) Inflammatory diseases modelling in zebrafish. World J Experim Med 6:9
- Fleming A, Jankowski J, Goldsmith P (2010) In vivo analysis of gut function and disease changes in a zebrafish larvae model of inflammatory bowel disease: a feasibility study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 16:1162–1172

- Frøyset AK, Khan EA, Fladmark KE (2016) Quantitative proteomics analysis of zebrafish exposed to sub-lethal dosages of β-methyl-amino-L-alanine (BMAA). Sci Rep 6:29631
- Ge H, Tang H, Liang Y, Wu J, Yang Q, Zeng L, Ma Z (2017) Rhein attenuates inflammation through inhibition of NF-κB and NALP3 inflammasome in vivo and in vitro. Drug Des Devel Ther 11:1663
- Giacomotto J, Ségalat L (2010) High-throughput screening and small animal models, where are we? Br J Pharmacol 160:204–216
- Gilvary C, Madhukar N, Elkhader J, Elemento O (2019) The missing pieces of artificial intelligence in medicine. Trends Pharmacol Sci 40(8):555–564
- Goessling W, Sadler KC (2015) Zebrafish: an important tool for liver disease research. Gastroenterology 149: 1361–1377
- Goldsmith JR, Jobin C (2012) Think small: zebrafish as a model system of human pathology. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012
- Gomes MC, Mostowy S (2020) The case for modeling human infection in zebrafish. Trends Microbiol 28:10– 18
- Goodarzi P, Payab M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Larijani B, Rahim F, Bana N, Sarvari M, Adibi H, Heravani NF, Hadavandkhani M (2019) Development and validation of Alzheimer's disease animal model for the purpose of regenerative medicine. Cell Tissue Bank 20:141–151
- Graham ML, Prescott MJ (2015) The multifactorial role of the 3Rs in shifting the harm-benefit analysis in animal models of disease. Eur J Pharmacol 759:19–29
- Greek R (2013) Animal models in drug development. In: New Insights into toxicity and drug testing. In Tech, Croatia/Europe, pp 123–152
- Guo S (2009) Using zebrafish to assess the impact of drugs on neural development and function. Expert Opin Drug Discovery 4:715–726
- Gut P, Reischauer S, Stainier DY, Arnaout R (2017) Little fish, big data: zebrafish as a model for cardiovascular and metabolic disease. Physiol Rev 97:889–938
- Haiyong H (2018) RNA interference to knock down gene expression. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, NJ) 1706:293
- Heckler K, Kroll J (2017) Zebrafish as a model for the study of microvascular complications of diabetes and their mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci 18:2002
- Hickman D, Johnson J, Vemulapalli T, Crisler J, Shepherd R (2017) Commonly used animal models. In: Principles of animal research for graduate and undergraduate students. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 117
- Hollander JA, Cory-Slechta DA, Jacka FN, Szabo ST, Guilarte TR, Bilbo SD, Mattingly CJ, Moy SS, Haroon E, Hornig M (2020) Beyond the looking glass: recent advances in understanding the impact of environmental exposures on neuropsychiatric disease. Neuropsychopharmacology 45:1086–1096
- Howe K, Clark MD, Torroja CF, Torrance J, Berthelot C, Muffato M, Collins JE, Humphray S, Mclaren K, Matthews L (2013) The zebrafish reference genome

sequence and its relationship to the human genome. Nature 496:498-503

- Howlader DR, Sinha R, Nag D, Majumder N, Mukherjee P, Bhaumik U, Maiti S, Withey JH, Koley H (2016) Zebrafish as a novel model for non-typhoidal salmonella pathogenesis, transmission and vaccine efficacy. Vaccine 34:5099–5106
- Hughes JP, Rees S, Kalindjian SB, Philpott KL (2011) Principles of early drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol 162: 1239–1249
- Hwang WY, Peterson RT, Yeh J-RJ (2014) Methods for targeted mutagenesis in zebrafish using TALENs. Methods 69:76–84
- Jagadeeswaran P, Cooley BC, Gross PL, Mackman N (2016) Animal models of thrombosis from zebrafish to nonhuman primates: use in the elucidation of new pathologic pathways and the development of antithrombotic drugs. Circ Res 118:1363–1379
- James DM, Kozol RA, Kajiwara Y, Wahl AL, Storrs EC, Buxbaum JD, Klein M, Moshiree B, Dallman JE (2019) Intestinal dysmotility in a zebrafish (Danio rerio) shank3a; shank3b mutant model of autism. Mol Autism 10:1–15
- Kannan RR, Iniyan AM, Vincent SGP (2014) Production of a compound against methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) from Streptomyces rubrolavendulae ICN3 & its evaluation in zebrafish embryos. Indian J Med Res 139:913
- Kari G, Rodeck U, Dicker AP (2007) Zebrafish: an emerging model system for human disease and drug discovery. Clin Pharmacol Therap 82:70–80
- Kaufmann SH, Weiner J, VON Reyn CF (2017) Novel approaches to tuberculosis vaccine development. Int J Infect Dis 56:263–267
- Kawakami K, Largaespada DA, Ivics Z (2017) Transposons as tools for functional genomics in vertebrate models. Trends Genet 33:784–801
- Khan FR, Alhewairini SS (2018) Zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a model organism. Curr Trends Cancer Manage:3–18
- Khan KM, Collier AD, Meshalkina DA, Kysil EV, Khatsko SL, Kolesnikova T, Morzherin YY, Warnick JE, Kalueff AV, Echevarria DJ (2017) Zebrafish models in neuropsychopharmacology and CNS drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol 174:1925–1944
- Khorramizadeh MR, Saadat F (2014) Animal models for human disease. In: Animal biotechnology. Elsevier
- Kushwaha S, Xu X (2012) Target of rapamycin (TOR)– based therapy for cardiomyopathy: evidence from zebrafish and human studies. Trends Cardiovasc Med 22:39–43
- Larijani, B., Goodarzi, P., Payab, M., Tayanloo-Beik, A., Sarvari, M., Gholami, M., Gilany, K., Nasli-Esfahani, E., Yarahmadi, M. & Ghaderi, F. 2019. The design and application of an appropriate parkinson's disease animal model in regenerative medicine
- Larijani B, Tayanloo-Beik A, Payab M, Gholami M, Sheikh-Hosseini M, Nematizadeh M (2020) Design of experimental studies in biomedical sciences. In:

Biomedical product development: bench to bedside. Springer, Cham

- Larijani B, Foroughi Heravani N, Alavi-Moghadam S, Goodarzi P, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Payab M, Gholami M, Razi F, Arjmand B (2021a) Cell therapy targets for autism Spectrum disorders: hopes, challenges and future directions. Adv Exp Med Biol 1341:107–124
- Larijani B, Parhizkar Roudsari P, Hadavandkhani M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Goodarzi P, Sayahpour FA, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Arjmand B (2021b) Stem cell-based models and therapies: a key approach into schizophrenia treatment. Cell Tissue Bank 22:207–223
- Lawson ND, Wolfe SA (2011) Forward and reverse genetic approaches for the analysis of vertebrate development in the zebrafish. Dev Cell 21:48–64
- Leong IUS, Lai D, Lan CC, Johnson R, Love DR, Johnson R, Love DR (2011) Targeted mutagenesis of zebrafish: use of zinc finger nucleases. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 93:249–255
- Li J, Ni X, Liu Y, Lu C (2011) Detection of three virulence genes alt, ahp and aerA in Aeromonas hydrophila and their relationship with actual virulence to zebrafish. J Appl Microbiol 110:823–830
- Littleton R, Hove J (2013) Zebrafish: a nontraditional model of traditional medicine. J Ethnopharmacol 145: 677–685
- Liu J, Zhou Y, Qi X, Chen J, Chen W, Qiu G, Wu Z, Wu N (2017) CRISPR/Cas9 in zebrafish: an efficient combination for human genetic diseases modeling. Hum Genet 136:1–12
- Liu C-X, Li C-Y, Hu C-C, Wang Y, Lin J, Jiang Y-H, Li Q, Xu X (2018) CRISPR/Cas9-induced shank3b mutant zebrafish display autism-like behaviors. Mol Autism 9:1–13
- López Hernández Y, Yero D, Pinos-Rodríguez JM, Gibert I (2015) Animals devoid of pulmonary system as infection models in the study of lung bacterial pathogens. Front Microbiol 6:38
- Macrae CA, Peterson RT (2015) Zebrafish as tools for drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:721–731
- Mansouri V, Razzaghi M, Rostami-Nejad M, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Heidari MH, Safari S, Arjmand B, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Zali A, Hamdieh M (2020) Neuroprotective properties of Photobiomodulation in retinal regeneration in rats: perspectives from interaction levels. J Lasers Med Sci 11:280–286
- Marcon M, Herrmann AP, Mocelin R, Rambo CL, Koakoski G, Abreu MS, Conterato GM, Kist LW, Bogo MR, Zanatta L (2016) Prevention of unpredictable chronic stress-related phenomena in zebrafish exposed to bromazepam, fluoxetine and nortriptyline. Psychopharmacology 233:3815–3824
- Marjoram L, Bagnat M (2015) Infection, inflammation and healing in zebrafish: intestinal inflammation. Curr Pathobiol Reports 3:147–153
- Matthews RP, Eauclaire SF, Mugnier M, Lorent K, Cui S, Ross MM, Zhang Z, Russo P, Pack M (2011) DNA

hypomethylation causes bile duct defects in zebrafish and is a distinguishing feature of infantile biliary atresia. Hepatology 53:905–914

- Mazon-Moya MJ, Willis AR, Torraca V, Boucontet L, Shenoy AR, Colucci-Guyon E, Mostowy S (2017) Septins restrict inflammation and protect zebrafish larvae from Shigella infection. PLoS Pathog 13:e1006467
- Meng X, Noyes MB, Zhu LJ, Lawson ND, Wolfe SA (2008) Targeted gene inactivation in zebrafish using engineered zinc-finger nucleases. Nat Biotechnol 26: 695–701
- Menke AL, Spitsbergen JM, Wolterbeek AP, Woutersen RA (2011) Normal anatomy and histology of the adult zebrafish. Toxicol Pathol 39:759–775
- Miyawaki I (2020) Application of zebrafish to safety evaluation in drug discovery. J Toxicol Pathol 33:197–210
- Moens CB, Donn TM, Wolf-Saxon ER, Ma, T. P. (2008) Reverse genetics in zebrafish by TILLING. Brief Funct Genom Proteom 7:454–459
- Mohamadi-Jahani F, Abedi M, Arabi M, Tayanloo-Beik A, Larijani B (2020) Safety concerns and requirement of cell-based products for clinical application. In: Biomedical product development: bench to bedside. Springer, Cham
- Moosapour H, Zarvani A, Moayerzadeh M, Larijani B (2020) Ethical considerations of biomedical product development. In: Biomedical product development: bench to bedside. Springer, Cham
- Mostowy S, Boucontet L, Moya MJM, Sirianni A, Boudinot P, Hollinshead M, Cossart P, Herbomel P, Levraud J-P, Colucci-Guyon E (2013) The zebrafish as a new model for the in vivo study of Shigella flexneri interaction with phagocytes and bacterial autophagy. PLoS Pathog 9
- Mussolino C, Morbitzer R, Lütge F, Dannemann N, Lahaye T, Cathomen T (2011) A novel TALE nuclease scaffold enables high genome editing activity in combination with low toxicity. Nucleic Acids Res 39: 9283–9293
- Mussulini BHM, Leite CE, Zenki KC, Moro L, Baggio S, Rico EP, Rosemberg DB, Dias RD, Souza TM, Calcagnotto ME (2013a) Seizures induced by pentylenetetrazole in the adult zebrafish: a detailed behavioral characterization. PloS one 8
- Mussulini BHM, Leite CE, Zenki KC, Moro L, Baggio S, Rico EP, Rosemberg DB, Dias RD, Souza TM, Calcagnotto ME (2013b) Seizures induced by pentylenetetrazole in the adult zebrafish: a detailed behavioral characterization. PLoS One 8:e54515
- Nematizadeh M, Payab M, Gholami M, Arjmand B, Larijani B, Tayanloo-Beik A (2020) Preclinical studies for development of biomedical products. In: Biomedical product development: Bench to bedside. Springer, Cham
- Norton WHJ (2013) Toward developmental models of psychiatric disorders in zebrafish. Front Neural Circuits 7:79
- Oehlers SH, Flores MV, Okuda KS, Hall CJ, Crosier KE, Crosier PS (2011) A chemical enterocolitis model in zebrafish larvae that is dependent on microbiota and

responsive to pharmacological agents. Dev Dyn 240: 288–298

- Owens KN, Coffin AB, Hong LS, Bennett KOC, Rubel EW, Raible DW (2009) Response of mechanosensory hair cells of the zebrafish lateral line to aminoglycosides reveals distinct cell death pathways. Hear Res 253:32–41
- Paramasivam G (2020) Drug discovery an overview: the development, identification and characterization of lead compounds in drug delivery applications. Drug Disc 7:2020
- Pasqualetti S, Congiu T, Banfi G, Mariotti M (2015) Alendronate rescued osteoporotic phenotype in a model of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis in adult zebrafish scale. Int J Exp Pathol 96:11–20
- Patel S, Mccormick BA (2014) Mucosal inflammatory response to salmonella typhimurium infection. Front Immunol 5:311
- Pinho BR, Reis SD, Guedes-Dias P, Leitão-Rocha A, Quintas C, Valentão P, Andrade PB, Santos MM, Oliveira JM (2016) Pharmacological modulation of HDAC1 and HDAC6 in vivo in a zebrafish model: therapeutic implications for Parkinson's disease. Pharmacol Res 103:328–339
- Postlethwait J, Amores A, Force A, Yan Y-L (1998) The zebrafish genome. Methods Cell Biol 60:149–163
- Poureetezadi SJ, Wingert RA (2016) Little fish, big catch: zebrafish as a model for kidney disease. Kidney Int 89: 1204–1210
- Prajsnar TK, Cunliffe VT, Foster SJ, Renshaw SA (2008) A novel vertebrate model of Staphylococcus aureus infection reveals phagocyte-dependent resistance of zebrafish to non-host specialized pathogens. Cell Microbiol 10:2312–2325
- Prajsnar TK, Hamilton R, Garcia-Lara J, Mcvicker G, Williams A, Boots M, Foster SJ, Renshaw SA (2012) A privileged intraphagocyte niche is responsible for disseminated infection of S taphylococcus aureus in a zebrafish model. Cell Microbiol 14:1600–1619
- Progatzky F, Cook HT, Lamb JR, Bugeon L, Dallman MJ (2016) Mucosal inflammation at the respiratory interface: a zebrafish model. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 310:L551–L561
- Raby L, Völkel P, LE Bourhis X, Angrand P-O (2020) Genetic engineering of zebrafish in cancer research. Cancers 12:2168
- Rafferty SA, Quinn TA (2018) A beginner's guide to understanding and implementing the genetic modification of zebrafish. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 138:3–19
- Reed B, Jennings M (2011) Guidance on the housing and care of zebrafish Danio rerio. In: Guidance on the housing and care of zebrafish Danio rerio. Research Animals Department, Science Group, RSPCA, Southwater/Horsham
- Roebroek AJ, Gordts PL, Reekmans S (2011) Knock-in approaches. In: Transgenic mouse methods and protocols. Springer
- Roudsari PP, Alavi-Moghadam S, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Goodarzi P, Tayanloo-Beik A, Sayahpour FA,

Larijani B, Arjmand B (2021) The outcome of stem cell-based therapies on the immune responses in rheumatoid arthritis. Adv Exp Med Biol 1326:159–186

- Rowe HM, Withey JH, Neely MN (2014) Zebrafish as a model for zoonotic aquatic pathogens. Develop Comp Immunol 46:96–107
- Rubinstein AL (2003) Zebrafish: from disease modeling to drug discovery. Curr Opin Drug Disc Develop 6:218– 223
- Santoriello C, Zon LI (2012) Hooked! Modeling human disease in zebrafish. J Clin Invest 122:2337–2343
- Saraceni PR, Romero A, Figueras A, Novoa B (2016) Establishment of infection models in zebrafish larvae (Danio rerio) to study the pathogenesis of Aeromonas hydrophila. Front Microbiol 7:1219
- Sassen WA, Köster RW (2015) A molecular toolbox for genetic manipulation of zebrafish. Adv Genom Genet 5:151–163
- Sawitzke JA, Thomason LC, Bubunenko M, Li X, Costantino N, Court DL (2013) Recombineering: using drug cassettes to knock out genes in vivo. Methods Enzymol 533:79–102
- Sertori R, Trengove M, Basheer F, Ward AC, Liongue C (2016) Genome editing in zebrafish: a practical overview. Brief Funct Genomics 15:322–330
- Sinha S, Vohora D (2018) Drug discovery and development: an overview. In: Pharmaceutical medicine and translational clinical research. Elsevier
- Sivasubbu S, Balciunas D, Amsterdam A, Ekker SC (2007) Insertional mutagenesis strategies in zebrafish. Genome Biol 8:1–9
- Skromne I, Prince VE (2008) Current perspectives in zebrafish reverse genetics: moving forward. Dev Dyn 237:861–882
- Sloman KA, Bouyoucos IA, Brooks EJ, Sneddon LU (2019) Ethical considerations in fish research. J Fish Biol 94:556–577
- Sneddon LU, Halsey LG, Bury NR (2017) Considering aspects of the 3Rs principles within experimental animal biology. J Exp Biol 220:3007–3016
- Solin SL, Shive HR, Woolard KD, Essner JJ, Mcgrail M (2015) Rapid tumor induction in zebrafish by TALENmediated somatic inactivation of the retinoblastoma1 tumor suppressor rb1. Sci Rep 5:1–9
- Sood R, English MA, Jones M, Mullikin J, Wang D-M, Anderson M, Wu D, Chandrasekharappa SC, Yu J, Zhang J (2006) Methods for reverse genetic screening in zebrafish by resequencing and TILLING. Methods 39:220–227
- Soto-Otero R, Méndez-Alvarez E, Hermida-Ameijeiras A, Muñoz-Patiño AM, Labandeira-Garcia JL (2000) Autoxidation and neurotoxicity of 6-hydroxydopamine in the presence of some antioxidants: potential implication in relation to the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 74: 1605–1612
- Speedie N, Gerlai R (2008) Alarm substance induced behavioral responses in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Brain Res 188:168–177
- Stainier DY, Raz E, Lawson ND, Ekker SC, Burdine RD, Eisen JS, Ingham PW, Schulte-Merker S, Yelon D,

Weinstein BM (2017) Guidelines for morpholino use in zebrafish. PLoS Genet 13:e1007000

- Stewart A, Gaikwad S, Kyzar E, Green J, Roth A, Kalueff AV (2012) Modeling anxiety using adult zebrafish: a conceptual review. Neuropharmacology 62:135–143
- Suster ML, Kikuta H, Urasaki A, Asakawa K, Kawakami K (2009) Transgenesis in zebrafish with the tol2 transposon system. In: Transgenesis techniques. Springer
- Suster ML, Abe G, Schouw A, Kawakami K (2011) Transposon-mediated BAC transgenesis in zebrafish. Nat Protoc 6:1998–2021
- Tamimi NA, Ellis P (2009) Drug development: from concept to marketing! Nephron Clin Pract 113:c125-c131
- Tavakoli S, Rothschild H, Zon LI (2017) Zebrafish as a model for human diseases. eLS:1–8
- Tayanloo-Beik A, Rabbani Z, Soveyzi F, Alavi-Moghadam S, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Goodarzi P, Arjmand B, Larijani B (2021) Cellular therapy for treatment of spinal cord injury in zebrafish model. Mol Biol Rep:1–14
- Teame T, Zhang Z, Ran C, Zhang H, Yang Y, Ding Q, Xie M, Gao C, Ye Y, Duan M (2019) The use of zebrafish (Danio rerio) as biomedical models. Anim Front 9:68–77
- Timme-Laragy AR, Karchner SI, Hahn ME (2012) Gene knockdown by morpholino-modified oligonucleotides in the zebrafish (Danio rerio) model: applications for developmental toxicology. Springer
- Tong SY, Davis JS, Eichenberger E, Holland TL, Fowler VG (2015) Staphylococcus aureus infections: epidemiology, pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and management. Clin Microbiol Rev 28:603–661
- Torraca V, Mostowy S (2018) Zebrafish infection: from pathogenesis to cell biology. Trends Cell Biol 28:143– 156
- van der Sar AM, Musters RJ, van Eeden FJ, Appelmelk BJ, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM, Bitter W (2003) Zebrafish embryos as a model host for the real time analysis of salmonella typhimurium infections. Cell Microbiol 5:601–611
- van der Vaart, M., Spaink, H. P. & Meijer, A. H. 2012. Pathogen recognition and activation of the innate immune response in zebrafish. Adv Hematol, 2012 1-19
- van Leeuwen LM, van der Sar AM, Bitter W (2015) Animal models of tuberculosis: zebrafish. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 5:a018580
- van Norman GA (2019) Limitations of animal studies for predicting toxicity in clinical trials: is it time to rethink our current approach? JACC Basic Transl Sci 4:845– 854
- van Wijk RC, Krekels EH, Hankemeier T, Spaink HP, van der Graaf PH (2016) Systems pharmacology of hepatic metabolism in zebrafish larvae. Drug Discov Today Dis Model 22:27–34
- Varas M, Fariña A, Díaz-Pascual F, Ortíz-Severín J, Marcoleta AE, Allende ML, Santiviago CA, Chávez FP (2017) Live-cell imaging of salmonella typhimurium interaction with zebrafish larvae after injection and immersion delivery methods. J Microbiol Methods 135:20–25

- Varshney GK, Burgess SM (2014) Mutagenesis and phenotyping resources in zebrafish for studying development and human disease. Brief Funct Genomics 13: 82–94
- Veneman WJ, Stockhammer OW, de Boer L, Zaat SA, Meijer AH, Spaink HP (2013) A zebrafish high throughput screening system used for staphylococcus epidermidisinfection marker discovery. BMC Genomics 14:255
- Wang Y, Li S, Liu W, Wang F, Hu L-F, Zhong Z-M, Wang H, Liu C-F (2016) Vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (Vmat2) knockdown elicits anxiety-like behavior in zebrafish. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 470:792–797
- Williams CH, Hong CC (2011) Multi-step usage of in vivo models during rational drug design and discovery. Int J Mol Sci 12:2262–2274
- Williams CH, Hong CC (2016) Zebrafish small molecule screens: taking the phenotypic plunge. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 14:350–356
- Woods IG, Schier AF (2008) Targeted mutagenesis in zebrafish. Nat Biotechnol 26:650–651
- Wu N, Liu B, Du H, Zhao S, Li Y, Cheng X, Wang S, Lin J, Zhou J, Qiu G (2019) The progress of CRISPR/ Cas9-mediated gene editing in generating mouse/ zebrafish models of human skeletal diseases. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 17:954–962
- Xi Y, Noble S, Ekker M (2011) Modeling neurodegeneration in zebrafish. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 11:274–282

- Zabinyakov N, Bullivant G, Cao F, Fernandez Ojeda M, Jia ZP, Wen X-Y, Dowling JJ, Salomons GS, Mercimek-Andrews S (2017) Characterization of the first knock-out aldh7a1 zebrafish model for pyridoxine-dependent epilepsy using CRISPR-Cas9 technology. PLoS One 12:e0186645
- Zakaria ZZ, Benslimane FM, Nasrallah GK, Shurbaji S, Younes NN, Mraiche F, Da'as SI, Yalcin HC (2018) Using zebrafish for investigating the molecular mechanisms of drug-induced cardiotoxicity. BioMed Res Intl 2018
- Zhang Y, Kecskés A, Copmans D, Langlois M, Crawford AD, Ceulemans B, Lagae L, de Witte PA, Esguerra CV (2015) Pharmacological characterization of an antisense knockdown zebrafish model of Dravet syndrome: inhibition of epileptic seizures by the serotonin agonist fenfluramine. PLoS One 10:e0125898
- Zheng S-S, Han R-Y, Xiang L, Zhuang Y-Y, Jin Z-B (2018) Versatile genome engineering techniques advance human ocular disease researches in zebrafish. Front Cell Develop Biol 6:75
- Zhou D, Shao L, Spitz DR (2014) Reactive oxygen species in normal and tumor stem cells. Adv Cancer Res 122: 1–67
- Zhu X-Y, Liu H-C, Guo S-Y, Xia B, Song R-S, Lao Q-C, Xuan Y-X, Li, C.-Q. (2016) A zebrafish thrombosis model for assessing antithrombotic drugs. Zebrafish 13:335–344
- Zon LI, Peterson RT (2005) In vivo drug discovery in the zebrafish. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:35–44



# Cellular Stress Responses in Oocytes: Molecular Changes and Clinical Implications

Waleed F. A. Marei 💿 and Jo L. M. R. Leroy 💿

## Abstract

The oocyte may be exposed to several sources of stress during its growth and maturation, which may lead to reduced fertility. Unfolded protein responses (UPRs) play a central role to maintain cell survival and repair. Transcription of heat shock proteins (HSPs) is a key element to facilitate reestablishment of cellular homeostasis. Unlike somatic cells, cellular mechanisms by which oocytes can sense and respond to stress are not well described. In here, we provide an overview about the impact of cellular stress, particularly due to lipotoxicity, oxidative stress, and heat stress on oocyte developmental competence. Next, we focus on the expression of HSPs in oocytes and their potential role in UPRs in oocytes and embryos. This is based on a comprehensive shotgun proteomic analysis of mature bovine oocytes performed in our laboratory, as well as a literature review. The topic is discussed in light of our understanding of similar mechanisms in other cell types and the limited

transcriptional activity in oocytes. More fundamental research is needed both at the transcriptomic and proteomic levels to further understand cell stress response mechanisms in oocytes and early developing embryos, their critical interactions, and their long-term effects. Strategies to provide targeted external support to prevent or reduce cell stress levels during oocyte maturation or early embryo development under maternal metabolic stress conditions should be developed to maximize the odds of producing good quality embryos and guarantee optimal viability.

## Keywords

Cell stress · Embryos · ER · Heat shock proteins · Mitochondria · Oocytes · Unfolded protein response

# Abbreviations

ATF4	activating transcription factor 4
ATF6	activating transcription factor 6
COCs	cumulus oocyte complexes
eIF2α	eukaryotic translation initiation factor
	2 alpha
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERAD	ER-associated degradation
FFAs	free fatty acids
FSH	follicle-stimulating hormone

W. F. A. Marei (🖂)

Gamete Research Centre, Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Antwerp, Wilrijk, Belgium

Department of Theriogenology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt e-mail: Waleed.Marei@uantwerpen.be

J. L. M. R. Leroy

Gamete Research Centre, Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Antwerp, Wilrijk, Belgium

HS	heat stress
HSPs	heat shock proteins
IRE1	inositol-requiring enzyme 1
IVF	in vitro fertilization
MMP	mitochondria membrane potential
NEB	negative energy balance
OPU	ovum pick-up
OS	oxidative stress
PA	palmitic acid
PERK	protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic
	reticulum kinase
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SCNT	somatic cell nuclear transfer
UPR <sup>er</sup>	UPRs induced by the ER
UPR <sup>mt</sup>	UPRs induced by the mitochondria
UPRs	unfolded protein responses
XBP1	X-box-binding protein 1

### 1 Introduction

## 1.1 The Vulnerable Oocyte and the Increasing Prevalence of Infertility

Oocyte quality is a key factor that determines female fertility. Acquisition of oocyte developmental competence is a cumulative process that takes place in the ovarian follicle during oocyte growth and maturation (Fulka et al. 1998; Watson 2007). This involves a sequence of complex cytoplasmic and molecular changes that are essential to make the oocyte fertilizable, ultimately leading to a viable offspring. Any perturbation in the microenvironment of the oocyte within the ovarian follicle has a potential impact on oocyte quality and developmental competence (Krisher 2013; Mermillod et al. 2008), which puts fertility at risk.

Female infertility is a global public health issue. According to recent WHO reports, over 10% of women in reproductive age are infertile or sub-fertile, and the prevalence of infertility could be as high as one in every four couples in some developing countries (Mascarenhas et al. 2012). Reduced fertility is a multifactorial problem; however, more and more research clearly indicate that reduced oocyte quality is a major factor (for a review, see Leroy et al. 2008; Wu et al. 2011). For example, in humans, maternal metabolic syndrome and the concomitant metabolic disorders associated with Western-type diets, obesity, and type 2 diabetes are main causes of subfertility and are strongly linked with reduced oocyte quality. Even when clinicalassisted reproductive services are provided, poor oocyte quality results in disappointing IVF success rates (Pandey et al. 2010).

Disappointing fertility results are not only relevant in human clinical settings. In livestock, fertility results determine the farmer's income, management efficiency, and environmental impact. Reproductive failure in pig and cow farming is now recognized as a main burden and has serious economic consequences. Metabolic stress due to, e.g., negative energy balance (NEB) status, has been strongly correlated with disappointing fertility outcome in modern dairy industry worldwide (Berry et al. 2016). Excessive fat mobilization in NEB cows elevates blood free fatty acid (FFA) concentrations, which results in a state of inflammation and lipotoxicity in several tissues and organs, including the ovary. This lipotoxicity has a direct negative impact on the oocyte. The dairy cow model showed to be an interesting and ethically acceptable model to learn more about the impact of lipotoxicity on oocyte and embryo quality (Leroy et al. 2015). Like in dairy cows, metabolic disturbances in women, associated with a significantly upregulated lipolysis due to reduced insulin sensitivity, obesity, and chronic stress, have been associated with disappointing fertility (Gambineri et al. 2019).

The resulting hyperlipidemia and elevated lipotoxic concentrations of FFAs in blood are reflected in the ovarian follicular fluid and thus can have a direct negative impact on oocyte quality (Leroy et al. 2005; Valckx et al. 2015). In women, high FFA concentrations in follicular fluid were associated with a reduction in nuclear maturation and subsequent embryo cleavage rates (Jungheim et al. 2011). In IVF cycles, oocytes are routinely collected by ovum pick-up (OPU) after hormonal stimulation (i.e., after maturation), and thus oocyte quality might be already metabolically compromised if the mother suffers from a metabolic stress condition. The phenomenon of impaired developmental capacity of oocytes exposed to a lipotoxic microenvironment has been investigated in a series of studies in our laboratory and by other research groups. Exposing oocytes in vitro during long-term (13 days) murine follicle cultures (Valckx et al. 2014) or short-term (24 h) bovine oocyte maturation (Valckx et al. 2015; Van Hoeck et al. 2011, 2014) to pathophysiologically relevant concentrations of FFA or follicular fluid collected from obese women (Yang et al. 2012) resulted in a lower percentage of good-quality embryos after IVF. In these studies, embryo development to the blastocyst stage was significantly decreased, and higher embryo fragmentation rates were observed. In addition, surviving blastocysts had higher apoptotic cell indices, lower cell numbers, altered energy, and amino acid metabolism and exhibited different methylation and transcription patterns compared to blastocysts derived from healthy oocytes (Desmet et al. 2020; Van Hoeck et al. 2013, 2015). This can lead to a high incidence of early embryonic mortality and low pregnancy rates.

In addition, with the increasing importance of global warming, heat stress (HS) has also been documented to have adverse effects on oocyte quality and subsequent embryonic development (Yin et al. 2019). This is due to the direct impact of heat at the level of the oocyte or due to indirect stress-induced reduction in dry matter intake and the concomitant (exacerbation of) NEB status (Abdelatty et al. 2018). It has been shown that exposure of oocytes to HS either in vivo or in vitro impairs follicular development, reduces cumulus cell expansion and oocyte quality with lower maturation and polar body extrusion rates, and hampers early embryo development (Al-Katanani et al. 2002; Yin et al. 2019). Heat stress also resulted in a lower embryo yield and quality following hormonal stimulation in cows (Benyei et al. 2003).

Although the patterns of development of the pathogenesis of reduced fertility under metabolic and HS conditions may vary, it is commonly accepted that elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reduced mitochondrial functions are key underlying causes at the cellular level (Long et al. 2015). This appears to be also true for oocytes. Oocytes and their surrounding cumulus cells derived from obese mouse models vitro-exposed to pathophysiological or in concentrations of FFAs displayed altered mitochondrial inner membrane potential (MMP) (Fig. 1) and elevated ROS levels (Igosheva et al. 2010; Marei et al. 2012). Similarly, the impact of HS on oocyte quality and early embryo development has been shown to be mainly mediated through oxidative stress (OS), mitochondrial dysfunctions, and apoptosis in oocytes (Li et al. 2015; Tseng et al. 2006) and in cumulus cells (Rispoli et al. 2013; Shaeib et al. 2016).

Cells can sense and respond to increased intracellular stress (e.g., due to lipotoxicity, oxidative damage, or direct effect of heat). These responses are mainly initiated in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Ozcan et al. 2004; Zhang and Kaufman 2008) and the mitochondria (Runkel et al. 2014) due to the accumulation of misfolded or unfolded proteins. Hence, they are called unfolded protein responses (UPRs). A mild degree of stress transcription of nuclear-encoded stimulates chaperones (mainly heat shock proteins (HSPs)) to facilitate repair mechanisms and to reestablish cellular homeostasis as described hereafter. Whereas high stress levels activate programmed cell death (apoptosis) to eliminate damaged cells.

Cellular stress responses have been mainly investigated and described in somatic cells. Our understanding of the mechanisms by which HSPs influence oocytes and embryo developmental capacity under different pathophysiological conditions is still emerging. Recent data from studies investigating the impact of metabolic or heat stress on oocyte and embryo quality and the underlying molecular changes provide a better insight and will be the focus of this chapter.

## 2 Heat Shock Proteins and Cell Stress Responses

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are universally expressed across most cell types and within virtually all organisms. They are known to act as



**Fig. 1** Unfolded protein responses induced by the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in response to the accumulation of misfolded proteins in its lumen. Dissociation of HSPA5 from the ER transmembrane sensors PERK, IRE1, and ATF6 results in activation of downstream signaling that

stimulates the expression of nuclear-encoded chaperons. According to the level of stress, these mechanisms can lead to reestablishment of cellular homeostasis and cell survival or induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis)

molecular chaperons and are involved in several cellular functions related to protein homeostasis (proteostasis), such as facilitating protein and peptide transport, stabilization of nascent proteins, inhibition of protein aggregation, and mediation of protein complex formation (Becker and Craig 1994). Thus, HSPs are basically responsible for facilitating the biogenesis, stabilization, folding, trafficking, and degradation of proteins within the cell (Nixon et al. 2017).

Members and families of HSPs are classified mainly according to their molecular weight, which varies from 10 kDa (HSP10) to over 100 kDa (e.g., HSP110). Recently, a new nomenclature has been proposed (Kampinga et al. 2009) where HSPs are divided into the following families: HSPH (HSP110), HSPC (HSP90), HSPA (HSP70), DNAJ (HSP40), and HSPB (small HSP), as well as the chaperonin families HSPD (HSP60), HSPE (HSP10), and CCT (TRiC). Members of the HSPA family are most abundant, with at least 13 gene products characterized in the human proteome (Radons 2016).

The core structural elements of most HSP classes display a considerable degree of conservation, and their expression and molecular functions are interconnected and complementary (Bukau et al. 2006). For example, DNAJ (HSP40) family are known to play a key regulatory role in modulating HSP70 activity, directing substrates to the protein, and focusing this family to discrete subcellular compartments (Kampinga and Craig 2010). The HSP40-HSP70 partnership can subsequently engage HSP90s to assist in further folding or protein degradation pathways (Nixon et al. 2017). This illustrates the importance of estimating, not only the function of individual HSPs but also their network with other HSPs and regulatory molecules that interact within the proteostasis pathways.

Importantly, in addition to the ability of HSPs to enhance the recovery of stressed cells, constitutively expressed HSPs and their chaperoning function appear to be also essential under physiological conditions for the housekeeping roles and for protection against stress (reviewed in Kampinga and Craig 2010; Radons 2016). These maintenance functions include transport of proteins between cellular compartments, folding and refolding of newly synthetized proteins, degradation of unstable and misfolded proteins, prevention and dissolution of protein aggregates, and control of regulatory proteins.

# 3 Expression and Abundance of HSP in Oocyte and Their Surrounding Somatic Cells

Cell stress responses in oocytes and early developing embryos are expected to be different from those described in somatic cells. This is because growing oocytes are arrested at the prophase of the first meiotic division and are known to be transcriptionally inactive particularly during the final stages of growth and maturation and until embryonic genome activation (Funaya and Aoki 2017). During this phase of transcriptional silence, the oocyte relies on stored mRNA transcribed earlier during oogenesis (Peaston et al. 2010). It has been recently shown that the surrounding cumulus cells may also deliver cargos containing mRNA molecules through the trans-zonal projections, which may contribute to the oocyte's mRNA reserve (Macaulay et al. 2016). As mentioned above, UPRs involve stimulation of de novo expression of nuclear-encoded factors, which may not be feasible at late stages of oocyte maturation and shortly after fertilization due to the transcriptional inactivity. For this reason, studying cell stress responses in oocytes and early embryos can be challenging and may be particularly misleading if investigated at the transcriptomic level. More importantly, investigating these mechanisms in whole cumulus-oocyte complexes (COCs) can be even more misleading due to the marked evident differences between the two cell types. Nevertheless, the transcriptional inactivity per se does not rule out the potential ability of oocytes to respond to cell stress by adaptive changes in translation and protein synthesis.

A comprehensive study performed in our laboratory was the first to look into the molecular that occur metabolically changes in compromised oocytes at the proteomic level as compared to their surrounding layers of somatic (cumulus) cells (Marei et al. 2019c). We used tandem mass tag (TMT) labeling and shotgun mass spectrometry-based analysis to screen the proteomic profile of cumulus cells, and the enclosed denuded oocytes isolated from bovine COCs matured in the presence or absence of pathophysiological, lipotoxic concentration of Palmitic acid (PA). We could identify 1703 and 1185 proteins in cumulus cells and oocytes, respectively, 679 of which were common. The database of this analysis offers a unique insight into the relative abundance of these proteins, their functional annotations, and how they are differentially regulated in response to PA-induced metabolic and oxidative stress (Marei et al. 2019c). Several members of HSP families could be detected in cumulus cells as well as in the oocytes. The relative abundance of
ID	Description	Localization*	RA in Oocytes**	RA in Cumulus cell**
HSPH1	Heat shock protein 105 kDa	C;N	2,84	0,59
HSP90A	Heat shock protein 90kDa alpha	C;N	2,65	0,97
HSP90AA1	heat shock protein 90 alpha family class A member 1	C;X;m;N	25,86	9,10
HSP90AB1	. Heat Shock Protein 90 Alpha Family Class B Member 1	C;X;m;M;N	2,45	0,00
HSP90B1	Heat Shock Protein 90 Beta Family Member 1	C;ER;m;N;L	10,26	23,18
CDC37	Hsp90 co-chaperone Cdc37	С	0,43	0,12
AHSA1	AHA1, activator of heat shock 90kDa protein ATPase homolog 1 $$	С	0,37	0,27
HSPA1A	Heat shock 70kDa protein 1A	С	0,34	0,48
HSPA1B	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1B	C;S	5,27	1,24
HSPA1L	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1-like	С	0,05	0,00
HSPA2	Heat shock 70kDa protein 1A	С	2,94	0,16
HSPA4	Uncharacterized protein	С	1,86	0,95
HSPA4L	Uncharacterized protein	С	1,29	0,00
HSPA5	78 kDa glucose-regulated protein	C;ER;L	15,80	27,29
HSPA6	Uncharacterized protein	С	0,01	0,00
HSPA8	Heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein	C;D;m;N	10,62	7,88
HSPA8	HSPA8 protein (Fragment)	C;D;m;N	0,02	0,00
ST13	Heat shock 70kD protein binding protein	С	0,36	0,97
HSPB1	Heat shock protein beta-1	C;m;N	1,58	14,78
HSPBP1	HSPA (Heat shock 70kDa) binding protein, cochaperone 1	С	0,07	0,00
HSPD1	60 kDa heat shock protein, mitochondrial	C;D;m;M;L	7,05	5,10
HSPE1	10 kDa heat shock protein, mitochondrial	C;m;M;L	1,82	1,74
HSPA9	Stress-70 protein, mitochondrial	M;N	3,99	3,71
TRAP1	Heat shock protein 75 kDa, mitochondrial	m;M;L	1,44	0,51
DNAJA3	DnaJ (Hsp40) homolog, subfamily A, member 3	C;M;N;L	0,24	0,00

**Table 1** The relative abundance (RA) of members of different HSP families that were identified in a shotgun proteomic analysis of bovine denuded oocytes and cumulus cells isolated after in vitro maturation of intact COCs

\*Cellular localization of the identified HSPs is shown: C cytoplasm, D endosomes, ER endoplasmic reticulum, L organelle lumen, M mitochondria, m membranes, N nucleus, S cytoskeleton, X extracellular

\*\*Relative abundance (RA) is calculated as a percentage of the total relative abundance of the detected HSPs (i.e., not from the total proteins) in oocytes and cumulus cells, respectively

these proteins in oocytes and cumulus cells is shown in Table 1.

The unique insight from the data displayed in Table 1 suggests that oocytes exhibit a very similar expression pattern of most HSP family members at the protein level compared to cumulus cells. In addition, the illustrated relative abundance indicates that few specific HSPs are particularly highly expressed, suggesting that they may play an important role in cellular homeostasis in oocytes. These specific HSPs are namely related to the HSP70 (HSPA5 and HSPA8) and HSP90 families (HSP90AA1 and HSP90B1). These molecules are crucial for UPR signaling induced in the ER (UPR<sup>er</sup>). In addition, few HSPs related to mitochondrial functions (e.g., HSPD1 and HSPE1) could also be detected in the oocytes. This chapter will further expand on ER and mitochondrial stress responses in oocytes and the involvement of HSPs.

# 4 Heat Shock Proteins, UPRs, and ER Stress in Oocytes

#### 4.1 Mechanisms of UPR<sup>er</sup>

The ER is a major intracellular organelle mainly responsible for protein synthesis and is also involved in lipid synthesis and metabolism, as well as in cellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis (Ozcan et al. 2004). Oocyte growth and maturation and early embryo development require active de novo protein synthesis. Synthesis of soluble and membrane proteins by translation of maternal mRNA, or embryonic mRNA after embryo gene activation, is essential for several cytoplasmic and molecular changes that occur during oocyte development and for embryonic cell replication and differentiation (Schultz and Wassarman 1977). Newly synthesized proteins must be properly folded in the ER to acquire their functional 3D conformation (Lin et al. 2019).

ER functions and protein folding processes sensitive to several pathophysiological are conditions, such as lipotoxicity, OS, HS, as well as glucose deprivation and aberrant Ca<sup>2+</sup> regulation (Adachi et al. 2009; Pagliassotti et al. 2016). Increased stress level results in failure of protein folding or protein misfolding, which are then retained in the ER to be either repaired or degraded by the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) machinery (Nakatsukasa et al. 2008). Accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins within the ER induces the ER stress responses, which constitute an important quality control adaptive mechanism that allows the cell to sense and respond to stress (Huang et al. 2017; Lin et al. 2019).

Unfolded protein responses induced by ER stress are mainly cytoprotective and aim at reestablishment of cellular homeostasis by attenuation of protein synthesis (translation) to reduce the folding load within the ER and by activation of transcription of chaperone proteins and folding catalysts to enhance the folding capacity (Trusina and Tang 2010). These cytoprotective UPRs are usually efficient under transient or mild degree of stress. Prolonged exposure or high levels of stress, in contrast, stimulate cyto-destructive UPRs, which induce apoptosis to eliminate the cells that cannot be repaired (Pagliassotti et al. 2016). Although these mechanisms are vital to maintain normal tissue and body functions, excessive ER stress-induced cell death has been shown to cause diseases such as diabetes mellitus (Brozzi and Eizirik 2016).

The mechanism by which misfolded proteins stimulate ER stress response signaling cascade is initially mediated by three ER transmembrane sensors, namely, PERK, IRE1 $\alpha$ , and ATF6, and by their interaction with the heat shock 70 kDa protein 5 (HSPA5). The subsequent downstream signaling transduction is initiated by destabilization and dissociation of HSPA5 from these transmembrane sensors to bind the accumulated unfolded or misfolded proteins in the ER lumen (Lin et al. 2019) (Fig. 1).

Upon activation of UPR<sup>er</sup>, the dissociation of HSPA5 (BiP) from the transmembrane sensor PERK to bind misfolded proteins triggers autophosphorylation of PERK, which then causes phosphorylation of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 $\alpha$ ). Activation of eIF2 $\alpha$ subsequently activates ATF4 (activating transcription factor 4), which stimulates expression of nuclear-encoded chaperons. Dissociation of HSPA5 from IRE1 and ATF6 similarly activates XBP1 and ATF6, respectively, which in turn upregulate nuclear expression of HSPs and chaperons, including HSPA5 itself (Gardner et al. 2013).

# 4.2 Constitutive Role of HSPs and UPR<sup>er</sup> in Oocytes

ER-induced UPRs have been shown to play important physiological roles in reproductive functions (for a review, see Huang et al. 2017). HSPs have been shown to be essential to protect the gametes and embryos from damage during gametogenesis and embryogenesis (Neuer et al. 2000). HSPs, especially those related to the 70 kDa family, were found to be among the first genes expressed at the zygotic genome activation (Christians et al. 1995), and their protective role during mammalian embryo development is well described (Christians et al. 2003). In this chapter, we specifically focus on the described role of ER stress and UPRs at the oocyte level. As shown in Table 1, we have identified several members of different HSP families in mature bovine oocytes at the proteomic level.

The heat shock 70 kDa protein 5 (HSPA5), which was found to be highly abundant in cumulus cells and in oocytes, is a key molecule in ER stress responses. HSPA5 is one of the most abundant members of the HSP70 (HSPA) family and is located in the lumen of the ER. HSPA5 is also known as binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) or glucose-regulated protein, 78 kD (GRP-78). HSPA5/BiP binds newly synthesized proteins as they are translocated into the ER and maintains them in a state competent for subsequent folding and oligomerization (Gething 1999; Ng et al. 1992).

Apparently, the activation of ER-induced UPR mechanisms plays important physiological role and during ovarian follicle growth and maturation. HSPA5 and other UPR<sup>er</sup> markers, such as ATF4, ATF6, and XBP1, have been shown to be expressed in immature and mature oocytes and during all stages of preimplantation embryo development in mice, pigs, and cows (Yang et al. 2012; Yoon et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2012a, b). It has been recently shown that HSPA5 expression is upregulated in granulosa and cumulus cells during mice antral follicle development together with the activation of other ER stress sensors (IRE1 and PERK) (Harada et al. 2015). This could be required to cope with the high rate of de novo protein synthesis, which is vital during follicular development for the acquisitions of oocyte developmental competence. Knockout of UPR-associated genes such as HSPA5 ( $Grp78^{-/-}mice$ ) resulted in cell proliferation defects and a massive increase in apoptosis in the ICM and failure of periimplantation embryo development (Luo et al. 2006). Moreover, the expression level of XBP1 was found to be doubled in human cumulus cells enclosing oocytes that were successfully fertilized compared to those that were unfertilized following ICSI (Harada et al. 2015). Relative high expression of HSPAs in oocytes was linked with better adaptation of cattle breeds to environmental stress and to the production of goodquality oocytes during ovum pick-up programs (Souza-Cacares et al. 2019). Altogether, this illustrates the important constitutive role of UPR<sup>er</sup> for oocyte quality.

# 4.3 The Role of HSPs and UPR<sup>er</sup> Under Stress Conditions

Systemic effects of maternal metabolic alterations due to, e.g., obesity, are strongly connected to increased levels of ER stress in many cell types. The ER membrane has low cholesterol content and is composed mainly of unsaturated phosphatidylcholine (Higgins 1981; Koh et al. 2018). This unique lipid composition is important to maintain a high degree of membrane fluidity, which is essential for the ER functions. High-fat diet feeding and obesity have been shown to increase FFA concentrations in blood and ovarian follicular fluid (Ferrannini et al. 2007; Valckx et al. 2012). These elevated FFA concentrations are predominantly saturated (e.g., composed of high PA concentrations). PA is known to be a pathophysiological inducer of ER stress in different types of cells and tissues (Haywood and Yammani 2016). In vitro exposure of murine (Yang et al. 2012) and bovine (Valckx et al. 2015) COCs to follicular fluid from obese individuals or to equivalent FFA concentrations has been shown to increase lipid droplet accumulation in the enclosed oocytes. This may lead to hardening of cell membranes and intracellular membranous structures including the ER by increasing phosphatidylcholinephosphatidylethanolamine ratio and can directly impact ER functions for protein synthesis, lipid metabolism, and signal transduction in the affected oocytes.

High levels of ER stress have been associated with inhibition of granulosa cell response to FSH in vitro and in vivo (Babayev et al. 2016) and may thus have a negative impact on follicle development and steroidogenesis. In addition, ER stress and the associated UPRs were evident in metabolically compromised oocytes collected from obese mouse models (Robker et al. 2011; Wu et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2012). This effect was mimicked by direct exposure of bovine COCs to lipotoxic concentrations of FFAs in vitro during maturation (Marei et al. 2017, 2019c; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2016).

Interestingly, functional analysis of the proteomic profile of oocytes from PA-exposed bovine COCs (Marei et al. 2019c) showed that the enclosed oocytes undergo activation of the EIF2 signaling, which is a feature of PERK-ATF4-mediated ER stress known to inhibit protein synthesis (Fig. 1). Importantly, although the reduction in protein synthesis is an attempt to reduce protein folding load in the ER and reestablishment

of cellular homeostasis, this may have long-term consequences on oocyte developmental competence in surviving oocytes and embryos, due to the highly dynamic nature of development.

ATF4 was found to be particularly upregulated in granulosa cells and COCs collected from HFD-induced obese mice and was associated with lower fertilization rates (Wu et al. 2010). ATF4 is a key UPR-mediated gene expression; however, it is difficult to interpret the significance of its upregulation in metabolically stressed COCs. Firstly, upregulated gene expression of ATF4 in the affected COCs is most likely to be in cumulus cells rather than in oocytes. Secondly, ATF4 can activate both cell survival and cell death mechanisms depending on the degree and duration of stress exposure. Under mild stress, ATF4 induces cell survival by stimulating mRNA expression of genes involved in stress responses, protein secretion, and amino acid metabolism (Harding et al. 2003). Interestingly, we observed that in PA-exposed COCs, pathways related to the degradation of phenylalanine, isoleucine, tryptophan, and threonine and the biosynthesis of tyrosine were among the top canonical pathways reported in the enclosed oocytes based on the changes in their proteomic profile (Marei et al. 2019a). This indicates that the downstream effect of ATF4 is somehow active in the affected oocytes. Embryos produced by IVF of FFA-exposed bovine COCs also exhibited long-term effects on amino acid turnover detected at the blastocyst stage (Van Hoeck et al. 2011).

On the other hand, dissociation of ATF6, another ER transmembrane sensor, from HSPA5 results in cleavage, activation, and translocation of ATF6 to the nucleus where it is known to induce transcriptional activation of ER stress response genes, particularly HSPA5, XBP1, and CHOP (Fig. 1). The expression of *HSPA5* is thus expected to be significantly increased under stress conditions and is therefore extensively used as a master marker for detecting the induction of ER stress (Lee 2005). COCs from mice fed a high-fat diet had increased mRNA expression of *HSPA5* (Wu et al. 2010). We have also shown that HSPA5 protein was significantly high in bovine COCs (as a whole unit) exposed to elevated

concentrations of FFAs and was linked with reduced developmental competence (Marei et al. 2017). However surprisingly, we found that the protein abundance of HSPA5 itself was significantly reduced (fold change = 0.65, adjusted p value <0.05) in oocytes in PA-exposed COCs compared to controls (Marei et al. 2019c). As mentioned above, this may reflect HSPA5 utilization for misfolded protein transport and degradation in the absence of active HSPA5 transcription leading to depletion of this important chaperon in the affected oocytes and in the subsequent stages of early embryo development.

The fact that the expression of some HSPs may actually decrease (and not increase) in oocytes under stress conditions has also been reported in other studies. Yin et al. (2019) examined gene expression of HSP70, HSP90 $\alpha$ ,  $HSP90\beta$ , HSP40, HSP40, HSPA4, HSPA4L, HSPH1, and HSF1 in porcine COCs subjected to HS at 41.5 °C for 24 h. All of these mRNAs were found to be significantly downregulated in oocytes and upregulated in cumulus cells. The stage of oocyte growth was also suggested to play a role. For instance, after 1 h exposure to HS, HSP70 was reported to increase in growing porcine oocytes but decrease in the fully grown ones (Lanska et al. 2006), which could be related to the different transcriptomic activities at these stages. In contrast, Pennarossa et al. (2012) found that HSP70, HSP40, HSPH1, HSPA4, HSPA4L, HSF1, and HFS2 genes (but not HSP90A and HSP90B, also constitutively which were expressed) were upregulated in porcine oocytes upon exposure to HS (41.5 °C for 1 h) but surprisingly were not affected in the surrounding CCs (Pennarossa et al. 2012). In studies showing a reduced HSP mRNA expression or increased HSP protein expression, this might be due to increased translation of those HSPs and thus depletion of the corresponding mRNA reserve. In contrast, the increase in HSP mRNA expression in oocytes reported in some studies is more difficult to explain but may be due to the transfer of HSP mRNA molecules from cumulus cells to oocytes, while trans-zonal projections are still intact (Macaulay et al. 2016).

What is even more perplexing are the conflicting responses of cumulus cells themselves to different types of metabolic stress in different studies. While some studies show increased HSP mRNA expression in cumulus cells under stress conditions, e.g., as shown by Yin et al. (2019), we found that cumulus cells in PA-exposed COCs exhibited a significant reduction in protein expression of HSP90B1, HSPA9, HSPB1, and HSPE1, as well as several other pro-survival proteins involved in ER UPRs, such as CALR, P4HB, PDIA6, and CANX (Marei et al. 2019c). This was associated with increased apoptosis in cumulus cells and was considered to be a sign of ER stress-induced cell death mechanisms mediated by "regulated IRE1α-dependent decay." This mechanism degrades mRNA encoding for crucial pro-survival proteins such as ER chaperons and is induced under high levels of ER stress (Hollien and Weissman 2006; Moore and Hollien 2015).

It is also important to notice that the effect of metabolic stress or HS is not homogenous across all cumulus cells of the same COC. Using specific fluorescence markers, we have demonstrated that cumulus cells exhibiting different levels of ROS, mitochondrial MMP, and caspase-3 expression (apoptosis marker) co-exist in a heterogeneous pattern within the same metabolically compromised COCs (Leroy et al. 2005; Marei et al. 2019c). Therefore, the overall expression of HSPs either at the transcriptomic or proteomic level in cumulus cells will depend on the proportion of cells experiencing low level of stress (and upregulated chaperon expression) and those already at an apoptotic stage (exhibiting regulated IRE1- $\alpha$ -dependent decay).

Focusing back at HSP-induced responses in stressed oocytes, and in contrast to the expression of HSPA5, we found that PA-exposed oocytes exhibited significant upregulation in protein expression of HSPA8 (1.52X increase, adjusted p value <0.05). HSPA8 is a chaperon located in the ooplasm, nucleus, and endosomes and plays an important role in the regulation of protein import and stability, chaperon-mediated protein transport and refolding, chaperon-mediated autophagy, and chaperone cofactor-dependent protein refolding. Interestingly, STIP1 (stress-

induced phosphoprotein 1), which acts as a co-chaperone for HSPA8 and for HSP90AA1, was also upregulated (1.26X) in PA-exposed oocytes (Marei et al. 2019c). As shown in Table 1, HSP90AA1 is constitutively highly abundant in the oocytes but was not upregulated in response to PA exposure (Marei et al. 2019c). Other upregulated factors involved in chaperonmediated protein folding were detected: FKBP4 (FK506 binding protein 4, 1.28X), CCT8 (chaperonin containing TCP1 subunit 8, 1.36X), and NASP (nuclear autoantigenic sperm protein, involved 1.52X), as well as those in ER-associated ubiquitin-dependent protein catabolic processes, such as BCAP31 (B-cell receptor-associated protein 31, 1.64X). These changes clearly illustrate the capacity of the oocyte proper to sense and respond to the metabolic stress at the protein level. Of course this is dependent on the oocyte's mRNA reserves.

Interestingly, HSPA8, which was specifically upregulated, is also known to be involved in the positive regulation of mRNA splicing via spliceosomes. mRNA splicing is a process by which pre-mRNA transcripts are transformed into a mature mRNA and could be needed to activate the maternal pre-mRNA reserve for translation. We could also detect more evidence of the proteomic changes that support RNA activation, binding and stabilization, and RNA transport: including the increased poly(A)-binding protein PABPC4 (1.34X) and nucleoprotein 35 (1.51X), as well as the regulation of protein translation via the increased ribosomal proteins RPL27A (1.45X) (Marei et al. 2019c). This illustrates the ability of the oocytes to strategically use their RNA reserve for adaptive mechanisms under stress conditions.

As mentioned above, ER stress does not only occur in response to lipotoxicity, HS, and oxidative stress. Several other physicochemical alterations may result in ER stress, such as osmotic stress, abnormal pH, and chemical exposure (Brozzi and Eizirik 2016). There are several ER stress-inducing compounds that have been characterized and are widely used in research. Chemical stimulation of ER stress by, e.g., tunicamycin (which inhibits N-glycosylation needed for protein folding), has been shown to negatively affect oocyte maturation and resulted in marked increase in embryonic arrest at the two-cell stage and reduced blastocyst rates due to increased apoptosis in mice, pigs, and cattle (for a review, see Nixon et al. 2017). It appears that the impact of such experimental chemical induction of ER stress may go beyond the expected stress levels induced by pathophysiological perturbations and induce apoptosis in the oocytes and higher rates of apoptosis during subsequent embryo development.

# 5 HSPs, UPRs, and Mitochondrial Stress in Oocytes

As mentioned above, several studies have shown that the metabolic stress associated with high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity causes altered mitochondrial functions in oocytes (Igosheva et al. 2010; Luzzo et al. 2012; Mitchell et al. 2009). Mitochondrial dysfunction clearly plays a central role in the pathogenesis of reduced oocyte quality and subfertility. Oocytes from obese mice exhibit altered mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and reduced ATP production, as well as increased mitochondrial ultrastructural abnormalities, altered mitochondrial biogenesis, and mtDNA copy numbers, compared to mice fed control diet (Igosheva et al. 2010; Wu et al. 2010, 2011, 2015). Similarly, in vitro studies have shown evidence of mitochondrial dysfunction (altered MMP and elevated ROS levels) when bovine oocytes are exposed during final oocyte maturation to elevated pathophysiological concentrations of FFAs (Marei et al. 2017, 2019b, c; Van Hoeck et al. 2011).

Mitochondria are the main source of energy (ATP) through oxidative phosphorylation, and they also regulate Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis and cellular metabolism. After fertilization, sperm mitochondrial mitophagy occurs, and embryo development entirely depends on the mitochondria inherited from the oocyte. Therefore, altered mitochondrial activity and ATP availability in stressed oocytes are directly responsible for a cascade of defects associated with infertility in maternal metabolic disorders including chromosomal aneuploidy

(Zhang et al. 2006), failure of fertilization, increased embryo cell fragmentation, and developmental delay or arrest (McPherson et al. 2014).

Importantly, it is not all about energy. Similar to the ER, mitochondria are recognized as cellular sensors for stress, which is currently an area of intense research. These mechanisms are usually overlooked and not clearly defined in the pathogenesis of reduced oocyte quality and embryo developmental failure associated with metabolic stress. As mentioned above, oxidative damage and misfolding of proteins results in ER stress, which stimulates UPRer. Mitochondria also incorporate de novo synthesized proteins in the complexes of the electron transport chain in the inner mitochondrial membrane. Similar UPR responses occur in the mitochondria (UPR<sup>mt</sup>), which constitute the molecular mitochondrial quality control machinery (Runkel et al. 2014). Elevated ROS levels beyond a certain threshold will lead to mitochondrial uncoupling. This uncoupling coincides with dissipation of MMP, which is suggested to be an actively regulated process in response to stress as an attempt to reduce ROS production and maintain cell survival (Brand 2000). Dissipation of MMP not only results in low ATP production, but it also elicits stress signals. Depending on the degree of stress, a series of sequential responses are induced (Fig. 2).

The transcription factor ATFS-1 is postulated as a key regulator of the initial step in UPR<sup>mt</sup> (Nargund et al. 2012). Low MMP reduces ATFS-1 transport to the mitochondria for its proteolytic inactivation. ATFS-1 is then translocated to the nucleus where it induces the expression of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial chaperones (mitochondrial heat shock protein 70 (mtHSP70), HSP60, and HSP10) and proteases. These molecular chaperons are translocated back to the mitochondrial matrix to alleviate stress-induced damage and inhibit induction of apoptosis. This has been correlated with cellular lifespan extension. Higher stress levels may induce ultrastructural damage in the mitochondria and stimulate organellar mitochondrial quality control mechanisms, which require activation of mitochondrial biogenesis. This involves fission and



Fig. 2 Mitochondrial quality control mechanisms in response to stress. According to stress levels, mitochondria can stimulate protective chaperones via

unfolded protein response (UPR<sup>mt</sup>), undergo mitophagy, or induce apoptosis. *HS* heat stress, *OS* oxidative stress

fusion of mitochondria to allow repair or exclusion of damaged parts of mitochondria by PINK1/ Parkin-mediated mitophagy. For stress levels that cannot be tolerated, mitochondria will initiate apoptotic pathways for removal of the damaged cell (Runkel et al. 2014). This occurs by the induction of mitochondrial membrane permeability transition pores and the release of cytochrome-C, which in turn activates caspases. This will ultimately end in the induction of apoptosis (Hirsch et al. 1997). We evidence have shown that mitochondrial uncoupling occurs in oocytes matured under metabolic stress conditions (Marei et al. 2017) or shortly after their fertilization (Marei et al. 2019b). However, importantly, embryos lack the machinery for mitochondrial biogenesis until blastocyst stage (St John et al. 2010) and are unable to eliminate damaged mitochondria due to the inability to activate mitophagy (Boudoures et al. 2017). This means that if mitochondrial molecular UPR fails, thresholds to induce apoptosis can be abruptly reached.

As stated above, mitochondrial heat shock proteins (HSPD1/HSP60, HSPE1/HSP10, as well as HSPA9 and TRAP1) were all detected at abundant levels in both oocytes and cumulus cells at the end of IVM of bovine COCs. HSPD1 (HSP60), which was more abundant, is known to be involved in re-folding of proteins and formation of oligomeric protein complexes in the mitochondria (Boilard et al. 2004). Both HSPD1 (FC = 1.22, P = 0.065) and HSPE1 (FC = 1.62, P = 0.09) tended to increase in oocytes after PA exposure compared to the control oocytes, suggesting that UPR<sup>mt</sup> mechanisms may also be actively involved in stress responses in oocytes (Marei et al. 2019c). Again the level of protein expression of these markers could be limited by the transcriptional inactivity.

# 6 Consequences of UPR<sup>er</sup> and UPR<sup>mt</sup> in Oocytes on Further Embryo Development

The most logical question now is whether these limited transcription-free translation-based UPR<sup>er</sup> and UPR<sup>mt</sup> signaling in oocytes are sufficient (or efficient) for the reestablishment of protein

homeostasis and cell repair. It is evident that oocytes matured under metabolic stress or HS conditions have reduced developmental capacity and undergo embryonic arrest during cleavage, leading to reduced blastocyst rates (Krisher 2013; Valckx et al. 2014; Van Hoeck et al. 2011). In some cases, oocytes collected from obese women can be fertilized in vitro and undergo relatively normal early embryo development, sometimes with slightly lower cleavage rates or higher fragmentation rates but finally producing morphologically acceptable transferable embryos (Zander-Fox et al. 2012). However, the resultant embryos achieve significantly lower pregnancy rates after transfer and have a higher risk for preterm birth compared to embryos from metabolically healthy patients (Zander-Fox et al. 2012). The same observations have been recorded in bovine in vitro studies, where many COCs exposed to elevated levels of FFAs during IVM had acceptable cleavage rates (Marei et al. 2019b). Despite the arrest of some of the affected embryos during culture, the reduction in blastocyst rate is usually limited to a 10% difference compared with the control group, resulting in a relatively moderate yield of blastocyst production, which are morphologically normal and transferable (Marei et al. 2017, 2019b, c; Van Hoeck et al. 2011). Importantly, more in-depth investigation of the quality of these surviving blastocysts has shown that they exhibit high levels of apoptotic cell index, altered cellular metabolism, and altered transcriptomic and epigenetic patterns despite fertilization and culture in FFA-free standard conditions (Desmet et al. 2020; Marei et al. 2017, 2019b, c; Van Hoeck et al. 2011, 2015).

Interestingly, we have also noticed that blastocysts produced under FFA-free standard culture conditions but originating from PA-exposed COCs (24 h exposure) exhibited upregulated mRNA expression of both ATF6 and HSPA5 (but not ATF4), indicating persistent ER stress until day 8 of development. Nevertheless, these surviving blastocysts exhibited a 6X increase in the proportion of apoptotic cells compared with control embryos (Marei et al. 2019b). In another study, we investigated post-hatching development of PA-derived morphologically normal surviving blastocysts by transferring them at day 7.7 post-fertilization to uterine horns of healthy cows and flushing them back at day 14 (Desmet et al. 2020). We found that PA-derived embryos had retarded post-hatching growth and were less elongated, displayed altered cellular metabolism, had altered and transcriptome profile particularly in pathways related to redox-regulating mechanisms, apoptosis, cellular growth, interaction and differentiaenergy tion, metabolism, and epigenetic mechanisms, compared to control embryos (Desmet et al. 2020). Collectively, it is evident that embryos produced from metabolically stressed oocytes might be partially able to maintain their survival early during development. However, the underlying sublethal stress levels appear to have persistent long-term effects that can be detected at the blastocyst stage or even later despite further development in stress-free conditions.

When COCs are matured in vivo or in vitro under metabolic stress conditions, cumulus cells are exposed first and are relatively more affected compared to the enclosed oocytes. Many of the exposed cumulus cells undergo apoptosis. In the same time, cumulus cells protect oocyte quality against oxidative stress and against lipotoxic effects in their microenvironment by internalizing and neutralizing FFAs (Aardema et al. 2013; Shaeib et al. 2016). Our proteomic data clearly show that despite the evident oxidative stress, altered mitochondrial activity, and signs of UPRer and UPRmt, PA-exposed oocytes exhibit several antiapoptotic changes, such as increased relative abundance of mitochondrial antioxidative proteins (particularly, peroxiredoxin 3 (PRDX3), NRF2-mediated oxidative stress response, activation of p70S6K-14-3-3 signaling (Marei et al. 2019c)), all of which are known to be pro-survival mechanisms (Amin et al. 2014; Chang et al. 2004; Lim et al. 2013). In addition, PA-exposed oocytes had upregulated SLC24A5, a negative regulator of apoptosis (Landes and Martinou 2011) as well as upregulated NLRP5 (NLR family pyrin domain containing 5), which plays an essential role for zygotes to progress beyond the first embryonic cell division (Marei et al. 2019c). This illustrates the intrinsic ability of the oocytes to survive certain level and duration of stress. Oocytes may not reach thresholds of intracellular stress that are enough to induce apoptosis; however, as described above, intracellular stress appears to stay persistently high during fertilization and further embryo development even in FFA-free culture conditions. This results in persistent UPR signaling, which is apparently then not sufficient to combat the damage or prevent its further aggravation, leading to failure of embryo development at some stage.

In addition to the carryover of stress induced during oocyte maturation, embryos may be exposed to several additional sources of stress during fertilization and early development that may aggravate the damage and accelerate embryonic loss. For example, due to mitochondrial dysfunction and altered cellular metabolism in embryos derived from stressed oocytes, accumulation of increased concentrations of lactate (due to Warburg metabolism) or ammonia (from amino acid degradation) may progressively change pH and osmolality in the microenvironment (Cagnone and Sirard 2016), creating additional secondary factors that may have primary effects due to physicochemical stress. In fact, embryos appear to tolerate a range of suboptimal physicochemical conditions such as reduced osmolality during IVC without compromising their developmental capacity (Brinster and Troike 1979); however, embryos derived from metabolically compromised oocytes may not have the same level of tolerance.

It is also worth mentioning that embryos produced after somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) were found to be more sensitive to tunicamycininduced ER stress compared to in vitro-produced embryos (Babayev et al. 2016). This was suggested to be caused by the electrofusion step which is known to increase intracellular calcium ions and activate ER stress (Yin et al. 2019). SCNT-derived embryos exhibit increased *HSPA5*, *ATF6*, and *XBP1* gene expression, yet they have low developmental competence and quality (Lin et al. 2019). Importantly, ICSI has been also recently linked with increased levels of ER stress (Deng et al. 2020). Both mRNA and protein expression of GRP78 were found to be significantly higher in ICSI-produced embryos compared to IVF. ICSI embryos also showed higher apoptotic rates compared to IVF (Deng et al. 2020). Therefore, it is likely that a combination of these factors can amplify stress responses to a threshold beyond which embryo development is arrested. For example, it was found that human oocytes collected from follicles with high PA concentrations resulted in lower pregnancy rates following ICSI compared to those from low PA follicles (Mirabi et al. 2017). ICSI as such could be a contributing factor in this observation.

# 7 Therapeutic Applications Linked with Cellular Stress in Oocytes and Embryos

Fundamental understanding of the mechanisms by which oocytes and embryos handle cellular stress and how this may subsequently affect developmental competence is important to develop novel treatment strategies and identify molecular targets. This is particularly important in human settings when preventive measures are not possible or when preconception care strategies do not yield the expected results (Einarsson et al. 2017; Sim et al. 2014). Since it is clear that the intrinsic UPR mechanisms in oocytes have limited capacity to protect the oocyte and the growing embryo under cellular stress conditions, these treatment strategies should aim to prevent metabolic stress or at least to eliminate additional or persistent sources of stress during early embryo development and to optimally support oocyte and embryonic vital metabolic activities.

There are several periconceptional care strategies, such as weight loss, caloric restriction, or exercise, proposed for obese women to correct their metabolic profile and oocyte quality (Sim et al. 2014). In dairy cattle production, strategies to control excessive change in body condition

score and excessive fat mobilization during the transition period have been shown to limit metabolic stress and protect oocyte quality (Barletta et al. 2017).

On the other hand, several in vitro treatments have been proven effective in improving oocyte developmental competence under metabolic stress conditions. For example, the use of ER stress inhibitor (salubrinal) was shown to alleviate FFA-induced defects on mitochondrial activity, fertilization, and development to the blastocyst stage (Wu et al. 2012). Treatment of ICSI embryos with tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA, another ER stress inhibitor) could also alleviate ICSI effects on ER stress markers and enhance ICSI embryo development and quality to rates similar to IVF embryos (Deng et al. 2020). On the other hand, mitochondria have also been proposed as an important target for treatments aiming at enhancement of oocyte quality and fertility under metabolic stress conditions (Giannubilo et al. 2018; Legro 2019). Mitochondrial targeted therapies have been shown to protect oocyte developmental competence under elevated FFA concentrations in vitro (Marei et al. 2019a). In this study, such embryo treatment could eliminate persistent oxidative stress and rescue embryo development when supplemented during in vitro culture of zygotes derived from metabolically compromised oocytes (Marei et al. 2019b). Recent technologies may additionally offer tools that may prevent the buildup of physicochemical stress during culture by using microfluidic culture systems for continuous renewal of culture medium.

#### 8 Conclusions

Collectively, when studying the pathogenesis of reduced oocyte and embryo developmental competence under maternal metabolic stress conditions and looking at the underlying cellular stress responses, it is very difficult to interpret what is a cause and what is a consequence. Nevertheless, there is enough evidence to show that oocytes and early developing embryos have an intrinsic pro-survival machinery that may temporarily extend the cellular lifespan in response to stress but is apparently not enough to support embryo development on longer terms. External support to prevent or reduce cell stress levels is thus inevitable to maximize the odds of producing good quality embryos, guaranteeing optimal viability. The insights, concepts, and speculations drawn in this chapter about the role of HSPs and UPRs in determining oocyte developmental competence are just the tip of the iceberg. More fundamental research is needed both at the transcriptomic and proteomic levels to further elucidate these responses and understand their critical interactions and long-term effects.

**Conflict of Interest** The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

#### References

- Aardema H, Lolicato F, van de Lest CH, Brouwers JF, Vaandrager AB, van Tol HT, Roelen BA, Vos PL, Helms JB, Gadella BM (2013) Bovine cumulus cells protect maturing oocytes from increased fatty acid levels by massive intracellular lipid storage. Biol Reprod 88:164
- Abdelatty AM, Iwaniuk ME, Potts SB, Gad A (2018) Influence of maternal nutrition and heat stress on bovine oocyte and embryo development. Int J Vet Sci Med 6:S1–S5
- Adachi M, Liu Y, Fujii K, Calderwood SK, Nakai A, Imai K, Shinomura Y (2009) Oxidative stress impairs the heat stress response and delays unfolded protein recovery. PLoS One 4:e7719
- Al-Katanani YM, Paula-Lopes FF, Hansen PJ (2002) Effect of season and exposure to heat stress on oocyte competence in Holstein cows. J Dairy Sci 85:390–396
- Amin A, Gad A, Salilew-Wondim D, Prastowo S, Held E, Hoelker M, Rings F, Tholen E, Neuhoff C, Looft C, Schellander K, Tesfaye D (2014) Bovine embryo survival under oxidative-stress conditions is associated with activity of the NRF2-mediated oxidative-stressresponse pathway. Mol Reprod Dev 81:497–513
- Babayev E, Lalioti MD, Favero F, Seli E (2016) Cross-talk between FSH and endoplasmic reticulum stress: a mutually suppressive relationship. Reprod Sci 23: 352–364
- Barletta RV, Maturana Filho M, Carvalho P, Del Valle T, Netto A, Rennó F, Mingoti R, Gandra J, Mourão G, Fricke P, Sartori R, Madureira EH, Wiltbank MC (2017) Association of changes among body condition score during the transition period with NEFA and BHBA concentrations, milk production, fertility, and health of Holstein cows. Theriogenology 104:30–36

- Becker J, Craig EA (1994) Heat-shock proteins as molecular chaperones. Eur J Biochem 219:11–23
- Benyei B, Gaspardy A, Cseh S (2003) Effect of the El Nino phenomenon on the ovarian responsiveness and embryo production of donor cows. Acta Vet Hung 51: 209–218
- Berry DP, Friggens NC, Lucy M, Roche JR (2016) Milk production and fertility in cattle. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 4:269–290
- Boilard M, Reyes-Moreno C, Lachance C, Massicotte L, Bailey JL, Sirard MA, Leclerc P (2004) Localization of the chaperone proteins GRP78 and HSP60 on the luminal surface of bovine oviduct epithelial cells and their association with spermatozoa. Biol Reprod 71: 1879–1889
- Boudoures AL, Saben J, Drury A, Scheaffer S, Modi Z, Zhang W, Moley KH (2017) Obesity-exposed oocytes accumulate and transmit damaged mitochondria due to an inability to activate mitophagy. Dev Biol 426(1):126–138
- Brand MD (2000) Uncoupling to survive? The role of mitochondrial inefficiency in ageing. Exp Gerontol 35:811–820
- Brinster RL, Troike DE (1979) Requirements for blastocyst development in vitro. J Anim Sci 49(Suppl 2):26–34
- Brozzi F, Eizirik DL (2016) ER stress and the decline and fall of pancreatic beta cells in type 1 diabetes. Ups J Med Sci 121:133–139
- Bukau B, Weissman J, Horwich A (2006) Molecular chaperones and protein quality control. Cell 125:443– 451
- Cagnone G, Sirard MA (2016) The embryonic stress response to in vitro culture: insight from genomic analysis. Reproduction 152:R247–R261
- Chang T-S, Cho C-S, Park S, Yu S, Kang SW, Rhee SG (2004) Peroxiredoxin III, a mitochondrion-specific peroxidase, regulates apoptotic signaling by mitochondria. J Biol Chem 279:41975–41984
- Christians E, Campion E, Thompson EM, Renard JP (1995) Expression of the HSP 70.1 gene, a landmark of early zygotic activity in the mouse embryo, is restricted to the first burst of transcription. Development 121:113–122
- Christians ES, Zhou Q, Renard J, Benjamin IJ (2003) Heat shock proteins in mammalian development. Semin Cell Dev Biol 14:283–290
- Deng T, Xie J, Ge H, Liu Q, Song X, Hu L, Meng L, Zhang C (2020) Tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA) enhanced intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) embryo developmental competence by ameliorating endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and inhibiting apoptosis. J Assist Reprod Genet 37:119–126
- Desmet KLJ, Marei WFA, Richard C, Sprangers K, Beemster GTS, Meysman P, Laukens K, Declerck K, Vanden Berghe W, Bols PEJ, Hue I, Leroy JLMR (2020) Oocyte maturation under lipotoxic conditions induces carryover transcriptomic and functional alterations during post-hatching development of

good-quality blastocysts: novel insights from a bovine embryo-transfer model. Hum Reprod 35:293–307

- Einarsson S, Bergh C, Friberg B, Pinborg A, Klajnbard A, Karlstrom PO, Kluge L, Larsson I, Loft A, Mikkelsen-Englund AL, Stenlof K, Wistrand A, Thurin-Kjellberg A (2017) Weight reduction intervention for obese infertile women prior to IVF: a randomized controlled trial. Hum Reprod 32:1621–1630
- Ferrannini E, Balkau B, Coppack SW, Dekker JM, Mari A, Nolan J, Walker M, Natali A, Beck-Nielsen H, Investigators R (2007) Insulin resistance, insulin response, and obesity as indicators of metabolic risk. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:2885–2892
- Fulka J Jr, First NL, Moor RM (1998) Nuclear and cytoplasmic determinants involved in the regulation of mammalian oocyte maturation. Mol Hum Reprod 4: 41–49
- Funaya S, Aoki F (2017) Regulation of zygotic gene activation by chromatin structure and epigenetic factors. J Reprod Dev 63:359–363
- Gambineri A, Laudisio D, Marocco C, Radellini S, Colao A, Savastano S, ER Obesity Programs of nutrition, and g Assessment (2019) Female infertility: which role for obesity? Int J Obes Suppl 9:65–72
- Gardner BM, Pincus D, Gotthardt K, Gallagher CM, Walter P (2013) Endoplasmic reticulum stress sensing in the unfolded protein response. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5:a013169
- Gething MJ (1999) Role and regulation of the ER chaperone BiP. Semin Cell Dev Biol 10:465–472
- Giannubilo SR, Orlando P, Silvestri S, Cirilli I, Marcheggiani F, Ciavattini A, Tiano L (2018) CoQ10 supplementation in patients undergoing IVF-ET: the relationship with follicular fluid content and oocyte maturity. Antioxidants (Basel) 7:141
- Harada M, Nose E, Takahashi N, Hirota Y, Hirata T, Yoshino O, Koga K, Fujii T, Osuga Y (2015) Evidence of the activation of unfolded protein response in granulosa and cumulus cells during follicular growth and maturation. Gynecol Endocrinol 31:783–787
- Harding HP, Zhang Y, Zeng H, Novoa I, Lu PD, Calfon M, Sadri N, Yun C, Popko B, Paules R, Stojdl DF, Bell JC, Hettmann T, Leiden JM, Ron D (2003) An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol Cell 11:619–633
- Haywood J, Yammani RR (2016) Free fatty acid palmitate activates unfolded protein response pathway and promotes apoptosis in meniscus cells. Osteoarthr Cartil 24:942–945
- Higgins JA (1981) Biogenesis of endoplasmic reticulum phosphatidylcholine. Translocation of intermediates across the membrane bilayer during methylation of phosphatidylethanolamine. Biochim Biophys Acta 640:1–15
- Hirsch T, Marzo I, Kroemer G (1997) Role of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in apoptosis. Biosci Rep 17:67–76

- Hollien J, Weissman JS (2006) Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science 313:104–107
- Huang N, Yu Y, Qiao J (2017) Dual role for the unfolded protein response in the ovary: adaption and apoptosis. Protein Cell 8:14–24
- Igosheva N, Abramov AY, Poston L, Eckert JJ, Fleming TP, Duchen MR, McConnell J (2010) Maternal dietinduced obesity alters mitochondrial activity and redox status in mouse oocytes and zygotes. PLoS One 5: e10074
- Jungheim ES, Macones GA, Odem RR, Patterson BW, Lanzendorf SE, Ratts VS, Moley KH (2011) Associations between free fatty acids, cumulus oocyte complex morphology and ovarian function during in vitro fertilization. Fertil Steril 95:1970–1974
- Kampinga HH, Craig EA (2010) The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11:579–592
- Kampinga HH, Hageman J, Vos MJ, Kubota H, Tanguay RM, Bruford EA, Cheetham ME, Chen B, Hightower LE (2009) Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. Cell Stress Chaperones 14:105–111
- Koh JH, Wang L, Beaudoin-Chabot C, Thibault G (2018) Lipid bilayer stress-activated IRE-1 modulates autophagy during endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Cell Sci 131:jcs217992
- Krisher RL (2013) In vivo and in vitro environmental effects on mammalian oocyte quality. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 1:393–417
- Landes T, Martinou JC (2011) Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization during apoptosis: the role of mitochondrial fission. Biochim Biophys Acta 1813: 540–545
- Lanska V, Chmelikova E, Sedmikova M, Petr J, Rajmon R, Jeseta M, Rozinek J (2006) Expression of heat shock protein70 in pig oocytes: heat shock response during oocyte growth. Anim Reprod Sci 96: 154–164
- Lee AS (2005) The ER chaperone and signaling regulator GRP78/BiP as a monitor of endoplasmic reticulum stress. Methods 35:373–381
- Legro RS (2019) Introduction: stimulate the mitochondria! A Bonington approach to improving assisted reproductive technology outcomes or a call to action? Fertil Steril 111:195–196
- Leroy JL, Vanholder T, Mateusen B, Christophe A, Opsomer G, de Kruif A, Genicot G, Van Soom A (2005) Non-esterified fatty acids in follicular fluid of dairy cows and their effect on developmental capacity of bovine oocytes in vitro. Reproduction 130:485–495
- Leroy JL, Van Soom A, Opsomer G, Goovaerts IG, Bols PE (2008) Reduced fertility in high-yielding dairy cows: are the oocyte and embryo in danger? Part II. Mechanisms linking nutrition and reduced oocyte and embryo quality in high-yielding dairy cows. Reprod Domest Anim 43:623–632

- Leroy JL, Valckx SD, Jordaens L, De Bie J, Desmet KL, Van Hoeck V, Britt JH, Marei WF, Bols PE (2015) Nutrition and maternal metabolic health in relation to oocyte and embryo quality: critical views on what we learned from the dairy cow model. RFD 27:693–703
- Li Y, Zhang Z, He C, Zhu K, Xu Z, Ma T, Tao J, Liu G (2015) Melatonin protects porcine oocyte in vitro maturation from heat stress. J Pineal Res 59:365–375
- Lim GE, Piske M, Johnson JD (2013) 14-3-3 proteins are essential signalling hubs for beta cell survival. Diabetologia 56:825–837
- Lin T, Lee JE, Kang JW, Shin HY, Lee JB, Jin DI (2019) Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and unfolded protein response (UPR) in mammalian oocyte maturation and preimplantation embryo development. Int J Mol Sci 20:409
- Long Z, Zhang X, Sun Q, Liu Y, Liao N, Wu H, Wang X, Hai C (2015) Evolution of metabolic disorder in rats fed high sucrose or high fat diet: focus on redox state and mitochondrial function. Gen Comp Endocrinol S0016–6480:30012–30015
- Luo S, Mao C, Lee B, Lee AS (2006) GRP78/BiP is required for cell proliferation and protecting the inner cell mass from apoptosis during early mouse embryonic development. Mol Cell Biol 26:5688–5697
- Luzzo KM, Wang Q, Purcell SH, Chi M, Jimenez PT, Grindler N, Schedl T, Moley KH (2012) High fat diet induced developmental defects in the mouse: oocyte meiotic aneuploidy and fetal growth retardation/brain defects. PLoS One 7:e49217
- Macaulay AD, Gilbert I, Scantland S, Fournier E, Ashkar F, Bastien A, Saadi HA, Gagne D, Sirard MA, Khandjian EW, Richard FJ, Hyttel P, Robert C (2016) Cumulus cell transcripts transit to the bovine oocyte in preparation for maturation. Biol Reprod 94: 16
- Marei WFA, Wathes DC, Fouladi-Nashta AA (2012) Differential effects of linoleic and alpha-linolenic fatty acids on spatial and temporal mitochondrial distribution and activity in bovine oocytes. Reprod Fertil Dev 24:679–690
- Marei WFA, De Bie J, Mohey-Elsaeed O, Wydooghe E, Bols PEJ, Leroy J (2017) Alpha-linolenic acid protects the developmental capacity of bovine cumulus-oocyte complexes matured under lipotoxic conditions in vitro. Biol Reprod 96:1181–1196
- Marei WFA, Van den Bosch B, Leroy J (2019a) Protective effects of Mitoquinone during in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes under lipotoxic conditions. Anim Reprod 16:737
- Marei WFA, Van den Bosch L, Pintelon I, Mohey-Elsaeed O, Bols PEJ, Leroy J (2019b) Mitochondriatargeted therapy rescues development and quality of embryos derived from oocytes matured under oxidative stress conditions: a bovine in vitro model. Hum Reprod 34:1984–1998
- Marei WFA, Van Raemdonck G, Baggerman G, Bols PEJ, Leroy J (2019c) Proteomic changes in oocytes after

in vitro maturation in lipotoxic conditions are different from those in cumulus cells. Sci Rep 9:3673

- Mascarenhas MN, Flaxman SR, Boerma T, Vanderpoel S, Stevens GA (2012) National, regional, and global trends in infertility prevalence since 1990: a systematic analysis of 277 health surveys. PLoS Med 9:e1001356
- McPherson NO, Zander-Fox D, Lane M (2014) Stimulation of mitochondrial embryo metabolism by dichloroacetic acid in an aged mouse model improves embryo development and viability. Fertil Steril 101: 1458–1466
- Mermillod P, Dalbies-Tran R, Uzbekova S, Thelie A, Traverso JM, Perreau C, Papillier P, Monget P (2008) Factors affecting oocyte quality: who is driving the follicle? Reprod Domest Anim 43(Suppl 2):393–400
- Mirabi P, Chaichi MJ, Esmaeilzadeh S, Ali Jorsaraei SG, Bijani A, Ehsani M, Hashemi Karooee SF (2017) The role of fatty acids on ICSI outcomes: a prospective cohort study. Lipids Health Dis 16:18
- Mitchell M, Schulz SL, Armstrong DT, Lane M (2009) Metabolic and mitochondrial dysfunction in early mouse embryos following maternal dietary protein intervention. Biol Reprod 80:622–630
- Moore K, Hollien J (2015) Ire1-mediated decay in mammalian cells relies on mRNA sequence, structure, and translational status. Mol Biol Cell 26:2873–2884
- Nakatsukasa K, Huyer G, Michaelis S, Brodsky JL (2008) Dissecting the ER-associated degradation of a misfolded polytopic membrane protein. Cell 132: 101–112
- Nargund AM, Pellegrino MW, Fiorese CJ, Baker BM, Haynes CM (2012) Mitochondrial import efficiency of ATFS-1 regulates mitochondrial UPR activation. Science 337:587–590
- Neuer A, Spandorfer SD, Giraldo P, Dieterle S, Rosenwaks Z, Witkin SS (2000) The role of heat shock proteins in reproduction. Hum Reprod Update 6:149–159
- Ng DT, Watowich SS, Lamb RA (1992) Analysis in vivo of GRP78-BiP/substrate interactions and their role in induction of the GRP78-BiP gene. Mol Biol Cell 3: 143–155
- Nixon B, Bromfield EG, Cui J, De Iuliis GN (2017) Heat shock protein A2 (HSPA2): regulatory roles in germ cell development and sperm function. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol 222:67–93
- Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, Lee AH, Iwakoshi NN, Ozdelen E, Tuncman G, Gorgun C, Glimcher LH, Hotamisligil GS (2004) Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science 306:457–461
- Pagliassotti MJ, Kim PY, Estrada AL, Stewart CM, Gentile CL (2016) Endoplasmic reticulum stress in obesity and obesity-related disorders: an expanded view. Metabolism 65:1238–1246
- Pandey S, Pandey S, Maheshwari A, Bhattacharya S (2010) The impact of female obesity on the outcome of fertility treatment. J Hum Reprod Sci 3:62–67

- Peaston AE, Graber JH, Knowles BB, de Vries WN (2010) Interrogating the transcriptome of oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Methods Enzymol 477:481–510
- Pennarossa G, Maffei S, Rahman MM, Berruti G, Brevini TA, Gandolfi F (2012) Characterization of the constitutive pig ovary heat shock chaperone machinery and its response to acute thermal stress or to seasonal variations. Biol Reprod 87:119
- Radons J (2016) The human HSP70 family of chaperones: where do we stand? Cell Stress Chaperones 21:379– 404
- Rispoli LA, Payton RR, Gondro C, Saxton AM, Nagle KA, Jenkins BW, Schrick FN, Edwards JL (2013) Heat stress effects on the cumulus cells surrounding the bovine oocyte during maturation: altered matrix metallopeptidase 9 and progesterone production. Reproduction 146:193–207
- Robker RL, Wu LL, Yang X (2011) Inflammatory pathways linking obesity and ovarian dysfunction. J Reprod Immunol 88:142–148
- Runkel ED, Baumeister R, Schulze E (2014) Mitochondrial stress: balancing friend and foe. Exp Gerontol 56: 194–201
- Schultz RM, Wassarman PM (1977) Biochemical studies of mammalian oogenesis: protein synthesis during oocyte growth and meiotic maturation in the mouse. J Cell Sci 24:167–194
- Shaeib F, Khan SN, Ali I, Thakur M, Saed MG, Dai J, Awonuga AO, Banerjee J, Abu-Soud HM (2016) The defensive role of cumulus cells against reactive oxygen species insult in metaphase II mouse oocytes. Reprod Sci (Thousand Oaks, Calif) 23:498–507
- Sim KA, Partridge SR, Sainsbury A (2014) Does weight loss in overweight or obese women improve fertility treatment outcomes? A systematic review. Obes Rev 15:839–850
- Souza-Cacares MB, Fialho ALL, Silva WAL, Cardoso CJT, Pohland R, Martins MIM, Melo-Sterza FA (2019) Oocyte quality and heat shock proteins in oocytes from bovine breeds adapted to the tropics under different conditions of environmental thermal stress. Theriogenology 130:103–110
- St John JC, Facucho-Oliveira J, Jiang Y, Kelly R, Salah R (2010) Mitochondrial DNA transmission, replication and inheritance: a journey from the gamete through the embryo and into offspring and embryonic stem cells. Hum Reprod Update 16:488–509
- Sutton-McDowall ML, Wu LL, Purdey M, Abell AD, Goldys EM, MacMillan KL, Thompson JG, Robker RL (2016) Nonesterified fatty acid-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress in cattle cumulus oocyte complexes alters cell metabolism and developmental competence. Biol Reprod 94:23
- Trusina A, Tang C (2010) The unfolded protein response and translation attenuation: a modelling approach. Diabetes Obes Metab 12(Suppl 2):27–31
- Tseng JK, Tang PC, Ju JC (2006) In vitro thermal stress induces apoptosis and reduces development of porcine parthenotes. Theriogenology 66:1073–1082

- Valckx SD, De Pauw I, De Neubourg D, Inion I, Berth M, Fransen E, Bols PE, Leroy JL (2012) BMI-related metabolic composition of the follicular fluid of women undergoing assisted reproductive treatment and the consequences for oocyte and embryo quality. Hum Reprod 27:3531–3539
- Valckx SD, Van Hoeck V, Arias-Alvarez M, Maillo V, Lopez-Cardona AP, Gutierrez-Adan A, Berth M, Cortvrindt R, Bols PE, Leroy JL (2014) Elevated non-esterified fatty acid concentrations during in vitro murine follicle growth alter follicular physiology and reduce oocyte developmental competence. Fertil Steril 102(1769–1776):e1761
- Valckx SD, De Bie J, Michiels ED, Goovaerts IG, Punjabi U, Ramos-Ibeas P, Gutierrez-Adan A, Bols PE, Leroy JL (2015) The effect of human follicular fluid on bovine oocyte developmental competence and embryo quality. Reprod BioMed Online 30:203–207
- Van Hoeck V, Sturmey RG, Bermejo-Alvarez P, Rizos D, Gutierrez-Adan A, Leese HJ, Bols PE, Leroy JL (2011) Elevated non-esterified fatty acid concentrations during bovine oocyte maturation compromise early embryo physiology. PLoS One 6:e23183
- Van Hoeck V, Leroy JL, Arias Alvarez M, Rizos D, Gutierrez-Adan A, Schnorbusch K, Bols PE, Leese HJ, Sturmey RG (2013) Oocyte developmental failure in response to elevated nonesterified fatty acid concentrations: mechanistic insights. Reproduction 145:33–44
- Van Hoeck V, Bols PE, Binelli M, Leroy JL (2014) Reduced oocyte and embryo quality in response to elevated non-esterified fatty acid concentrations: a possible pathway to subfertility? Anim Reprod Sci 149:19–29
- Van Hoeck V, Rizos D, Gutierrez-Adan A, Pintelon I, Jorssen E, Dufort I, Sirard MA, Verlaet A, Hermans N, Bols PE, Leroy JL (2015) Interaction between differential gene expression profile and phenotype in bovine blastocysts originating from oocytes exposed to elevated non-esterified fatty acid concentrations. Reprod Fertil Dev 27:372–384
- Watson AJ (2007) Oocyte cytoplasmic maturation: a key mediator of oocyte and embryo developmental competence. J Anim Sci 85:E1–E3
- Wu LL, Dunning KR, Yang X, Russell DL, Lane M, Norman RJ, Robker RL (2010) High-fat diet causes lipotoxicity responses in cumulus-oocyte complexes and decreased fertilization rates. Endocrinology 151: 5438–5445

- Wu LL, Norman RJ, Robker RL (2011) The impact of obesity on oocytes: evidence for lipotoxicity mechanisms. Reprod Fertil Dev 24:29–34
- Wu, LL, Russell DL, Norman RJ, Robker RL (2012) Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in cumulus-oocyte complexes impairs pentraxin-3 secretion, mitochondrial membrane potential, and embryo development. Mol Endocrinol 26:562–573
- Wu LL, Russell DL, Wong SL, Chen M, Tsai TS, St John JC, Norman RJ, Febbraio MA, Carroll J, Robker RL (2015) Mitochondrial dysfunction in oocytes of obese mothers: transmission to offspring and reversal by pharmacological endoplasmic reticulum stress inhibitors. Development 142:681–691
- Yang X, Wu LL, Chura LR, Liang X, Lane M, Norman RJ, Robker RL (2012) Exposure to lipid-rich follicular fluid is associated with endoplasmic reticulum stress and impaired oocyte maturation in cumulus-oocyte complexes. Fertil Steril 97:1438–1443
- Yin C, Liu J, He B, Jia L, Gong Y, Guo H, Zhao R (2019) Heat stress induces distinct responses in porcine cumulus cells and oocytes associated with disrupted gap junction and trans-zonal projection colocalization. J Cell Physiol 234:4787–4798
- Yoon SB, Choi SA, Sim BW, Kim JS, Mun SE, Jeong PS, Yang HJ, Lee Y, Park YH, Song BS, Kim YH, Jeong KJ, Huh JW, Lee SR, Kim SU, Chang KT (2014) Developmental competence of bovine early embryos depends on the coupled response between oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress. Biol Reprod 90:104
- Zander-Fox DL, Henshaw R, Hamilton H, Lane M (2012) Does obesity really matter? The impact of BMI on embryo quality and pregnancy outcomes after IVF in women aged </=38 years. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 52:270–276
- Zhang K, Kaufman RJ (2008) From endoplasmicreticulum stress to the inflammatory response. Nature 454:455–462
- Zhang X, Wu XQ, Lu S, Guo YL, Ma X (2006) Deficit of mitochondria-derived ATP during oxidative stress impairs mouse MII oocyte spindles. Cell Res 16:841–850
- Zhang JY, Diao YF, Kim HR, Jin DI (2012a) Inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum stress improves mouse embryo development. PLoS One 7:e40433
- Zhang JY, Diao YF, Oqani RK, Han RX, Jin DI (2012b) Effect of endoplasmic reticulum stress on porcine oocyte maturation and parthenogenetic embryonic development in vitro. Biol Reprod 86:128

# Index

#### A

Adamaki, M., 134 Agha, A., 20 Ahmad, O., 162 Al Faqeh, H., 115 Al-Najar, M., 117 Alyazici, L.Y., 43–54 Anichtchik, O.V., 152 Animal model, 58, 63, 65, 66, 72, 90, 112, 114, 147–149, 155, 157, 159, 160 Animal modeling, 150, 154 Arjmand, B., 145–163 Asnani, A., 153

#### B

Bagnat, M., 152 Banuelos, S.J., 98 Bastos, R., 118 Biglar, M., 145–163 Brehm, M.A., 98 Brugman, S., 162 Buchberg, A.M., 137

#### С

Cabon, Q., 115
Cancer, 1, 2, 6–8, 17, 33, 34, 36–38, 61, 71, 133, 134, 136–138
Cell stress, 175, 185
Cell therapy, 17, 20–22, 50, 107–119
Central nervous system (CNS) diseases, 15, 58
Chahal, J., 118
Cheng, J.-H., 115
Cheung, A.M.S., 130
Chhetri, J., 163
Chiang, E.-R., 115
Chung, S.S., 130
Cox, C.V., 130
Cuesta-Gomez, N., 89–101

#### D

Dadheech, N., 89–101 Dang, M., 163 Danio rerio, 147 Davatchi, F., 117 Desando, G., 115 de Vrieze, E., 153 Diabetes, 90, 91, 98, 99, 146, 157, 163, 172, 177 Differentiation, 3, 5–7, 13–22, 26–28, 37, 38, 44, 53, 63, 67–69, 71, 91, 94, 110, 111, 113, 114, 116, 131, 133, 137, 176 Doğan, A., 13–22 Doupé, D.P., 1–8 Drug development, 65, 147 Drug discovery, 58, 65, 145–163 Du, W., 130 Dvornikov, A.V., 153

#### E

Ehninger, A., 130
Eliasson, P., 134
Emadedin, M., 117
Embryos, 134, 148, 149, 157, 159, 173, 175, 177, 179, 182–185
Endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 173, 174, 176–185
Epithelia, 5
Eslaminejad, M.B., 107–119
Extracellular matrix (ECM), 3–7, 31, 108, 112, 116, 131

#### F

Fénero, C.I.M., 152 Feng, C., 115 Ferraces-Riegas, P., 1 Fleming, A., 162 Freitag, J., 118 Frøyset, A.K., 161

#### G

Galbraith, A.C., 1 Garay-Mendoza, D., 117 Garcia-Cuellar, M.P., 135 Ge, H., 162 Ghoussein, Y., 20 Goessling, W., 152, 153 Gökyürek, M., 20 Gupta, P.K., 117

#### H

Hamidpour, S.K., 145–163 Han, L., 130 Heat shock proteins, 176, 181 Heckler, K., 153, 162, 163 He, L., 115 Hermeto, L.C., 115 Hermigou, P., 118 Higuchi, J., 118 Homeostasis, 2–4, 6, 8, 14, 15, 17, 109, 112, 133, 173, 174, 176, 177, 179, 181, 183 Horie, M., 115 Hosen, N., 130 Hosseini, S., 107–119 Humanized mouse model, 99 Hypoparathyroidism, 17, 18, 20

#### I

Ignatoski, K.M.W., 19 Immunomodulatory effect, 20, 52, 110, 113, 114, 116 Immunosuppression, 90, 92 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC), 26, 57–72, 90, 96, 98 In vivo studies, 30, 38 iPSC based neuronal and glial models, 58, 67, 69 Islet cell transplant (ITx), 90–101

#### J

Jacobson, S., 98 Jagadeeswaran, P., 153 Jaiswal, S., 130 Jan, M., 130 Jasra, I., 89–101 Jo, C.H., 117

#### K

Khalifeh Soltani, S., 118 Khan, K.M., 161 Khryshchanovich, V., 20 Kikushige, Y., 130 Kim, J.E., 115 King, M., 98 Kinstrie, R., 130 Kiris, E., 57–72 Kocabaş, F., 43–54, 127–138 Kroll, J., 153, 162, 163 Kumar, A.R., 136 Kushwaha, S., 161

#### L

Lamo-Espinosa, J.M., 117 Larijani, B., 145–163 Lawton, B.R., 18, 19 Lee, W.S., 118 Leroy, J.L.M.R., 171–185 Leukemia, 37, 127–138 Leukemia stem cells, 130 Lv, X., 115

#### М

Majeti, R., 130 Mannelli, F., 130 Marcon, M., 161 Marei, W.F.A., 171-185 Marfil-Garza, B.A., 89-101 Marjoram, L., 152 Marschitz, I., 130 Matthews, R.P., 163 Mei, L., 115 Meric, N., 127-138 Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 25-38, 43-54, 108-119 Mitochondria, 173, 176, 181, 182, 185 Morgado, E., 135 Moshaver, B., 130 Mussulini, B.H.M., 152 Myeloid ecotropic integration site-1 (MEIS1), 127-138

#### N

Namazi, N., 145–163 Nasiri, N., 107–119 Nateghi, R., 107–119 Neurodegeneration, 62–64, 66, 72 Neurodegenerative diseases, 58, 59, 65, 67, 69, 70 Ng, S.W.K., 129 Niche, 1–8

# 0

Oehlers, S.H., 162 Oguz, F.S., 25–38 Oocytes, 172, 173, 175–181, 183–185 Osteoarthritis (OA), 107–119 Owens, K.N., 163

#### P

Parathyroid gland, 16–18, 20, 21 Parathyroid hormone (PTH), 14, 15, 17, 18, 20–22 Park, Y.S., 19, 20 Pasqualetti, S., 162 Pers, Y.M., 117 Peterson, R.T., 153 Picariello, L., 20, 21 Pinho, B.R., 161 Pluripotent stem cells, 17–19, 22, 58, 67, 68 Poureetezadi, S.J., 153, 154

#### R

Ran, D., 130 Regenerative medicine, 22, 25–38, 50, 109, 110 Rubinstein, A.L., 161

#### S

Sadler, K.C., 152, 153 Saito, Y., 130 Sargent, R.G., 19 Satake, N., 132 Sato, M., 115 Saulnier, N., 115 Sel, F.A., 25–38
Şenkal, S., 13–22
Sex-specific differences, 57–72
Shahbazbadr, A., 145–163
Shandiz, A.E., 19
Shapiro, A.M.J., 89–101
Signalling, 2–8
Small molecules, 43–54, 136, 137
Soler, R., 117
Song, Y., 117
Soto-Otero, R., 152
Stem cell expansion, 43–54
Stem cells, 1–8, 13–22, 25–38, 43–54, 89–101, 107–119, 134, 136, 137

### Т

Takagi, S., 130 Tan, S., 98 Taussig, D.C., 129, 130 Tayanloo-Beik, A., 145–163 ter Huurne, M., 115 Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM), 26–28 Tonomura, N., 98 Transplant, 89–101

#### U

Ude, C.C., 115 Unfolded protein responses (UPRs), 173–175, 177, 178, 181, 182, 185

#### V

Van Rhenen, A., 130 Vega, A., 117 Verhoeff, K., 89–101

#### W

Walter, R.B., 130 Wang, J., 135 Wang, X.D., 115 Wang, Y., 117 Wang, Z., 115 Wermuth, P.J., 137 Wingert, R.A., 153, 154 Woods Ignatoski, K.M., 19 Wu, D.C., 98

#### Х

Xing, D., 115, 116 Xu, X., 161

#### Y

Yavari, H., 145–163 Yun, S., 115

#### Z

Zakaria, Z.Z., 161 Zarei, F., 107–119 Zebrafish, 145–163 Zeijlemaker, W., 130 Zhou, D., 162 Zhu, X.-Y., 161